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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBEEE

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A3MHLEE
2023 2022 Increase/(Decrease)
2023% 20224 A/ (F&)
Operating results (RMB’'000) &€ E%X&(AR¥ T ) %
Revenue Y & 919,684 917,570 2,114 0.2
Gross profit E 7 74,144 129,987 (55,843) (43.0)
(Loss)/Profit for the year FR(ER) & F (80,950) 24,763 (105,713) (426.9)
Profitability (%) B R £ (%)
Gross profit margin B 8.1 14.2 6.1) (43.0)
Net profit margin R &= (8.8) 2.7 (11.5) (425.9)
Return on equity % 4 [0 3 & (28.9) 6.7 (35.6) (531.3)
Return on total assets B E M R R (8.7) 2.4 (11.1) (462.5)
Liquidity REBES
Current ratio (time) B & () 11 1.3 (0.2) (15.4)
Quick ratio (time) RE (M%) 1.1 1.3 (0.2) (15.4)
Trade receivables turnover FEW R IBR)BE XE
(days) (XR) 96.5 87.7 8.8 10.0
Trade payables turnover BOENFERE XY
(days) (X) 55.9 57.7 (1.8) (3.1)
Capital adequacy BEEXFREKF
Gearing ratio (%) EEGELE%) 61.6 43.6 18.0 413
Net debt to equity ratio FEBERELE Net cash Net cash
position position N/A N/A
BREMRR FHReMR A T A
Per share data BREE
Earnings per share — basic BRAEN —EX
(RMB) (AR®TT) (0.19) 0.03 (0.22) (733.3)
Dividend per share (HKD) BRBEEET)
— Final — RH# — 0.010 (0.010) (100.0)
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DEFINITIONS
Bx

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise RAFHF  BRXEZHFFAEIIN  THFA=E
requires, the following terms and expressions shall have R FEBEBWTRE - Z xR XK HE
the meanings set out below. The English translation of fEEH RG] BMNRENEFLIERBFZH -
company names in Chinese or another language which

are marked with “*" for identification purposes only.

“Anhui Bund”

“"Anhui Pu Jing”

“Audit Committee”

[(EZZBE

"Bengbu Zhi Xin”

[ 18 B {5 ]

“Board” or “Board of
Directors”

[Exg

Anhui Bund Property Management Company Limited* (% 9Nk ¥ %
ERARAA), a limited liability company established in the PRC on
26 December 2005, which was a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company and indirectly owned as to 51% by the Company and as to
49% by Anhui Wan Tou Property Company Limited* (& &t % & %
BREEAF]) a connected person of the Company at the subsidiary
level until the Company disposed of its entire interest in December 2020.
Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 22 December 2020
for further details
TRNEMEEER QA - —HR2005F 12268 EFBEK I AR
BEERA BRAARRRFEZEMBRAR  AARAIRZRBRRE X
EREERAI(RAAFTMBARIEENMEEAL) DAREEES% R
49% > KRR R2020F A HERBLRIINEZ 2B R - E— T A
BAESE2HAAB020F 1222088 K2 AE

Anhui Pu Jing Property Company Limited* (Z B HESWEBR LA, a
limited liability company established in the PRC on 10 May 2017, a non
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and indirectly owned as to 51%
by the Company and as to 49% by Bozhou Yaodu Tourism Development
Company Limited* (2 M & &R EBR A F)), a connected person
of the Company at the subsidiary level

THBERMEARAR - —HER2017F5AI0BEFBEKINERE
ERE RARARIFE2EMBARAR  AARARFARZMNELIKREERSA
RARI(RRRIMEBAREEAMEAL) DRI EEEF%KR49%

the audit committee of the Company
RRBEZEZES®

Bengbu Zhi Xin Property Company Limited* (HEETEEZWEBR A
Al), a limited liability company established in the PRC on 13 September
2004 and a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and is indirectly
owned as to 58% by the Company, as to 12% by an Independent Third
Party and as to 30% by Bengbu Investment Group Co., Ltd.* (¥ I8 & &
B BR A 7)), a connected person of the Company at the subsidiary level
HIETEFEYWEBRLDA - —MR2004FIABREFRBEK N FR
BEERR REARBINETEMBAR  AXRAIEEEAFS  —
EBIUFE=ZFHEANNLHEEREEEAFR AT (RARFMNBARER
HRAEANLT)BEA30%

the board of Directors of the Company

ZN/NSIE-= -

ETPRERARAR 482023 3




DEFINITIONS
Bx

“BVI"
[RBRAES] |

“CG Code”
[ E AR i1

“"Company”
/NI i

“connected person”

[ AL i1
“Controlling

Shareholder(s)”
[ 12 B A% 3R 15

“Director(s)”

(&%) 15
"Group”
(A& E | &

"Hebei Puhehang”

[ 4 om A 17 ] 5

“HK$"” Or “HK dollars” or
"HK cents”

[Tl [l 5

“Hong Kong” or "HK"
S 15

the British Virgin Islands
RBRIES

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 of the Listing
Rules

EFHRBMECmEERER TR

Riverine China Holdings Limited (J# L+ BI#E % AH R A7), an exempted
company incorporated under the laws of Cayman Islands with limited
liability on 27 July 2016
BIREZERERAR - R2016F7A27EREBERSHEEZETMK L
MEHRREREEQT

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
EBLMRBAIETZANRE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules and, in the context
of the Company, means a group of controlling shareholders of the
Company, namely Partner Summit, Vital Kingdom, Mr. Xiao, Source Forth,
Mr. Fu, Pine Fortune and Mr. Chen

EALTRAMBETZANRE  BRARQRAME  BARAMERRK
REE Rem ZEH HEE R B4 EHEREE

the director(s) of the Company
AKRARIMNES

the Company and its subsidiaries
RAT R EME ARG

Hebei Puhehang Property Management Co., Limited* (/b1 774
XEEAREMTARF), a limited liability company established in the
PRC on 16 March 2021, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
and is indirectly owned as to 51% by the Company and as to 49% by
Independent Third Parties

AIEEMTYEERBEREE AR R2021F3A16BETEKILIAE
REELA  AARKWIEL2EWNBRAR  AARABEEEENY% B
NE=ZFHELI%

Hong Kong dollars and cents, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BREREN BENEEE®

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
REEBSRTRIE
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“Hong Xin”

[33h R

“Independent Third

Party(ies)”

[(BILFE=7]

“Listing”
[ 7]

“Listing Rules”
[ET#8 81
“Model Code”

& 2T Al

SHE

“Mr. Chen”
[ B 5t 4 |

“Mr. Fu”

[ 5% & |
"Mr. Xiao”

[H k4]

“Mr. Xiao YQ"

(BT &ELE]

DEFINITIONS
Bx

Hong Xin Environmental Group Company Limited* (BARIRIEE BB R
2 |]) , a limited liability company established in the PRC on 5 July 2000,
a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and is indirectly owned
as to 51% by the Company and as to 49% by Independent Third Parties
SRR R E AR AT - R2000F7ASBEHRBEK I AEREE AR
RARBINFELEMBRR  HARGRMEEEENY%  BILE=1%H
49%

an individual(s) or a company(ies) who or which is/are independent
and not connected with (within the meaning of the Listing Rules) any
directors, chief executive or substantial shareholders (within the meaning
of the Listing Rules) of the Company, its subsidiaries or any of their
respective associates and not otherwise a connected person of the
Company

BYRARA - EMBRARICAEMNEZES TR TBRABXETERE(CE
ERLTRANFEZAZEMNBREALR BEFE(ERER LTHR
ADIRIERRA 2 BEATHEASKRA

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
R T ER B

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
BRZMESETRA BTEEE] - MRk UHEMT B

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
FHARAMECHE LT BETAZEFETE SR FHINIELETRI

Mr. Chen Yao (FR #£), the Controlling Shareholder
PRIZ A RS AR R

Mr. Fu Qichang (2 H &), the Controlling Shareholder, vice-chairman of
the Board and an executive Director

BEHEXRE BEEER EFSXTFERNTES

Mr. Xiao Xingtao (H # %), the Controlling Shareholder, chairman of the
Board and an executive Director

HEBELE ZEERBRR BEFSIFRATES

Mr. Xiao Yugiao (H ¥ &), an executive Director, chief executive officer,
and the son of Mr. Xiao

BTBEE ATEERTRARLRELENR T

FTREERARART 3R 2023 5




DEFINITIONS
Bx

“Nanjing Songzhu”

[ AT 5

“Nantong Pu Sheng”

[ @ s ] &
“Ningbo Plaza”
[%8K 9 T & 455 5

“Partner Summit”

ST 5
“Period”
[HA FH ) i1

“Pine Fortune”

=48] 5
“PRC" or “China”
[ B e

Nanjing Songzhu Property Management Company Limited* (& &= #2217 ¥
¥EIE AR AF]), alimited liability company established in the PRC on 5
July 2012, an associated company of the Company and indirectly owned
as to 44% by the Company and 56% by two Independent Third Parties.
MR EERAERAR - —HEPBENR2012F7ASEXZHNER
BEERR RARAIBMELE BHARFHEREBMM%BEMABE L
F=FHE6%

Nantong Pu Sheng Intelligent Property Company Limited* (Fd & i &% &
BEW B R AA]), a limited liability company established in the PRC on
18 October 2017, a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and
indirectly owned as to 51% by the Company and as to 49% by Nantong
Sheng He Property Management Limited* (R E YW EEEFR A F])
MBEBEERYWERRAR  —ER2017FI10R18EETEKINE
REMERR  ARFWEZEMBRR ARG REBEBRNMEE
BHR AT D RIEEEE51% k49%

Ningbo Plaza Property Management Company Limited* (22§ /1 % 1 & 35
Y% E IR B R AA]), a limited liability company established in the PRC on
20 January 1995, an associated company of the Company and indirectly
owned as to 49% by the Company and 51% by an Independent Third
Party

ERNTHTESYEERARQR  —HAEDBEN19959F1H20H 5K
VHERSERR  BRARAKERLE  AARRREEEFLI9% K& H
—EBUFE=FHEEBS%

Partner Summit Holdings Limited (& /=% J& & FR 2 A1), a company incorporated
under laws of the BVI on 16 June 2016 with limited liability, which is owned as
to 87% by Vital Kingdom, 10% by Source Forth and 3% by Pine Fortune and is
one of the Controlling Shareholders
EEERBERLOR > —ER2016F6A16ARIE KB R KB BERT
MRZHWBERAR  HEH  REREBIANEFET%  10% K3% -
BREBRBRRZ—

the year ended 31 December 2023
B ZE2023F12A318ILFE

Pine Fortune Global Limited (& 23R ¥ & [R 2 7]), a company incorporated
under laws of the BVI on 16 June 2016 with limited liability, which is
wholly-owned by Mr. Chen and is one of the Controlling Shareholders
ERRKARLDAE - —HR2016F6A16RRBERBR L HF S EET
MARZOBRRR > DHREEZEER BERERKRRZ—

the People’s Republic of China which, for the purposes of this annual
report, excludes Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan

PEARANE  ERAFHRAH S TREZE BFAREGE

RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2023



“Pujiang Holding”

IR T %2 A%

“Pujiang Property”

Bi-pg/EN

“RMB"” or “Renminbi”

[AR%]

“SEQ”

[#& 7= K B R B

“Shanghai Bund”

[ E78 5N |

“Shanghai Bund Green”

[ £ INEERAE]

“Shanghai Bund Ke Pu”

[ £8 5N R

“Shanghai Jie Gu”

[Laha]

DEFINITIONS
Bx

Shanghai Pujiang Holding Company Limited* (L &8 TR A R A R),
a limited liability company established in the PRC on 18 June 2007, which
was beneficially owned as to 87% by Mr. Xiao, 10% by Mr. Fu and 3%
by Mr. Chen
EEBIERERAR - —ER2007F6A18AEHRBRYHARE
ERA DRBEEE BEEKREEEREFE7%  10% KM3% K
1

Shanghai Pujiang Property Company Limited* (/88 /I ¥ B R A7),
a limited liability company established in the PRC on 2 December 2002
and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
tEBBIMEERAR  —HAEPRBERN2002F12A2BK LN ARE
ERF RARRNHEEZENBRR

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

ARE - s E % K

Securities and Future ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
(FBHRBEERONEBEMESTIE)  KLTRFEE] - AR EHA
N T

Shanghai Bund Property Company Limited* ( F/& 5N & ¥ AR A F), a
limited liability company established in the PRC on 8 April 1996 and an
indirect associated company of the Company

FEMNEMEBRAR  —HEPBEMI996F4A8HK I EREE
NAE BARRTNEEEE R

Shanghai Bund Green Construction Company Limited* (_t & 9M# 4% 1k
AR ATA, a limited liability company established in the PRC on 10
August 2004 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
EBINEZLELRRBRAR - —EAAEFRBER2004F8A10BK LM A
REEQR RARGINEEZEWE AR

Shanghai Bund Ke Pu Engineering Management Company Limited* (L
BINERSETREE®R AR AR, a limited liability company established
in the PRC on 30 November 2004, a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company and indirectly owned as to 97% by the Company and as to 3%
by an Independent Third Party

EBINEFBRTREEARAR - — R R2004511 308 &+ B K 3L
WEREERA  BREARAIHE2ENBRA  BARAIBMEREIT%
MHA—EBBIE=ZTHB3%

Shanghai Jie Gu Technology Company Limited* (/&M AR AR QA A,
a limited liability company established in the PRC on 3 May 2016 and an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
FBENARMBRERRAR S —HEFBER2016F5A3BKN LN BREE
RA REARFBNEEZEMBRAF

LR B AR AT Fik 2023 7




DEFINITIONS
Bx

“Shanghai Jiu Yi"

[EBAME]

“Shanghai Qiang Sheng”

(LRl

“Shanghai Rui Zheng”
[EBIHIE]

“Shanghai Xin Di”

(L]

“Share(s)”
[ A& 15 ]

“Share Option Scheme”
& P w5t &)

“Shareholder(s)”
[ A% 2R J

Shanghai Jiu Yi Property Management Company Limited* (_t /&A1& %)
¥EIE AR AF), alimited liability company established in the PRC on 8
April 1996, a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and indirectly
owned as to 51% by the Company and as to 49% by an Independent
Third Party

FEBARYEERFRAR  —BEDEMI996F4ABHK I ER
BEERA RARAINIEEZENBRAR  BARAIHEEEI% R —
B E=HHEBLI%

Shanghai Qiang Sheng Property Company Limited* (E /@84 M EAR
72 A)), a limited liability company established in the PRC on 17 December
1992, an associated company of the Company and indirectly owned as
to 48.53% by the Company and as to 51.47% by an Independent Third
Party

FEREMEAERAG  —REFRBEMINRFEFRZA7TEXIHERE
ERA RARTBMETLE HARAREEBISS3%MH—EEL
FE=HRAEEFS4T%

Shanghai Pujiang Rui Zheng Property Company Limited* (/&8 T ¥ 1IE
Y1 B R A7A]), a limited liability company established in the PRC on 8
January 2004 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
FHEBIREMERBRAA - —EEPEN2004F1HHK LB R
BEERT BAEARTNEEZEZ2EMB AT

Shanghai Dong Fang Xin Di Commercial Service Company Limited* (£ /&
RAMABAEBERBEER QA a limited liability company established in
the PRC on 10 December 2015, an associated company of the Company
and indirectly owned as to 45% by the Company and as to 55% by an
Independent Third Party
FPERITMREBHERBERLRA - —MEPBER2015F128108 K L
MAERSELRR  RARABMELE  AARABEEFIS % K H—
BBILFE =T HEEB%

share(s) of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company
RRARRAH G AR EE0.0178 7T #) Ik 17

the share option scheme conditionally adopted by the Company on 15
November 2017
RAT 2017511 B15 B B 16 14 5% 48 10 B8 Ak 4 =1 &)

holder(s) of issued Share(s)
BEETRONFTAEA

8 RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2023



“Sino Ease”

[ %2 |

"

“Source Forth

[ B

“sq. ft.”
[F R

"Sq. m.”

[ 7 K

“Stock Exchange” or
“Hong Kong Stock
Exchange”

XA S [ B BB PT 48

“Vital Kingdom”

EXil

“Zhong Min Zhi Da"

PREZE]

“%" or "Per Cent”
[%]

DEFINITIONS
Bx

Sino Ease Global Limited (FZIRIKA R A F]), a company incorporated
under laws of the BVI on 16 June 2016 with limited liability, which is
directly wholly-owned by the Company

RLZRIRBR AR - —ER2016F6A16BRBRBRE XS EAETE
MKZHERAT - BARTBNEERZENB AT

Source Forth Limited (RRIEPBRZAF]), a company incorporated under
laws of the BVI on 8 June 2016 with limited liability, which is wholly-
owned by Mr. Fu and is one of the Controlling Shareholders
RREBRDAF - —HER2016F6AARBEBREXFESTMAINE
RAR - DHERE2ERE BREBRBRRZ—

square feet

FHR

square metre

T K

the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

EEBMARIABERAIDR

Vital Kingdom Investments Limited (E##& EH R A7), a company
incorporated under laws of the BVI on 17 May 2016 with limited liability,
which is wholly-owned by Mr. Xiao and is one of the Controlling
Shareholders

EHREARRAR > —ER2016F5A7TERBERBR LS EET
MARZOBRRR  DHELEE2ERER  BRERKRERE Z—

Zhong Min zhi Da (Shanghai) Information Technology Company Limited*
(FREEFE(LEBEEREBRAQF), alimted liability company
established in the PRC on 13 November 2018, an joint venture company
of the Company and indirectly owned as to 63.8% by the Company and
36.2% by four independent third parties

PREZE(LB)EEMKERAIA - —HR2018F1MABER HE K
UWBRRAT  RARAINEGERLERR  HAARHEEF63.8%
BaRkMEBLE=HE362%En

per centum or percentage
RN

ETPRERARAR 52023 9




CORPORATE INFORMATION
NEIEF

BOARD OF DIRECTORS BEEg

Executive Directors BITES

Mr. Xiao Xingtao (Chairman) HEESLE(EE)

Mr. Fu Qichang BEEXAE

Mr. Xiao Yugiao HT&EE

Ms. Wang Hui FELZ+

Non-executive Directors FEHITES

Mr. Zhang Yongjun REELA

Independent non-executive Directors BYEHITES

Mr. Cheng Dong BREE

Mr. Weng Guogiang SE®EE

Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence FERLA

AUDIT COMMITTEE EREEE

Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence (Chairman) HERLE(EFE)

Mr. Cheng Dong BRELE

Mr. Weng Guogiang HE R K&

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE FMZEES

Mr. Cheng Dong (Chairman) BRELE(EE)

Mr. Fu Qichang BHEELA

Mr. Xiao Yugiao BETEEAE

Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence FERLA

Mr. Weng Guogiang SEALE

NOMINATION COMMITTEE REZE®

Mr. Xiao Xingtao (Chairman) HEERE(EE)

Mr. Fu Qichang BEEEE

Mr. Cheng Dong BREE

Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence HFERLE

Mr. Weng Guogiang S E R kA&

HEADQUARTER IN THE PRC i B 48 3B

14th Floor, Jiushi Tower PE LA

28 South Zhongshan Road AL R K 2858

Shanghai, PRC AEKNE14E

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS ERTEEEMY
IN HONG KONG

5/F Manulife Place, BENBEE EBE3485

348 Kwun Tong Road, Hong Kong =N B 5518
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THE GROUP
REH

The Group is a comprehensive provider of urban public
services in the PRC and is mainly engaged in the
provision of property management service for high-end
non-residential properties, leases services of commercial
buildings, catering services and integrated urban sanitary
services in the PRC.

The Group provides a wide range of property
management services and value-added services to a
variety of properties. The properties managed by the
Group can generally be classified into four categories
based on nature and usage, which are comprised of
(i) public properties (including public arenas such as
cultural venues, stadiums, exhibition halls and public
transportation properties such as rail station and airport
etc.); (ii) commercial establishments (including shopping
malls, hotels, commercial and entertainment complexes)
and office buildings; (iii) residential properties; and (iv)
others (including schools, land parcels, industrial areas
and properties under construction).

The integrated urban sanitary services include
road cleaning, refuse classification, collection and
transportation and maintenance of public environmental
sanitary facilities such as public toilets and garbage
containers.

12 RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2023

AEEBRPHREABTAAREHER =
ERFERATESHIITEDRERDEERE
R BWEBTHERY - EKRGERIEMH
WE—BIERFRS -

AEERTRERNDEREZEDEER
R MIBERSE  ARENEEDE KA
REEMEMAESSOERR - BIOAR
MEBREXLSHR BEERREESA
FIGEAREBE RIS ERARIBYE)
(EEmARERAS BE BERR
HEER)EBAKXKE (INVEEDWFE: Rv)
HyE(BEER i ITXEREHRER
ME) -

WHE-RIELRERBERBERER WwEH
1 W ROBE DA Mo a0 & KR P B2 4 3 AR
EFRHRFREOMBE



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Introduction to the Report

Riverine China Holdings Limited (“Riverine China”, the
“Company”, and together with its subsidiaries, “we”
or the “Group”) is pleased to publish the seventh
Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the
“Report”).

During the Reporting Period, the International
Sustainability Standards Board (the "ISSB”) issued
International Financial Reporting Standards for
Sustainability Disclosure 1 — General Requirements for
Disclosure of Sustainability-Related Financial Information
(IFRS S1) and International Financial Reporting Standards
for Sustainability Disclosure 2 — Climate-Related
Disclosure (IFRS S2), and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
issued Enhancement of Climate-Related Disclosures
Under the Environmental, Social and Governance
Framework. In April 2024, the Shanghai Stock Exchange,
issued Self-regulatory Guidelines for Listed Companies
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, No. 14 — Sustainability
Reporting (for Trial Implementation) (Draft for Opinion).
The Company has prepared this Report based on the
Group's sustainability performance and progress for the
fiscal year 2023 in accordance with the requirements
of the latest policy on sustainability disclosure in
order to address the concerns and expectations of its
stakeholders.

Scope of the Report

o Subject: The Report covers Riverine China and its
principle subsidiaries Shanghai Pujiang Property
Company Limited (“Pujiang Property”), Hongxin
Environment Group Co., Ltd. (“Hong Xin"”) and
other subsidiaries.

o Period: The Report covers the period from 1
January 2023 to 31 December 2023 (the “Reporting
Period”), and part of the contents may be extended
as appropriate.

o Content disclosure: The content disclosure of
governance and social aspects covers the main
subjects, and the specific environment statistics
cover the Shanghai office of Riverine China and
Hong Xin.

RIR - ERERBE

BARARE

P
AIRBEZERERAR (DEIRE] A6
REWBRARSEAIHRMIKIAEER])RA
BHELHCERRE HLERERABE)(A R

& e

HWEHAISSBE MCHB M B HRETHFER
BREAEIY — URBEREVBENE R —
AR ESk) (IFRS SHE(RH B MRS FEH
BERE29 — RIRMEE@EEE) (FRSS2) * &
BHIMBEHRELLERE HegRkEARESR
THRIEBEBEERE) 2024F48 LR
SHBEM(LELEERR G LETRARIAERE
EESIF14H — AIRBEERHRE (H1TM#E
KERR)  RAKBUREENBERT
BMEER ERAEE2023F M REE Al #
BERERRBREE REARE  UBES
MEAE A B THEEBAE -

& 0 E

s IBHE:AREBERIFEREE
EMBAFT EERIMEEERGRAQRA
(CEIMED AAMREEEERAA
(TBhAR D) e B AR B B 2 A)

o WEEHE: NREMTHEEEAE2023F
1A1B E2023F12A318 ([ EH1]) - &P
PABREREFTEHEHBEEEM -

s RNBENM BEERMEEENARTRE
HESTRALE  REBENEBRT
HERBITEEEBRQE NI -
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Basis of Preparation

We have prepared this Report in compliance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide
(the "Guide"”) as set out in Appendix C2 of the Listing
Rules, the Guidelines on Corporate Social Responsibility
Reporting for Chinese Enterprises (CASS-ESG5.0) of

R

BMEBRE(EMBRADHHECQERRE - 2K
EamEEaDUGESID]) - ARt g R 2k
(PR EMEEEREIER(CAS S-ESG5.0)) »
(BMAEBEAHEERBEZECEITEIER) (SDGS)
REANFE - AFECETEESDF AR
HEBERE(TETHRERIE  BEADLE

the Chinese Academy of Social Sciences, and the
SDG Compass: The Guide for Business Action on the EAHBEEE H FL2H B IFEFERPHD
Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) of the United FIBAMREIEEL °

Nations. The Report has complied with all the “comply

provisions in the Guide. For matters related

to corporate governance, please refer to the “Corporate

Governance Report” section in Riverine China’s Annual

Report.

or explain”

BE % = Al
ABREACHESDFHMAERRES

Reporting Principles
The Report was prepared based on the four Reporting
Principles set out in the Guide:

Definitions

ER

Principles

A

Materiality The Group has identified environmental, social and governance issues that have
a significant impact on the Group’s operations, as well as on investors and other
stakeholders, which are disclosed in this Report.

Z AEBCHENERE HERELSTHEHYEESZEE URERKREAREAM

N HETAAERERENZE  INARETRE -

The Group has practiced the measurement of key performance indicators
("KPI(s)") and continues to improve the coverage and accuracy of its quantitative
management, which is reported and compared in this Report.

Quantitative

21t AEBEBTHABENEEZNGE UHERASLEENEEZHERS
ME WEARESHETRERLE -

Balance The Report provided a comprehensive and unbiased picture of our sustainability
performance in ESG aspects during the Reporting Period.

-] ARETEHTEHE M ERKFMRBEFANNIRE HLEREARTEOAF

BERRR -

The scope and statistical methodologies of the Report are consistent with those
of the previous year, allowing stakeholders to make meaningful comparisons.

AHENREBERGFATTDEREF - UMM EHBELEEEENLER -

Consistency

— %
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Publication of the Report

The Report is published in two language versions,
i.e. Traditional Chinese and English. If there is any
inconsistency between the two versions, the Traditional
Chinese version shall prevail. You are welcome to
access the Report in the PDF format from the annual
report published on the Company’'s website at
www.riverinepm.com, and SEHK’s HKExnews website at
www.hkexnews.hk.

Data Source and Reliability Assurance

The data and cases in the Report are mainly derived
from the statistical reports and relevant documents
of the Group. The Report does not contain any false
records or misleading statement, and we accept
responsibility for its contents as to its authenticity,
accuracy and completeness. The Report was approved
by the Board in March 2024 following the confirmation
by our management and the Environmental, Social and
Governance (“ESG") Executive Committee.

ABOUT RIVERINE

Company Profile

Riverine China is one of China’s leading integrated
management groups that provides urban public services
and professional services. We are committed to rendering
customers with a wide range of services through
intelligent means and up to professional standards.
Riverine China was listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
on 11 December 2017. The Group, through its operating
subsidiaries and investments in associates, provides a
wide range of comprehensive urban public services,
including property management services with value-
added services to a variety of properties in the PRC,
sublease services from investment properties, catering
services and urban sanitary services to various areas.

RIR - ERERBE

WERM
ABEENERBPXREXMBEZS RAE
TEH BEERNAERLGEEZR BN
EEPXUMARLE - BETAIERRFMIL
(www.riverinepm.com) JA K& & 7 Bt 32 BT #% &
5 48 U (www.hkexnews.hk) 2% 5 &9 F 3§ 1 &
HR 7K # &5 B PDF R A o

HERERAEMEER
ARENBBENRFIEZTEREARAEENFH
AmERBRAXY ARETFEEMER
RHREMRL BMHERTEEME -
EBUENZEUHEE ARELRMANER
BRIRRE g kBRSGHHITZESHE
R P2024F3EEESRB -

TEBHN

AEERFHELHRERTALEREER
BHEGEAEEEE  BEMBABEHELENTF
B BEELHNEEARFPRERE2FMMRS -
207FNRANB - BIFBREE BB ERXS
FIERLET -AEEZBRELERBLRARIK
REEPENRERHBEZOEEH MRS -
BREATBETRABEENYEREZEMESE
BARBRIEERY - HEMEHEEHERY
EHBRBEERABTRRESRENBRGRE

ETPRERARAR 52023 15




ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R HERERRE

- eer e e e e e - - - == e e e = e
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The Group obtained GBIT 19001 —
2000 idt ISO 9001:2000 certification
in recognition of the high-quality
management of our property
management operations

ANEEEGBIT 19001 — 2000 idt 1SO
9%1%%@5 LARAI R P EE
BENSEEEIE

@ The Group was first honoured as one
of the 2011 Top 100 Property
Management Enterprises in terms of
Comprehensive Property
Management Strength by the China
Property Management Association

o NEEBREEREMEEEHEH

0MYEERGEENARYEERE
%

® Pujiang Property was honoured with
the 2016 Shanghai Famous Brand
Award by the Shanghai Famous
Brand Recommendation Committee

o HIMFE LT RMEBELZES
%%meiﬁi@%ﬁjﬁﬁ

RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED

- en e em em e = o P
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2011 (©)
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N
o
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2017

’ o The Group commenced the

-  en e e en e e e e e emen

) 12ﬂ115

\
provision of property management
services to the Shanghai World |
Expo Exhibition and Convention
Center and Honggiao Airport East
Transportation Center (Bus )
Terminal Area) as our first I
managed properties in the public |
transportation hub industry |

|
|
|
)

o REHEFHM ST BRER
RIBHSRZBP L (AR
ﬁ@)ﬁﬁ%%aﬁ%ﬁ 1

BRATTEH

AF 5
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® The Group was honoured with
the 2015 Property Service
Featured Enterprise (Public
Properties) Award and the 2015
Top 100 Property Management
Enterprises in terms of
Comprehensive Property
Management Strength Award

o REFEPEMEERERHEK
T (2016 ERBFEEE

%)J&21W¥a

I NBEBRYEEELE
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o) 2k
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® On 11 December, Riverine China
Holdings Limited was listed on
the Main Board of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1417.HK), becoming the
first property enterprise in
Shanghai listed in Hong Kong

/ﬁ/IEP .* HXEBE
RAEBBB AR A ERE

ﬁitm IRERIE1417 . HK

BELEBMEEEE LTS
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The Group was honoured with the title A

of TOP100 Property Service Enterprises

in terms of Comprehensive Strength

Measurement in 2018

@ The Group was honoured with the title
of 2018 Shanghai Five-Star Enterprises
in terms of Comprehensive Service
Capability in Property Services

® The Group was honoured with the title
of 2018 Shanghai Top 100 Property
Management Service Providers in terms
of Comprehensive Strength

® SLE2018FMEMRBEELRSE AR
TOP100

® L2018 E [ EEMYERBLZEE R
i"z%jﬂigﬁ&i%

o SE2018FE [ LEMWHERBEESA

i /

o = e em e en e e e o e o = - = - -
- en en en en e e e e e e e o e - -

® The Group was honoured with the title
of 2020 Shanghai Top 100 Property
Management Service Providers in terms
of Comprehensive Strength

® The Group was recognised as Platinum
Membership of the Building Owners
and Managers Association (BOMA)

® The Group was honoured with the
25th Anniversary Recognition Event of
Shanghai Property Management
Association — Best Guardian Award

) iﬁézomib‘ﬁ%%ﬂlﬁi‘%ﬁéﬁ?ﬁﬁ
o RERFRZEREEEHEATER

- e en e e e e e e e e e e e e —
- e en e e e e e e e e e e e - -

(BOMA)

o g DEMYEEIBITEMG25AFR
\ PIFRE — S{ETESE /
S e e e e e e e e e e - - = - rd
Vd - T TTsTssTsss s = ~

I o The Group was honoured with the title
I of 2022 Shanghai Five-Star Enterprises
| in terms of Comprehensive Service

| Capability in Property Services

| @ The Group was honoured with the title
| of 2022 Shanghai Property

| Management Outstanding

| Co—organizers

|

|

|

|

o iézozzibim#%%ﬂﬂﬁ REREN
ERDE

° {z@wzifbﬁ#%%Eﬁﬁ?ﬁmﬂ#

B

- en en en e e e e e o = P

Development History

2018

RRER

RIR - HEREREE

The Group was honoured with
the title of 2019 Top 500
Property Service Enterprises in
terms of Comprehensive
Strength

The Group was honoured with
the title of 2019 Leading Public
Venue Property Services
Enterprises

The Group was honoured with
the title of 2019 Advanced
Enterprises for Property
Management of Historically
Conserved Buildings

The Group was honoured with
the title of 2019 Shanghai Top
100 Property Management
Service Providers in terms of
Comprehensive Strength

LEI2019FEMERB L
A E 150058
LE2019FENRIGEME
R B E
**Z@owiﬁfsﬂ% EE R
YIEEE [ BN
%ﬁ@omir [ EBmYE
RIS A B /

- e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e o

The Group was honoured with \
the title of 2021 Top 500 |
Chinese Property Management |
Service Providers in terms of |
Comprehensive Strength |
The Group was honoured with |
the title of 2021 Shanghai Top |
100 Property Management |
Service Providers in terms of |
Comprehensive Strength |
The Group was honoured with |
the title of 2021 Shanghai I
Five-Star Enterprises in terms of |
Comprehensive Service |
Capability in Property Services |

|

|

|

|

]

L2021 B E R
%éaﬂ&soo%ﬁ

BE2021F EIBTYERY
?*Aﬁ%ht%
E2021F BT WMERS
RAEENAERD % y)
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Corporate Culture

Riverine China adheres to the corporate culture concept
of “forging the corporate image of integrity, empowering
development with innovation, revealing service quality
with dedication and creating stakeholders’ value with
a shared success”. We view strategic promotion and
business growth as the ultimate goals of our corporate
culture, placing a strong emphasis on fostering a
people-oriented corporate environment. Our focus lies
in cultivating the ideals, ethics, values, and behavioural
norms of each employee, recognizing them as the
primary driving force behind our corporate management.
Our people-oriented management culture is characterised
by our commitment to understanding, respecting, caring
for, and assisting our dedicated, innovative, and hard-
working employees, facilitating their success.

a1 8 RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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& exest

EWEBE R R M
A TR

=R HE

Value N
Son o Ep ) o o
Integrity | Innovation R RIS o
Dedication’ Shared EEBATIRREE
Success

Corporate Culture
Forging the Corporate
Image of Integrity
Empowering Development
with Innovation
Revealing Service Quality
with Dedication
Creating Values with
Shared Success

VALUE REALISATION

2023 Shanghai Children’s and

xR Teenagers' Library Outstanding
‘ Partner of the Year
ERERIT O AL il
fE20235 0 TR,
”"“‘:';;:_';m“ Shanghai Property Management Association
Wik,
. 2023 Shanghai Property Service
B PRI TR
Five-Star Enterprises »
i ’E‘:"'“g 2
HXEC

2023 Social Responsibility Management
System Certificate

20235 [F 1 B FAEEIH

2023 China IFM Service Excellent
Companies by China Index Academy ‘
0234 £ BIFMARTS

2023 Honors and Qualifications

2023 FEREBREE

P .=

B o e

RIR - ERERBE

VAR & AR
AEFE R
BRET|EEET
MLET|EHET
RELE T
Management

Culture

Dedication-based
Innovation-centred
Diligence-oriented

Understanding | Respecting

Staff Staff
Caring Assisting
for Staff Staff
Facilitating

Staff's Success

BEER

w

XV it A RS 8]

2023 LB IRS REREN BRILT

hEREI

s, %

CERTIFICATR
— —

20239 [H1FM R 1L % ik

423 Chban IFM Baruipe Bassllont Companios |
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Innovation-driven Productivity in External MMeFEEED — HELBEE
Expansion — Digital Empowerment

Dynamic Building Matrix (DBM) and Plant Operation and Maintenance System (POMS)
[BREZEEEMR | (DBM)R[ZEREEHLETE](POMS)

EXH 38 OUATH WALL 118

uBPA amEEETNx

DBM Product Interface
DBMEm A HE

POMS Product Interface
POMSE m A @

We strive to explore the digital application of property services and deepen technology empowerment to
facilitate the high-quality development of intelligent properties. The Dynamic Building Matrix (“DBM") and
the Plant Operation and Maintenance System (“POMS”) have been developed and put into operation.
BUBHEREMERBOBFER  RMEMEEE  DHIEEVENSEELRE - BRECHERAY
RE 2 SR FE FE |(TDBMI) K 3% 5 2% bt 38 4 ¥ & (POMS) ©
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Strategic Advancement and Business Growth — Seeking Progress amidst Stability, Striving

for New Change
BREE XEBRR —BHRE EF2RH

DECENT WORK AND 1 PEACE, JUSTICE PARTNERSHIPS MEIER 1 HE. IEI! '" {2tk B R
ECONOMIC GROWTH AND STRONG FOR THE GOALS ERNE
INSTITUTIONS

ME@ i ¥ &

AEEH BRESGHERBE > #RE

o Updated issues: We keep up with the trend of ESG

development to identify and update substantive MEELEE BEEERYREZEL .
issues, including combating climate change and DA == o S A

reducing energy consumption in buildings.

e Management optimisation: We improve the ESG e EB{EE:  THESGERRER AR
governance structure, refine the delineation of BEElo  HEEIREE -
functions and clarify management responsibilities.

e Engagement enhancement: We enrich interaction e HRELTR:-LELHRE  BITEMSE
channels, practice information transparency, and B - BEREF R AARE S ER - KAl
actively communicate with stakeholders to discuss SEERER -
the importance of sustainable development.

ESG Concepts ESG B

A sound and effective sustainable development EAMMAEERREIEERXRELEEM

management system is an important cornerstone E‘%TE?*J?%E’JEK%E EESHEKZITE
for enterprises’ high-quality development. While EHREF AEESEERIFELXREE
promoting diversified business development, the Group I{’E HEUAHFEEZERENES AR - A
attaches great importance to the management of EWIESMMDEEARADE  UERZEHEK
sustainable development, believing that with sustainable X EBEAER  HHEARNEEEKLEED
development as its core principle, clear and efficient :.:Zi/\&faiﬁﬁ ARk LS BEEEE
corporate governance as its foundation, and transparent BRI AZHEBESNEET X -

business ethics as its guiding force, the Group is able

to effectively manage risks and opportunities related to

business operations, society, and the environment. This

solid foundation supports the Group's journey towards a

sustainable vision.

At the same time, the Group’s sustainability is Iﬁlﬁ% * K%E’Uﬁf%%%&@éﬂﬂ?ﬂﬁ@%ﬁ%‘
inextricably linked to its stakeholders, whose views P ERENEREYAEEA]
and expectations are the key drivers of the Group's ?i?j'i?‘)féﬁ’]?ﬁfﬁjji A kS aL}EﬁxﬁI&
sustainable development. We actively listen to and RS EBEE  EHEEE LR ESH2HE
respond to the expectations and needs of all stakeholders B E’J HEREFBR - RE—FTHERANEEMN
via efficient and smooth communication mechanisms. To HEZFZHHNEPELBHEM > RMHET L
further ensure transparency and accountability in all of ¥ EAREA| Y XEREELR > £ERZ
the Group’s operations, we adhere to the principles of Ef3F - A FEHBER U 2B KRB S BILHR
corporate governance, benchmarking against legal and ?1?1,,\@& cRIFERMLEIHHEE —RIEB
commercial standards, and maintaining a continuous & EEEE - AR AR ZAERE T HR -
focus in the areas of internal controls, fair disclosure f%%%i@ﬁﬁ?il?’éiaﬂﬁﬂéiﬁﬁ

and accountability to all shareholders. In addition,

we proactively carry out a series of corporate social

responsibility activities to strengthen communication with

stakeholders, understand community needs and create

corporate value together with them.

ETPRERARAR 452023 21
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The Group actively responds to the United Nations'
Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) and contributes to
the realisation of balanced economic, environmental and
social development in the form of business operations
and value creation.

Environmental (E)

IRIR(E)

e Focusing on promoting
green and low-carbon
development

o RNBNERETR

CLEAN WATER AND Tl ‘SUSTABABLE CITIES
SANITATION AND COMMUNITIES

¥ | A

13 (CLIMATE ACTION 15 LIFE ON LAND

11 SUSTAINABLE CITIES
AND COMMUNITIES

Q| & EL

6 = | 11 gz

¥ | Al

13 TS 15 B

Q| =

22 RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2023

12 covsumpmon o

AEEERORBABAIRKBEERER
(SDGs) * UEBKKEMEERIENTEAD D
ERRE REEHEHEHER -

Governance (G)

B EEERNR
MERELTME

RESPONSIBLE

PRODUCTION

SEiTiEm

AEE BB OB E

&




ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ESG Governance Structure

Governance System

The Group attaches great importance to corporate
sustainability management, pays close attention to
domestic and overseas ESG frameworks and standards,
integrates the Group’s business characteristics and
continuously optimises its ESG management system.
The Group has established a sustainability governance
structure with the Board at its core leadership to
ensure that the Group has adequate and effective
management capability in sustainability matters. The
governance system is initiated by the Board of the
Company, reviewed by the ESG Executive Committee and
implemented by the ESG working group.

Board of
Directors

BEg

RIR - ERERBE

ESGE#IR 1

EREAR
AEBESEERCRARKEZRERE  TY
FEBAIESGIERRIELE  BAEAKE X
BRE TEHELESGERRR - AEER
VTNEEFERFAERONAKFERRENR
B UREAEEEATHEZEREELA
BRIDBBEHNERRES - ZERBEHAE
RAMEZFGRE ESGHRTZEERE -
I EHESG TIE/ N AE BT -

The Board shall monitor the conduct of its members and employees of
the Company to prevent misconduct and irregularities.

EEERETHEMERARNETINGTS  UERETEREBRTS °

The Board shall oversee whether the Company strictly implements the
relevant provisions of the Listing Rules and discloses relevant matters
in time in accordance with the provisions.
EERREEARRERENT LTHRANAERRE - WARBRE R
KEHEEEE -

Monitoring the conduct of its members and employees of the Company
S to prevent misconduct and irregularities and making reports to the

Board.

ESGHITZERREEAMERARNEINTR  URBREFERE

RITH Y LEEES -

Examining and approving the ESG reports and ensuring the accuracy
of performance indicators.

FHESCHE - WHERABIERAERM -

ESG Working Group
ESGI{E/NA

o Audit and Supervision o EITEIRED
Department

e Strategic Development o BYES 3R A
Department

e Brand and Culture ° MIEXALED
Department

* Integrated o REEEE
DepManagementartment

» Human Resources °* ADERE
Department

e Property Department o MIEES

Monitoring the conduct of its members and employees of the Company

to prevent misconduct and irregularities and making reports to the ESG
S Executive Committee.

ESGIF M AREEEMERDNAIETINTE  URBRETERER

Th L ERHUTESS -

Implementing the pertinent provisions of the Listing Rules and
assessing and determining whether the ESG risk management and
internal control system is appropriate and effective.

izgt‘g‘i?ﬁﬂﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁi  FHEREEESCREBREBERAERBRD
SEREM -

G
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RIR - HERERBE

The Board has the ultimate responsibility for the
Group’s ESG issues. Its ESG management approach and
strategy include establishing the Company’s overall ESG
governance structure, introducing a Board participation
mechanism, setting ESG management objectives, and
assessing and determining ESG risks. In addition, the
Board evaluates the Group’s performance in relation
to the ESG-related objectives through, among other
things, the development of indicators. In 2023, the Board
prioritized climate-related risks and conducted a short-,
medium-and long-term impact identification of climate
change risks.

The ESG Executive Committee is responsible for reviewing
and discussing the sustainability priorities of the Group,
as well as the operation status of the ESG management
system, in order to ensure that relevant approaches and
policies are in line with its business development, and to
effectively respond to the expectations and concerns of
stakeholders.

The ESG working group consists of the Group’s property
department, human resources department, integrated
management department, strategic development
department, brand and culture department and audit
and supervision department, which is responsible for the
execution of specific ESG efforts and the coordination
of internal and external resources. The working group
maintains close communication with the ESG Committee
and the Board to ensure that obstacles and results are
reported in a timely manner with accurate collection of
data and information for regular publication.

Looking ahead, we will continue to improve our ESG
management system and optimise it in accordance with
the requirements of the Stock Exchange and in the light
of the actual situation of our operations, so as to assign
responsibility for the implementation and management
of sustainability-related matters to specific positions.

24 RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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Risk Management

Risk management is an indispensable part of sustainable
development. Therefore, we are committed to
establishing a systematic risk management system to
ensure the sustainable operation of the Group in a
legal and compliant manner. The Group has established
systems of internal control, risk assessment and
management. The Board assumes overall responsibility
for the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems and reviews their effectiveness on a going
concern basis. In our risk assessment and management
system, we have integrated ESG risk management into
our established risk management and internal control
system, with the Board being responsible for assessing
and determining the relevant risks. The Group identifies,
evaluates, prioritise and manages its material risks to
the achievement of its business objectives and the risks
arising from ESG matters through the effective operation
of its risk management and internal control processes.
In addition, the Group continuously monitors potential
environmental and social risks in the course of business
operations through risk information maintenance, risk
assessment, learning and empowerment, and in-depth
exchanges. These efforts aim to promote the systematic,
regular and anticipatory risk management, enhancing the
Group's resilience and flexibility in dealing with risks.

RIR - ERERBE

[ B B
RRERRAKEERP AR IR
SNl A (RS b=V - o) N A=y PN S
FLERZARNAKEES - AKECEHE
VAREEZ ARIHELREENE EFS
EEHAEERARERERAIMERRGHE
BELT UBRIHFSELEEENRGE - &
REFmERkEERERT  KAMAGESGRARE
BAARBENREREBERABEHBR - A
ExEerANARECHBRR BBRR
BEMANMEFETFOAYET - @A 7
- BRAHIREEEGEEXNEBERTE
MEKRNRERMESGEEMITERR - tLih
AEETBAERENEE BERFG 2
BEEMRAEXREERE BEEREKZ
ERREPNEERERGEERR  HERR
BEETHENRES BRI ATEL B
SEERYEBRNEEMERME -

N

(o Continuously track and (% Proactively identify the

check the risk information
from previous years and
continuously improve risk
prevention and control
measures.

E N DI ECE )

Information
maintenance

gEI:LJ\‘

FHEURER AR A LLAT 4R
BE R A, RraE

sources, types and status of
risks, including ESG risks, in
light of such factors as
national and industry policies
and changes in the
economic environment, and
assess and respond to the
identified risks.

EEBK. 1TEBGR.

IR S LS E,
E B € A ESGE
FBLTE TA) B L ol 2 5
MM, RAE%E, Wi
17 BLBG TG B HE S

Risk
assessment

et A @

(e Improve and revise the
functions of different
departments in response to
the Group’s strategic needs,
carry out categorised
learning activities for these
departments given their
functional positioning, and
establish a long-term risk
prevention mechanism
according to the pertinent
laws and regulations.

MRIBEMME T E,
By 56 3 M AT -0
FIBRRAE, IR RE AL
SERE, PEEAR
EREIS, B
TEBT R .

Learning and
empowerment

27 B Ae @

(o Keep up with the latest
macro policies, maintain
close communication with
peers, update response plans
in a timely manner and
ensure their implementation
by relevant units.

cREEBBUR, REF
B [F) 47 /Y& 1) i 3 B
AT, R T
7 SR RS & BALAY
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In-depth
exchanges
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Stakeholder Engagement

The Group endeavours to maintain adequate
communication with its stakeholders, listen to their views
and expectations and respond to their requests through
different channels. We look forward to formulating better
development strategies and policies by understanding
the suggestions of stakeholders, with a view to improve
our performance, while creating environmental and social
value. We have identified the following six groups of
stakeholders with whom we have a close relationship by
considering their importance to the development of our

business:
G?\remment and Shareholders /
regulatory mechanism Investors Customers
T B A B JBe AL/ e wF
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The Group maintains close contact with its
stakeholders through shareholders’ meetings, company
announcements, regular reports, on-site visits, etc. in
order to gain a thorough and in-depth understanding of
their expectations, needs, sustainability issues of concern,
and opinions and suggestions. As an important basis for
the Group’s efforts to enhance sustainability, we have
identified the key disclosures in this ESG report. The day-
to-day communication with various stakeholders and the
core requirements identified during the Reporting Period
are set out in the table below:

AEEBBRRERRE -

ARRE  EBBE -

ENERSFHABMNSHBITRBETHE -

NBERBMARAMTEMAMANHE -

= iR

IWMAIRERRAELERLES - NEER
AEBRAAIFEERIENEZIKRE
EAESGHREEHFRBEART - HREHR - &
EMEHETNAEER  ARKRAFNEK

DERITRK:

Communication

Communication

Stakeholders Expectations and concerns channels frequency
FEHEER M B R R BERE BRAR
¢ legal and compliance operations ¢ Information submission Monthly
é ¢ Safety and environment protection e Conversation with Yearly
Government and e Payment of taxes regulatory authorities
.~ * In responseﬁto’ climate change - )
suthorities s BERRKE o B AE
T B B 5 f 12 e ZRERIR s BERBYR FE
o BB
s BHRKEE(L
e Revenue and return e Company announcements Irreqular
a1 e Business development e General meetings Yearly
Shareholders investors ® Compliance operations * Site visits Irregular
BE BB E e ESG governance e Regular reports Yearly/quarterly
¢ |n response to climate change
o WEEIH o RAEIRE TEH
o RBER s REKRE FE
s ERKRE o EMER TEH
* ESGRIE o« THmL EE A

s BHRIRE(L
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Communication
frequency

BEER

Communication
channels

BERE

Stakeholders
FREEA

Expectations and concerns

BB EFXR

°® ¢ Quality of service and satisfaction e Telephone communication e lIrregular
“)\ of property owners Joint meetings e Yearly
Customers (property Communication with property Annual meetings e Yearly
owners, tenants, owners/users Visit and interview e lrregular
property users, etc.) Integration between business and
EE(%T P - community development
W ) Legal and compliance operations
Energy consumption reduction of
buildings
REEERETREE B o NEH
¥F /FERERR BEaZ s FE
¥BETEERAA FEgHR s FE
BEAHRKE FERI# o NEH
PR IR SRR
Legal operation and quality Supplier meetings e Yearly
% standards of suppliers Online surveys e |rregular
suppliers Fair and reasonable treatment for Audit and assessment e |rregular
it e 75 business partners Bidding activities e lrreqular
Legal and compliance operations
Quality of service and satisfaction
of property owners
HEFSLZEEREERE HEREZE o FE
EBEHLOTAENRGSE BMEERASL o NEH
REARES Btk o NEH
REEEERXTIREE RERIZED o FEH
Employee benefits and welfare Employee representative o Yearly
3 Employee safety and health meeting e |rregular
Legal and compliance recruitment Company activities e |rregular
Employees Employee training and education Letters and visits e |rregular
8T Suggestion box
BIFBRERN BIKKKE o FE
EIRREZ 2 NEEE o NEH
BEARAL 127 o FEH
BEIBBEHE EEM o NEH
Community environment Community e [Irregular
Charity and public welfare communication meetings e Irregular
Community Community contributions Visit and investigation e |rregular
I Legal and compliance operations Press releases/
announcements
HEIRE HtRERE o NEH
BEDH MRERE o NEH
e E B Rk RE o TEH
REARKE
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Materiality Analysis EEMEEIMN

The Group conducts regular materiality assessment ANEBTFHETESZHEFTHIE T TAE T
and continuously improves the working mechanism ZEZHFHATIEESBIEFE BB TE
and methodology of materiality assessment by inviting FIZABABEAFLBAIFEEREZENEZEFT
different stakeholders to participate in the materiality i EEGAZSHEUTRAEZENBEIIREE -
assessment of sustainable development issues. The Group #—FZHBAIFEER TENZLZENT
aims to summarise the concerns expressed by various —# T{EEE o

parties in respect of different issues, further identifying

the core issues of our sustainable development efforts

and determining the next work focus.

The process for the Group to assess material issues in  ASKE2023FEEZHZETHBREBEEN
2023 consists of three steps: =M@ 2 5 -

e We reviewed and examined the materiality issues identified in 2022 based on A
business operations, industry development trends, ESG related standards and

Reviewing and guidelines and other information, and confirmed the importance of ESG
examining issues.

MECERSIEN « 4 2B LR  (TEREBD - ESGHELRTIEaSEM - H20225FEH
ERRE BIHMEBIEHBETT T WHEENER - WHRRESGHBNERIE -
Bl BRI R /

e Based on the Company’s existing business, ESG reporting guidelines, and A

industry ESG management priorities, we selected potential ESG issues covering
five areas, i.e. environment, employees, products and services, community, and
governance.

o IRIBEANDAIMAER - 4RAESGIRERIESIEXR  (TRESGEHRERH - BEERE

Identifying
potential ESG
issues e o i g s o< sk
E&%'J/QEESG E&iﬂ 8T EDDHE% N Z‘il“ﬁ_”&hg_'?D ﬁf%ﬂm%m/ElEESGﬁﬁzé ©

2% B
Ed)

J

e We determined the disclosure focus of the reporting content according to the
ranking of importance, analysed the key concerns of stakeholders, and
determined the ESG governance response strategy.

o RIBEEEMHFHETHRENDTHIREERL  oMFISMEHEZEEEE  BE
ESGIRIZFELISREL o
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RIR - HERER

Through the above evaluation and analysis process and

HE

the discussion of the Board, the Group has identified &

issues that have a significant impact on its operations K5 £ #

during the Reporting Period as the focus of disclosure
of the Report, which also provides an important basis

for the Group to perfect its management system and
sustainable development direction.

Environment (E)
RIR(E)

Use and influence
of raw materials

REMERRTZE

Waste treatment
and emission
reduction

B 22 W) B 3% B B

Water resources
consumption and
water preservation

JKE R H FE B &K

Energy consumption
reduction of
buildings
i 1

In response to
climate change

B3 IR 2 1

e
Jad |

Hfx=E
HEZKE:

BMEEAR LT ETARE -
o mARERANHEAEELCERE
BEERABRENREEY TR
BAMABEZERFRRE

=SB E

Materiality Analysis of Riverine China

Employees
ET

Employee benefits
and welfare
BIFBEEN

Employee safety
and health
BIRELE

Employee training
and development
BT EE% R

Legal and
compliance
recruitment

BEABRABT

Social (S)
(= (S)
Services

R %

Protection of users’
property, health and
safety

RIE A& 8Bt
EoRREEZE

Quality of service
and satisfaction of
property owners
RGEEEEEK TR
EE

Equipment reliability
BeCIE Ak

HIHEEEMBREDIN

Community
HE

Community and
stakeholder
communication
e RBEEABR
il

Integration between
business and

local community
development

27 B R
REA

ANKREE

Governance (G)
E /|:| (G)

Legal and
compliance
operations
BEAREY

Legal operation and
quality standards of
suppliers

HEBAZELER

EET&+

Enterprise
standardised
management

CREELCER

Anti-corruption
=

30
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Forging the Corporate Image of Integrity — Keeping Faith with Joint Efforts

BEBRE PN —BIFES BEHE
=T 16 2 | |17 e gEEr | n2a | | v
af Y | & af | o] ¥ | &

We launched anti-
corruption training for all employees, and there
were no major corruption incidents in 2023.
Supplier selection: We continuously implemented
the annual supplier audit mechanism and enhanced
the supplier assessment requirements. In 2023,
there were 128 existing suppliers, of which 98 were
approved.

Trustworthy operation: We possess AAA grade
certificate of model unit of integrity operation and
AAA grade certificate of enterprise credit.

Corruption eradication:

MBER BRE2EREXRESE
203 FEEEREEEM -

HAEEE BEEMRERTEEXET
RAHEETEE R -2023FE/MA
HEEI128K  BFEISK °

TERE FHAEMNGKETHELAAA
&una N _IJ‘_%,%TEAAATJ-“ Eﬁi% e

SR INT S T 2 DR R S

RMHRTRAGETE TA TSI AR SN BEAFERL

AABANCLAT LR, SAREHLTMUDTIEIE.

\!'ﬂﬂjln $6IX30
AR ALARAT

R 123704 2023, HHEELOWARR,
SEKR, MEAR, ERWR. HALEOR. B
UTE, BWERG, LERSIMPLANTAS

AAA

S

| SR AR,
cactitication  svaluntion

I vati for threm. uars.fram th <ot of acsmer 5

Te
2 BAE AN, A, SRk, SESARE, TR, §
AARILZUN, RENTAEAEIGBRTS

#izn®

Number of
Number of Attendance meetings
%Oeaert?ngs 4 omelfr(\)ger:rs 1 00 0/ 0 {)eyq:l:rt;el(tjors 2
Kl \iss Vi EEEN B AT B R y
St ) amam 41K axgz 100% wias 21K

Percentage
of female

directors 1 3 0/0

T 13%

Percentage
of independent

directors 80/0
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Compliance Operation and Anti-Corruption
Fulfilling our obligations, complying with regulations
and fostering a clean corporate culture are paramount
to achieving our sustainable growth. The Group
attaches great importance to operational compliance
and continuously strengthens its anti-corruption efforts,
with zero tolerance for any form of corruption, bribery,
extortion, money laundering and fraud. The Group
strictly complied with relevant laws and regulations,
including the Company Law of the PRC, the Criminal Law
of the PRC, the Anti-Money Laundering Law of the PRC
and the Anti-unfair Competition Law of the PRC, as well
as code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code as
set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. In addition, the audit
and supervision department was set up to manage anti-
corruption related work.

The Board of Directors of the Group undertakes the
important responsibility of overseeing the effective
implementation of the Company’s internal control,
anti-corruption and whistleblowing and other related
systems, and conducts a comprehensive review of the
management’s ethics and financial position to ensure the
healthy and stable development of the Group’s business
and the sustainable creation of value for shareholders
and all employees. The Board organises annual study
on the new requirements of the Listing Rules and the
Corporate Governance Code to familiarise itself with the
latest policy requirements. During the Reporting Period,
the Group launched anti-corruption training for the
Board and all employees, and created a clean corporate
atmosphere for the Group through the study of the
document “Declaration of Integrity and Self-discipline
2023".
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We have formulated the Measures for the Assessment of
Integrity and Self-discipline in accordance with relevant
laws and regulations, in which the prohibited items are
listed in detail and corresponding penalties are set up.
Employees are required not to use power for personal
gain, not to sacrifice the interests of the Company, not
to violate personal professional ethics, not to leak secrets
of the Company and not to steal corporate information.
They are required to sign the Letter of Responsibility on
Personal Integrity and Self-discipline every year, which
is attached to the Performance Evaluation Measures
for Business Departments/Functional Departments for
this year. In addition, we have added integrity and self-
discipline clauses in our contracts with suppliers and
contractors, requiring them to be law-abiding and
disciplined in their work.

Reporting Channels and Whistleblower Protection
In addition, the Group requires its employees to have
a high level of awareness of anti-corruption practices
and is committed to openness and fairness within its
operations. The Group expects employees to raises
their concerns or to report misconduct, and the Group
prohibits retaliation against anyone who raises concerns
or reports suspected misconduct in good faith.

To address corruption, the Group designs and
publishes “Zero Tolerance” posters and opens an audit
monitoring hotline, encouraging employees to report
any irregularities through our dedicated telephone
line or e-mail, which is divided into real-name and
anonymous reports, with strict confidentiality of the
informant’s information throughout the process of report
acceptance and actual investigation. The Group conducts
investigations into all reported cases. For cases that
do not involve the commission of a crime, the Group
joins hands with the relevant functional departments to
seriously investigate and rectify illegal and disciplinary
behaviours. Cases involving crimes, if any, will be
submitted to the judicial authorities with the approval of
the Board.

RIR - ERERBE

B BRBEARZEZAHNE TCRRERBZRE
BEZRE) EFFMANBELEZTHMAA
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B HEREAES
&
/V&i

%

9

EFATREESSANREZSR

BB
021-63309484
speak_up@riverinechina.com

]
SR

“Zero Tolerance” Posters and Audit Monitoring Hotline

[ZRDIBHRRETERER

During the Reporting Period, the Group was neither H&EHA  AEBRMEZAEMNEREISHE
aware of any major anti-corruption-related violations, nor B8 HIE KE R F A - W BE ) APk
received any corruption proceedings against the Group M TFETIRHMEISEMFREM

or its employees.
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Supply Chain Collaboration

Supply Chain Management

The Group focuses on environmental and social risk
management of the supply chain to ensure sustainable
development of the supply chain. The Group has
formulated the Supplier Database Control Procedures to
regulate the management process of supplier admission,
pre-qualification, engagement and evaluation to ensure
the securing of long-term and stable contractual parties.
At the same time, the Group effectively manages
environmental and social risks through this requirement,
and implements a supplier screening and performance
evaluation system to enhance the quality of its services.
As required by the policy, we will conduct regular
review of our suppliers to enhance our management and
oversight of supply chain. Meanwhile, we encourage
suppliers to actively use raw materials or packaging
materials that have less impact on the environment or
have obtained environmental-friendly certifications to
reduce carbon emissions and environmental pollution.
In the Supplier Information Survey Form, suppliers must
fill in whether they have a valid 1SO14000 Environmental
Management System Certificate or similar certificate.
The use of more environmentally friendly products and
services will be one of the important references in the
selection of suppliers.

During the Reporting Period, we reviewed 128 suppliers
in accordance with our evaluation process, of which
98 suppliers passed the annual review and became our
qualified suppliers for 2023, and all of these 98 suppliers
are from Shanghai.

RIR - ERERBE

fit & 85 175 [E

it pE 58 B 18
AEBITEHHEENRERMEERAKREE -
NREBEHEEMNAFERR - £EHI T 7(H
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Service Procurement

The Group attaches great importance to the procurement
of services. In accordance with the Supplier Database
Control Procedures, we have established a stringent
process for the selection and vetting of new suppliers,
so as to ensure that the qualifications and credibility of
new suppliers meet our requirements. We evaluate our
suppliers at least once a year. The evaluation team will
take into account the quality, service, price and delivery
period of the suppliers and confirm the Qualified Supplier
List, which will be approved and published by the general
manager. This process helps us effectively monitor the
quality and service standards of our suppliers.

List of Qualified

Suppliers
Suppliers assembled

assessed

HEEE HER

HE (BARH B %)

We systematically manage the bidding process
and strive to be fair and just. In the tendering
process, we will give preference to material, labor,
service and technical suppliers who have obtained
ISO9001 (Quality Management System), ISO14001
(Environmental Management System) and GB/T45001-
2020/1S045001:2018 (Occupational Health and Safety
Management System) certifications to ensure a high
standard of service. At the same time, we will also
implement different selection criteria based on the
nature of our suppliers’ industries and adopt policies
that meet the requirements of environmental and
social risk management to ensure that our supply chain
management is in line with international and domestic
standards and practice recommendations.
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Service Supervision

After entering into cooperation with suppliers, we
continue to track and monitor the service level of
suppliers to ensure that their service quality meets our
requirements. We have standardised the management
of our suppliers. In accordance with the requirements
of the Supplier Database Control Procedures, the
relevant departments carry out occasional spot checks in
accordance with the contractual requirements, monitor
the work quality of our suppliers, and fill in the Service
Provider’'s Overall Performance Evaluation Form in order
to control the quality of delivery of our service providers.
If problems are found, the supplier will be ordered
to rectify the problem and fill in the Service Provider
Communication Record Form. If the supplier refuses to
make a rectification or there are still significant service
quality deficiencies, we will report the case level by
level and remove the supplier from the database as
appropriate.

Spot-checked by
regulators

MEEE

Issues rectified
upon request

BESEY

RIR - ERERBE

REEEE

HEEBRAGER  RMSFEENR &
B UM A BRSO - DURERE RS B
EZRHFNER - BMAHHERETR—F
2 oERMMOTBEEZGRF)ER  BE
MEMRRAEAERETTIERME - HH
THITHHEEEREES  ER(RBETHAE
AERINERETNINEEETEE
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Reporting level
by level
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In addition, apart from holding regular exchange
meetings, mutual visits and related training with
suppliers, we also focus on establishing long-term and
stable cooperative relationships, and exploring with
suppliers the optimisation of supply chain management
and the synergistic development of the industry chain.
Mutual benefits will be realized through measures such
as improving efficiency, reducing costs, and proactive
restructuring. For poorly performing suppliers, we will
arrange interviews through the supplier management
department to understand in detail where the problems
lie, and then formulate corresponding rectification plans
and urge them to implement the rectification measures,
so as to enhance their overall management standard
and service quality. We believe that through close
cooperation and interaction with our suppliers, we will
be able to provide better products and services to our
customers, work together to promote the sustainable
development of the industry, and actively fulfil our social
responsibility to contribute to environmental protection
and social progress.

SN BRTERETEHRITRIRE BEA
BARBEEIN G RABZIRELRY
REMGIFRE LDHEHARRSHER
EREBCREXEHRAER - BBRSHEX -
REKA BHREREREERLMNAR -
HRRBARENHED RS RBHES
BRI  FATEERERE X
HIEAENBNTR  BREZEBRNER -
NIEAEBRRERKENREEE - RIFHE
F BEEHTNEZAFEEE - RFE
WMERBEPRHEGENERMNMRY - &
FHBOTENAFRERR YHEEBEETHLS
A REREGREEMSESMEER -

Revealing Service Quality with Dedication-Wholehearted Service, Sincere Communication
EHMTERERE —BO0RE BELRXR

INDUSTRY, INHOVATION
AND WELL-BEING AND IRFRASTRUCTURE

| &

° Quiality assurance: We have introduced the
quality management standard GB/T190012016/
ISO9001:2015 “Quality Management System
Requirements” and pass the certification.

o Customer recognition: During the Reporting
Period, the customer satisfaction rate was 97.29%,
representing an increase of 3.38% over last year.

GOOD HEALTH

o New honor: We were awarded the title of 2023
Shanghai Property Service Five-Star Enterprise by
the Shanghai Property Management Association,
and the title of 2023 Shanghai Children’s and
Teenagers’ Library Outstanding Partner.

38 RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2023

3 B EX. fiRH
B mEatEaL HENER

| &

e HEsRE: SIANEE=EREIZAEGB/
T190012016/1S09001 : 2015¢ & & & 12
BRAXER)TBBARASE o

s XPRUAREFERN BFEFREES
97.29% * WEF I F3.38% °

o HIMKE ZKELEMYMEESBITED
03FELEMHERBHERD
X REBABFELBLFREBESE
FEEFEERMYE -



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIR - ERERBE

Quality Management EEERE
Certificates and Qualifications HENREE

=

FOOD SAFETY MANAGEMENT

[‘_fﬁjﬂiﬁﬁiﬁﬁfﬂuﬁmﬁ X = i)\iEiE# . SYSTEM CERTIFICATION )
22 BuE :

YT T TR

oo |

AT,

REERREARAEES tETERRREZRBHEEEES 1S022000-2018 BmE 2 8RR EE &
Quality Management Membership Certificate of Shanghai 1S022000-2018 Food Security System
System Certificate Security Service Association Certificate

BERTEACEAARES ERREAERELEAAARES mE RIS EAAAREE
Certificate for Enterprises Committed Certificate for Enterprises Recognised Certificate for Enterprises Recognised
to Upholding Contracts and for Integrity in After-sales for Integrity in
Promises (AAA) Services (AAA) Service Quality (AAA)

BRBTFEACEAARES RETEREEANAREE
Certificate for Enterprises Recognised Cert|f|cate for Enterprises Recognised
for Integrity in After-sales for Integrity in
Services (AAA) Service Quality (AAA)
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Business Line Quality Control

Property Management

To ensure the health and safety of property owners,
we strictly comply with the Property Management
Ordinance and other relevant laws and regulations.
We are also concerned about advertising, labeling, and
privacy, and comply with relevant laws, including the
Cybersecurity Law of the PRC and the Advertising Law of
the PRC. To ensure the stability and reliability of service
quality, the Group established a quality management
system as early as 2004, which has been continuously
improved and upgraded. We have introduced the
international advanced quality management standard
GB/T190012016/1SO9001:2015 “Quality Management
System Requirements” and passed the certification. Over
the years, we have been striving to optimise our service
quality management system to support the continuous
improvement of our property service standards.

To ensure the quality and safety of our property
management, we have formulated and implemented a
series of rules and regulations on the basis of compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations, including
the Quality, Environmental and Occupational Health
and Safety Management Manual, the Client Property
Management Regulations, and the Internal Confidentiality
Management Regulations and other documents. These
documents provide clear standards and guidelines for
our management, review and evaluation. To ensure
the effectiveness of these rules and regulations, we
regularly re-examine, sorts out and revise our internal
standardised documents, and constantly update our
quality control specifications on risk control, monitoring
and measurement control, internal audit and error
correction. In addition, we formulate detailed operating
instructions according to the characteristics of different
projects and strengthen the concept of quality training
through staff training. Through systematic guidelines and
practical exercises, the quality management standard will

be improved continuously.
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Urban Services

The Group, through its subsidiaries, is engaged in the
field of urban service development and is committed to
building a comprehensive urban environmental service
that integrates cityscape sanitation, urban public toilet
management, urban domestic waste treatment, disease
vector control, cleaning services, indoor cleaning and
green maintenance. At present, we have provided
environmental cleaning services for municipalities in many
provinces and cities and many famous group companies,
with our business presence extending to 10 provinces
and cities in China. The Company operates strictly in
accordance with the modern enterprise system, and
has passed several quality control system certifications,
including 1S09001:2008 Quality Management System
Certification, 1SO14001:2004 Environmental Management
System Certification, OHSAS18001:2007 Occupational
Health and Safety Management System Certification, and
SA8000: Social Accountability Standard Certification.
In 2023, we were involved in the development of the
standard, Classification and Rating of Cleaning and
Janitorial Service Organisations.
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Property Owners’ Comments on Intelligent Environmental Sanitation Integration Project in

Gulou District of Fuzhou City
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According to the results of property owners’ satisfaction evaluation forms in relation to the Intelligent
Environmental Sanitation Integration Project in Gulou District of Fuzhou City, the overall evaluation of our
services was excellent. The satisfaction evaluation depicted that since it has taken over the Gulou District
Intelligent Environmental Sanitation Integration Project of Gulou District Urban Management Bureau
of Gulou District of Fuzhou City, Hong Xin Environment Group Co., Ltd. has given priority to the social
benefits, strictly enforced the standards of the city and the district’s environmental sanitation. In addition,
it has constantly improved its work, and has effectively maintained and progressively enhanced the
quality of the environmental sanitation of the Antai and Nanjie streets of Gulou District. All these actions
fully demonstrated the strength and the social responsibility of a professional environmental sanitation
company. Our department is satisfied with the work results achieved by Hong Xin Environment Group Co.,
Ltd..
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Cihu Hi-Tech Zone Road Sanitation Project
(BB ERREEA]
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The road sweeping and cleaning service project in Cihu Hi-Tech Zone of Maanshan City is the first
cooperation between Hong Xin Environment and Maanshan Xinci Property, which opens up a new mode of
property industry + urbanisation service. In particular, this project is also another effective implementation
of road property cleaning service, enhancing our market influence and strengthening our comprehensive
competitiveness in the field of cleaning service. The project demonstrates that the Group has optimised
the business system of its professional companies based on the steady growth of its main business of
property management, progressively advancing the business of the Group’s urban services segment to the
local level and promoting the development of the upstream and downstream industrial chains.
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Technology Services

Intelligent Facilities Management

As a pioneer in intelligent management and operation
services for facilities and equipment, we leverage our
extensive offline engineering experience in facilities
operation and maintenance. We combine this expertise
with intelligent facilities management platform tools
and an innovative, efficient operations team. Based on
facilities and equipment management that can quantify
user experience, we have independently developed
the POMS platform tools by utilising Al, loT, cloud
computing, and big data technologies, aiming to provide
customers with continuous, stable, and highly efficient
intelligent services.
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The POMS platform is a professional engineering facilities
and equipment management system. It is founded on
ecological operation and maintenance principles and
management concepts, integrating operational rules,
Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs), and a Job Safety
Analysis (JSA) experience database. This integration
facilitates the seamless coordination of personnel,
equipment, and operations. POMS also consolidates work
order data for each staff operation and operational data
for equipment and facilities. By mining and analyzing
this data, the platform can conduct more scientific
and systematic management of the entire lifecycle of
equipment and facilities. It enables real-time quantitative
evaluation of on-site work, effectively improving
management efficiency and service levels. Ultimately,
this leads to the closed-loop management of Plan-Do-
Check-Act (PDCA). Furthermore, the platform provides
customers with real-time visibility into operation and
maintenance, allowing them to monitor equipment and
facility conditions through regular data analysis.

Intelligent Building System

Riverine China has long been dedicated to leveraging
mobile connectivity to optimise and address refined
construction management, project site management,
property management, and other related issues. In a
bid to revolutionize traditional building management
approaches, the Company has introduced a
groundbreaking supply reform model, known as the
intelligent building construction management model.
In 2016, Shanghai Jiegu Technology Co., Ltd. was
established to develop the Dynamic Building Matrix
(DBM) system. This system has been deployed in over
300 projects both domestically and internationally,
overseeing property management for assets totalling
more than RMB732 billion.
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The DBM system is a cross-platform Intelligent Building
Management Platform (IBMS) based on Internet of
Things and internet technologies, which can collect data
and provides visible information on people, equipment,
tenants and environment in the building based on the
building space. Equipped with personnel management
system, facilities and equipment management system,
space management system, tenant management system,
security management system (access control, camera),
the DBM system is able to perform statistical analysis
and management of energy consumption, make the
best choice of energy consumption, and improve the
utilisation rate of energy efficiency.

Customer Interest Protection

Customer Security and Privacy Protection

The Group is committed to protecting property owners’
personal and property safety. In this regard, the Group
has formulated and implemented internal systems such
as the Quality, Environment and Occupational Health
and Safety Management Manual, the Client Property
Management Regulations and the List of Management
Targets and Indicators for 2023, which provide clear
standards on risk management and control of property
services as well as the management of fire safety, security
and safety of infrastructures. At the same time, the
Group has actively built up a security risk management
framework and strengthened its security management,
aiming to effectively control the risks of basic services
and safeguarding the health and safety of property
owners comprehensively. The Group ensures equal
treatment of all relevant parties with their employees
supervised by the Group’s health and safety management
system. It proactively assists them in enhancing their
occupational health and safety management, thereby
contributing to the establishment of a safe and secure
society.
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Furthermore, as part of its daily risk assessment efforts, It 4N+ 7£ B & & B& 5F 1EIT’EEP REBETEH
the Group regularly reviews its health and safety policies ¥ f#@RELZ 2 HBEHR K BB IETHRE &
and performance. It actively monitors risks associated ﬁ?ﬁ&%%% ERE R BT 2SEEERE
with property infrastructure services and fire safety. The #H#%& B (2R AR ﬁﬁﬂi&ﬁ—r WHAEEE
Group coordinates all units to submit risk information i@k% REERBREHREPMEEE R
and promptly provides corresponding management [EE®R @ BBIETMm LR - B L NEHU
recommendations, which are included in the annual HWEEE T EUMIRFEETE2IIENE
risk governance report submitted to the Group's If -

management. Our objective is to effectively enhance

health and safety management through a dual approach

of bottom-up reporting and top-down implementation.

Protecting the Health and Safety of Customers and Minimising the Use of Toxic Substances
— Pesticide Management Regulation
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application. After completion of spraying, it
s imperative to wash hands, face and
spraying tools to ensure safety. Additionally,
efforts should be made to avoid pesticide
application during windy conditions or
before and after rainfall to minimise harm
to bees, natural enemies and other
beneficial organisms. Balancing pesticide
effectiveness with environmental and
human health concerns is paramount for us.
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promptly recyde all types of empty pesticide
containers, and randomly check their waste
disposal protocols and information filing,
which may include completing the
Registration Form for Recycling of Empty
Chernical BottlesBags.
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The Group's regulations on the management of pesticides cover the entire cycle of pesticide allocation,
pesticide application and waste disposal, which are under the continuous supervision of the person in

charge of greening.
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Strengthening Emergency Drills to Ensure Safe Operation

— Drill for Responding to Elevator Failure
[RILESERRER2ET] —BHEBHEER
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In order to realize the idea of safety first, ensure the personal safety of the elevator users in the shopping
mall, and improve the emergency response and rescue ability and standard of the elevator accident,
Shanghai Bund Ke Pu on-site team carried out an emergency response and rescue drill in the case of
people being trapped by the elevator’s sudden failure. The drill includes various scenes from sudden failure,
on-site rescue, to the successful rescue of the trapped personnel. Shanghai Bund Ke Pu has attached great
importance to the elevator emergency plan drill, through which the feasibility and effectiveness of the
emergency plan can be checked, and problems can be found and improved in time.
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It is the Group’s firm commitment to properly manage
and protect property owners’ information and privacy.
We strictly comply with the Cybersecurity Law of the PRC
and other laws and regulations on information security
and privacy protection, and have formulated the Internal
Confidentiality Management Regulations to regulate
and monitor the confidentiality of our service personnel
in the course of the services. We will conduct security
and confidentiality training for our employees to raise
the awareness of each employee. At the same time, we
will sign a confidentiality agreement with the employees
who will be hired and require them to pass a security
and confidentiality examination before they are allowed
to work in the Company. Our confidentiality system has
strict rules regarding what data can be viewed and what
areas personnel can access. We carry out special training
for employees who need to access customer information,
and require them to perform duties of public security.
Before seeking approval from the property owners, any
trespass of visitors will be prohibited. We never expose
the family and financial situation, address, phone number
and other privacy information of the property owners to
anyone, strictly protecting customer privacy security.

For the Group’s information technology business,
protecting user data privacy has long been a key concept
in our product design. We are committed to establishing
a standardised and sustainable privacy impact assessment
process to ensure that our products and services always
comply with information protection related laws and
regulations. We are committed to not selling any
personal information to third parties and guarantee that
we will only share personal information that is necessary
to provide the service to our users for legitimate, lawful,
necessary, specific, and express purposes. We have
established a working mechanism for responding to data
security and privacy incidents, specifying the incident
response team and reporting standards to regulate
the process of classifying, reporting and notifying data
security and privacy protection incidents.
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As for advertising, the Group strictly complies with the
laws and regulations including the Advertising Law of
the PRC as well as the code of practice in the industry.
The legitimacy, authenticity, scientificity and accuracy of
the publicly released information are strictly evaluated.
Publication of deceptive and misleading marketing
information and materials is strictly prohibited to
effectively protect the legitimate rights and interests of
customers. As the Group's business does not involve in
commodity labelling, the contents related to commodity
labelling are not applicable to the Group. Due to the
nature of its businesses, the Group does not involve any
product recall. During the Reporting Period, we were not
aware of any major violations related to service quality,
privacy protection or advertising.

Customer Communication Mechanism

The Group is committed to the continuous improvement
of its services and product quality in order to form a solid
and sustainable relationship with its customers in the
long run. The Group always prioritises customer opinions
and feedback, and maintains active and effective
communication with customers during the service.

As a customer-focused property management company,
we place great importance on communication and
interaction with our clients. During and after the service,
we keep close contact with our customers, listening to
their opinions and suggestions as an important basis for
management improvement. We communicate with our
customers through a variety of channels, including, but
not limited to, phone calls, emails, social media, online
chats, etc. We place special emphasis on communication
with property owners’ representatives through regular
meetings attended by both property owners and
their representatives. By doing so, we gain insight
into their feedback on our services and identify any
additional service needs they may have. Subsequently,
we promptly follow up and respond to their comments
and requirements. At the same time, we also attach
great importance to communication with the Project
Management Office and the relevant persons-in-charge
of the property owners’ affairs to ensure the smooth
commencement of service work and effective project
management.
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By creating flexible and diversified communication
methods to fully consider the demands and feedbacks
of all parties involved in the customer group, we have
constructed good communication and interaction,
promptly intervening and resolving problems. These
efforts enable us to continuously improve service quality

and thus to win the full trust and recognition of our

customers.

The following table shows the main channels through
which the Group communicated with its customers

during the Reporting Period:
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Customer Satisfaction Management

The Group adheres to the customer-oriented concept. It
strictly complies with the Law of the People’s Republic of
China on the Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests
and other laws and regulations. In this regard, the Group
has formulated the List of Management Targets and
Indicators, and has set a target of customer satisfaction
for the current year in 2023, with a customer satisfaction
rate of 90% for the residential projects and 93% for the
non-residential projects. The Group has continued to
improve its customer satisfaction management system,
realizing comprehensive satisfaction surveys. The Group
proactively identifies and resolves service weaknesses, to
continuously improve the quality of its services.

In order to assess our customers’ satisfaction with the
quality of our services in a more comprehensive manner
and to understand their needs, opinions and suggestions,
we commissioned a third-party organisation to conduct a
customer satisfaction measurement during the Reporting
Period. Adopting the generic model of GT/T19038:2009
Customer Satisfaction Evaluation Model and Method
Guide, the evaluation designed different supporting
guestionnaires according to the types of projects and
service contents, aiming at collecting opinions on the
overall service quality and quality perception of the
Group. According to the results of the questionnaire,
overall customer satisfaction rate reached 97.29%,
with 94.82% for residential projects and 97.82% for
non-residential projects, both of which met the customer
satisfaction target for this Year and overall customer
satisfaction rate increased by 3.38% as compared to
that for 2022. We analysed in detail how satisfied our
customers are with the quality of our services, especially
the aspects that need to be improved. Based on the
feedback from our respondents, we continuously improve
the quality of our services to meet the needs and
expectations of our customers.
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Customer satisfaction rate of

zemeE 97.29%
3.38%

A year-on-year increase of

FHER2022F 12 H

Complaints and Handling

In addition to actively soliciting customer feedback, we
have implemented a complaint management policy that
enables customers to monitor us in real time and provide
feedback. We have formulated the Customer Complaint
Handling Procedures, which specifies the responsible
unit for handling customer complaints and the detailed
steps for handling them, to ensure that we can solve
the problems raised by our customers in a timely and
effective manner, and that we can take prompt measures
to avoid the recurrence of similar problems.

The customer complaint handling workflow as set out in
the Customer Complaint Handling Procedures is shown
below:

Complaint receipt Complaint handling

B Bear A B
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Upon receipt of a complaint message, the complaint
receiver will contact the customer within 3 minutes,
discuss the solution, determine the deadline for handling,
and record the complaint message on the Customer
Complaint Record Form. If a complaint falls outside
the handling authority, the responsible department
or individual in charge of complaint management will
promptly escalate it to the supervisor within 15 minutes.
The supervisor will then contact the customer within
one hour to confirm the resolution timeline. After the
complaint is handled, the person responsible for handling
the complaint needs to fill in the Cause Analysis and
Corrective Actions in the Customer Complaint Record
Form, and give feedback to the complaint acceptor. After
receiving the reply, the complaint acceptor will verify with
the complainant. If the handling result is inconsistent
with the customer’s feedback, the complaint will be
returned for re-handling to ensure that the customer’s
complaint is dealt with seriously.

Complaint received
Take up a complaint

EZRER
RIFEIEA REZRIFAE

Complaint information recorded

orm

Reply to customer

The direct supervisor contacts the customer within
1 hour

LBEEER
HE LREVNER REFHR

RIR - ERERBE

BRFXEABERRIRFAMER  24&3
DHANEEFBHE BOBRITR BIR
EHER - WA RFAECHRAECEPRFL
BRIE-BEREEROKRS  RFEE
BEEAM EEASESHBANERR LK
BE BEERLAREVNKRAREFRPHBE
WHEERERR - ERFEBIETER  RAF
BRESEFIAFTERB(EPRFLHER)FHNIR
AoMRUEREME] AOBEHRRFXEA-
RFZBEARKIEER  SRARFALETR
B AFREAREFFPEBN 2 ®HHK
ROBEHEE  BEETPHRFEIEFAR
e

Contacting customer

Complaint beyond authority
Reported to the direct supervisor within 15 minutes
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During the Reporting Period, the Group received 5
complaints, all associated with residential projects.
In strict compliance with the complaint handling
procedures, we completed the rectifications as scheduled
and with high quality, meeting the requirements of
the customers. Consequently, through the complaint
handling visits, the customers were 100% satisfied with
the resolutions.

Community Welfare

The Group is dedicated to fostering a harmonious
and aesthetically pleasing community environment. In
addition to actively addressing the diverse needs of
property owners, the Group upholds the social spirit
of public welfare, diligently assumes responsibilities
entrusted by the nation and the era, and consistently
spreads positive energy to foster the harmonious
development of society. We have made significant
contributions to the development of the local community
by partnering with various local industries and businesses
to build projects. In addition, we also actively support
community welfare causes, such as donating goods and
funds to local charitable organisations and organising
volunteer services, etc. We strive to make more efforts
in repaying the society and promoting community
development.
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Creating a Civilised City — Huaihai Street Traffic Duty Volunteer Service
RAIZXHHE|] — EBHEXBETARSERY

...... it i | e

.

The Headquarters of the Group coordinated with all branches to provide civilised traffic volunteer
services in collaboration with the Huaihai Zhong Road Street Committee from March 15 to March 21.
During this time, volunteers worked alongside traffic coordinators at the intersection of Huangpi South
Road in Huaihai Zhong Road to ensure smooth traffic flow. They assisted on-duty traffic policemen
and coordinators in managing non-motorized vehicles and pedestrians, maintaining traffic order at the
intersection. Additionally, they actively discouraged traffic violations, provided helpful responses to
inquiries about directions, and offered convenient services whenever possible.

LA EARSEE3AAEIA2ZIARGESTRTEBRRXARBERREIE  SREMAE
EETRERMEEKORIBHEE —REEIBHRT HHRAIXENMBESHIIEKRDE  TA
ETERE BWHAERORXBKT BHEXBEZITR RBZEREHAR  RBRHEELHGERNNE
R# -
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Handmade Paper Cutting to Promote the Spirit of Lei Feng
— Learning Lei Feng Day Charity Activity
[AFICAEEERRY] —2F#ALHETY

[ S G il i o i -_— . .

On 5 March, the third party branch of the Group and the party branch of Shanghai Children’s Art Theatre
jointly participated in the public welfare activity of Learning Lei Feng Day organised by the Bansongyuan
Road Street Committee in Huangpu District. The theme of this charity event was to develop children’s
hands-on skills and colouring abilities, for which we prepared baby sharks colouring instruction and
windmill production, and wrote a blessing message to the special children on the windmill, which was
then passed on to the special children by the theatre staff.

3ASH - MIZZEXHE TSR ELWMBASEXRHE2NEFEFAERETEEASNESTHER
R@Ey WA RARZEHTEAFEFIRRNSGFEHEER D - BULEFIEH T baby sharks 2 &35
BHAEHE TEREISF—9HSRZENNRE  RHESITEAR " BXEEFRZE -
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Love for Huaihai, Holding “Bear Claw"”- Learning Lei Feng Day Charity Activity
BEER EFIRN] —2FTEALRHETY

iy A

¥ 3 Chinanews.com
Bear Claw Coffee, a brand with a passion for coffee and helping people with disabilities, is committed to
providing jobs for 10,000 disabled partners. By procuring coffee of Bear Claw, Pujiang Properties allocates

10 percent of the procurement funds to support street disability causes, helping more disabled partners
integrate into the community and live a better life.

RETONGE » B —FKARAEWEE - HERHKBA/TONME - BARB10,0008EENEHRE THEBEML
HIMEBBRABRENUNY BERBESNEIZTERERARTERRASE HEPHESZRENE
HRALE  BEEHFNLIE -

Civilised Practice in Metro, Civilised Traffic for Citizens — Metro Station Volunteer Activity

(XHEREHLBYARBATR] — @BUEEERY

Riverine China manages and serves a number of metro stations, including Shanghai Metro Line 6, Line 8
and Line 12. In order to further foster a positive atmosphere as a nationally recognised civilised entity and
to serve the metro and its passengers, Riverine China launched the “Civilised Practice in Metro, Civilised
Traffic for Citizens” volunteer service, showcasing the civilised nature of Shanghai.

HIIRBEERMERSE T L BME6RE 8RR NRERFLEMBUE RTE P LENEEIE
NHEVHRARE  REHE BRERT ERAXALGRX BITEFEETIXHAEEEDSH
NHRXBRTRINERRS -
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Empowering Development with Innovation

— Building on Strengths and Exploring New Opportunities
AFBTFRERBE —VYEEEREHB

9 INDUSTRY, INNOVATION
ARD IKFRASTRUCTURE

&

o Quialification accumulation: During the Reporting
Period, 3 computer software copyrights, 1 software
enterprise certificate and 5 software product

certificates were obtained.

o Innovative application: The DBM system has been
applied to more than 300 projects nationwide,
overseeing property management for assets
totalling more than RMB732 billion.

o Honourable award: Riverine China was awarded
the tile of 2023 China IFM Service Outstanding
Enterprise by China Index Academy.

Existing Strengths and Customer Needs

In terms of the Group’s property management services,
the Group have been ranked among the top 100 property
service enterprises in China for consecutive years since
2012 in the “National Property Service Enterprises
Comprehensive Strength Ranking” organised by the
China Real Estate Association, and it is one of the top
two public property service featured brand enterprises in
China. We have provided professional services to a total
of 565 projects in various provinces and cities across
China, covering the entire business management industry
chain. In order to meet the requirements of modern
property management, further enhance service efficiency
and quality, achieve the goal of refined management,
and meet the growing service expectations of owners,
we urgently need to promote digital transformation
and develop information-based management products.
Through technological empowerment, we will provide
owners with a more convenient, intelligent and speedy
service experience and jointly create a better living
environment.
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Intelligence-empowered Urban Services

The Group adheres to the principle of technology-
enabled services and vigorously promotes digital
transformation and research in the field of intelligence.
Through technology empowerment, the Group will
continue to enhance the service efficiency of its staff
and customer experience. Upon establishment of
Shanghai Jiegu Technology Co., Ltd., the Group invested
substantial resources in the research and development of
the Dynamic Building Matrix (“DBM"). The DBM system
utilises the basic Building Information Modelling (BIM)
model data to fully digitise the building, organically
integrating equipment, energy, personnel, monitoring
and environment with visualisation and IOT deployment.
It also derives a number of core database systems for the
required applications. In addition to our own buildings,
we also provide services and software output to
developers and operators in need. Our software enables
our customers to realise digital, real-time and visible
actions and tasks in the management process. All these
actions and tasks are traceable, predictable, statistical
and analysable. The software reduces various types of
management risks, and improves the efficiency and
results of daily management.
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"Tracker” personnel and task
management platform

Use and gather apps, webpages, and NFC
locations

ABTEEEFE -Tracker
AW EappRwebEE - NFCEA{L

T

TRACKER

“Tracker” personnel and task
management platform

Use and gather apps, webpages, and NFC
locations

REEEFE-Sentry
SERBRRYEBATNE B BwvebR
HRR{EEE

“Seer” 3D visualisation
management platform

Reduce the 3D models of property buildings
and link the data with their spaces.

3DAR L EE F B-Seer
HEEREIDERRE WY EmEY
e RA B B Bh

PROVIDZR

“Overlord” public data
management centre

Assist projects in archiving and managing
data

AHEEEE P -Overlord
FlEphEESEIRETRE(LEE

“Provider” merchant/tenant
service applet

Manage the information of
merchants/tenants through webpages

5 B PR#% /N2 -Provider
MiBweb MBI AREHFEAMEE, 7
Bl AEEPREME FRGE

e

“Sentinel” security management
platform

Reduce the 3D models of property buildings
and link the data with their spaces.

%22 §5E 1 F E-Sentinel
B EREIDERER Wi Rk
FalBARt B D

DBM System Function Platform
[DBMIZ#Z U EEFE

The Group’s self-developed Plant Operation and
Maintenance System (POMS) is a professional engineering
facilities and equipment management system. Based
on a professional operation and maintenance system,
POMS incorporates the concept of refined management,
utilising advanced information technology to facilitate
the seamless coordination of personnel,
and operations.

equipment
POMS consolidates work-related
data regarding facilities and equipment operation
and maintenance. It quantitatively evaluates on-site
operations and maintenance through data accumulation
and analysis, guiding decision-making and adjustments.
It serves as an auxiliary tool to achieve professional,
precise, and cost-effective operation and maintenance of

equipment and facilities.
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L e
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POMS (Plant Operation Maintenance System)
POMS (Plant Operation Maintenance System)R EREEEF A

Digitalised equipment Meticulous management
management Qur planning is meticulously detailed,
Each piece of equipment within the down to the minute of every hour of
service scope is linked to its location every day, ensuring precise execution of
through a unigue QR code, which records code binding actions.

all operation and maintenance data.
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POMS system
POMS 4t

. . Closed-loop work ticket
Real-time enquiry management

Project managers receive real—tlme V Every operation and maintenance task
updates on the status of operation and follows a closed-loop process, with staff

maln‘tenance tasks, allowing them tol actions, accompanying photos, actual
monitor and manage progress effectively. time spent, inspections, and evaluation

BNeFERE results meticulously recorded for
SREREANSLBEREREHY trageabllity iz OReade.
EEEICEERER TEEEEE
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Intellectual Property Right

The Group is keenly aware of the importance of
innovative research and development in enhancing
service experience and has been actively promoting
the transformation and upgrading of traditional
property management to modern property services.
We continue to optimise our corporate innovation
process and encourage our employees to innovate and
conduct research and development to provide better
services to our customers. Dedicated personnel will be
assigned to follow up on the application of intellectual
property rights for the achievements of the research
and development. At the same time, we comply with
the Copyright Law of the PRC, the Trademark Law of
the PRC, the Patent Law of the PRC, and other relevant
laws, and we actively formulate the System Management
Measures and the Document Control Procedures to
protect our intellectual property rights.

During the Reporting Period, we added
intellectual property rights:

the following

o 3 computer software copyrights
o 1 software enterprise certificate
o 5 software product certificates
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We have established a knowledge base for our &M ABIEYTHHE " %8RBI
employees, where experiences from both internal and ZHMLCREMBEE  WIRRNEHBFEMNZHE
external sources are aggregated, organized, and specific ILfEZEMEE - FMBENEIE - KK
knowledge is extracted for employees to utilize and HETXZHEE  BREFNBFEETZESE -
reference. In the management of our knowledge base, b4} > FffIthiF B TITHEZAE - ?—TTD&;’F S
we have taken proper measures to ensure that our FHEEZ  EEINIBHAIZR  REFHE
intellectual property rights are not infringed upon. In  FIE({LRIEHIR B - FHBIAIFT H @ o
addition, we also keep an eye on industry standards,

academic exchanges, professional conferences, and

opinions from customers or external suppliers, so that we

can adjust and optimise our services in a timely manner

while identifying the direction of innovation.

We believe that by continuously improving our HfitEE BETEHMEACENRME N
technological strength and innovation, we can create a HMEAIFEEN  HMIENARFITEEMEHZ
better service experience for our customers. R -

Creating Values with Shared Success — Care, Protection, Respect and Understanding
HBRHEARNREEE —BERE TEER
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e Sound system: We have passed GB/T45001 2020/ e BERREZ2:BiBGB/T45001-2020/
ISO45001:2018 Occupational Health and Safety ISO45001 : 2018 EREL 2 EFIERB R
Management System Certification. R o
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o Partner empowerment: During the Reporting Period, the staff training coverage rate was 98.57%,

with average training hours of 129.43 hours.
o RHER: AWHBA - BITIRIEEERIB57% B TFHIFIKK129.43/NE o
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98.57%

During the year, the percentage of employees trained was 98.57%

KFEE  ZNEEF S H 298.57%

129.43 hours
129.43 /B

During the year, the average number of training hours per employee was 129.43 hours

REFE  FEER X FIIFE#3129.43/ b5

o Health protection: A total of RMB620,000 was invested in occupational health and safety efforts.
o Care and love: We regularly organise the “Voice of the Heart” seminars for staff and a series of
thematic activities of “Concern, Care, Love” People’s Liaison Representative.

s RERE: BEXRBEELZEZRAHXAFGETT -
e HEBME THERLBEIBETIBRAS:

Employment Management

Talent is the cornerstone of the enterprise and a crucial
pillar for advancing toward high-quality development.
The Group always adheres to the people-oriented
philosophy. We strictly comply with relevant laws and
regulations on employment, including the Labour
Law of the PRC, the Labour Contract Law of the PRC
and the Implementation Regulations for the Labour
Contract Law of the PRC and the Law of the PRC on
Promotion of Employment. In accordance with relevant
laws and regulations, we have set up relevant systems
for recruitment, compensation, dismissal, promotion,
performance appraisal, working hours, vacation, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and other
benefits, including: HR-002 Human Resources Allocation
Management Regulations, HR-003 Leave and Attendance
Management Regulations, HR-004 Compensation
Management Regulations, HR-007 Onboarding
Management Regulations and other internal policies.
Additionally, we adopt a fair, just and open recruitment
process to attract qualified outstanding talents.

(XL BEIFTIMERERINZEEL -

EREER
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Employees EWET
As of 31 December 2023, the Group had 4,252 #{Z2023%F 128318 AEBE £ B8 T4,252
employees. A breakdown of the staff by gender, age A2 R« FH AR - XK EALE H - 8

group and business type is set out below: IERAT:
Number of employees by age group Number of employees by gender
{EAE e d ) 4 B TSR Ttk o ) 4 i) & A
4000 3000
3500
2000 2500
2500 2000
2000
1500 I 1500
1000 1000
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m2022 175 620 ars 3390 2021 2308 2820
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Number of employees by job hierarchy
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Employment System

The Group has always attached great importance to
labour standards and is committed to protecting minors
and avoiding illegal labour practices such as child labour.
Our staff recruitment system strictly enforces the HR-007
Onboarding Management Regulations and eliminates all
forms of forced labour. In strict compliance with relevant
laws and regulations on labour standards, including the
Law on the Protection of Minors of the PRC and the
Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labor of
the PRC, a recruitment system has been established to
automatically filter all applicants under the age of 16. At
the same time, we check the identity documents of the
applicants to ensure the authenticity of their information
in the process of employee recruitment, onboarding
approval, and onboarding check-in.

During the Reporting Period, we were not aware of any
major violations of laws and regulations on employment,
nor did we use child labour or forced labour. If we
become aware of any instances of child or forced
labour, we will promptly review and optimise our hiring
procedures to ensure that we remain in compliance with

national laws and regulations.

The Group is committed to fostering an inclusive,
egalitarian and diverse corporate culture. We believe that
every employee deserves to be treated fairly, regardless
of hiring, promotion, training or compensation. During
the recruitment, we insist that we do not use factors
such as race, gender, age, religion or ethnicity as the
criteria for judgment, but rather assess the suitability
of candidates on the basis of their abilities and
qualifications. We actively encourage female employees
to participate in all areas of the Group and provide them
with equal opportunities for career development. At
the same time, we have formulated the HR-002 Human
Resources Allocation Management Regulations, which
specifies the standards and processes of staff recruitment
and allocation to ensure that every employee is able
to demonstrate his/her abilities and talents and realise
his/her career aspirations in an open, transparent and
healthy competitive environment.

RIR - ERERBE
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Remuneration System

Adjustment is made annually to the compensation
of employees according to the relevant national
policies, corporate operating condition and individual
performance. We have formulated the HR-004
Compensation Management Regulations and have
established a comprehensive employee performance
appraisal and evaluation mechanism to evaluate our
employees based on their performance, contribution
to performance and development potential so as to
determine the pay level and promotion standards in a
fairer manner. We also offer market-competitive benefit
packages, such as holiday benefits and staff trips, to
attract and retain talented employees. In terms of
remuneration, we emphasise a “more work, more pay”
system and encourage our employees to raise their
income levels by giving full play to their expertise and
skills. At the same time, a “Part-time Allowance” has
been introduced for staff involved in escrow projects
to incentivise their efforts and contributions during the
project period.

In addition to the benefits mentioned above, we also
provide our employees with birthday gifts, annual
physicals, free lunches, free shuttle buses, and other
benefits. Furthermore, we provide training opportunities
for our staff and have established a sound training
system to encourage them to participate in various
training and further education programs. These initiatives
are designed to enhance their personal capabilities and
professionalism, enabling them to adapt to the ever-
changing market and meet the evolving needs of the
business.

We attach great importance to the working environment
and atmosphere of our employees. Therefore, we
constantly improve the facilities and equipment of the
workplace and the cultural construction to cultivate a
harmonious and positive working ambience, providing
our employees with a conducive working experience and
room for growth.
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Talent Promotion and Staff Training

The Group prioritises the growth and development of
our internal talents. To this end, we have developed
various promotion opportunities to facilitate better career
development for them. We encourage our employees
to unleash their creativity in their work and contribute
value to the Company, offering appropriate incentives
as recognition. With the Promotion System in place,
we offer promotion opportunities for employees of
virtue and talent and with outstanding performance,
achievements or special skills based on the combination
of “vertical” and “crisscross” promotion. In the
promotion process, we adopt a fair and impartial attitude
and prioritise the selection and promotion of employees
who meet the requirements of the position and have
outstanding performance. We value performance
appraisals, which are conducted regularly every year
to ensure that the quality of work and performance of
our staff meet the Company’s requirements. For those
who are unable to perform their duties, we will take
appropriate measures to help them improve their abilities
and skills. We believe that through the establishment
of a fair and equitable promotion mechanism, we can
stimulate the motivation and creativity of our employees
and bring greater value to the Group.
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"Vertical”

Gradual promotion
B E T

We encourage young employeem
at all levels to continuously

improve their professional skills

in their respective positions, and

to make achievements in their
professional fields. Those who

are recognised in the year-end
performance evaluation will be
promoted,

[Figg] Bl [2X]
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Internal transfer

ARSI

talent competition mechanism,
optimise human resource
allocation, and motivate
employees to be enterprising,

we have established an internal
competition mechanism. When
there are vacancies in the internal
management positions, we first
conduct an internal selection and
recruitment, providing unimpeded
promotion space for employees at
all levels,

@rder to establish an 'mternal\

Exceptional promotion A
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Employees who make oumanch
contributions to us or have special
talents will be promoted after
being nominated by the Human
Resources Department, reviewed
by the Party committee, and
approved by the general manager.
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and “Crisscross” Promotion

Employees who make outstanding contributions to us or have special talents will be

promoted after being nominated by

the Human Resources Department, reviewed by the

Party committee, and approved by the general manager.
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Employees are the most valuable asset for the Group's

development.

Therefore,

the Group continuously

improves its training system and learning and exchange
platform to motivate its employees to continuously
improve their overall quality and enhance their business

standards.

In order to enhance the business skills of

our employees and explore their potential talents, we
have formulated and implemented the HR-013 Training
Management Regulations according to the needs of our
operations and employees, which regulates the training
management and details the requirements and contents
of different trainings. We have formulated the Annual
Training Plan to ensure the smooth commencement
of training. We provide appropriate training contents
for different trainees according to their needs, which

are divided into three major categories:

induction

training, on-the-job training and certification training.
Induction training is based on the introduction of the
Company’s management system. On-the-job training and
certification training are customised and tailored to meet
the needs of the Group’s business areas and employees.
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In-service training

FEESIN

HE

Qualification training

Induction training
}'/_—| PN 3|

» Training for new

employees or in-service
employees after their
transfer to a new position
to meet and adapt to

the requirements of

their position must be
completed within the
specified time limit. The
completion of induction

» Relevant training courses

planned for employees to
improve their vocational
competence, work skills,
and professional abilities

during their employment.
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» Relevant training courses

with certificates issued by
the national authorities and
their dispatching agencies o
by the industry organizatior
on the national, provincial,
or municipal level that the
employees attend durin
their employment in order t
meet the requirements for
professional qualifications
as stipulated by national

training will also become
an important criterion for
deciding whether new
employees could pass
their probation period.
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In addition, with the HR-014 Internal Talent Cultivation
and Development Management Regulations in place, we
cultivate talents at all levels in line with the corporate
culture of the Company through the identification and
development of internal talents. We strive to achieve
a professional, strategic and elite talent cultivation,
providing strategic human resources support for the
Group’s business development. We have set up a Talent
Development Committee, which is responsible for the
strategic control and evaluation of the cultivation and
development of elite talents. At the same time, we have
set up a Talent Development Working Group, which
is the specific executive department under the Talent
Development Committee. The Talent Development
Working Group is responsible for the promotion and
implementation of the talent program, as well as the
development of an assessment mechanism for evaluating
the promotion of talents.

and local policies (or enable
employees to complete
specific tasks). These trainin
courses are divided into thre
types, that is, qualification
certification, technical
grading certification, and
continuing education
recertification.
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Pujiang Academy — Staff Training Events
AIZ2EA ]

— BITHIES

On 31 May 2023, following the formal establishment of the Pujiang Academy for the year 2023, a series of
online and offline training sessions were organised, drawing participation from over 100 colleagues.

2023F5A31H ' 2023F EH I 2R EARE  RNAXAMERR L+ B THEINAF A
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Employee Health and Safety Protection

The Group adhered to the principle of “Safety First,
People-oriented” and reinforced the idea that "Safety
Management is Everyone’s Responsibility”, and was
committed to achieving the long-term goal of “Zero
Injury” in production safety and fully safeguarding
the health and safety of its employees. To this end,
we strictly complied with various occupational health
and safety related laws and regulations such as the
Work Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases Law of
the People’s Republic of China, the Fire Services Law of
the People’s Republic of China, the Regulations on the
Administration of Occupational Health Inspection, the
Measures for the Administration of Work Safety Training,
and the Regulations on Work Safety of Shanghai. In the
List Of Management Indicators for 2023, targets such
as “zero serious injury and fatal accidents” and “100%
certification rate for special types of work” have been
set. Meanwhile, we have also passed the GB/T45001-
2020/1S045001:2018 Occupational Health and Safety
Management System Certification, strictly following the
system requirements and integrating the Occupational
Health and Safety Management into the daily operation
and management of the Company.
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Based on the actual operations of the Company,
we have formulated rules and regulations including
the Occupational Health and Safety Management
Manual and the Employee Code of Conduct, which
clarify the safety and fire protection responsibilities of
employees. In view of hazards, the Group has compiled
and implemented the Hazard Identification and Risk
Assessment Procedures based on the Measures on the
Administration of Hazardous Chemicals of Shanghai
Municipality, Identification of Major Hazard Installations
for Hazardous Chemicals, Catalogue of Special
Equipment and other regulatory requirements, aiming to
to identify and assess hazard sources in various activities
and take effective measures to reduce their risks. In
view of hazards, we consider reducing the risks through
elimination, substitution, engineering controls, warning
labels, administrative controls and personal protective
equipment. In our daily work, we encouraged our
employees to supervise and pay attention to each other,
to discover and deal with the existing safety problems
in a timely manner, so as to protect the Company’s safe
production and the health of our employees, and to
ensure that employees can perform at their best in a
safe, healthy and comfortable working environment.
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In order to ensure that all employees have the relevant
professional qualifications to carry out their work safely,
including certificates of professional qualifications,
vocational qualifications, certificates of operation
of special operations, etc., we organised fire safety
trainings for security guards, controllers and security
administrators in accordance with the provisions of the
Occupational Health and Safety Management Manual
and the Employee Code of Conduct. The training
contents included importance of safe production, on-
site safety education, fire safety, national production
safety approaches and policies, situation and accident
education, casualties and first aid. In order to
comprehensively prevent potential safety hazards, we
carried out regular safety inspections (e.g., inspections
before festivals, during flood seasons, and during
rainy, snowy, and freezing weather), formulated and
implemented corrective action plans, and continued to
promote risk prevention. At monthly company meetings,
we announced the key points of our recent safety risk
investigations, the latest policies and regulations, and
warnings of the risks of safety accidents in other regions,
and we also organised annual training related to safety
production to ensure that all of our employees were
aware of the risks involved in safety.
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Trainings on Occupational Health and Safety Risks and Protective Measures in 2023
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In June 2023, in order to enhance the safety awareness of our employees, the Group launched a training
program related to production safety, which included the latest policies and regulations related to safety,
fire safety precautions, the Shanghai Tobacco Control Signage System and Setting Specifications, etc. This
training effectively enhanced the awareness of the staff on safe operations.

2023F6H RTIRAEBEIZ2EH SEFRERTTAERABEI  BIANTEELT2HBH KK
BER HULZE2IEBRFERE LETEEREASGSAREREFAT ARBIEFRESTIEAER
LEEREH -

During the Reporting Period, the Group amended the HREHAN @ REE B (L2 L E AT

Regulations on the Management of Production Safety EEMEE) B2 T=L2EXTEEEB R -
Responsibility System to improve and perfect the safety HBRZZEEEMEE  HARIEE2EE -

responsibility management system, ensure full coverage FEINL2EEFEEEE) - AR - A&EH
of safety responsibilities across the Group, and signed the Bl E £ 3l Eie? E\ IfJ<< PHEERECLHER

Statement of Responsibility for Safety Targets annually. %EE%_ FIARHLTE2EEIA
Moreover, the Group launched a training program for the ﬁﬁﬁ % f’i\%lﬂ* kBEBEIITE-

staff to learn about the Regulations on the Management ﬁ% RE - FREHZEANDTHETTEE
of Production Safety Responsibility System, the training

content of which was to publicise and implement the

responsibility for safety, improving the relevant safety

systems of the management office, daily training work,

safety inspections, accident prevention, etc.

w

The Company has prepared the Emergency Preparedness AREE(ESEBNOEREF) (EEE
and Response Procedures, the Emergency Plan ZEE& & %EE%SZX*Eféﬁ ;A FIHE
Management Regulations and various emergency plan REAEBEAGFGESERELEHESER
templates. Each project has prepared emergency plans I%?%%Eﬂ cRIREHHSEEESER
for various emergencies based on specific circumstances #7755 3l F1J& ?FE FEREEEARRBIEER
and obtained the owner’s consent. At the same time, the B FEMUMAEBMNBARAEUAJEEERN
Company has regularly conducted training and drills on 2B R RAIET RN BRIMBREFE -
various emergency plans, so that personnel in positions

with major risks or important environmental impacts

were aware of possible emergencies in their positions

and the possible dangers and environmental impacts.
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During the Reporting Period, a total of 11 work-related
injuries occurred in the Group, with a total of 660 lost
working days, and one work-related fatality took place,
with a ratio of 0.02%'. We have established the HRBP
Guideline on Social Insurance and Work-Related Injury
Reporting to standardise the reporting procedures
for compensation. After these events occurred, the
management has dealt with such events in accordance
with formulated processes and relevant laws and
regulations in a timely manner. During the Reporting
Period, we were not aware of any major violations of
laws and regulations on occupational safety.

BERAR AEE-HABEAENFITEEH
HIEBXRTHEBRHE60X MUETRHBE SRR
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26.67%

decrease in the number of workplace injuries during the year compared with 2022

KFEZFIFH2022FETIEEHEE T [£26.67%

54.70%

decrease in the number of lost working days during the year compared with 2022
RFEHL2022FFATHEBXTEAXE T F£54.70%

Employee Communication and Care

In order to better realise the concept of “Happy Riverine
— Sunshine Lighting”, the Group has established various
communication channels such as employee suggestion
boxes, regular employee opinion surveys, internal emails
and internal social platforms. We encouraged our
employees to express their views and suggestions freely,
and we took each and every one of them seriously and
made improvements.

ETEBHAMIE
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1 Formula for calculating the percentage of work-related fatality: Number of work-related fatality/Total labour force x 100%.
1 AITHEPFEARN  BITEKRNETAB/SHABLAHEXI00% °
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Open-door policy
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"Concentric Circles” — Staff Fun Sports Day
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Through a series of colourful activities such as parent-child activities, sports competitions, and charity
walks, the Concentric Circles theme event (Staff Fun Sports Day) elaborated on the cultural concept that
“family,” “company,” and “country” were closely related and that the three circles were concentric.
The event achieved the purpose of strengthening the body, enhancing family affection, enhancing team
cohesion, and at the same time conveying love and social responsibility
ALCEFBEH (EIBREDS)RABRFED BERE 2akSTF—FRiE
A TIRE] (28] BRI =FELEHEH  ZERLHXEESD - BIRT R H 2
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"Voice of the Heart” Staff Seminar
FIL\EEJ — ﬁIi'iaﬁﬁ

“Voice of the Heart” staff seminar was one of the corporate culture construction series brands of Riverine
China, and was a form for the management of the Company to get closer to employees and communicate
face to face. Here we talked about work, life and personal development, and we opened our hearts
and spoke freely. All questions and suggestions were the driving force for our continuous improvement.
We hoped that every employee in Riverine China would work and live happily, and jointly build a happy
Riverine China.

(MLDBEIBEIRAXSREBITPECEVERERRImBrz— BRAREEEELETL EBHEABER
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“Concern, Care, Love”-Thematic activities of People’s Liaison Representative
[EXeB L BE] —HIKMEERIEEETD

The “People’s Liaison Representative” established was mainly responsible for conveying the voice and
playing the role of facilitating both smooth top-down and bottom-up communication. By distributing
benefits to employees, the representative gave full play to the role of employee care. These efforts
enhanced the management’s understanding of grassroots employees by listening to their voices,
responding to their concerns, and caring about their growth. Ultimately, this led to effective consensus-
building and synergistic effects.
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Focusing on Promoting Green and Low Carbon
— Fine Management for Sustainable Development
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e System certification: We have obtained ISO14001 o BERFE BEBISON4001RFEEE
Environmental Management System Certification AR - ISO500018E R E R RRFE o

and I1SO50001 Energy Management System
Certification.

EThRERARAR 452023 79




ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R HERERRE

SQC

HHERERNEAHHER

LT —
-RAEARR. nnanim

®*ENE e e e e e [ S e S ST —

@I HLARAR e D T TS e —

ATRALaR T 148 RN, NN :
AR LAYVRAETLAS S Y ARCDA ‘The established energy management system complies with

BRUNKAAERERFTS e )
@B/T 24001-2016 / 150 14001:2015 s OB/ T23331-201 2/ 15050001200 1 standard
: G T23331-2012/19050001:201 1 i
BEHWENEESNT Certification Coverage
WENETR
TR & R KRR s eatate mansgement
LR ER KNP ) ! ; Dateol insun: 280011

LT
WREE 2 O ANA
RIEEM: 20 %06 A0S B

WER: R 00 R A uum
ons mw-@ CNASEL.......
e Nl i

AW S

HE 5 55 PR 46 R A GEGE 15

Pep——
HAE
it il AT B2 7
- B AIHER 91310101 7456044662

1 BN 2026 01 107

o
j—

AWS

Energy Management System Certification
Mo AWE.NEZLNIOL
This Is To Certify That
Shanghai Pujiang Property Co., Ltd

Unily the soclal eredit code: 913101017430084562
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e  Ten-star recognition: Our waste separation service has been recognised with ten stars by GB/T19095-

2019/GHSC011-2020 Domestic Waste Separation Service Certification.
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o Climate risk: Raising awareness of climate risks; Identifying the Group's climate risks over different

time horizons.
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Environmental Management

As a property management company, the environmental
impact of the Group's business activities arose from
the use of resources and energy, and the resulting
greenhouse gases, pollutants and waste. We were well
aware of the importance of environmental protection.
For the sustainable development of ourselves and the
community, we have always adhered to the tenet of
“Caring for the Earth and Protecting the Environment”,
and closely monitored the development trend of
environmental protection in the industry. At the same
time, we also actively implemented various environmental
protection tasks and were committed to working with
the community to build a beautiful China.

We strictly complied with relevant laws and regulations
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges
into water and land, and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste, and minimisation of significant
impacts on the environment and natural resources,
including the Environmental Protection Law of the PRC,
the Law on the Prevention and Control of Water Pollution
of the PRC, the Law on the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Wastes of the PRC, the
Energy Conservation Law of the PRC, the Regulation
on Property Management and the Regulations on the
Administration of Pollutant Discharge Permits.

We have obtained ISO14001 Environmental Management
System Certification and 1SO50001 Energy Management
System Certification for our energy management system
to ensure that our business activities have the lowest
possible impact on the environment.

In accordance with the above laws and regulations,
we have also formulated management systems, such
as the Environmental Factor Management Procedures,
to identify the environmental factors that we can
control and exert influence over in the Group’s business
development and operation and management activities,
and to determine the important environmental factors by
evaluating the effectiveness of their influence, so as to
control them and to provide a basis for the formulation
of environmental guidelines, environmental objectives
and indicators.

RIBEEIE

R ZUWEBELE ARENEHKID
HRBFERRRNERAERERR KA
EEMBRERE SRYONREEY - HMAXR
MRFEFRENEZN  BRTEBFRERNA
FHEZR RMAEXFIEEHIK RE
REINRE LHEBNBEETERRE
REB% - AR ZAMACLEHEEESHERRER
HEIE IR EHEREEIXBRE -

BPBERET(PEARKMBERBREZL)
(REARKMBEKISEREAE) (PEAR
HAMBEEREYSRRER AR (PEA
REMBEHHEERE) (ODEBEEGED) (B
ASHAEEREGINEFABEERLAEREH
B RKRREHEEES BAEREEEEY
MEL BEHSRERRABRENEAY

BHORRER -

KD EBISO4001IREEIRE XAE

ak
Re

TRETREE X ESISO5000 1 REIRE ZAE -
A RBREMNESTRDEHIRBEOTERE -

BFATERR LR RERHIECRERERE
BRF)FEENE  USHAKEXHHA
FR AN A8 2 B IR R B) R BE 5945 I A BE 5 i AN F2
ENRBANE BBAFEEZERN  BE
BEE2RBEE - AEMAZESIIL B 6 ERE
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Environmental Factors Management Procedures

BN AT PR ¥

Outline of procedures FtERlE

Identification of environmental factors

IR Z il

Evaluation of environmental factors

REREHE

Management of significant environmental factors

ERIRIGAZER

Confirmation and update of environmental
factors and significant environmental factors

RIEREHEERREE
e

Record requirements

In addition, in order to reduce the negative impact
of emergencies on the environment, the Group has
formulated a series of accident emergency plans,
including the Contingency Plans for Environmental
Pollution, the Contingency Plans for Leakage of
Hazardous Chemicals, the Contingency Plans for Leakage
of Toxic Gas, and the Emergency Preparedness and
Response Procedures, and set up a relevant emergency
response team to clarify the emergency handling
procedures, in order to minimise the impact of its

operations and services on the environment.

The Board was responsible for regularly reviewing the
implementation of environment-related goals. During
the Reporting Period, we adopted energy conservation
and emission reduction actions to improve the efficiency
of energy and water use and reduce waste, waste
gas and greenhouse gas emissions caused by energy
consumption, so as to achieve the goals of energy
conservation and emission reduction.

During the Reporting Period, we were not aware of any
violations of environmental laws and regulations.
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Relevant documentsiforms FHBH4E .~ £4&

Environmental Factors Surveying and Evaluation Form

CORERFAE RAFHEED

List of Signlflcant Environmental Factors

ERRIRNEFED

Surveillance and Measurement
Management Rules,

Emergency Preparedness and
Response Procedures,

Target Management Procedures
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BEMA AEESENERBRERESR
MHEMEW TR :

During the Reporting Period, the energy consumption
and waste emissions involved by the Group were as
shown in the following table:

Resources Consumption?

BRE A8

DEIER{IIA Data for 2022 Data for 2023

1NFEEE 02FEHE 20235EHE
Energy consumption MWh 1,233.98 14,459.41 14,818.55
RRHER K E B
Direct energy consumption
ERRRER
Gasoline consumption MWh 1,115.83 1,266.7 1,876.45
AHERE kR&
Gasoline consumption intensity MWh/vehicle? 26.56 24.36 46.91
REREE KEE/ B
Diesel consumption MWh / 13,070.55 12,941.83
KHHRE kBB
Diesel consumption intensity MWh/vehicle / 66.01 59.92
RHHREE KRB/ EH
Total direct energy consumption MWh 1,115.83 14,337.25 14,818.28
BERRRAREE K FL B
Direct energy consumption intensity MWh/vehicle 26.56 57.35 57.88
BERERRERTE KEE/EH
Indirect energy consumption
R % BE R OH %
Electricity consumption MWh 118.15 122.16 108.99

EE KR
Electricity consumption intensity MWh/sg. m. 0.05 0.05 0.048
REETE KEE/FFxs
Other resource consumption
Hitt &K%
Water consumption Tonne 1,359 1,381 1,251
BkE i
Water consumption intensity Tonne/sq. m. 0.60 0.61 0.55
K& W,/ ¥ 5K
Paper usage kg 660.00 650.00 567.14
WORKE kg
Paper usage intensity kg/person® 6.95 6.57 5.25
N kg/AS
2 As the Group's principal activity is business management, the 2 AEEXTEXEBREBER At AR A RELK

Company and Hongxin did not use any packaging materials RIEBHNLEERERBEME o
during the Reporting Period.

3 The Company’s Shanghai head office and Hong Xin own a total 3 RARA EBEBRRAERADMEER DR BT
of 9 small gasoline buses, 31 gasoline sanitation trucks and 216 B AAIRE B3I  LLAREE2168
diesel sanitation trucks.

4 The Company’s Shanghai head office and Hong Xin office cover 4
an area of 2,262.73 sq. m in 2023.

5 The Company’s Shanghai head office and Hong Xin have a 5
total of 108 employees in 2023. The Company’s Shanghai head
office and Hong Xin have a total of 99 employees in 2022. The
Company’s Shanghai head office and Hong Xin have a total of
95 employees in 2021.

ARAF LB RANERIFLAMR023FERAERE
552,262.73F 5K

2023F AR A LBRBABRAERAMRES
1088 B L2026 EARRNA L /BEIBIAE KEL
fREBIIRBE L 20201FEARA EBBLIHEA
ERAAMRELBISEZETL -
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Solid waste generation

EREENELE
Data for 2021 Data for 2022 Data for 2023

2021 20226 [ 20235 E
HiE & 2

Non-hazardous waste

BERRY

Waste paper generation Tonne 0.24 0.26 0.25
BEARELS i

Office waste generation Tonne 128.6 103.4 101.6
WMANRELE ]

Total non-hazardous waste generation Tonne 128.84 103.66 101.82
BEEERNELRE I

General waste emission intensity Tonne/person 1.36 1.05 0.94
—REENHENEE /A

Hazardous waste

REBRRY

Waste ink cartridge generation Piece 33 37 35
BER2ELE @

Waste ink cartridge generation intensity Piece/person 0.35 0.37 0.32
BREEELTE (EVIN

Waste fluorescent tube generation Tube " 13 10
BRREXBEELE X

Waste fluorescent tube generation intensity Tube/person 0.12 0.13 0.09
BREXEEEATRE /A

Waste battery generation Piece 50 39 32
BEBELE &

Waste battery generation intensity Piece/person 0.53 0.39 0.30
BEHELTE f8,/A

(‘ ; 84 RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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Emissions of air pollutants from vehicles¢
REZRGSRNERES
Data for 2021 Data for 2022 Data for 2023

015 2026 E 20235
BIR 8 85

Total air pollutant emissions kg 21,366.51 24,780 28,096.76
BRENAEE
Carbon monoxide (CO) emissions kg 7,013.73 8,709.30 24,966.307
— LR E
Nitrogen oxide (NO,) emissions kg 13,893.55 15,602.60 32,595.27
RENLMNO)HHRE
Sulfur oxide (SO,) emissions kg 19.44 22.81 24.52
k=R /I OME- 3¢
Particulate matter (PM, ) emissions kg 208.48 211.08 203.96
TR (PM, ) HE IR E
Particulate matter (PM,,) emissions kg 231.31 234.21 225.43
BRLYI(PM, ) BE L E

6 The emissions of air pollutants are calculated with reference 6 AR SEAMAERERBEBENSE T £2Eg9 %

to the Technical Guide for Air Pollutant Emission Inventory for AREMBAELEREDEANCGERBLHI5LR
Road Vehicles (Trial) published by the Ministry of Ecology and BRBEREKMEEREFHIT)) -

Environment of the PRC.

7 The number of diesel vehicles used by the Group in 2023 has 7 2023F EE B E AL E B 2 20226 E 15 N
increased by 118 compared to 2022, resulting in a significant 1188 - FE M ZE RIS R BEBAREIL M -
increase in air pollutant emissions.
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Green Office o=l /N

The Group adhered to the concept of green office, AEBEFHHZERANIES  BBHENEKLEH
forming a long-term management mechanism for B - g4 4K « B IR B W F B = 18 5 2 5K &%
green office by adopting measures such as energy and B®HARUEIEHES W SEETHEHE W
power saving, paper saving and resource recycling, and 2AFEXKGZECIRIREE  BOTVERHEFE -
advocating its staff to develop green habits in their daily HR{REHSATHBEERE -

office work to minimise unnecessary consumption, so as

to jointly promote the sustainable development of the

society.

Green Office Initiatives
BERARE

J We have strengthened water conservation publicity within the Group to make water conservation
a conscious behaviour for everyone by making every department and every employee aware of the
importance of water conservation;

s HBEAKEEARINIMASHORKES BEEFF AN 8- HEEIHRBINGHHBKNEZE
EEKKREBEANBETAR:

J Setting printing permissions, using electronic documents, verifying document accuracy before
printing to avoid printing waste, and using double-sided printing as much as possible;

e WRETHHER FRAEFXE THARRBRXEEREREITHRE [ EREEITH:

o Encouraging the use of public transport and walking;

s FBEAAAXRBHEITRIIT:

e Turning off the air-conditioning and lighting left on by office staff;

e KREHEEANAAB TR ZEFMBREA

o Switching off electric equipment immediately after use to avoid idling;

e AEREFEATERFTLNHEN BEMITEE:

o Office waste such as ink cartridges, lamps, and batteries shall be collected by administrative staff;

e RE KBE BHERLAEBEVSN —XRATBRAEZHELRK:

o Promoting the use of energy-saving lamps, daily supervision and inspection of lights, office
equipment shutdown, printing paper use, etc., and posting energy-saving and consumption reduction
signboards in public areas.

e HWREMGAHHEE BREEKEME BWAEXRHEAER THACHEBER  AHEHRIEEH
BEfR REIZBE -

Green Property Management Y

The Group strictly complied with national laws and A&EBEEEETEREZREE  HEL T
regulations, formulated and implemented relevant MHEEAAMLEERGE  BHRETHZECELES
internal management systems, actively practised the TZ&RELFREEER HEHETER

green operation concept, improved the resource and #f - HESERBAEEK -
energy management system, continued to promote

energy conservation and emission reduction, and

explored the path to low-carbon transformation.

86 RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2023




ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Energy Management

To reduce energy consumption, we have formulated and
implemented different policies and procedures, including
the Energy Consumption Reduction Management
Regulations and the Energy Consumption Meter
Reading Work Procedures to regularly monitor energy
consumption, continuously identify energy-saving spaces,
and achieve emission reductions. The above documents

RIR - ERERBE

REREHE

RIEEEFER  RABEERT TROEK
RMAE BREGEREREERE)MCEE
RORTIERE) UEHERERER -
TEFR R BRI - XEFAT
HTRESHHNERNITERNT  UEEER
MEEREEMIESH - BEERELER B
B AREEE A M B ERMER - B

detailed various energy saving work contents to improve AR EFIBFE o
resource and energy management and control. The
implementation of these measures helped the Group
utilise resources and energy more effectively and reduce

waste and losses.

Green Property Management — Management Regulations on Reducing Energy Consumption

BREeYX —REEREERE

[H cooling/Heating Systems 2 &, &8 & %

o During non-high temperature seasons, the temperature difference between indoor and outdoor
should be controlled within 7€-97C, and the indoor temperature should be controlled above 26T
when the outdoor temperature is higher than 35T

e FREFH BEHEAINEEETICIOTAH  ZEINRESNISTH ERREEEHE26TIHU £

o On the basis of understanding the operating characteristics and characteristic curves of the
equipment, ensuring that the load of the air conditioning host is reasonable and evenly distributed

e HTHMREETEHNFULMENER L RIFZAIREAFTLE HEHS

o Setting or adjusting the chilled water supply temperature in a timely manner according to seasonal
and air-conditioning load changes

e BREFHNEFARHNEL BRRTHFABLRKEKALE

o Fire doors and pipe shaft doors in the building should be closed all the time, and doors leading to
the outdoors should be kept closed all the time or measures should be taken to block the leakage of
air-conditioning

o BAMAFR - EBHMEERNR BREINAPIERSTEHAIERRLZRINEEE

W< Lighting/Lifting System B8 /7 & & %

e Turning off other lights in public areas except for the normal lights

o  RMBAR A IR B B IN A A R A

o Setting escalators at idle mode

s EBHIEBREEFTERIN

e Adjusting the timetable and number of elevator and escalator units in use/idle to ensure the
economic operation of elevators and escalators according to the operational needs

e RELEFTH AOBA FHER EHEBNNERESCH  HREYH BPEBLHE

11
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At the same time, the Dynamic Building Matrix (DBM)
system independently developed by the Group will fully
digitise and intelligentise the building. The DBM system
integrates various data information in the building,
associates the data, and stores and utilises space as
the main body. It can effectively monitor the energy
consumption of various equipment in the building,
analyse relevant data, automatically select and adjust the
best energy consumption plan, and save efficiency.

Water Resources Management

In terms of water resource management, our water
comes from the municipal network, so there are no
issues in sourcing water. The waste water generated
during the office process is preliminarily treated by the
sewage treatment facilities of the property management
firm of a building and discharged into the municipal
sewage pipeline.

R SEBTHENSHEREEEM] (DBM)
RSB FemEBaal Tl DBMELR
SREBFANSEBEEM  BBEHE
SR NERAETRETFHEMAAE - 8
WAEREREFHSREOERBRL O
HERE BEPEERBRELRTER &
#IRLBE

KEREE
EXRKEREREFE  BAMAKKETHRE
B RN FEAEKEARAEABEE - 72
NBEPEENEK SEBMERNEME
WEKEERBETVNLRIER  BHEAM
VEIKEE

Green Property Management — Regulations on Water Resources Management

ReNxE — KEREERE

B cooling/Heating Systems 2§~ # 5 & &

e Enhancing the awareness of water conservation among property users and eliminating wastage such

as “running water”.

s REVMECRANESKES HEIERKIFRERAR

e The hot water hand-washing water supply system should control the temperature of hot water at

about 45T;
o HUKEFHKREFEEHKEEIZESEISCTEA

e Inspecting and repairing the “running, bubbling, dripping and leaking” of facilities and equipment,

and reducing the loss of water resources

KE - REREREN L T B KRR BEXKEREX-

Water Conservation Labelling
B K B
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Waste Management BEERYER

The Group has formulated the Waste Collection and AEBRBE(PEARENBEEEYWIRE
Treatment Procedures in accordance with the Law of the [FaZE) (EREBHREW L) (L BTG
People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control B #1752 B8 9 A HIE TCU R EEREET
of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste, the National {EMRIE)  BAEEN BN THWE - BKET
Catalogue of Hazardous Wastes and the Measures for the {EiR{EfHEE - BB ETEERAEABE
Prevention and Control of Pollution by Hazardous Wastes #ARBNEHIZRETES REMEIE
of Shanghai Municipality, which provided guidance for REZEBEABENRWNERIETIEREETHH -
the collection and transportation of domestic garbage in B & : FEKRZEBESH N RN ERE T E
a targeted manner. The policy stipulates that the person BIEH#HIT - HFIH EFME TIERE AR
in charge of the management office is responsible for #IFWEBTIE - RIEBEZEE TEF N
supervising, inspecting and managing the implementation R ERIE  BEEEEENKETIE 445
of this procedure; The person in charge of cleaning FHHMITIERNBTREK -

is responsible for the implementation and inspection

of waste collection and disposal procedures; Special

cleaning staff are responsible for the implementation

of waste collection and disposal procedures. We have

developed detailed procedures to standardise waste

disposal. The procedure covers preparation, waste

collection and processing, and finishing work after the

operation, with detailed work content and requirements.

In the field of waste management, in 2023, Hongxin HEEZEYEREE  £SEBTARGMREER
Environment, a subsidiary of the Group, participated REBHEEBRNETRER @ E2023F 2R
in the formulation of a number of waste classification- ZEN K HFEHBEZENGE - 01 GhE
related standards based on its professional accumulation £ FENFE D BERBER) - (BH R RKEE
and practical experience, such as the Requirements for #Ffii R &) o

Classification of Urban Domestic Waste, the Technical

Specifications for Collection and Transportation of

Kitchen Waste.

T/FICHX
m e omow R

T/FJCHE 00004—2023 T/FGAESA 000052023

LT SRR 43 B4R R BEH TR

o Technscal spocificatioas for colletion snd ransportation af Kitchen wiste
Requirements for classified disposal of urban domestic waste:

w101 085 2023 10-27 5
2023-04-13 #% 2023 - 04 - 13 Wil
ARUEDTESFALLGANE X 5

WEEMETSFRADE NS 2 &
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The Group attached great importance to the treatment
of hazardous waste and has adopted a series of measures
to ensure the safe storage and centralised disposal of
hazardous waste. Pujiang Property’s 2023 Management
Target Indicators List has set “the target for hazardous
solid waste disposal: the disposal rate reaches 100%."
During the Reporting Period, all hazardous solid waste
was centrally disposed of.

The hazardous waste we generate, including discarded
toner cartridges and ink cartridges in office activities,
discarded lamp tubes, oily fabrics, etc. in property
service activities, will be strictly labelled and stored in
temporary storage locations until a certain amount is
collected. It will then be handed over to a qualified
processing unit for centralised disposal. For hazardous
waste generated from outsourced activities, we require
the outsourcing parties to bring them back uniformly and
hand them over to professional units for disposal. We
have entered into environmental and occupational health
and safety management undertakings with the treatment
units and have set out in the contracts the contractual
arrangements for the treatment of hazardous waste by
the treatment units and related matters. We will continue
to monitor the work of the disposal unit to ensure that
all hazardous waste is disposed of in accordance with
relevant national and local laws and regulations, while
also protecting the health and safety of our employees
and surrounding residents, and safeguarding the effective
control of environmental risks.

ek R Y

Hazardous waste

AT HH i B LA 4
wh s
Handed over to

qualified entities for
centralised disposal
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To ensure that the storage of various types of waste
complied with the relevant requirements, the Property
Management Office has adopted the measure of
regular monthly inspections, and carried out timely
correction and rectification of irregularities found to
minimise the pollution of the ecological environment
caused by waste. We attached great importance to
environmental management and have clearly set out the
relevant environmental management procedures in the
Environmental Factor Management Procedures. Each
functional department and management office of the
Group should first identify the environmental factors
related to their own working environment and fill in the
Environmental Factor Identification and Evaluation Form,
and then prepare the List of Significant Environmental
Factors based on the completed environmental factor
evaluation results, report it to a relevant department
and get approval from superior leaders, including waste
disposal.

We will continuously manage the waste generated by
the Group in accordance with relevant procedures,
and expect to achieve the goal of further increasing
the recycling rate and reducing waste in the future. By
continuously improving our environmental management
procedures and raising the environmental awareness
of our staff, we will make greater contributions to the
protection of the ecological environment.

RIR - ERERBE

ABTRBSBEBEYVNERRFEHEBE X
MEETREENTEATHRENKEE - I
HRENERBRETKFALEMER N
BOBEEYHAERRENSE - RAEFE
REREEIF EREAXREEEF)FP
EREI B THBNREEERF - A5H
EREIMEEEEHEELENEAET
ERBEHEENREREZ  THEB(RERZ
BRARTFER) - ARBRBESEESHRE
RETEAER RE(EERERZBE)
W ERABBIBFALES EREEAO A H
PRIEBEEVHER -

HMBFECAEBAEFEREAEEELN
BEEY  WHEERRAE S E — 5= RKIE N
El xR ADEEYHBIR - BB TE T
EZREEERFIRSEIRARES - B
RARERRFERERDERNER °
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In Response to Climate Change

In the process of high-quality development, Riverine
China regards addressing climate change as an important
starting point to promote the construction of ecological
civilisation and achieve high-quality development. The
Company actively explores new low-carbon development
models, implements collaborative governance of pollution
reduction and carbon reduction, and promotes green and
low-carbon development. The Company insists on the
integration of economic benefits with environmental and
social benefits. While continuously improving its business
performance, the Company is committed to coordinating
its development with society and nature, consciously
integrating its social responsibilities such as low carbon,
energy saving and emission reduction into its strategy,
culture and operation, actively responding to climate
change, and solidly promoting recycling economy, low
carbon and green to contribute to the construction of a
beautiful China. We firmly believe that only through full
participation and close cooperation can we effectively
mitigate climate change and respond to disaster risks.
Therefore, we will continue to strengthen internal
management and external cooperation to manage the
risks and opportunities brought by climate change.

Climate Risk Identification

We are deeply aware of the severe impacts of climate
change. At the same time, during the Reporting Period,
in response to climate change was identified as one of
the material issues for the Group’'s ESG. Accordingly,
the ESG Working Group identified and assessed the
short, medium and long-term climate risks based on the
Group’s operational management objectives and business
development requirements, and submitted them to the
ESG Executive Committee and the Board for review and
approval.
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Climate Change Status

RIERBIEER

Corresponding Risks

HERR

RIR - ERERBE

Potential Impacts
BEYE

Short-term Climate
Change
HHERELt

Hazards to customer safety

BERFRZE

Sudden climate events (e.g., storms, floods) cause physical damage to
housing structures that may jeopardize the safety of customers and
employees.

REURGEEG(WER HOHFEREERYERE  THERE
FREIMZZ -

Cost increase

A AN

Sudden climate events may result in property damage due to adverse
weather conditions, thereby increasing maintenance costs. High
temperatures may increase the load on air-conditioning, which in turn may
increase energy consumption and operating costs.
REURBEEAAIREHBTARRGHERNTERK - EMEERKK
BRARAEENEACAERE CMEMERERMELHA

Insurance costs rise

R IR AR Tt

Frequent extreme weather events may result in higher insurance premiums,
which could affect the Company's financial position.
BENBRAREGARERIRBREA LA FERANABKMER -

Medium-term Climate
Change
hHRREZL

Supply chain stability

Climate change may lead to changes in weather patterns in some regions,
which may require the Company to adjust its supply chain strategy to
ensure a stable supply from its suppliers.

HEBREMY REELAREH - LHENRFEABLEL L EEAFTEARM
FERRR  HREEBANRTHE-

Adaptive technology There may be a need to invest in climate change adaptation technologies,

investment such as improving the quality of property services to reduce resource
use, enhancing energy efficiency, and adopting sustainable supply chain
management.

BARERMERMRE RBRERENERREECORM  fImSCENERBESE RS

BRER REEREE URKAURENHERER -

Market demand change

[ LES {4

This may cause changes in customer behaviour, resulting in increased
demand for environmentally friendly and sustainable products and services.
The Company may need to flexibly adjust their products and services to
meet market changes.

el REFITRANE N  SRURRNAIHEER RRBHT LM -
AAIFEREERREQNRBEUREMHAEL -

Regulatory compliance
pressure

ERAREN

The government may promulgate more stringent environmental regulations
in the medium term. The Company may need to closely monitor changes
in laws and regulations to ensure compliance and may need to make
additional environmental investments to meet regulatory requirements.
BRIt RS ERRNRRER - RAFTERNELEREL -
BREBNARNE VB EETREINRRRENBRERER -

Brand Value

i e B 1E

Public expectations of environmental and social responsibility for the
Company may be rising, and thus the Company may need to enhance

its brand value and ensure connectivity with their customers by taking
proactive environmental actions.
ARHAAMBRNHEEANBETRET LA ARAIFERBER
BBRORRTIRRAREER RRETZFPNEE
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Climate Change Status Corresponding Risks  Potential Impacts

RIERBIEER HERR BHEVE

Resources sustainability Long-term climate change may lead to resource scarcity, especially water
and energy. The Company needs to re-evaluate and adjust its operating
strategies to ensure the availability and sustainability of resources.

BERAHEST RERBEECTREHEROBR  HHRKERMER - RAFE
ERTGANRARELER UERERNATESERTHEEN -

New market opportunities In the context of China actively and steadily promoting carbon peak and
carbon neutrality, and coordinating energy conservation and consumption
reduction, pollution control, ecological protection, and response to
climate change, the economy and the society will further develop green
transformation in an all-round way, and energy-saving and low-carbon
property management services will gain greater market space and
development opportunities.

CIiEL - ERFEBRRTREREBRTAN  REHRER TLLE £
R EHRRELHAERT KELERE-SERERNEEL
FRERNNEREEEINEATEATERERES -

Long-term Climate Brand value The public is paying more and more attention to companies’ environmental
Change protection and social responsibilities. The Company needs to establish and
REARERE1 maintain a good brand image in the long term and increase brand value
through sustainable operations and environmental protection practices.
miEEE ARURANBRNLEEEDEER  AAAERBATERUMNAR
RENGmBEE BRURELENRREERSMEEE -

Extreme weather Extreme weather can lead to more frequent and severe natural disasters.
The Company needs to enhance its risk management practices, including
insurance, disaster preparedness and business continuity programs, to
mitigate potential economic losses.

Wim KR RSN ERENBENBALE - RATEMNRAREEREE &
ERE KEEENEHEEMHE UREEENEERX -
Investment risk The Company may need to invest in long-term climate change adaptation

and mitigation projects. While this may have an impact on financial
performance, it also provides a sustainable competitive advantage for the
future.

RERR AR BERERROANRERECERENERINIER - Era Y
HRERELRE BOARKRUABENREESD -
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GHG emissions BERBHN

In 2023, the Company’s carbon emissions were 4,000.85 20234 - A & #x HE /X A& 4,000.8508 — &1L fix
tons of carbon dioxide equivalent. The carbon dioxide EE —@(LMBEMIBERWT :

emissions are as follows:

Data for Data for Data for
2021 2022 2023
20214 20224 20234
ER ¢ ER ¢ EE
Total GHG emissions Tonne of tCO,e 3,394.51 3,692.12 3,909.55
BERBHNEES W —EbiREE
Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1)8  Tonne of tCO,e 3,325.87 3,622.45 3,847.44
EEARERBIHEME(HE ) M_S/REES
Indirect GHG emissions (Scope 2)° Tonne of tCO,e 68.64 69.67 62.11
FMEAZREHENE(EE D) M-_ftiRkE=E
GHG emission intensity Tonne/persont® 35.73 37.29 36.20
E R E NG

8 Emissions (Scope 1) from Riverine China include emissions from 8 EIHEEGEE —NERBESEREREARBR
the combustion of fossil fuels in vehicles and fugitive emissions BREEBOER R R EIEESERBER -
from refrigerants.

9 The electricity emission factor for 2023 refers to the national 9 2023FEENHHAEHES Z £ EIRBIBEM AR

grid average emission factor of 0.5703 tCO,/MWh as indicated 1720232025 F HET X R ERBHM RS
in the Notice on Improving the Management of GHG Emission ERTHENBIATANZEHED THIHENR
Reporting for the Power Generation Sector for the Years 2023- £00.5703 tCO,/MWh

2025 published by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment.
10  The Company's Shanghai head office and Hong Xin have a total 10 2023 E ' AR A L BRHA MR AZRAMREE
of 108 employees in 2023. 10887 BT
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APPENDIX I: INDEX OF KEY PERFORMANCE [ff#— BREBXIEE RS
INDICATORS (KPIS)

Employment Management EEERE
Statistical Table on the Number of Employees
BT ABHX
Data for Data for Data for
2021 2022 2023
2021 & 2022F £ 20235 F
LG iz B E
Total number of employees 5,135 5,173 4,252
BTHAH
By employment type Full-time 5,107 5,143 4,215
REREARE S 2BEIH
Part-time 28 30 37
FREBEITH
By gender Male 2,306 2,510 2,103
gl E- 5 SHBEIH
Female 2,829 2,663 2,149
LB TH
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Statistical Table on the Number of Employees

BT AHHR
Data for Data for Data for
2021 2022 2023
20215 € 2022 F 20235 E
EG iz BB
By geographical region Fujian 1,852 1,991 1,456
=i = 8l 5 BEEBIHY
Shanghai 1,118 1,054 1,576
FEMBEIH
Sichuan 1,000 1,053 435
MNE8ITH
Henan 151 144 9
AEmEELH
Jiangxi 2 4 3
IREE T
Hunan 5 1 1
MEEE T
Anhui 947 585 337
THEETH
Jiangsu 8 22 19
IHEEIH
Zhejiang 10 11 6
HIEEIE
Tianjin 23 20 1
REMBIH
Taiwan 1 1 0
ABEETH
Hong Kong 2 1 0
EHBEIH
Hubei 9 7 7
MiLEEITE
Shanxi Province 1 0 0
TGRS =P
Chongaging 2 0 1
BEEMEIH
Shandong 2 24 4
IWREETH
Gansu Province 1 0 3
HEEEIH
Heilongjiang 1 0 1
REIEEIH
Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous / 255 384
Region
MERETHEBEAREIH
Beijing 0 0 9

ERTEIH
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Statistical Table on the Number of Employees

ETAEHETE
Data for Data for Data for
2021 2022 2023
2021 & 202F & 2023F E
g R g
By age group Under 30 years old 187 175 232
RFERE D 30 A TEB I
30-40 years old 662 630 717
30-40 B T ¥
41-50 years old 814 978 1,082
41-505% B T &
Over 51 years old 3,472 3,390 2,221
ST E B I
By rank Senior management 10 10 98
RELE D SREERE A
Technicians 345 167 37
it A B AE
Ordinary employees 4,780 4,996 4117

EREIAH
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Employee Turnover Rate EIRKE

Statistical Table on Employee Turnover Rate'!

BT RKRRGET R

Data for Data for Data for

2021 2022 2023

20215 & 20224 & 20235 E

& g g

Employee turnover rate (%) 49.93 70.02 38.29

BT RAE%)

By gender Male (%) 41.02 63.63 37.77
EMHERE S BHE T (%)

Female (%) 57.19 76.04 38.70

2B T (%)

11 Employee turnover rate = number of departures during the 11 BIRAX-RENANBEBAB/BERSHR
Reporting Period / total number of employees in the category as ZEBIHEE T AZxX100%
at the end of the Reporting Period x 100%
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Statistical Table on Employee Turnover Rate

BEIRAKEZIT R
Data for Data for
2021 2022
20215 [E 202F &
£ EIE7
By geographical region Fujian (%) 63.98 86.19
R EE S BEE (%)
Shanghai (%) 22.72 102.56
BT (%)
Sichuan (%) 64.5 40.08
94 (%)
Henan (%) 81.46 77.08
i B & (%)
Jiangxi (%) 100 50
L 78 %E (%)
Hunan (%) 0 400
WA (%)
Anhui (%) 24.29 41.2
Z & (%)
Jiangsu (%) 25 22.73
L& & (%)
Zhejiang (%) 0 36.36
T LA (%)
Tianjin (%) 17.39 30
KR (%)
Taiwan (%) 0 0
82 4E (%)
Hong Kong (%) 0 100
BB (%)
Hubei (%) 33.33 14.29
1t A (%)
Shanxi (%) 0 /
1Ll 78 & (%)
Chongging (%) 0 /
BB (%)
Shandong (%) 50 83.33
LI R A (%)
Gansu (%) 0 /
H&EE (%)
Heilongjiang (%) 0 /
EREIE (%)
Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous / 1.18

Region (%)
5% EREAE%
Beijing / /
il

Data for
2023
2023 E
&

47.91

20.30

16.30

77.78

80.71

31.58

50.00

144.44
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Statistical Table on Employee Turnover Rate'!
EIRKEHFT RN

Data for Data for Data for
2021 2022 2023
2021 & 20225 [E 20235 E
& HE BB
By age group Under 30 years old (%) 47.59 144.00 38.36
BERE D 305 A N B (%)
30-40 years old (%) 27.79 84.44 22.80
30-405% B I (%)
41-50 years old (%) 36.12 46.42 33.43
41-507% B (%)
Over 51 years old (%) 57.52 70.32 45.40
515 A £ B T (%)
Staff Training & T &3

Statistical Table on Staff Training
BT IR
Average
Number of training

employees Percentage hours
trained (%)2 (hours)®

F 15 32 5| /) B

TIAE BDEH(%)"? O SRE

By rank Senior management 41 41.84 19.78
RERE D BREEEAR
Technicians 33 89.19 91.80
Kt A&
Ordinary employees 4,117 100.00 132.38
TR A
By gender Male 2,042 97.10 125.97
I RIE D FHBET
Female 2,149 100.00 132.81
ZHEET

12 The percentage of employees trained for each category is 12 &HANEINZTIEBLOLAEARNE  REHA

calculated as: Number of employees trained in the category ZHEANEINZIAR BEREHZERNET
during the Reporting Period/total number of employees trained A EXx100% ©

in the category as at the Reporting Period.

13 Average training hours for each category of employees is 13 SHEHEIMIZINFHZIEE: ZENETIH
calculated as: Total training hours of employees in the category/ BIZINEE ZEANNET AR -
number of employees in the category.
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Employee Safety and Health ETREHEZR
Statistical Table on Employee Safety and Health
ETREEZTEHRX
Data for Data for DEYER ()7
2021 2022 2023
20214 & 2022F E 20235 E
B G BB
Number of work-related fatalities Person 3 1 1
ITTAH A
Percentage of work-related fatalities % 0.06 0.02 0.02
Tt Bl
Number of work-related injuries Case 13 15 11
THEEHE (i
Number of workdays lost due to Day 859 1457 660
work-related injuries H
HAITEHEAIIERE
ESG management ESGE &
Statistical Table on Governance Performance
RE BN R
Data for Data for Data for
2021 2022 2023
20216 & 2022F £ 20235 E
ELG iz B
Turnover rate of directors, supervisors % 0% 7% 6%
and senior management
EESBRE
Percentage of independent directors % 33% 38% 38%
B EEL A
Percentage of female directors % 1% 13% 13%
TMEERHEL
Number of board meetings Time 4 4 4
BEEEARRE R
Attendance of board members % 100% 100% 100%
EEENEHLREX
Number of audit committee meetings Time 2 2 2
B EEGERARHK N
Number of remuneration committee  Time 2 2 2
meetings R
FHEES R RE
Number of ESG trainings Time 2 1 1264
ESGIE AR & R
ESG training participants Person 231 459 545
ESGIEFN 2 B AR AR

14 The Group's ESG training was primarily conducted offline. 14  AEEESGE I IAK T AE  2021F-2022F A R
Online training was implemented during 2021-2022 due to the EBERERRE LFH - 2023FEUNETHNAR
pandemic, with a return to offline training in 2023. ES
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Customer Interest EEEDR

Statistical Table on Customer Interest Performance

BEFEZRBRSRTR

Data for Data for Data for

2021 2022 2023

2021 [E 2022F E 2023F E

L R BB

Number of complaints Case 0 6 5

® s

Customer satisfaction % 92.8 93.91 97.29
BEEMmEE

Complaint resolution rate % 100 100 100
& F AR R

Supplier Management HEBER

Statistical Table on Supplier Management Performance
HEBEEENATE

Data for Data for Data for
2021 2022 2023
20215 & 2022 & 2023F E
EG iz BB
Total number of suppliers Unit 597 170 12815
1t e 7 48 2L X
Number of suppliers in Shanghai Unit 122 109 98
rFeEtROHERRE EX
Number of suppliers passing the Unit 125 109 98
assessment process EX
REFEREFD
HEHHME
Number of suppliers whose Unit 1 0 2

cooperation has been suspended ER
for non-compliance

BT & RIS ED
HEFMHBE

15 In 2023, the Group optimised its supplier pool, resulting in a 15 20234 E &£ EYEHEFELET TE/L R ? '
reduction in the number of suppliers compared to last year. XFHERBEFMAD - i
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Intellectual Property Right I E

Statistical Table on Intellectual Property Right Performance

A ERARRT R

Data for Data for Data for
2021 2022 2023
2021 & 2022F E 20235 E
L G BB
Investment in research and RMB'0,000 371.78 546.19 571.33
development B
R A
Number of new intellectual property Number 15 0 3
rights &
I MBEEH
Number of new software copyrights ~ Number 16 2 3
M EEREE (&5

Community Welfare

HEQ &

Statistical Table on Community Welfare Performance
HEQABRBERST R

Data for Data for Data for

2021 2022 2023

2021 & 2022F [E 2023 E

B IR &

Total community Welfare donations RMB'0,000 12.8 21.55 20.2
HEAmBRARE BT

Number of volunteers Person 70 150 76

EFEEAH A

Total hours of community volunteer ~ Hour 100 310 70

service /N

HEERRE R R E
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APPENDIX II: INDEX OF THE ESG

REPORTING GUIDE

Requirements/ Specific Requirements

indicators

RE/ 58

ARER

Mandatory Disclosure

Section(s) in
this Report
K&

HE R

BHREE
Governance The statement issued by the Board presents the following content: ESG Governance
Structure (i) disclosure of the Board's oversight of ESG matters; Structure
(i) the Board's ESG management approach and strategy, including the process for assessing,
prioritising and managing significant ESG-related matters (risks to the issuer's business);
and
(i)~ how the Board reviews the progress against ESG-related targets and explains how they
relate to the issuer's business.
ERRE MESSRLNER EPHBETIRE ESGE HI1E &
() HREEFEHRE HERERFEMNEE:
(i) EFENRE HERELEBRAHRER TR BREJIREREENESR
HERELHBEEERRHETAZENAR) NBRE: R
(i) EFSWMERE HEREREBARRIER IREBECANAAETAXESR
Reporting Describe or explain how the following reporting principles have been applied in the preparation  Reporting
Principles of the ESG Report: Principles
Materiality: The ESG Report should disclose: (i) the process for identifying material ESG
factors and the criteria on which such factors are chosen; (i) where the issuer has undertaken
stakeholder engagement, a description of the key stakeholders identified and the process and
results of the issuer's stakeholder engagement
Quantitative: Information on the criteria, methods, assumptions and/or calculation tools used for
reporting emissions/energy consumption (where applicable) as well as the sources of conversion
factors used should be disclosed
Consistency: The issuer should disclose in the ESG Report changes in statistical methods or KPIs,
if any, or any other relevant factors that affect meaningful comparisons
B & /R Al HRARBERERE HEREARERNAERTHERRA: FE % 1R B

Reporting Scope

EREE

EEN RE UHELEARSERE ()BHEERR HEREARNEMNBRENERE

CRENEA: (MMBETACETRNELE ERVNEERDENHARBRTARN
E2RNBERGER

B ERERIRE /RRAR(MERFANEE 7 BRIR/AHEIEANEE
DRAERNBARZNORRRET R E
—BM ETARERE HEREARSTRERA N EXBRENERNEE(WAH) L
EMEGYERERLBNARRE

Explain the scope of reporting in the ESG Report and describe the process for selecting which Scope of the
entities or operations to include in the ESG Report. If the scope of reporting has changed, the Report

issuer should explain the differences and the reasons for such changes.
BERR - Ti@&ﬁ/éi&iéﬁﬁ%&%ﬁ CRERREBLERIXIBMARE
RRENBRR FERBEEMAE BOAEREARZEREDRE -

HERE

GEHE
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Requirements/ Specific Requirements Section(s) in
indicators this Report

RE/ B8 AEEX rHE
HEEH

Environment Aspect

RE®E
Aspect A1: Emissions
BEA: BB
General Information relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water Environmental
Disclosure and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste: Management
(@)  the policies
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
-RKE FRBRLBERBHN MAKRLIHNHES ESRESEEVNELT RBEER
iy
@  HBE
(b) BTHETAREAZENHBEZELRONER -
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Environmental
Management
KPIA1.1 BB AR B R ER RIRER
KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG emissions in total and GHG emissions
intensity.
KPIA1.2 EE@EORERBZ(BEDAZREAHNEREE RE R BB
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and intensity. Environmental
Management
KPIA1.3 FMELEERREMBENTE RIRERE
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and intensity. Environmental
Management
KPIA1.4 FMELBERZNRERTE - RIRERE
KPI A1.5 Description of the emission target(s) and steps taken to achieve them. Environmental
Management
KPIA1.5 WA VNN EERRAREINELERMERMBLR REER
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a Waste
description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. Management
KPIA1.6 HIRBEERESTEREYNG L REAMTUNREEERAEDEYL BEYER

BIRFTERERE) 5 B
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Requirements/ Specific Requirements
indicators

RE/ B8 AREX

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

EEA2:EREH

General Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw

Disclosure materials.

-RKE BEREAER(BERIR KEEMRME)OEE -

KPl A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total and intensity.

KPIA2.1 REAREASNEERIMELRERERTE

KPl A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity.

KPIA2.2 BREKERTE -

KPl A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.

KPIA2.3 WA VMR RERYNGERRAEINELARMRMALER -

KPl1 A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose,
water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

KPIA2.4 SR EEBAKR EAIBEAERE  URAATCHAKRZARRREDE
LERATEREA A B o

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products and the amount of each
production unit.

KPIA2.5 M mABEMHNEERSEESEMIEE -

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
BHA3: RERARER

General Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the environment and

Disclosure natural resources

-RKE BEZTAHRERAARERENEAZENHR

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and
natural resources and the action taken to manage them.

KPIA3.1 HEEBEDHRERRARERNEAZENC KD ERFRAT ENTY -

Aspect A4: Climate Change
BEAL: RIZEL

General Policies on identifying and responding to significant climate-related issues which

Disclosure have impacted, and those which may impact the issuer.

- RKE BANEHERRAIREHBETAELAYENEARREASTENBR -

KPl A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and
those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.

KPIA4.1 HWECERAREHBRTAELEFENEARGHEBEE  REHTH -

REPORT
HE

Section(s) in
this Report
r®|E
HEEH

Environmental
Management
RIRERE
Environmental
Management
RIRER
Environmental
Management
RIRER
Energy
Management
BERERE
Water
Resources
Management
KERERE

Not applicable
to the Group
HAKETE
F

Environmental
Management
REERE
Environmental
Management
REERE

In Response to
Climate Change
JE& ¥ R IR B (b
In Response to
Climate Change
JE ¥ R IR B (b

SETHREERARAR £252023 107
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Requirements/ Specific Requirements

indicators

BE/BE

Social Aspect
HEHE

ABEX

Aspect B1: Employment

EEB1:ERE
General
Disclosure

-REE

KPIB1.1

KPIB1.1
KPI1B1.2

KPI1B1.2

Information relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion

working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and

other benefits and welfare:

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer.

FRZMEEE BREREA IERH REY FTEHRE

B R EH TS RAEN

@BE: &

OETHETABEAZENHBEEZERROBNER -

Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and geographical

region.

BHER - EREER  FRANRDEREASNEEBE -

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region.

)

BUR - FRENRMRIDWEERRLE -

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
BEB2: REEZ2

General
Disclosure

—-REE

KP1B2.1
KPIB2.1
KP1B2.2
KP1B2.2

KPIB2.3

KPI1B2.3

Information relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting

employees from occupational hazards:

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer.

FARMHLZ2TIEREMREEERLBEMEETN:

@B E: &

O EFHETABEATENHBZERRIINER -

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three

years.

BEZFEBFRAITHHOABREE -
Lost days due to work injury.
EAIGEKXIEBRE-

Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, how they are
implemented and monitored.

HILFEANBERERZ 28N UAEBEBRATRERTE -
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BIRAX
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2RE

Employee safety
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BTREER
Ea

Employee safety
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Employee
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and Safety
Protection
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Requirements/ Specific Requirements

indicators

BE/ /R

ABEX

Aspect B3: Development and Training
EEB3: & E R

General
Disclosure

—-REE
KPIB3.1
KPIB3.1

KPIB3.2

KPIB3.2

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties at

work. Description of training activities.

FRARTEEBRTIEREMNMI L REOEK - HBIEe -

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category.
BRURREEEANESNZIEEAD

The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee

category.

RUEFLEBRERE DY BREETKZINFHEHEH -

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[BEB4: & T %8

General
Disclosure

-REE

KPIB4.1

KP1B4.1
KP1B4.2

KP1B4.2

Information relating to preventing child and forced labour

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer.

AR EET o8 T :

@BE: Rk

O EFHETABEATENHBZERROINER

Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and

forced labour.

Wit BEEANBEARPETIREH ST

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered.

HWREBRRERBEAGERABBERARBRO TSR -
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Requirements/ Specific Requirements
indicators

BE/BE

ABEX

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
BEBS: ftEHEERE

Section(s) in
this Report
F®|E
HEEH

Supply Chain
Collaboration
it & 52 173 (=)
Supplier
Management
HrEmERE
Supply Chain
Collaboration

HEE %R
Supply Chain
Collaboration

1 18 5 153 (7]

Supply Chain
Collaboration

General Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain.

Disclosure

-REE ERUEENRREIESRABBUR -

KPIB5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region.

KPIB5.1 BRI DHHERHAE

KPIB5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers
where the practices are being implemented, how they are implemented and
monitored.

KPIB5.2 HAEHEREERENED  MERTEREINNHERSRE UKEH
BRINRITRERA X -

KPIB5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along the
supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored.

KPIB5.3 HAABBRHEESERSNRERLSRARNEDN  ARBEERTR
ERFE-

KPI1B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products
and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

KPIB5.4 HAEREREFHRELARREQLRBOEN  UREBRTRER HEERR

J1E e
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Requirements/ Specific Requirements

indicators

BE/ /R

ABEX

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
BEB6: EmEE

General
Disclosure

-REE

KP1B6.1

KPIB6.1

KP1B6.2

KPIB6.2

KPIB6.3

KPIB6.3
KPI1B6.4

KP1B6.4

KPIB6.5

KPIB6.5

Information relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy

matters relating to products and services provided and methods of redress.

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer.

FRMRRERNBENRREREZ2  EBES -

TR

(@) B R

(b) BTFTHETABEAZENHEBEERRINEH -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and

health reasons.

BEXCEXEMBRETAZ 2 EREREAMALKNBEDL -

Number of products and service related complaints received and how they are

dealt with.

FELLBEEARE R

REBRERRRGNBRFBEUREYH X -

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual property

rights.
WL EEENRENAERETANED -

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.

HIEERTERRERERDKEF -

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how they are
implemented and monitored.

HWIRBEERBERERMBRE  URBBRATRERTZE -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIR - HERERBE

Requirements/ Specific Requirements Section(s) in
indicators this Report

RE/ 158 AEEX AHE
HEEE

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
BHEB7: RES

General Information relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering. Compliance
Disclosure (@)  the policies; and Operation and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant Anti-Corruption
impact on the issuer.
-RKE FRAGILHRE R BFERED: BRgEEKR
@ EX: K BR
(b) BFTHBEOTABEAZENHBBEEERRINEH -
KPIB7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against Compliance
the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of the Operation and
cases. Anti-Corruption
KPIB7.1 REZPARETARHEBEIRBICEEANESHARENHERFLR BHRLEER
mR - BR
KPI1B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistleblowing procedures, how they are Compliance
implemented and monitored. Operation and
Anti-Corruption
KPIB7.2 H EEERBREF  UREBRITRERAE - ARREER
BB
KPIB7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff. Compliance

Operation and
Anti-Corruption

KPIB7.3 HRAEERETIEENRAE - A EEE R

Aspect B8: Community Investment
BEBS: HERE

General Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the communities Community
Disclosure where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into consideration the Welfare
communities’ interests.
- RKE FRUAHBR2ERTREENEHEFTENRRAXBEEDGEEZRHRE o N
MEHER -
KPIB8.1 Focus areas of contribution. Community
Welfare
KPIB8.1 ETRREE - ol N
KPIB8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area. Community
Welfare
KPIBS.2 EZEIEBABAER - ol N
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETRBEE

Mr. Xiao Xingtao HEE L &
Chairman E &

Dear Shareholders, BRI R

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Riverine China AAZBRXBIFTHZERERAFESGE
Holdings Limited together with its subsidiaries, | would R HEW B AR RAR2AEREE £2023F12
like to present the annual report of the Group for the A31BItEEMNEERE -

year ended 31 December 2023.

ANNUAL REVIEW FEMOE

The Group continued to press ahead with the operating ANEBEBATIRAWERBS ER - B
strategies in 2023 under the principle of “enhancing the TR E -~ IRFAEBIRKE H - HER X
foundation of property services, optimizing the layout E S MIH] AR E RAIT2023F M) £ 2 5K B -
of urban services, improving the overall service capacity WE/STEEIMEIZ -

and promoting the market of science and technology

products” with expected goals achieved.

For property services, the Company continued to improve HE ¥R EL  E#EZZ RN 2E /LR
its nationwide geographical layout, enrich the product mix fifh/5 - BEELEMERGEREE  #HE
of property services, improve service quality and customer RERFEEMNEZFPFARBET  EEE K
experience, as well as expand the size of its core business FEEBKHE  BERA RANEELRS
and improve its professional service capacity. ge o
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETRERES

In the field of urban services, the Group achieved the
steady growth with business in existed geographic
areas and progressively seeking for market chances
in new areas. Meanwhile, the Company is proactively
promoting the development of comprehensive urban
service business integrating property, sanitary, public
parking operation and intelligent building, laying a
solid foundation for building the Company into a
comprehensive provider of urban sanitary services.

For science and technology services, while enhancing
investments, the Company applied and optimized the
information technology system for building services
based on the Internet of Things and cloud computing
which was profoundly applied in property service projects
with breakthroughs achieved in overseas markets. In the
meantime, we invested resources into the development
and application of information tools for project operation
and maintenance business in property management to
strengthen the building of its core competitiveness.

Meanwhile, the Company continued to carry out

resources preparation and business exploration in asset
management, corporate service and other fields.

1 14 RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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Through effective business layout and active cost control,
the Company has maintained stable gross profit margin
while expanding its business scale and maintaining
customer stickiness. With the maturity of information
and technology products, the investment in technological
development will continue to fall; the application
of information and technology products will further
improve corporate efficiency; the sales of information
and technology products will realise contribution of
revenue from information and technology products.
With the better synergy of sanitary business and public
parking operation services with property management
services, together with the growth of leases services of
commercial buildings, the Group is full of confidence in
its future development prospects and profitability.

ANNUAL RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's total
revenue was approximately RMB919.7 million, representing
an increase of approximately 0.2% from RMB917.6 million
for the previous year. For the year ended 31 December
2023, net loss was approximately RMB81.0 million,
representing a decrease of approximately 426.9% from
RMB24.8 million for the previous year.

DIVIDEND
The Board of Directors does not recommend the payment
of any dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

ETRBEE

NERBARNEE MBMBE RO AEE -
EEBRBEBAURBEPHUENRE @
MBETRENEMEKE BEEERME
MR BMERABERARETR -BERELS
RMERER BEBRALERE BH
EERMEMPINHE BEREERME
mBERWANER: BERBFEHFMAH
EEELRFEAMEEERBNELLHBR -
MeEEBTHERBHIERES  SEY
ARBERAKMEBNGENFTRELD

KEEEEF

B E2023F12A3MBLEFE - AEBE 2RI
AKNBARBIOIBEE L REFEMA
R#91768 B L N #0.2% - 8 £20234F
NRAJNBLEFE: FEBHARARKS1.08
ET BEFENAREUSEE TR DL
426.9% -

e
FEeUTAEZRKMNEZE2023F12A8318 1E
FENEMEKE -
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETRERES

OUTLOOK

Looking forward, the Group will continue to provide quality
property management services as well as value-added
services targeting the commercial interests of customers,
and develop and provide quality sanitary services for
urban management. The Group plans to continuously
grow its business efficiently and strategically through
acquisitions and mergers, investments, joint ventures and
business collaboration. The Group will expand its business
vertically along the industry chain and the supply chain
of the property management industry. In addition, the
Group will strengthen the application of its information
technology system as well as enhance its service quality
for the customers and users of the properties under
its management while launching the marketing of its
information technology system to generate more revenues
for the Group. Last but not least, the Group will promote
the mechanism within the Company’s departments and the
mechanism to coordinate subsidiaries in different regions to
improve its operating efficiency. With the in-depth strength
of the Group in capturing market opportunities, its well-
established brand name in the industry and the strong
growth potential in the property management industry and
sanitary industry, the Directors believe that the Group’s
business will continue to grow thereby further driving the
growth of its market share and profits.

APPRECIATION

I would like to take this opportunity to express my
gratitude on behalf of the Board to the Shareholders,
business partners, customers and suppliers for their
great support and trust. | would also like to express my
appreciation to the management and all the staff for
their contributions and efforts during the past year.

Xiao Xingtao
Chairman
28 March 2024

1 16 RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2023

=2

REKE SESEERHEEXPHERN
SMEEMXEERBREBERS  BRY
SEMERRHEEENREFLERY &8
AEEERREH KB BRE AERE
BEEARRERBEUEBRBAASENER -
EMEERTENEXBEMHRBEPERTER
BRASEZER - 1 FEBBRIECEMBHX
RGNER RARNEENETPRERE
RUEBRBEORE REZXHEARMRRERDN
MGHETIE WREBNHKE - RIK -
8 1B 5 16 B) 2 B RO 3 B0 I A0 N R [ 38 A
DFRATBRES - RAREALEREK -
BREBILETSHENEEE N  REA
BRREOMEEE UEYWEREETE BRR
METENRARERE,  EFHEEED
EBRFEER UME— X FHHHEOR
LBFER -

B

AANBRUBERRETS HEQURE .
EBBH BEREEEHANZHAEE
FEHE ARBHERERZBAILS
E—FNEBRSEN -

E

HEE
20244 3A28H



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

The urbanization development of the PRC has been
gradually accelerating since 1980s with urbanization
rate increasing from only 19.4% in 1980 to 66.16% in
2023. As compared with the average urbanization rate
of approximately 70% in developed countries, there
are further potential for urbanization development in
the PRC. Improved urbanization has led to an increased
demand for residential and other property projects,
resulting in an increased demand for comprehensive
urban public services including property management
services, sublease services from investment properties
and urban sanitary services.

The fast-growing economy in the PRC has spurred
continuous growth in annual disposable income
per urban capita. According to the National Bureau
of Statistics of China’s preliminary calculation, the
annual disposable income per urban capita increased
from RMB49,283 in 2022 to RMB51,821 in 2023. The
increasing demand for better living conditions is another
reason for the growth of property management industry.

In line with the economic growth and urbanization of
the PRC, there are increasing supply of public facilities
such as museums, arenas and stadiums as well as newly-
constructed urban road areas to cater for the increasing
demand from city dwellers of the PRC. Meanwhile, the
increased urban population is promoting the demand for
refuse treatment both in qualities and quantities.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group, through its operating subsidiaries and
investments in associates, provides a wide range of
comprehensive urban public services, including property
management services with valued-added services to a
variety of properties in the PRC, sublease services from
investment properties, catering services and urban
sanitary services to various areas.

The properties managed by the Group are mainly located
in Shanghai and expanded to Beijing, Tianjin, Anhui,
Zhejiang, Jiangsu, Shandong, Hubei and Hebei provinces.
The urban sanitary services are mainly performed in
Fujian, Sichuan and Xinjiang provinces.

BEENmRE DM

TEBE
hENEECERE T LN TERINUK
BT ANR - 19804 Ay Uk $E (b X2 B19.4% -
2023 F B 1R S £66.16% ° HE ZEBRFH L
70% W ¥ $EL AL - PRI BELERD
BEN - MBI KENRISESEEZERHAM
FEEEFTRKEBEELN BWEHREWEE
BR%G REUEHMESERBERNERE
RGN mRE A XREFRKAEEM -

PELERRIERES TMEAYTIREF
WARBER REPEERGTHOT
FEHEERBET  WEAHAIXZREFKAR
2022F M AN R#49,283 T £2023F M AR
¥51,821 - HE A FKRHNFTRKAHER
FARMEEBTEERNS—RA -

B ENEEEERRACERACE A
BWEMENE  BESREES) 6 E
RERAAAEEEREEAES - AR
FEBTERASERNER B R
AOMBECEATHRESNSERYRE

FK o

EBOE
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WER A Kb A o AN 5 B H) SR IR AR
BI2AERE DOIIRHEBEERRE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWRE DM

During the Period, the Group through its subsidiaries and
investments in associated companies had entered into
565 property management agreements for the provision
of various kinds of property management services for
the properties in the PRC, which generally kept stable as
compared with 564 property management agreements in
the same period of 2022.

During the Period, approximately 74.6% of total
revenue was generated from the provision of property
management services, of which approximately 91.0%
was attributable to non-residential properties whereas
the remaining approximately 9.0% was generated from
provision of property management services to residential
properties. Also, approximately 24.6% of the Group’s
total revenue was generated from the provision of urban
sanitary services, approximately 0.7% of the Group's
total revenue was generated from catering services,
and approximately 0.1% of the Group’s total revenue
was generated from sublease services from investment
properties.

The Group’s property management services have been
and will continue to be strategically focused on high-
end non-residential properties in the PRC and the
Group’s urban sanitary service is an important part of
the comprehensive urban public services. Meanwhile, the
sublease services from investment properties will be the
Group’s important new point of business growth.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR D

The table below sets forth a breakdown of revenues by TER&FZ AT/~ H RS EAE DO UK
type of services provided for the period indicated.

Property management services

BRHIMEER

@AM -

For the year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

2023 2022
2023F 20224
Revenue % of total Revenue % of total
LB h#BE
W &= B I &= AA
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR TR ARBTTT

on the lump sum basis Ak %5 685,049 74.4% 644,227 70.2%
Property management services Bl & Il ) % & 12

on the fix remuneration AR 75

basis 1,486 0.2% 1,761 0.2%
Urban sanitary service Yk $E IR T AR 7% 226,468 24.6% 264,437 28.8%
Catering services ERRE 6,174 0.7% — —
Sublease services from KEHFHEESMH

investment properties Ak 7% 507 0.1% 7,145 0.8%
Total #mEt 919,684 100% 917,570 100%

The table below sets forth a breakdown of revenues TERHINIZFMRHAREEWERLE HKRE
from providing property management services by type of 1REWEEE RO U A -
managed properties for the period indicated.

For the year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

2023 2022
2023F 20224
Revenue % of total Revenue % of total
1t 48 & HHBE
Iy %3 Bot W &= Aokt
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBTT

Commercial establishments & XL EE M

office buildings maKE 419,263 61.1% 432,635 67.0%
Public properties NRYE 166,238 24.2% 118,699 18.4%
Residential properties FEWE 62,023 9.0% 71,773 11.1%
Others H ity 39,011 5.7% 22,881 3.5%
Total 45 686,535 100% 645,988 100%




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEN WD

The table below sets forth a breakdown of revenues from
providing urban sanitary services by various areas for the
period indicated.

NREY IR AR HIRE AR R E kA 1R
PSR IR AT AR A RO W s B AR

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12831ALEE
2023 2022
2023 % 20224
Revenue % of total Revenue % of total
1E A B
g Bo g Epild
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T ARBEF T
Fujian mE 136,443 60.3% 172,453 65.2%
Sichuan g )l 50,092 22.1% 80,277 30.4%
Others H b 39,933 17.6% 11,707 4.4%
Total 4=t 226,468 100% 264,437 100%
HUMAN RESOURCES ADER

The Group employed 4,252 employees comprising 2,149
female employees and 2,103 male employees as of 31
December 2023. The Group also subcontracted part of
the labour intensive work, such as security, cleaning and
gardening services and certain specialized engineering
repairs and maintenance works to sub-contractors. The
employment contracts either have no fixed terms, or if
there are fixed terms, the terms are generally up to three
years, after which the Group evaluate renewals based on
performance appraisals. All of the full-time employees are
paid a fixed salary and may be granted other allowances,
based on their positions. In addition, discretionary
bonuses may also be awarded to employees based on
the employee’s performance. The Group conduct regular
performance appraisals to ensure that the employees
receive feedback on their performance.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PROSPECTS

The Group has striven to develop as an operator for
systematic urban management engaging in environmental
and property management businesses in core regions
around the country. Currently, the Group has been
actively developing its business in the cities along the
eastern coast, as well as the regions along the Yangtze
River by extending the horizontal development of
complementary products and vertical development along
the industrial chain. The Group has gradually kick-started
its acquisition and investment activities. Against the
backdrop of global economic downturn, the Group will
carry out its acquisition activities in a prudent manner,
and focus more on those businesses of superior synergy
effects with comprehensive urban public services, such
as sublease services from investment properties and
operation of urban public parking resources.

As a leading service provider in the non-residential
property management service industry, the Group
will continue to build up its core competitiveness
in engineering technology. We endeavor to achieve
innovative development in engineering technology
with our ability to operate and maintain the online and
offline integrated engineering equipment and facility for
Shanghai Bund Ke Pu as well as professional resources
synchronization mechanism.

Furthermore, based on various technologies, such as
the Internet of Things, the Internet, 3D technology and
big data, the Group will continue to utilize its property
management business as a pilot business to develop a
self-owned open source smart building system, “Dynamic
Building Matrix" ("DBM") to manage the data of basic
status of buildings, which allows the provision of data
and information as well as professional services to
relevant parties, including property owners, property
users, managers and regulators. In 2023, we continued
to achieve the sales of this system to customers at home
and abroad. The Group will ensure the stability and
reliability of our advanced technology, prudently expand
the market at home and abroad and gradually realize the
output effect of our technology investment in China.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEN WD

Facing the challenge of poor post-pandemic macroeconomic
environment, the Group will continue to deepen its strategic
positioning, assess and measure the risks, and identify and
seize the opportunities in this crisis.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s revenue kept stable at approximately
RMB919.7 million for the year ended 31 December
2023 as compared with the revenue amounted to
approximately RMB917.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2022.

Cost of services provided

The Group’s cost of services provided increased by
approximately 7.4% to approximately RMB845.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 from
approximately RMB787.6 million for the year ended
31 December 2022. The increase in cost of service
provided was primarily due to (i) the increase in property
management services income which leads to the increase
in staff costs and sub-contracting staff costs; (ii) the
newly initialized catering services which leads to the
increase in relevant staff and food ingredients’ costs; and
(iii) the Group continues to recruit more talented staff
and provide training for the existing staff to cope with
the expansion of operations.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group’s gross profit decreased by approximately
43.0% to approximately RMB74.1 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023 from approximately RMB130.0
million for the year ended 31 December 2022 due to an
increase in the cost of services provided. Gross profit
margin for the year ended 31 December 2023 decreased
to 8.1% as compared with the gross profit margin for the
year ended 31 December 2022 at approximately 14.2%.

Other income and gains

The Group’s other income and gains increased to
approximately RMB26.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 from approximately RMB14.3 million for
the year ended 31 December 2022. The increase in net
other income and gains was primarily due to the one-off
investment gain from disposal of Shanghai Bund during
the Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Selling and distribution expenses

The selling and distribution expenses increased by
approximately 33.2% to approximately RMB28.1
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 from
approximately RMB21.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2022. The increase in selling and distribution
expenses was primarily due to expanding travelling and
entertainment activities with the Group's expansion in
business scale and the increased rental expenses which
resulted from newly initialized catering services.

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses increased by approximately
46.9% to approximately RMB118.7 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023 as compared with the
administrative expenses of approximately RMB80.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2022. The
increase in administrative expenses was primarily due to
the impairment losses of customer relationship amounted
to RMB25.5 million.

Changes in fair value of investment properties
Changes in fair value of investment properties with
the amount of RMB48.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 represented for the valuation loss on
decrease in the fair value of the investment property,
which was resulted from the temporary vacancy of the
Group’s investment properties due to redecoration and
correspondent invested redecoration cost.

Interest expenses

The interest expenses increased to approximately
RMB14.9 million for the year ended 31 December
2023 from approximately RMB13.7 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022. The increase in the interest
expenses was primarily due to the increase in average
interest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings during
the Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEN WD

Share of profits and losses of joint ventures
The shares of losses of joint ventures with the amount
of RMB3.2 million was primarily due to the losses shared
from Zhong Min Zhi Da, despite being partially offset by
the profits shared from Hefei Zheng Wen.

Share of profits and losses of associates

Share of profit of associates increased by approximately
18.2% to approximately RMB9.1 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023 from approximately RMB7.7
million for the year ended 31 December 2022 which
was primarily due to the increase in profits shared from
Shanghai Qiang Sheng.

Income tax expense

The income tax credit was approximately RMB22.4 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023. As compared
with the income tax expense amounted to approximately
RMB7.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2022,
the decrease was primarily due to the decrease in profit
before tax.

Profit for the year and net profit margin

As a result of the foregoing, the net loss was
approximately RMB81.0 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, while the net profit for the year ended
31 December 2022 was approximately RMB24.8 million.
The net loss margin was 8.8% for the year ended 31
December 2023, while the net profit margin was 2.7%
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Intangible assets and goodwiill

The intangible assets and goodwill primarily included
customer relationship and goodwill obtained from a
business combination. The intangible assets and goodwill
decreased to approximately RMB38.2 million as at 31
December 2023 from approximately RMB62.9 million as
at 31 December 2022, which was primarily due to the
impairment of customer relationship.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Trade receivables

The trade receivables decreased by approximately 6.1%
to approximately RMB235.5 million as at 31 December
2023 from approximately RMB250.7 million as at 31
December 2022. The trade receivables turnover (average
trade receivables divided by revenue multiplied by 365
days) was 96.5 days (2022: 87.7 days).

Prepayments and other receivables

The prepayments and other receivables decreased
by approximately 17.2% to approximately RMB109.4
million as at 31 December 2023 from approximately
RMB132.1 million as at 31 December 2022. The decrease
in prepayments and other receivables is primarily due to
the decrease in payments on behalf of residents and the
settlement of dividends receivable balance from Shanghai
Qiang Sheng and Shanghai Xin Di.

Trade payables

The trade payables decreased by approximately 4.0%
to approximately RMB126.9 million as at 31 December
2023 from approximately RMB132.2 million as at 31
December 2022, which generally kept stable. The trade
payables turnover (average trade payables divided by cost
of services provided multiplied by 365 days) decreased to
55.9 days (2022: 57.7 days).

Other payables and accruals

The other payables and accruals decreased by
approximately 6.0% to approximately RMB126.1 million
as at 31 December 2023 as compared with the balance
of approximately RMB134.1 million as at 31 December
2022, which was mainly due to the decrease in receipts
on behalf of residents.

Cash Flow

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the net cash from
operating activities was approximately RMB3.0 million.
The net cash used in investing activities for the year
ended 31 December 2023 was approximately RMB37.7
million. The net cash from financing activities for the year
ended 31 December 2023 was approximately RMB2.5
million, which was primarily due to the increase in bank
loans and other borrowings, which partially offset with
dividends and interest paid.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEN WD

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

As of 31 December 2023, one property leased by the
Group was recognized as the investment property under
HKFRS 16 in the consolidated statement of financial
position, and the relevant percentage ratio of such
investment property exceeds 5% pursuant to Rule
14.04(9) of the Listing Rules. The property is located
at Lot 101/201, No.98 Middle Huaihai Road, Huangpu
District, Shanghai, the PRC. The property is currently
used for commercial subleasing services and held under
long-term lease.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Other than certain property, plant and equipment with
carrying amount of approximately RMB16.2 million as
at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: RMB12.6
million) pledged to financing institutions, the Group had
also pledged and factored certain of its trade receivables
with net carrying amount of approximately RMB37.4
million (31 December 2022: Nil) to secure the Group’s
borrowings as at 31 December 2023.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of approximately RMB139.7 million. The
total interest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings
increased to approximately RMB199.8 million as at 31
December 2023 from approximately RMB158.8 million
as at 31 December 2022. The gearing ratio (total debts
divided by average total equity) as at 31 December 2023
was approximately 61.6% (31 December 2022: 43.6%).
The current ratio (total current assets divided by total
current liabilities) as at 31 December 2023 was 1.1 (31
December 2022: 1.3).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Financial management and policy

The management has designed and implemented a risk
management policy to address various potential risks
identified in relation to the operation of the businesses,
including financial, operational and the interest risks
from the property management agreements. The risk
management policy sets forth procedures to identify,

analyse, categorise, mitigate and monitor various risks.

The Board is responsible for overseeing the overall risk
management system and assessing and updating, if
necessary. The risk management policy is reviewed on a
quarterly basis.

The risk management policy also set forth the reporting
hierarchy of risks identified in the operations.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2023, the Directors was not aware
of any significant events that would have resulted in
material contingent liabilities.

Subsequent Event

The Group does not have any material subsequent event
after 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this
annual report.

FINAL DIVIDENDS
The Board of Directors does not recommend the payment
of any dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEN WD

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at
the forthcoming AGM of the Company, the register
of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 5 June 2024 to Tuesday, 11 June 2024, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares
of the Company will be registered. In order to be eligible
to attend and vote at the above meeting, all transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited
at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong
Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday,
4 June 2024.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

Quality and committed staff are valuable assets to the
Group's success. The primary objective of the Group’s
remuneration policy is to ensure there is an appropriate
level of remuneration to attract and retain experienced
people of high calibre to join the Group. The Group
links the remuneration of its employees to both the
Group's performance and individual performance, so
that the interests of the employees align with those
of the Company's shareholders. As at 31 December
2023, the Group employed approximately 4,252
employees comprising 2,149 female employees and
2,103 male employees. To enhance the performance of
the employees, the Group provides its employees with
adequate and regular trainings. Employees’ remuneration
package comprises fixed and variable components
including salary, discretionary bonus and share options
that may be granted to eligible staff by reference to the
Group's performance as well as individual’s performance.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Xiao Xingtao (E #3&), aged 74, a co-founder
of our Group with Mr. Fu. Mr. Xiao was appointed as
our Director on 27 July 2016, as the chairman of our
Board and re-designated as our executive Director on
24 October 2016. Mr. Xiao is responsible for strategy
planning and business development of our Group. He is
also the chairman of the nomination committee of our
Group. Mr. Xiao is the father of Mr. Xiao YQ.

Mr. Xiao obtained a diploma degree in Chinese Language
from Shanghai Institute of Education* (/8% & Z20x)
in the PRC in July 1985. He attended a training course
in economic study organised by the Graduate School of
Shanghai Academy of Social Sciences* (£ /81 & £l 23
fiff 3T & ZB) in the PRC in March 1997. Mr. Xiao obtained
the qualification of senior economist upon completion of
the Integrated Economic Management Programme* (&%
B4R A B 32) organised by Shanghai Accreditation Board
for Senior Professionals in Economics (Production sector)*
(EEBTRBRIN(EAEEAH) S REERMTBREETRE
BEEZEE)in July 2003.

Prior to the establishment of our Group, Mr. Xiao had
worked in several state-owned enterprises. He joined
Jiangnan Shipyard* (T # & M) (now known as Jiangnan
Shipyard (Group) Company Limited* (I &M (£E) A
[R & T A7) in November 1968 and acted as head of its
publicity department from October 1992 to June 1995. Mr.
Xiao first encountered the property management industry
when he served as an officer director of Shanghai Jiu Shi
Company* (L8 AE2RF]), deputy general manager of
Shanghai Jiushi Company Bund Zhihuan Headquarters*
(EBASERAEINEE B #LE) responsible for overall
operation and general management of Shanghai Bund
Housing Replacement Property Company Limited* (/&
NEEEBEBRYEBRAF) (now known as Shanghai
Bund) from May 1995 to October 2002.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGHREEE

With his knowledge and experience gained in property
management industry, Mr. Xiao established Pujiang
Property jointly with Mr. Fu in December 2002 for
carrying out property management business and served
as the chairman of the board and general manager since
its establishment. With the growth and expansion of our
Group, Mr. Xiao and Mr. Fu later established or acquired
other property management companies for carrying out
various property management projects and also set up
Pujiang Holding in June 2007 as their investment holding
vehicle for various property management companies and
other companies carrying out investment management
business and has been acting as its chairman since then.
Mr. Xiao currently holds directorships in Pujiang Property
of our Group.

Mr. Xiao was awarded the independent innovation leading
talent* (B X 8I¥ % E A7) by Shanghai Luwan District
Government* (E/BEERE A RBAT) in April 2008, the
golden prize of outstanding contribution to Shanghai Property
Management Industry* (/BT E B ERITERELER )
in January 2011 and the outstanding individual* (£ H A %) 2%)
by Shanghai Property Management Industry Society* (/&%)
¥EETEWE)in January 2015.

Mr. Fu Qichang (&), aged 66, a co-founder of
our Group with Mr. Xiao and was appointed as our
executive Director and vice chairman of our Board on 24
October 2016. He is responsible for strategic planning
and business development of our Group. Mr. Fu is also a
member of the nomination committee and remuneration
committee of our Group.

Mr. Fu obtained a diploma degree in Accountancy from
Lixin Accountancy College of Professional Studies* (i
EE 5 ERIER) in the PRC in July 1983 and a Master
degree in Business Administration from Macau University
of Science and Technology (by distance learning) in
Macau, in February 2004. He obtained an executive
Master of Business Administration (Service Management)
(by distance learning) in Shanghai, the PRC offered by W.
P. Carey school of Business of Arizona State University in
May 2013.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Fu obtained the accountant qualification awarded by
Shanghai Accreditation Board for Middle Level Professionals
(Accountants) of the Shanghai Moto Industry Holding
Company* (EBMABEITEARA G RINPREER
MBS TR ERTEZES) in June 1992 and attended a
corporate finance course organised by Sino-Euro International
Business school* (FREXEIER Trg 2 Fc) in August 1999. He
obtained the qualifications of senior business manager* (7= A% 7
% E R A A EE) awarded by Shanghai Business Talents
Training Center* (/8 &% AA &I 4) and Shanghai
Desirable Talent Training Projects Joint Conference Office* (=
BERATIEIIEBFEZI L E) in February 2004
and corporate manager of national property management
upon completion of the National Property Management for
Corporate Manager Programme* (& B%) 3 & 12 1 F 4L 18)
organised by Shanghai Property Industrial Education Centre* (=
TR EITEHE R L) in December 2001. Mr. Fu was
awarded the chief financial officer qualifying training certificate
by Shanghai National Accountants Institute in July 2013.

Prior to the establishment of our Group, Mr. Fu acted
as the deputy general manager and chief accountant in
Pudong Company of Shanghai Jiu Shi Company* (_E&
AZEAEAEAA]) and the deputy general manager of
Property Company of Shanghai Jiu Shi Company* (8
AERE Y E QA from July 1997 to March 2003.

Mr. Fu currently holds directorships in several subsidiaries
of our Group, including Pujiang Property, Shanghai Bund
Green and Shanghai Rui Zheng.

Mr. Fu was awarded the role model of the Shanghai
Labour Force* (E/BM & &1L &) by Shanghai People’s
Government in April 2010, national role model of
the industry* (% Bl 17 % & 2 ) by National Property
Management Society* (2B ¥ % B E 1% €) in September
2011, veteran professional manager of the Shanghai
property service industry* (_E /8T ¥ % IR 7% 1 % & R B
¥4 18 A) by Shanghai Property Management Industry
Society in January 2012, Shanghai Huangpu district
professional and technical talents* (¥ R lT K L AT)
by Shanghai Huangpu District Government* (/&M &
R A RBT) in September 2012 and the outstanding
individual by Shanghai Property Management Industry
Society in January 2015.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGHREEE

Mr. Xiao Yuqiao (B ¥ &), aged 41, was appointed as
our executive Director and chief executive officer on 24
October 2016. He is responsible for the overall operation
and management and execution of the policies of our
Group. Mr. Xiao YQ is also member of the remuneration
committee of our Group. Mr. Xiao YQ is the son of Mr.
Xiao.

Mr. Xiao YQ obtained a double degree in Philosophy and
Business Management from the State University of New
York at Stony Brook in the United States in May 2005.

Mr. Xiao YQ has over ten years of experience in the
property management industry. He joined our Group in
February 2006 and had served as the general manager
of Shanghai Pujiang Sanqging Property Co. Ltd* (L&
L= BWEBMRAF) (now known as Shanghai Rui
Zheng) until May 2012. He was the general manager of
Ningbo Plaza from May 2012 to December 2013. Mr.
Xiao YQ had served as the deputy general manager in
Pujiang Property since May 2012 and was subsequently
appointed as its director on 11 March 2016. He has
been the director of Shanghai Jie Gu since May 20176.
Mr. Xiao YQ has also served as an executive director of
Pujiang Holding since January 2014. He is also a director
of Shanghai Bund Ke Pu, Shanghai Jiu Yi, Anhui Pu Jing,
Nantong Pu Sheng, Bengbu Zhi Xin, Shanghai Rui Zheng,
Hong Xin, Hebei Puhehang and Qidong Xingiao Property
Company Limited*(BXER TS WME B R A 7).

Mr. Xiao YQ was awarded the outstanding individual

(15th anniversary) by China Property Management
Magazine* ({9 B %) % & I8 ) # 5 #£) in July 2016.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Wang Hui (£ £), aged 50, was appointed as our
executive Director on 20 November 2020.

Ms. Wang has obtained a degree in Economics
Management from the University of Science and
Technology Beijing* (dt R K2) in 1997. She is
currently part of the Executive Committee of Fuzhou
Federation of Industry and Commerce, the Executive
Vice President of Dazhou General Chamber of
Commerce and a member of the Eighth Committee of
Taijiang District, Fuzhou City, Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference, Vice President of the Federation
of Enterprises and Entrepreneurs of Fuzhou City,
Representative to the 18th National People’s Congress
of Gulou District, Fuzhou City and member of the
Supervisory and Judicial Committee of the 18th National
People’s Congress of Gulou District, Fuzhou City. On
5 July 2000, Ms. Wang founded Hong Xin (formerly
known as Fuzhou Hongxin Cleaning Company Limited*
(48 N J5h IR R B B BR 2 |]), Fuzhou Hongxin Pest Control
Company Limited* (BMBAIREEZEEWHAER QT
and Fuzhou Hongxin Environmental Cleaning Service
Company Limited* (@ MNBLMIRIFEFRREBR A
A])) and she has been acting as the director and the
legal person since its incorporation. On 3 January 2020,
the Group acquired 51% equity interest in Hong Xin.
Since then, Hong Xin has become an indirect non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and Ms. Wang
has also been acting as the chairperson of Hong Xin.
Currently she is also a director of Hebei Puhehang.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGHREEE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Yongjun (3 # E), aged 48, has been
appointed as our non-executive Director with effect from
7 May 2018.

Mr. Zhang graduated from Shanghai Jiao Tong
University* (/8% 8 KE) with a bachelor's degree
in cranes, transportation machinery and mechanical
engineering in July 1996 and a master’'s degree in
business administration in July 2003.

Mr. Zhang has extensive experience in investment and
corporate management. Prior to joining our Group, he
worked as the senior investment manager in Shanghai
Galaxy Digital Investment Co., Ltd* (L2 WEIFKE
BBR27A]) from January 2003 to March 2006. He served
as the assistant director of the investment department
at Shanghai Industrial Investment (Shanghai) Company
Limited* (FEEE(E/H)ER2AF) from April 2006 to
April 2008. He was the deputy general manager of Runfeng
Investment Group Shanghai Investment Co., Ltd.* (B £ &%
BEE FBIREBERAR) from April 2008 to May 2009.
He was the director and head of the investment department
of Shanghai Industrial Investment (Shanghai) Company
Limited* (FEE R (L&) AR QA from June 2009 to
March 2019. He has served as the assistant president of
Shanghai Overseas International Trading Company Limited*
(£ 88 SN2 &) since January 2019.

Currently, Mr. Zhang serves as a director of Weifang City
Water Supply Company Limited* (#3582 KER A 7]),
Shanghai Qingpu Second Sewage Treatment Plant Company
Limited* (L85 AE =5 KEE KB R A F]), Shanghai
Biomedical Frontier Industry Innovation Center Co., Ltd* (/&
W) B8 BER A E ¥ BIFT R0 A BR A R]), Shanghai Electric
Power Generation Environment Protection Engineering Co.,
ltd* (P BEREBWMIRR TEBR R A]), SIC Properties
Group (Shanghai) Limited* (- B B 2 £ B (L&)BR A F)
and Shanghai SIIC Investment Development Company Limited*
(LBLEEREZEREARAT). He also serves as the vice
board chairman of Qihua Company Limited* (F{ % & R A Al),
the board chairman of Shanghai Nanyang Plywood Company
Limited* (_E/8FFBARA R A F]) and Lu An Xinshi Asset
Management Company Limited* (R ZZEEEEEHFRA
A]). He is also on the board of supervisors of SIIC Environment
Holdings (Wuhan) Company Limited.* (= & IR 52 i% (R %)
BBR/AR]), a subsidiary of SIC Environment Holdings Ltd. (a
company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 807) and
the Singapore Exchange Limited (stock code: BHK)).
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Cheng Dong (7 %), aged 61, was appointed as
our independent non-executive Director on 15 November
2017. He is responsible for overseeing the management
of our Group independently. He is also the chairman of
the remuneration committee and a member of the audit
committee and nomination committee of our Group.

Mr. Cheng graduated with a Bachelor degree in
management engineering from Tongji University
(R RE) in the PRC in July 1984 and Master degree
in economic informatics from Academy for Computer
Science and Computer executives* (Akademie fur Fach-
und Flhrungskrafte der Informatik) in Germany in May
1995.

Mr. Cheng was accredited as an organisational
programmer and economic informatics scientist by the
Chambers of Industry and Commerce Region Stuttgart*
(Industrie-und Handelskammer Region Stuttgart) in
Germany in November 1992 and December 1992
respectively.

Mr. Cheng was a teacher at the school of economics and
Management at the Tongji University ([E& KXE) from
July 1984 to January 1990. From March 1992 to June
1995, he served as an software engineer and project
manager at Yingta Information technology Company
Limited, Germany* (12 B & £ #& f 5 iR 15 2 &) and was
the company’s chief representative at its representative
office in PRC between June 1995 and May 1998. He
had served as the general manager of Shanghai Yingta
Information Technology Company Limited* (b /8 & {5
BB it A BR A A]). He served as the general manager of
Anpac Bio-Medical Science Company Limited* (%2 J& &t
EEERFE(EE)BRAR) from April 2014 to May
2023.

Mr. Cheng is currently holding senior positions in several
companies in the PRC including legal representative
(7% A &) of Shanghai Entai Business and Trading
Company Limited* (E/8BHREEBRAR]) since May
1996, chairman of Shanghai Yingta Health Management
Company Limited* (LB EEREEEEBRQA) since
November 2008 and chairman of Shanghai Liufu Training
School Company Limited* ( £ /8B REIERK AR Q7))
since March 2021.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGHREEE

Mr. Weng Guogqiang ($ B &), aged 63, was appointed
as our independent non-executive Director on 15
November 2017. He is responsible for overseeing the
management of our Group independently. He is also
member of the audit committee, nomination committee
and remuneration committee of our Group.

Mr. Weng graduated with a Bachelor degree in Applied
Mathematics from the Tongji University in the PRC in July
1982 and a Master degree in Public Administration from
the University of Macau in Macau in September 2003.

Mr. Weng was accredited as a National Vocational
Qualification Level 2 Vocational Management
Professional* (BlIRE EER —FEE&KE A) in May
2003 and a Level 1 Senior Vocational Management
Professional* (— & & B % 432 A) in September 2004
by the Shanghai Vocational Skill Testing Authority* (1
T B 2 R REZE F HP ). Mr. Weng was also accredited
as a Certified Property Manager by the Personnel
Department of Shanghai* (/&M AZERE) in October
2006 and an Advanced Economist* (& 4% 4% /% ki) by the
Personnel Department of Jiangsu Province* (JT# & A%
) in September 2009.

Mr. Weng has extensive experience in the property
management industry in Shanghai for over 18 years.
He had served as a general manager of Shanghai
Lujiazui Property Management Co., Ltd. (L /8 FE R
MEEEABRAA) from October 1999 to May 2008
and as a general manager of Wuxi Dongzhou Property
Management Company Limited* (&5 5 M%) % & 12
BBRAF) from May 2008 to December 2009. Since
January 2010, Mr. Weng has taken up the positions
of general manager and subsequently director at the
Shanghai Tonglai Property Management Company
Limited* (E/BRAYMEEIE AR AF). He is also an
independent non-executive director of A-Living Smart
City Services Co., Ltd* (HAEE S WM T REKMNHE
R A7) (@ company listed on the Stock Exchange with
stock code 03319) since January 2022.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence (& # X ), aged 51, was
appointed as our independent non-executive Director
on 15 November 2017. He is responsible for overseeing
the management of our Group independently. He is also
the chairman of the audit committee and member of the
remuneration committee and nomination committee of
our Group.

Mr. Shu graduated with a Bachelor degree in Business
(Accounting) from Deakin University in Australia in
September 1994. He became an associate of the Hong
Kong Society of Accountants in September 1997. Mr. Shu
attended the chief financial officer programme offered
by China Europe International Business School from July
to November 2009.

Mr. Shu has over 20 years of experience in audit,
corporate finance and financial management. He joined
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) as an accountant
in March 1994 and later became a manager of Deloitte’s
reorganisation service group in April 2000. Mr. Shu
joined Deloitte & Touche Corporate Finance Limited
and served as its manager from July 2001 to November
2002. Mr. Shu worked as an associate director in
Goldbond Capital (Asia) Limited from November 2002 to
April 2005. He served as the chief financial officer and
company secretary of Texhong Textile Group Limited (X
T# s EB AR AAE) (@ company listed on the Stock
Exchange with stock code 02678) from May 2005 to
July 2008. Mr. Shu was employed as the chief financial
officer of Jiangsu Rongsheng Heavy Industries Company
Limited* (/L & /& 8% & T A R 2 Al ) overseeing its
financial management functions and corporate finance
activities as well as the daily management of its finance
department from July 2008 to June 2010. Mr. Shu served
as the chief financial officer of Petro-king Qilfield Services
Limited (B # M B RB B R 2 F) (@ company listed
on the Stock Exchange with stock code 02178) since
July 2010 to July 2018. Mr. Shu has served as the chief
financial officer of Brainhole Technology Limited (formerly
known as Top Dynamic International Holdings Limited) (a
company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code:
02203) since August 2018 to November 2019. Mr. Shu
was an independent non-executive Director of Chengdu
Expressway Co., Ltd. (KB RAEKRMBER LT (a
company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code
01785) from November 2016 to September 2022.Mr. Shu
is currently the director and the chief financial officer of
Contiocean Environment Tech Co., Ltd* (& & [E R {R
Rl £ I 5 A BR A 7)), primarily responsible for its financial
and investment division. He is also an independent
non-executive director of Twintek Investment Holdings
Limited (Z &R EERAER A F]) (@ company listed on
the Stock Exchange with stock code 06182), Goldstream
Investment Limited (£ A& & B R A 5l) (@ company
listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code 01328),
Termbray Industries International (Holdings) Limited (/7%
FITXBER(EE)ERAT) (@ company listed on the
Stock Exchange with stock code 00093) and Texhong
International Group Limited CRITBIBREE BR A F]) (a
company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code:
02678) since December 2017, December 2019, December
2022 and May 2023 respectively. He has been served as
a member of the Hong Kong Independent Non-Executive
Director Association since May 2019.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGHREEE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Company Secretary

Ms. Cheung Kam Mei, Helen (3R € %), aged 62, was
appointed as the company secretary of the Company on
1 May 2019.

Ms. Cheung obtained a Bachelor of Laws from University
of London in 1999 and a Postgraduate Certificate in Laws
from University of Hong Kong in 2000. She is a qualified
solicitor in Hong Kong, a member of the Law Society of
Hong Kong since 2002, a member of the Law Society
of England and Wales since 2003 and a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries since 2005.
Ms. Cheung has 5 years of experience in the corporate
governance and company secretarial field.

Mr. Cai Yufei (& M), aged 39, joined our Group
in August 2017 as assistant to chief financial officer. He
was appointed as chief financial officer, joint authorised
representative and joint company secretary of the
Company on 1 May 2019, 1 July 2022 and 1 August
2022 respectively. He is responsible for overseeing
accounting activities.

Mr. Cai obtained a bachelor’s degree in Economics with a
major in Finance from Tongji University ([&] /% X&) in 2007.

Mr. Cai has over fifteen years of experience in auditing,
financial management and corporate financing. Prior in
joining our Group, he worked as a senior associate at
PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhongtian LLP from August 2007
to January 2010. He served as deputy director of finance
department in Tat Hong Zhaomao Investment Holding Co.,
Ltd* (L IKEZKREBRAA) from January 2010 to
November 2016 and was its head of corporate financing
department from December 2016 to August 2017.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Bai Min (B &), aged 52, is responsible for managing
business development and day-to-day business of our Group.

Mr. Bai graduated with a Bachelor degree in Business and
Corporate Management from Hubei Province economic
Management Cadre Institute* (8 1t & 4 % & 12 % &
EB7) in the PRC in January 2009, a Bachelor degree in
Business Administration (Marketing) from Shanghai Jiao
Tong University in the PRC in January 2012 and a Master
degree* (F /B KE) in Business Administration (by
distance learning) from City University of Macau in July
2015.

Mr. Bai obtained the qualification of national property
manager by Shanghai Human Resources and social
security Bureau in October 2010.

Mr. Bai had worked in various property management
companies in Shanghai for over 10 years before joining
our Group in April 2009. Mr. Bai was a property manager
of Shanghai Yuntai Property Management Company
Limited* (F /B EZRYWEEEFRAF]) from April 1997
to August 2000. He was a senior director in Shanghai Kai
Shing Property Management Service Company Limited*
(EBRBYWEETERBERAF) from August 2000
to December 2000. He was employed as an assistant to
general manager of the integrated centre and deputy
general manager of the property department of Shanghai
Minghua Property Company* (/&8 ZE Y % QA 7]) from
February 2001 to July 2005. He was the general manager
of Yangshan district and deputy general manager of the
quality control department of Shanghai New Century
Property Service Company Limited* (/& ¥t 42 & & IR
% A BR A A]) from August 2005 to March 2009.

EENGHREEE

BELAE S22 AEEERASENEK

EBEEBBER -

B ER2009F 1A E XN PRI ELEE
EE®IMER EESIREEEL8M4 B
0RF1AEHREMEERBAEERSTRA
ER(MGEHE 226 K R2015F78 (5
BEREE)GBRMABTALESINER
=g VA

H%ER2010F10F S E8ANERME
CREFBEENE2HAMEETEMEE -

B £ R2009F4AMAREE 2 I £ 8
ZERMPEEE R AT BI0F o #£1997F4
A ZE2000688 AL EAELBERYWESE
EBEERAAEMEYHELE - B2000688 &
2000F 128 HELLEBRBYDEEERSES

NElETS R EMT - B2001F28 £2005
FIR HEREALSHEYEARSZAEF

N 4R 42 18 B 3B TN W) 3£ 50 Bl 4R 48 38 - B20054F
BETLESFTHELEER
/£<<<IE&

8HE200943A -

BERARFILRLE ) T 26 5 48 4T 38 o




DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGHREEE

Mr. Bai joined our Group as the general manager of our
estates management office of Industrial and Commercial
Bank of China in April 2009 which was managed by
Pujiang Property. He was then seconded to serve as the
general manager of the Shanghai World Expo in January
2010. Since January 2011, he has served as an assistant
to the general manager and chief property officer in
Pujiang Property. Mr. Bai has been serving as a deputy
general manager of Anhui Bund since 1 January 2013,
and director and deputy general manager in Shanghai
Xin Di since June 2015. Mr. Bai was appointed as our vice
president on 24 October 2016.

Mr. Bai was awarded the outstanding individual by
Shanghai Property Management Industry Society* (/&
YIHEERITE®E) in January 2015 and is an expert of
5th Council of Shanghai Property Management Industry
Society* (L BEMYEXERBTEHEELERSES)
since December 2015.

Mr. Xu Wenzhang (& X &), aged 63, is responsible
for internal audit and business management of our
Group.

Mr. Xu graduated with a Bachelor degree in Power
Mechanical Engineering from Shanghai Jiao Tong
University in the PRC in July 1983 and a Master degree in
Management from Norwegian School of Management B
in Norway (by distance learning) in January 2000.

Prior to joining our Group in November 2015, Mr. Xu
had worked at a number of international corporations
in property management sector for over 25 years. Mr.
Xu was the property engineering senior manager in
American International Group (AIG) from March 1990
to February 2005. He was the chief property officer in
Shanghai Alison Group Company Limited and general
manager in Shanghai Alison Property Management
Service Company Limited from February 2005 to January
2007. Mr. Xu held the position of national facilities
manager (associate director) in Jones Lang LaSalle
Surveyors (Shanghai) Company Limited from February
2007 to September 2008. He served as a director of
facilities management of Accor Greater China in Accor
Hotels Group from September 2008 to December 2015.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Xu joined our Group in November 2015 and has
served as the chief technical officer in Pujiang Holding
since then and deputy general manager of Pujiang
Property since January 2016. He was appointed as our
vice president on 24 October 2016.

Mr. Wang Lingyi (£ —), aged 38, is responsible
for the human resource matters of the Group and the
business of Shanghai Bund Kepu.

Mr. Wang graduated with a Bachelor degree in
Economics from Shanghai International Studies
University in July 2009 and a Master degree in Business
Administration from Fudan University in January 2023.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Wang acted as the
product supervisor in Shanghai Shang’‘an Intelligent
Parking Development Co., Ltd* (E /B M LT E EF &
R AR A a) from July 2011 to November 2016.
He was the leader of product in Huangiuchexiang Car
Rental Co., Ltd* RIREZFEHEAR A A from
December 2016 to October 2018. He has over ten years
of experience in product and corporate management.

Mr. Wang joined our Group in November 2018 as
deputy general manager of Shanghai Bund Kepu. He
was appointed as our vice president on January 2023.
Currently Mr. Wang is also one of the director and the
general manager of Shanghai Bund Kepu.

Mr. Wang Xin (E£#&), aged 45, is responsible for the
business operation and expansion in the North China
region of the Group.

Mr. Wang Xin graduated with a Bachelor degree in
Engineering from Beijing University of Civil Engineering
and Architecture in July 2000 and a Master degree in
Business Administration of Senior Management with
a major in Business Administration from University of
International Business and Economics in July 2010.
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EENGHREEE

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Wang Xin acted as the
deputy general manager of Beijing Oriental Sun City*
(b R B 77 K5 ) project and the executive deputy
general manager of Hainan Branch in China Sigma Co.,
Ltd* (R B % &35 F R 2 A]) from July 2000 to July
2014. He was the assistant of the chairman of the board
and vice president of real estate business unit in Huatian
Investment Group Co., Ltd* (EAKREEEBEERAA)
from July 2014 to July 2016. He was the vice president
and rotating president in Tiandi Holdings Co., Ltd* (X
¥ B A BR A F]) from August 2017 to July 2019. Mr.
Wang Xin has over twenty years of extensive experience
in urban renewal, cultural tourism, development and
operation of commercials, hotels and real estate,
especially in the positioning, planning and operation of
the revitalization, utilization and protection of cultural
relics and the integration of culture, business and
tourism. Currently Mr. Wang Xin is also an expert of the
Expert Committee of the Beijing Central Axis Protection
Public Welfare Foundation* (bt R4 RE Nz E D
@EHKXZELEEE) and a director of the China Real Estate

Association* (FEEMEWH ).

Mr. Wang Xin joined our Group in April 2021 as the head
of North China region and he was appointed as our vice
president on January 2023.

Mr. Zhang Bo (3R &), aged 37, is responsible for the
strategic planning and management of the investment of
the Group.

Mr. Zhang graduated with a Bachelor degree in Science
from Donghua University in July 2008 and a Master
degree in Economics with a major of finance from Fudan
University in June 2015.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Zhang acted as the
director of administrative office in Shanghai Huangpu
District Federation of Industry and Commerce* (&
MEHE IEHEB S E) from September 2009 to
September 2016. He was the senior manager of board
of directors in China Minsheng Investment Co., Ltd* (7
BRAEKREKRDBRAR) from September 2016 to
November 2018. He has taken up the position of general
manager since the establishment of Zhong Min zZhi Da
and subsequently acted as the chairman of the board.
Mr. Zhang has over ten years of experience in strategic
development and investment management.

Mr. Zhang joined our Group in November 2021 as head
of strategic development department. He was appointed
as our vice president on January 2023.

EENGHREEE
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

HE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to establishing good corporate
governance practices in accordance with the Listing Rules
and ensuring integrity, transparency and comprehensive
disclosure. The Board believes that such commitment is
beneficial to safeguard the interests of the Company and
its shareholders.

DNEER

The Board has adopted the CG Code as set out in the
Listing Rules. The Company reviewed the CG Code from
time to time to ensure its compliance with the CG Code.

The Company has been listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange since 11 December 2017 (the "Listing
Date”). The Board is pleased to report compliance with
the code provisions of the CG Code from the Listing Date
to 31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own
code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
Directors. In response to specific enquiry made by the
Company, each of the Directors confirmed that he had
complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code from the Listing Date to 31 December 2023.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board comprises:
Executive Directors Mr. Xiao Xingtao
(Chairman)
Mr. Fu Qichang
Mr. Xiao Yugiao
(Chief Executive Officer)

Ms. Wang Hui
Non-Executive Director : Mr. Zhang Yongjun
Independent : Mr. Cheng Dong

Non-Executive Directors  Mr. Weng Guogiang
Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence

Mr. Xiao is the father of Mr. Xiao YQ. Save for the family
relationship between Mr. Xiao and Mr. Xiao YQ, there
business, family or other material
relationship among the Directors.

was no financial,
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Each of the three independent non-executive Directors
has confirmed his independence of the Company and
the Company considers each of them to be independent
in accordance with the guidelines of assessing
independence as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

BOARD MEETINGS AND GENERAL
MEETINGS

According to code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code, board
meetings should be held at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals with active participation
of the majority of the Directors, either in person or
through electronic means of communication.

The Company generally convenes at least four regular
Board meetings a year. During the Period, four Board
meetings were convened for the following purposes:

1. reviewed and approved the 2022 annual report of
the Company and its related results announcement
and documents;

2. reviewed and approved the 2023 interim report of
the Company and its related results announcement
and documents;

3. reviewed and considered various projects and
investment opportunities that have arisen and/or
undertaken by the Company during the Period;

4. reviewed, discussed and considered the Group’s
affairs, including strategic plans, financial affairs,
progress and updates of business performance;

5. reviewed and proposed amendments to the
Memorandum and Articles of Association to comply
with the latest requirements of the Listing Rules and
relevant laws and regulations.
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NRIERHE
Attendance at Meetings of the Board and EEERESZESCERLERE

Board Committees

Number of meetings attended/eligible to attend for the year
ended 31 December 2023

B £2023F12A3MHLFE
HE CEREEERRE
Annual
Audit Remuneration General
Name of Director Board Committee Committee Meeting
Exgs Exg ERERES FMEEEe RREBEFKE
Executive Directors
HITEE
Xiao Xingtao 4/4 N/A N/A 1Al
HEE 5@ M @M
Fu Qichang 4/4 N/A 2/2 11
BHE 3 A
Xiao Yugiao 4/4 N/A 2/2 171
HT® i@ A
Wang Hui 4/4 N/A N/A 11
= A iE R A E B
Non-executive Director
FHITEF
Zhang Yongjun 4/4 N/A N/A 1/1
oK E T iE A TiE A
Independent Non-executive Director
BUIFPITEE
Cheng Dong 4/4 2/2 2/2 1/1
B R
Weng Guogiang 4/4 2/2 2/2 171
ERRCiE:
Shu Wa Tung Laurence 4/4 2/2 2/2 11
HER
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for the management of the
Company, which includes formulating business strategies,
directing and supervising the Company’s affairs. The
Board reserves power for decisions concerning all
major matters which include, inter alia, the approval
and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies
and budgeting, internal control and risk management
systems, material transactions (in particular those
which may involve conflict of interests of Director(s) or
substantial shareholder(s)), appointment of Directors and
other significant financial and operational matters. The
Board is also responsible for preparing the accounts.

The Board is also entrusted with the overall responsibility
of developing, maintaining and reviewing sound and
effective corporate governance policies within the Group
and is committed to ensuring that corporate governance
functions are carried out in accordance with the CG
Code, including continuously reviewing and improving
the corporate governance practices within the Group.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the
information of the Company as well as the services
and advice from the company secretary and senior
management. The Directors may, upon request,
seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expenses for discharging
their duties to the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

No corporate governance committee has been
established and the Board is responsible for performing
the corporate governance functions such as developing
and reviewing the Company’s policies, practices
on corporate governance, training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and internal control
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
etc.

Every Board member has full access to the advice and
services of the joint company secretaries with a view to
ensuring that Board procedures, and all applicable rules
and regulations are followed.
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AREREE

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
As at the date of the report, Mr. Xiao Xingtao is the
Chairman while Mr. Xiao Yugiao is the chief executive
officer of the Company. Mr. Xiao Xingtao is the father of
Mr. Xiao Yugiao.

The Chairman provides leadership and is responsible
for the effective functioning and leadership of the
Board. The chief executive officer focuses on the overall
operation and management and execution of the policies
of our Group. Their respective responsibilities are clearly
defined and set out in writing.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

All executive Directors and non-executive Director
have entered into a service contract with our Company
for an initial fixed term of three years and renewable
automatically until terminated by not less than three
months’ notice in writing served by either party on the
other expiring at the end of the initial term or any time
thereafter. All independent non-executive Directors are
appointed from the date of the Listing until terminated
by not less than three months’ notice in writing served
by either the Company or the respective Director.

The current articles of association of the Company
provide that subject to the manner of retirement by
rotation of directors as from time to time prescribed by
the Listing Rules, at each annual general meeting, one-
third of the directors for the time being shall retire from
office by rotation and that every director shall be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every 3 years. The
retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company.

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

To assist Directors’ continuing professional development,
the Company recommends Directors to attend relevant
seminars to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. All Directors also participate in continuous
professional development programmes to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills in relation to their
contribution to the Board.

All the Directors have confirmed in writing they had
participated in continuous professional developments
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills as
directors during the Period.
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AREABE

The below table summarises the participation of Directors TFTXREAZBEFRCEHEARLXME I RSB
in training and continuous professional development ZEHEZERHIB N o
during the Period under review.

Types of Continuous Professional Development
FEExXuRER
Received material
regarding the

Reading responsibilities
Material regarding and obligations
regulatory update under the Listing Attending
and corporate Rules and seminars/
governance relevant statutory conferences/
Name of Directors matters requirements forums
EERE
EwmRAK
HEEHEEE HEEEER
EFNREXER EAENBER HENwE
EspE E=H M BEEMH =k V k-
Executive Directors
BITES
Mr. Xiao Xingtao v v v
HEESEE
Mr. Fu Qichang v v v
BHEXRAE
Mr. Xiao Yugiao v v v
HT&ELE
Ms. Wang Hui v v v
FTExL
Non-executive Director
FHITES
Mr. Zhang Yongjun v v v
REE LA
Independent non-executive
Directors
BYFHITES
Mr. Cheng Dong v v v
BREE
Mr. Weng Guogiang v v v
HERELE
Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence 4

BERKE
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BERRE

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit
Committee”) was established on 15 November 2017
comprising 3 independent non-executive Directors, who
have reviewed the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2023. All of them have
appropriate professional qualifications and one of them
has accounting expertise. Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence is
the chairman of the Audit Committee. No member of the
Audit Committee is a member of the former or existing
auditor of the Company. The terms of reference of the
Audit Committee are available at the Company’s website
and on the website of the Stock Exchange.

NG

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for, inter alia,
the following matters:

(@) overseeing the Company’s financial reporting
internal control procedures and risk
management and ensuring such systems are

system,
effective;

(b) reviewing the terms of engagement and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment, removal and remuneration of the
external auditor of the Company;

(c) reviewing and monitoring the external auditor’s
independence and objectivity and the effectiveness
of the audit process in accordance with applicable
standard;

(d) monitoring the integrity of financial statements of
the Company and the Company’s annual report
and accounts, half-year report and, if prepared for
publication, quarterly reports, and reviewing any
significant financial reporting judgments contained
in them; and

(e) overseeing the Company’s internal audit functions;
and

(f) acting as key representative body for overseeing the
Company’s relations with the external auditor.
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During the Period, the Audit Committee convened two
meetings and performed the following work:

1. reviewed the 2022 annual report and the 2023
interim report of the Company and their related
preliminary results announcements;

2. reviewed and discussed the auditor’s report to the
Audit Committee in respect of 2022 annual audit;

3. reviewed and recommended the re-appointment
of the external auditors, taking into account its
independence;

4. reviewed and discussed the internal control reports;

5.  reviewed and discussed the 2023 annual audit plan
of the Group.

The Audit Committee has met with the external auditors
once during the Period without the presence of the
executive Directors.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company
(the “Remuneration Committee”) was established on
15 November 2017 comprising five members, namely
Fu Qichang and Mr. Xiao
Yugiao and 3 independent non-executive Directors,
Mr. Cheng Dong, Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence and Mr.
Weng Guogiang. Mr. Cheng Dong is the chairman of the

2 executive Directors, Mr.

Remuneration Committee. The terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee are available at the Company’s
website and on the website of the Stock Exchange.

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for,
inter alia, the following matters:

(@) establishing and reviewing the Company’s policy
and structure for all remuneration of directors and
senior management and making recommendations
to the Board on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing policy on such
remuneration;
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AREREE

(b) assessing the performance of the Directors and
determining the specific remuneration packages
of all executive directors of the Group and senior
management with reference to the Board’s
corporate goals and objectives;

() making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of the non-executive Director;

(d) reviewing and approving compensation
arrangements relating to dismissal or removal
of directors for misconduct to ensure that such
arrangements are determined in accordance
with relevant contractual terms and that any
compensation payment is otherwise reasonable and
appropriate; and

(e) advising shareholders of the Company with respect
to any service contracts of directors that require
shareholders’ approval under the Listing Rules.

During the Period, the Remuneration Committee
convened two meetings and performed the following
work:

Details of the fees and other emoluments paid or payable
to the Directors and the details of the remuneration
of the members of the senior management (excluding
Directors) for the year ended 31 December 2023 are
set out in details in Notes 8 to the audited consolidated
financial statements contained in this annual report.

The Remuneration Committee has access to independent

professional advice and is provided with sufficient
resources to perform its duties.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company
(the “Nomination Committee”) was established on
15 November 2017 comprising five members, namely
2 executive Directors, Mr. Xiao Xingtao and Mr. Fu
Qichang and 3 independent non-executive Directors, Mr.
Cheng Dong, Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence and Mr. Weng
Guogiang. Mr. Xiao Xingtao is currently the chairman of
the Nomination Committee. The terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee are available at the Company’s
website and on the website of the Stock Exchange.

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for,
inter alia, the following matters:

(@) reviewing the structure, size diversity and
composition of the Board;

(b) developing and formulating relevant procedures for
nomination and appointment of Directors;

() making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and succession planning of Directors.
The criteria to be applied in considering whether a
candidate is qualified shall be based on a number
of factors, including gender, age, educational
background, qualifications, regional and industry
experience, skills, length of service and his or her
ability to devote sufficient time and attention to the
affairs of the Company and if the appointment will
contribute to the diversity of the Board;

(d) assessment of the independence of the Independent
Non-Executive Directors in accordance with, among
other things, the factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules, subject to any amendments as may
be made by the Stock Exchange from time to time
and where applicable, whether he or she has the
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise for filling
the office of an independent non-executive director
as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules;
and

(e) set any measurable objectives for implementing
the Board Diversity Policy from time to time to
ensure their appropriateness and the progress made
towards achieving those objectives.
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AREREE

The Nomination Committee carries out the process of
selecting and recommending candidates for directorships
by making reference to the balance of expertise, skills,
experience, professional knowledge, personal integrity
and time commitments of such individuals, business
requirements of the Group and other relevant statutory
requirements and regulations.

During the Period, the Nomination Committee convened
one meeting.

BOARD POLICIES

Pursuant to the Listing Rules and policies of the Board,
the Board has adopted a number of policies and
procedures to strengthen its corporate governance and
internal control. The following is a summary of certain
policies adopted by the Board:

(a) Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy
("Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach
to achieve diversity of the Board. The Company
embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to
enhance the quality of its performance. Pursuant
to the board diversity policy, the Company seeks to
achieve Board diversity through the consideration
of a number of aspects, including, but not limited
to, gender, regional and industry experience, skills,
knowledge and educational background. All board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board. The Company will also take
into consideration its own business model and
specific needs from time to time in determining the
optimal composition of the Board.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises
8 directors. Three of them are independent non-
executive directors, thereby promoting critical
review and control of the management process. The
Board is also characterised by significant diversity,
whether considered in terms of age, industry
experience, professional background and skills. The
following tables further illustrate the diversity of the
Board members as of the date of this annual report:
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(b) Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The Board is dedicated to promote effective
communications with Shareholders. Effective
communications can enable Shareholders to exercise
their rights as shareholders in an informed manner
and furnish the investment community with timely
information about the Company.

The Company is committed to maintain open
communications with its Shareholders and the
investment community and to promote investor
confidence by keeping the market fully informed of
all material information about the Company.

The Company holds its annual general meeting
in June each year. If necessary, the Company
will hold extraordinary general meetings to seek
Shareholders’ approval on proposed transactions.

Shareholders may, at any time, raise questions to
the Company provided such matters are in the
public domain.

Shareholders may contact the Company as follows:

Riverine China Holdings Limited

14F No. 28 South Zhongshan Road Shanghai China,
200010

Tel: (86) 21-63333599

Fax: (86) 21-63301947

Email address: ir@ppmc.com.cn

For enquiries relating to their shares in the
Company, Shareholders may contact the Company’s
share registrar as follows:

Tricor Investor Services Limited

17/F, Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2980 1333

Fax: (852) 2810 8185

Email: is-enquiries@hk.tricorglobal.com
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(c) Disclosure of Inside Information

The Board has implemented measures to follow
the inside information provisions of the SFO and
the Listing Rules to ensure inside information of
the Group is disseminated to the public in equal
and timely manner in accordance with SFO and the
Listing Rules.

For more details, please refer to the section headed
“Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information”
in this Corporate Governance Report.

Mechanism to ensure independent views
and input are available to the Board

As part of checks-and-balances of the management
of the Company, the Board has adopted this policy
to provide mechanism to ensure independent view
and input are available to the Board.

In compliance with the Listing Rules, the Company
has appointed three independent non-executive
directors ("INEDs”), representing not less than
one-third of the Board. One of the three INEDs
possesses professional qualifications, accounting
and financial management expertise.

The INEDs, as other Directors, are entitled to review
books and records of the Group and they may
seek assistance from the Company’s joint company
secretaries. Further, where necessary, the INEDs may
seek independent advice from external professional
advisers at the expense of the Company.

Further, to provide checks-and-balances to the
Group, the INEDs are also the only members of
the Audit Committee and majority members of
the Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee of the Company.
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(e) Whistleblowing Policy

(f)

The Company is committed to maintain the highest
standards of ethics and conducting business legally,
honestly and fairly.

To enhance the Group to maintain good corporate
governance, employees and third parties who
deal with the Group, e.g. customers, suppliers
and agents are encouraged to report any genuine
concerns about suspected or actual fraud, breach,
malpractice, misconduct or irregularity to the
internal audit department of the Company and such
reporting shall be made in good faith. The internal
audit department in turn reports to the Audit
Committee.

The internal audit department may consult the
Audit Committee and external professional advisers
in deciding whether an investigation is warranted.

If investigation is required, the internal audit
department will conduct investigation in strict
confidence and report to the Audit Committee.
If necessary, the internal audit department may,
after consultation with the Audit Committee and/
or professional advisers,
relevant regulatory authorities in accordance with
relevant laws and regulations.

report the matter to the

Anti-corruption Policy

The Company is committed to upholding high
standards of business integrity, honesty and
transparency in all of its business dealings. This
policy aims to protect the reputation of the
Company and prevent any attempt of fraud,
corruption, bribery, malpractices, deceit or any
other improper conduct by any senior management
or employees of the Group.

The policy provides guidelines to employees what
constitutes advantages, corruption and bribery.
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(9)

(h)

Remuneration Policy

This purpose of this Policy is to provide guidelines
to the Group to retain and motivate its directors
and employees by offering them competitive while
not excessive remuneration packages hiving regard
to those offered by comparable companies in the
property management industry in China.

The remuneration packages offered by the Group to
its executive directors and employees comprise basic
salary, discretionary bonus and share awards having
regard to their performance and the performance of
the Group.

Non-executive directors shall receive fixed
remuneration only. The Board will make reference
to the remuneration payable by companies which
are listed on the Stock Exchange and engage in
property management industry in China. No bonus
or equity linked remuneration is payable to non-
executive directors, in particular, independent non-
executive directors, in order to ensure they are
independent and act impartially at all times. Their
remuneration will be reviewed annually.

Nomination Policy

In evaluating a candidate for nomination to the
Board for appointment or to the Shareholders
for election as a Director of the Company, the
Nomination Committee will consider a number
of factors. These factors include the candidate’s
qualifications, skills and experience, diversity
perspectives set out in the Board Diversity Policy,
the candidate’s integrity, and if the candidate
is proposed to be appointed as an INED, the
independence criteria under Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and his/her time commitment. The Nomination
Committee will take appropriate measures to review
and evaluate a candidate's profile as proposed by
the Board and make recommendations to the Board.
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/'\ ﬁﬂ:
Dividends Policy (i) REBE
In general, it is the policy of the Company to allow —BME AR EREERRES=Z
Shareholders to participate in the Company’s AAalemA - ARREBRAGEER
profits while retaining adequate reserves for future RERRERZA - —BEBERAT XA
development and growth. Normally, the Company RIBFREMAKRE DR RTHRKRE
pays dividends twice a year, which are the interim NARERE - EFGHEARATREHEE -
dividends and the final dividends. The Board will CHEERFEAREERZERRZ  BEL
consider a number of factors in deciding the B  miGA R BRMINKEES -
frequency, amount and form of dividends, including RERE - UBMRR  KNKRESEE
the conditions of the economy, market outlook, REERS - KRKARRESFEARLR
results of our operations, cash flows, financial REBENHEMERE -
position, statutory and regulatory restrictions on the
payment of dividends, future prospects and other
factors that the Board my consider relevant.

Ethnicity
=03
Other,
Name of Director 40 to 49 50 to 59 Above 60 Chinese if applicable
EENR 40Z495% 50Z595% 605% M £ EH Hth(WEA)
Xiao Xingtao 4 v
HEE
Fu Qichang v Ve
BHE
Xiao Yugiao v v
HT5
Wang Hui v v
-

Zhang Yongjun v v
RS
Cheng Dong v v
BR
Weng Guogiang v v
SR
Shu Wa Tung Laurence v v

HER
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The Board delegated certain duties under the Board
Diversity Policy to the Nomination Committee. The
Nomination Committee will discuss and review
the necessity to set any measurable objectives for
implementing the Board Diversity Policy from time
to time to ensure their appropriateness and the
progress made towards achieving those objectives.

The nomination committee will review the Diversity
Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities (as set
out in the Independent Auditor's Report) for preparing
the consolidated financial statements of the Group
that give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Group. The Board was not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
might cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and the Board has prepared
the consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis. The responsibility of the external auditor is to
form an independent opinion, based on their audit, on
those consolidated financial statements prepared by the
Board and to report their opinion to the Shareholders. A
statement by auditor about their reporting responsibility
is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board has developed the Group's internal control,
risk assessment and management systems and has
overall responsibility for reviewing and maintaining an
adequate and effective risk management and internal
control systems to safeguard the interests of the
Shareholders and the assets of the Group. It evaluates
the effectiveness of the systems at least annually to
ensure the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions.
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The Company has an internal audit department,
which reports directly to the Audit Committee and is
independent of the Company’s daily operations. The
internal audit department is responsible for conducting
regular audits on compliance, risk management and
major activities of the Company. Its objective is to ensure
that all material controls, including financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management functions
are in place and function effectively.

The Group is committed to the identification, monitoring
and management of risks associated with its business
activities. The Group’s internal control system is designed
to provide reasonable assurance against material
misstatement or loss and to manage and eliminate
risks of failure in operational systems and fulfillment
of business objective. The system includes a defined
management structure with segregation of duties and a
cash management system such as monthly reconciliation
of bank accounts.

The Board is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness.
The Board has conducted a review of the systems of risk
management and internal control for the year ended
31 December 2023 to ensure the effectiveness and
adequacy of the systems. Such review shall be conducted
annually. The Board considered that the risk management
and internal control systems of Company for the year
ended 31 December 2023 were effective and adequate.

The Board reviews the effectiveness of the Group’s
material internal controls and is of the opinion that the
resources for and qualifications of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function are adequate
and sufficient. Based on information furnished to it
and on its own observations, the Board is satisfied with
present internal controls of the Group.
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

A deed of non-competition (the “Deed of Non-
Competition”) was entered into by Partner Summit, Vital
Kingdom, Mr. Xiao, Source Forth, Mr. Fu, Pine Fortune
and Mr. Chen, the Controlling Shareholders in favour
of the Company on 28 November 2017, pursuant to
which each of the Controlling Shareholders will not, and
will procure any of its/his associates and any company
directly or indirectly controlled by him/it (not include
any member of the Group) not to either on his/its own
or in conjunction with any body corporate, partnership,
joint venture or other contractual agreement, whether
directly or indirectly, whether for profit or not, carry
on, participate in, hold, engage in, acquire or operate,
or provide any form of assistance to any person, firm
or company (except members of the Group) to conduct
any business which, directly or indirectly, competes or
may compete with the business presently carried on
by the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any other
business that may be carried on by any of them from
time to time during the term of the Deed of Non-
Competition, in Hong Kong or the PRC and such other
places as the Company or any of its subsidiaries may
conduct or carry on business from time to time, including
but not limited to provision of property management
services and other related services. Details of the Deed
of Non-Competition are set out in the section headed
“Relationship with Controlling Shareholders” in the
prospectus of the Company dated 28 November 2017.
In order to ensure that the Controlling Shareholders
have complied with the Deed of Non-Competition, the
independent non-executive Directors had reviewed
the status of compliance by way of confirmation by
individual Controlling Shareholder and confirmed that
the Controlling Shareholders have complied with all the
undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition for
the year ended 31 December 2023.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the external auditor of the
Company in respect of audit for the year ended 31
December 2023 amounted to approximately RMB2.1
million.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Cheung Kam Mei (“Ms. Cheung”) was appointed
as the company secretary of the Company on 1 May
2019. Mr. Cai Yufei ("Mr. Cai”) was appointed as joint
company secretary of the Company on 1 August 2022.
The biographical details of Ms. Cheung and Mr. Cai are
set out under the section headed "“Directors and Senior
Management”.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2023,
Ms. Cheung and Mr. Cai have complied with Rule 3.29
of the Listing Rules and taken no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide
an opportunity for communication between the
Shareholders and the Board. An annual general meeting
of the Company shall be held in each year and at the
place as may be determined by the Board. Each general
meeting, other than an annual general meeting, shall be
called an extraordinary general meeting ("EGM").

— Right to convene extraordinary general

meeting

Any one or more members holding at the date of
the deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company, shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition sent to the Company’s principal
office as set out in the manner below, to require an
EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction
of any business specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within two (2) months
after the deposit of such requisition.
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The written requisition must state the purposes
of the meeting, signed by the requisitionist(s) and
deposit it to the Board or the company secretary
of the Company at the Company’s principal place
of business at 5/F Manulife Place, 348 Kwun Tong
Road, Hong Kong and such may consist of several
documents in like form, each signed by one or more
requisitionists.

The request will be verified with the Company’s
branch share registrars in Hong Kong and upon
their confirmation that the request is proper and
in order, the company secretary of the Company
will ask the Board to convene an EGM by serving
sufficient notice in accordance with the statutory
requirements to all the registered members. On
the contrary, if the request has been verified is
not in order, the Shareholders will be advised of
this outcome and accordingly, an EGM will not be
convened as requested. If within twenty-one days
from the date of the deposit of the requisition the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s), may convene a meeting in the same
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed by the Company to the
requisitionist(s).

The notice period to be given to all the registered
members for consideration of the proposal raised
by the requisitionist(s) concerned at the EGM varies
according to the nature of the proposal, as follows:

— At least 14 clear days’ notice in writing (and
not less than 10 business days) if the proposal
constitutes an ordinary resolution of the
Company;

Right to put enquiries to the Board
Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the
Board. All enquiries shall be in writing and sent
by post to the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong for the attention of the
company secretary.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has established a range of communication
channels between itself and its Shareholders, investors
and other stakeholders. The Company endeavors to
maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and
in particular, through annual general meetings and
other general meetings. At annual general meetings,
Directors are available to meet Shareholders and answer
their enquiries. The Company discloses information and
publishes periodic reports and announcements to the
public in accordance with the Listing Rules, the relevant
laws and regulations.

The Shareholders’ Communication Policy is subject to
review by the Board and will be amended as appropriate
to reflect current best practices in communication
with Shareholders and to ensure its effectiveness in
communicating with Shareholders.

The Board provides updated information on the Group
to Shareholders through the publication of notices,
announcements, circulars, interim and annual reports.
The Memorandum and Articles of Association of the
Company and its updated versions are also published on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Group regulates the handling and dissemination
of inside information according to the “Guidelines on
Disclosure of Inside Information” (the “Guidelines”)
published by the SFO to ensure inside information
remains confidential until the disclosure of such
information is appropriately approved and the
dissemination of such information is properly made. The
Company regularly reminds the Directors and employees
about due compliance with the Guidelines and all
policies regarding handling and dissemination of inside
information. Also, where applicable, the Company keeps
Directors, senior management and employees appraised
of the latest regulatory updates.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS EREXH

There were changes in the constitutional documents of AR R R E £2023F12A31BLtFEH E2
the Company during the year ended 31 December 2023 X H#E1TTER] - ERUATEM () EAAF
in order to (i) bring them in line with certain recent ERXHHFAELEMRBMOZIIER: (i) EX
amendments made to the Listing Rules; (i) allow general ZRRIENETHEAFABHEITBITREK
meetings to be held as an electronic meeting or a hybrid € : (i) R MFH EHEFERZEAEEFNHE
meeting; (i) reflect other relevant requirements under BRI E) : K(v) WAE TABFEE) - (5
the applicable laws and procedures of the Cayman {85] E2023F6ANHRETHR R AN S ES
Islands; and (iv) incorporate certain housekeeping BB ARAEMTE - NLEBIREYE
amendments (“Amendments”). The Amendments were 2408l o

approved at the annual general meeting of the Company

held on 12 June 2023 and the Company adopted the

Second Amended and Restated Articles of Association.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company have pleasure in
submitting their annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is property
management. Details of the principal activities of the
subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organized into
business units based on their services and the Group has
four reportable operating segments which is engaged
in (@) property management services with value-added
services to a variety of properties in the PRC, (b) urban
sanitary services, (c) sublease service from investment
properties and (d) catering services. Management
monitors the results of the Group’s operating segments
separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment.

Details of the operating segment information of the
Company during the year are set out in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Since all of the Group's revenue were generated from
providing property management service, urban sanitary
services, sublease service from investment properties
and catering services in China and all of the Group’s
non-current assets were located in Mainland China, no
geographical information in accordance with HKFRS 8
Operating Segments is presented.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS

Net proceeds from the Listing (including the exercise of
the over-allotment options on 5 January, 2018), after
deducting the underwriting commission and other
estimated expenses in connection with the Listing which
the Company received amounted to approximately
HK$125.5 million (equivalent to approximately RMB104.9
million), comprising HK$117.9 million (equivalent to
approximately RMB98.6 million) raised from the Listing
and HK$7.6 million (equivalent to approximately RMB6.3
million) from the issue of shares pursuant to the exercise
of the over-allotment options, respectively.
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As at 31 December 2023, the net proceeds from the
Listing were utilized as follows:

MR2023%12 8318 © EFT
BRI

/8 £

1= 3K

IEFREE &

Planned use Proceeds
Use of proceeds FeREAR of proceeds Used Balances
B RE BEEHR
T8 AR RS RIE i ek
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BEAET BEET BEET
Horizontal expansion by FRWE  RESET
acquisition, investment or 5 AR EEIRRA
forming business alliance AP R SR R ETTOK
with property management TR
companies in the markets 42.7 42.7 —
Vertical expansion of both RMEEBITENE S
industry chain and supply o Rt e g ETT A A
chain in the property ER
management industry 29.8 29.8 —
The development of F 8 A B R4
information technology
system 19.8 19.8 —
Recruitment of talent and BEATREBEEI R
implementation of training R 5T &
and recruitment programs 16.3 16.3 —
Repayment of bank borrowings 1&i& R 17 & & 5.0 5.0 .
General working capital —REEER 11.9 11.9 .
125.5 125.5 —

As of the date of this annual report, the net proceeds
from the Listing has been fully utilized and there was no
change to the Group’s plan of use of proceeds as stated
in the prospectus of the Company dated 28 November
2017.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 December
2023 and the state of affairs of the Group and of the
Company as at that date are set out in the consolidated
financial statements on pages 203 to 206 respectively.

The Board of Directors does not recommend the payment
of any dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023 is set out in the sections headed
“Chairman’s statement” and “Management Discussion
and Analysis” on pages 113 to 116 and 117 to 128
respectively of this Annual Report.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS
Relationship is the fundamental of business. The Group
fully understands this principle and thus maintains close
relationship with the customers to fulfil their immediate
and long-term need.

All of our full-time employees are paid a fixed salary
and may be granted other allowances, based on their
positions. In addition, discretionary bonuses may also
be awarded to our employees based on the employee’s
performance. We conduct regular performance appraisals
to ensure that our employees receive feedback on their
performances.

Our major suppliers are primarily sub-contractors for
our property and management services. The Group is
dedicated to develop good relationship with suppliers
and sub-contractors as long-term business partners to
ensure stability of the Group’s business.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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POSSIBLE RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
FACING THE COMPANY

The Group’s financial conditions, results of operations,
businesses and prospects may be affected by a number
of risks and uncertainties. The following are the key risks
and uncertainties identified by the Group. There may be
other risks and uncertainties which are not known to the
Group or which may not be material now but could turn
out to be material in the future.

Business Risk

The Group constantly faces the challenge of responding
promptly to market changes within the industry
sectors it operates in. Any failure to interpret market
trends properly and adapt its strategy to such changes
accordingly, as well as termination or non-renewal of
our services contracts of property management and
urban sanitary could have a material adverse effect on
the Group’s business, financial position and results of
operations.

Financial Risk
The financial risk management of the Group are set out
in note 44 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial performance of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 and the financial position of
the Group as at that date are set out on pages 203 to
206.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at
the forthcoming AGM of the Company, the register
of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 5 June 2024 to Tuesday, 11 June 2024, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares
of the Company will be registered. In order to be eligible
to attend and vote at the above meeting, all transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited
at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong
Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday,
4 June 2024.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

SUMMARY OF 5 YEARS’ FINANCIAL
INFORMATION

A summary of the published consolidated results and of
the assets and liabilities of the Group for each of the 5
years ended 31 December 2023 is set out on page 352.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the Group’s property, plant and
equipment during the year are set out in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BORROWINGS

Details of the outstanding bank loans and other
borrowings of the Company during the year are set out
in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's articles of association or the laws of the
Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the
Company was incorporated, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to its
existing shareholders.
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TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding
of the Company’s securities.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased, sold or redeemed any listed securities of the
Company during the year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company
and of the Group during the year are set out in note
34 to the consolidated financial statements and in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity respectively.

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the
“Dividend Policy”), pursuant to which the Company may
declare and distribute dividends to the Shareholders.
As a general policy, given the current growth of the
Company, it is the intention of the Company to declare
no more than 30% of the net profit as dividend each
year. However, the actual amount of dividends declared
and paid (if any) will depend on the results of our
operation, cash flows, financial position, statutory and
regulatory restrictions on the payment of dividends,
future prospects, and other factors that we may consider
relevant.

The recommendation of the payment of any dividend
is subject to the absolute discretion of the Board, and
any declaration of final dividend will be subject to the
approval of the shareholders.

Any payment of the dividend by the Company is also
subject to the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands
and the constitutional documents, which indicate that
dividends may be declared and paid out of the profits,
realised or unrealised, or from any reserves set aside
form profits which the Directors determine is no longer
needed. With the sanction of an ordinary resolution,
dividends may also be declared and paid out of the share
premium account or any other fund or account which
can be authorised for this purpose in accordance with
the relevant law.

There can be no assurance that dividends of any amount
will be declared or distributed in any years.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had distributable
reserves of approximately RMB199.5 million (2022:
RMB280.2 million) calculated in accordance with
the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. This
includes the Company’s share premium account of
approximately RMB143.8 million (2022: RMB147.5
million) which is distributable to the shareholders of the
Company provided that immediately following the date
on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as and
when they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
The share premium account may also be distributed in
the form of fully paid bonus shares.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the Period, sales to the Group’s 5 largest customers
accounted for approximately 20.6% of the total sales for
the year and the sales to the largest customer included
therein amounted to approximately 9.1%.

Purchases from the Group’s 5 largest suppliers accounted
for approximately 19.6% of the total purchases for the
year and the purchases from the largest supplier included
therein amounted to approximately 7.6%.

None of the Directors, or any of their close associate(s)
or any shareholders of the Company (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of
the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial
interest in the Group’s 5 largest customers or 5 largest
suppliers.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this
report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Xiao Xingtao (Chairman)

Mr. Fu Qichang

Mr. Xiao Yugiao (Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Wang Hui

Non-executive Director
Mr. Zhang Yongjun

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Cheng Dong

Mr. Weng Guogiang

Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association,
Ms. Wang Hui, Mr. Cheng Dong and Mr. Shu Wa Tung
Laurence will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

Each of the three independent non-executive Directors
has confirmed his independence of the Company and
the Company considers each of them to be independent
in accordance with the guidelines of assessing
independence as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 129 to
143 of the annual report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Details of service contracts of the executive, non-
executive and independent non-executive Directors are
set out under the section headed “Appointment and
Re-election of Directors” of the Corporate Governance
Report.

No Director proposed to have a service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company
within 1 year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected
transactions” and in the related party transactions as set
out in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements, no
transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance, to
which the Company, its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries,
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year. There are
no transactions, arrangements and contract of significance
to the business of the Group between the Company, or
any of its subsidiaries and a Controlling Shareholder or
any of its subsidiaries during the year. During the year, no
transactions, arrangements and contract of significance
for the provision of services to the Group by a Controlling
Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries were made.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of
the business of the Company were entered into or in
existence during the year.

EEEHEE

EERBEN
T ERTRBUFATEFTZIREAHD
HBERAREARRS I ZREREREES]—

g e

EEHMERRNRBRITLARATAR —F
NEBABECEERBERINBRT M L
ZHREAEH -

EENRE RHEREHNZEARESR

BRIBEXZ] - RERNGEE B RRME
MBEBRZBEB IR AR ENEA
AR R B AR B ER LIEARFERKF
NEFAEBDALERMARREFTEEXE
BRRBEARBZERRS  RHEREH -
FRARBHEEMAME AR - HEBRK
RIEFEAMHBARBET LS AEEEK
MEBERZRS  THREH - FAR &
BRERRKEEFMMBARMELRAAEER
HERBEMALERNRS - ZHERABH -

EEAHN
AFELBITL AT ERAARR 2R
MEBEBHBAIZEBRITRZALD




REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHEE

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION EEMEZCHERIMRX

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, RIEARFRBEHBERZ N  EE0DF2H
the Directors, the secretary and other officers of the BR G  ARFEZ WELREMSHABER
Company are entitled to be indemnified out of the assets FEZEETHHETARTERSKBHZ
and profits of the Company against all actions, costs, B {EL - AEXBERZ2AEMITEMAY
charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or BEBE A KARZITESIRZ—IFHFA
any of them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason A& - 8f - BL  BEKBEIAEAQAAE
of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about E XK &GEFMFEARAEE WEREMER
the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their B ERMEMHE - REHAR ARFAEMEFEN
respective offices or trusts, to the extent as permitted by SHBELZHEE EE NS HABESTR
laws. The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ [ °

and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors

and officers of the Company during the Period.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2023, the interests of the Directors in
the Shares and underlying shares of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO), which (a) were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which the Directors are taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for securities
transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code")
were as follows:

EEEHEE

EERNEAQTAREMEABEE 2 RG
HEROREESEZEERAR

M2023F12H31H - EF KA R A) 3k E A8 B
FZE(EEEBFLBAEBRAEXVE) 2 KK &
HEROTFHEEQARBESRBAEBKRMNE
XVEETRSH A BAARARNBRBR T2 S
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AR ARBES R BEKOE3I2GHEEFT
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Number of issued

ordinary/underlying Percentage
Director Nature of interests Shares held of interest
FEeRTER

=S EaME HEROHA FriEEEBE DL
Mr. Xiao Xingtao Interest held jointly with another 302,634,000 74.72%

person; interest of controlled

corporation®
B R LA HE-ATHARENEZ:

ZEGEEEED
Mr. Fu Qichang Interest held jointly with another 302,634,000 74.72%

person; interest of controlled
corporation®

BHEE %4 HP—AtTHEBEMER:
REHEEERO
Notes:

(1) As at 31 December 2023, 302,634,000 shares were held by
Partner Summit, a company incorporated in BVI which is owned
as to 87% by Vital Kingdom, 10% by Source Forth and 3% by
Pine Fortune. Each of Mr. Xiao and Mr. Fu owns the entire issued
share capital of Vital Kingdom and Source Forth respectively.
Thus, both Mr. Xiao and Mr. Fu were deemed to be interested in
302,634,000 Shares.

(2)  All the interests disclosed above represent long positions in the
Shares.

(1)  H2023F12A31B 68 (—HMAEBEXKAESH
MK 2 2 AT H H302,634,0001 % 15 - B2
RIEEMEEST%RE  ARBAAB10% K% LA
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% 4 A8 A 7302,634,000 B A RS o
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none
of the Directors, or their associate(s) had any interests
or short positions in the shares or debt securities of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (a) were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests and short positions which
the Directors are taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein; or (c) were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year were the rights to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company granted to any Director or
their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age,
or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the
Company or its holding company or any of its subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in the
Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year under review and up to date of this
report, no Director of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries is considered to have an interest in a business
which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group, pursuant to
the Listing Rules, other than those business of which the
Directors of the Company were appointed as Directors to
represent the interest of the Company and/or the Group.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 15
November 2017 (the “Share Option Scheme”). The
Share Option Scheme became effective on the Listing
Date. No share option under the Share Option Scheme
(the “Option”) has been granted since the adoption of
the Share Option Scheme and therefore, there was no
outstanding Option as at 31 December 2023 and no
Option was exercised or cancelled or lapsed during the
Period.

The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are set
out as follows:

(@) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme
The Share Option Scheme enables the Company to
grant Options to the Eligible Persons (as defined in
paragraph (b) below) as incentives or rewards for
their contributions to our Group.

(b) Participants of the Share Option Scheme
An Eligible Person is any full-time or part-time
employee of the Company or any member of the
Group, including any executive director, non-
executive director and independent non-executive
director, adviser and consultant of the Group.

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, invite
any Eligible Persons to take up Options at a price
calculated in accordance with paragraph (e) below.

(c) Acceptance of an offer of Option

An Option shall be deemed to have been granted
and accepted by each Eligible Person who accepts or
is deemed to have accepted the offer of any Option
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme (the “Participant”) when the duplicate letter
comprising acceptance of the Option duly signed by
the Participant with the number of Shares in respect
of which an offer of an Option is accepted clearly
stated therein, together with a remittance in favour
of the Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration
for the grant thereof, is received by the Company
within 28 days from the date on which an Option is
offered to an Eligible Person.
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(d) Maximum number of Shares available for

subscription

The total number of Shares which may be issued
upon the exercise of all Options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme or any other share
option schemes (“Other Schemes”) adopted by the
Group from time to time pursuant to which options
to subscribe for Shares may be granted must not,
in aggregate, exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as
of the date of listing (i.e. 11 December 2017, the
“Listing Date”) of the Shares on the Stock Exchange
(the "Scheme Mandate Limit”), being 400,000,000
Shares. Options which have lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the Share Option Scheme and
Other Schemes will not be counted for the purpose
of calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit.

Subject to the approval of the Shareholders in
general meeting, the Company may do one or more
of the following:-

(i) refresh the Scheme Mandate Limit to the
extent that the total number of Shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all Options to
be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and Other Schemes under the refreshed
Scheme Mandate Limit must not exceed 10%
of the Shares in issue as at the date of such
Shareholders’ approval, provided that Options
previously granted under the Share Option
Scheme and Other Schemes (including those
outstanding, cancelled, exercised or lapsed in
accordance with the terms thereof) will not
be counted for the purpose of calculating the
refreshed Scheme Mandate Limit; and

(i) grant Options beyond the Scheme Mandate
Limit, provided that Options in excess of the
Scheme Mandate Limit are granted only to the
Eligible Persons specifically identified by the
Company before such Shareholders’ approval
is sought.
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The total number of Shares available for issue under
the Share Option Scheme is 40,000,000 Shares,
representing 10% of the issued Shares as at the
Listing Date.

Basis for determining the exercise price
The subscription price for the Shares subject to the
Options will be a price determined by the Board and
notified to each Participant and shall be the highest
of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the
date of grant of the Options, which must be a day
on which trading of Shares take place on the Stock
Exchange (“Trading Day"”); (ii) the average closing
price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five Trading Days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the
Options; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share.

Maximum number of underlying Shares
comprised in Options to any one Eligible
Person

The total number of Shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the Options granted to a
Participant under the Share Option Scheme and
Other Schemes (including both exercised and
outstanding Options) in any 12-month period
must not exceed 1% (“1% Individual Limited"”)
of the Shares in issue from time to time. If the
1% Individual Limit will the exceeded, then the
proposed grant of Options must be approved by the
Shareholders.

If a grant of Options to a substantial shareholder
(as defined in the Listing Rules) or an independent
non-executive Director, or any of their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) will result
in the total number of the Shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the Options already granted
and to be granted (including Options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person under
the Share Option Scheme or Other Schemes in any
12-month period up to and including the date of
the grant representing in aggregate over 0.1% (or
such other percentage as may from time to time
specified by the Stock Exchange) of the Shares in
issue from time to time, then the proposed grant of
Options must be approved by the Shareholders.
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(9)

(h)

Time of exercise of Option

An Option may be exercised in accordance with
the terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time
during a period to be determined and notified by
the Board to each Participant, provided that the
period within which the Option must be exercised
shall not be more than 10 years from the date of
the grant of Option.

Minimum period for which an Option
must be held before it can be exercised
Commencing from 1 January 2023, the vesting
period imposed by the Board for Options granted to
Eligible Persons shall be not less than 12 months.

Alteration to Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme may be altered in any
respect by resolution of our Board except that, (a)
any alteration to the advantage of the Participants
or the Eligible Persons (as the case may be) relating
to matters contained in Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules; and (b) any material alteration to the terms
and conditions of the Scheme or any change
to the terms of Options granted, except where
the alterations take effect automatically under
the existing terms of the Scheme, shall first be
approved by the Shareholders in general meeting
(with the Eligible Persons, the Participants and their
associates abstaining from voting) provided that
if the proposed alteration shall adversely affect
any Options granted or agreed to be granted prior
to the date of alteration, such alteration shall be
further subject to the consent or sanction of the
Participants in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme.
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(j) Remaining life of the Share Option

Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will be valid and effective
for a period of 10 years commencing on the Listing
Date, after which period no further Options may
be granted but the provisions of the Share Option
Scheme shall remain in full force and effect in all
other respects and Options granted during the life
of the Share Option Scheme may continue to be
exercisable in accordance with their terms of issue.

(k) Movements of the options granted under
the Share Option Scheme
No share option has been granted under the Share
Option Scheme since its adoption.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME
The Company has adopted the Share Award Scheme (the

“Scheme"”) on 30 August 2018 (the “Adoption Date”).

Summary of the principal terms of the Scheme are as
follow:

(@) The purpose of the Scheme
The purpose of the Scheme is to recognize the
contributions by certain Employees and give
incentives thereto in order to motivate them for
the continual operation and development of the
Group and to attract suitable personnel for further
development of the Group.

(b) The Participants of the Scheme
Selected Employees (excluding Excluded Employees)
based on their performance, years of service and
other factors as the Board thinks fit and at its sole
discretion.

(c) The total number of Shares available for
issue or subscription under the Scheme
The total number of Shares available for issue or
subscription under the Scheme shall not exceed
10% of the number of Shares in issue as at the
Adoption Date (“Scheme Limit"), i.e. shall not
exceed 40,500,000 Shares, subject to Adjustment.
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(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

Maximum entitlement of each
participant under the Scheme

The maximum number of Shares which may
be awarded to a Selected Employee under the
Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the number of
Shares in issue as at the Adoption Date, subject to
Adjustment.

Vesting period of awards granted under
the Scheme

The Board shall have absolute discretion to
determine any vesting terms or conditions as it sees
fit. To the extent the relevant Award has not lapsed,
the Awarded Shares and the Related Income are to
be vested on the Selected Employee on such date to
be notified by the Board to the Selected Employee.

Amount payable on acceptance of the
award and the period within which
payments or calls must or may be made
or loans for such purposes must be
repaid

Subject to confirmation by the Company that all
vesting conditions have been fulfilled, Selected
Employees shall duly execute vesting documents
and/or pay the Vesting Expenses within the period
prescribed by the Trustee for the relevant Awarded
Shares, failing which, the relevant part of the Award
made to such Selected Employee shall automatically
lapse immediately.

The basis of determining the purchase
price of the Shares awarded

In order to incentivize the Employees and retain and
attract talents, no purchase price of the Awarded
Shares shall be payable by the Selected Employees.
Purchase price would be paid out of cash paid by
the Company.
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(h) The duration and remaining life of the

Scheme

The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term
commencing on the Adoption Date and ending
on the expiry of the trust period, which is 31 May
2022, provided that no contribution to the Trust
Fund would be made by the Company on or after
31 May 2020.

“"Adoption
Date”

“Adjustment”

“Award”

“Awarded
Shares”

“Employee(s)”

means 30 August 2018, being the date
on which the Scheme was adopted by
the Board;

means adjustment in the case of any
conversion of any or all of the Shares in
issue at the time into a larger or smaller
number of Shares in accordance with
section 170(2)(e) of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of
Hong Kong;

means awards of Shares (together with
Related Income attributable to such
Shares) by the Board to the Selected
Employees pursuant to the Scheme;

means in respect of a Selected Employee,
such number of Shares determined by
the Board and purchased or subscribed
for by the Trustee out of cash paid
by the Company or such number of
Returned Shares awarded by the Board
pursuant to the Scheme;

means any employee, including any
Director of the Group;
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“Excluded
Employee(s)”

“Related
Income”

“Returned
Shares”

“Selected
Employee(s)”

“"Trust”

means any Employee who is resident
in a place where (i) the award of the
Awarded Shares and/or the award of
the Returned Shares and/or vesting or
transfer of Shares pursuant to the terms
of the Scheme is not permitted under
the laws and/or regulations of such
place; or (ii) where in the view of the
Board, compliance with applicable laws
and/or regulations in such place make it
necessary or expedient to exclude such
Employee, in each case as determined by
the Board in it absolute discretion;

means all income derived from a Share
held upon the Trust in the form of
Shares (including but not limited to the
Shares purchased by the Trustee out
of cash income, any bonus Shares and
scrip Shares received in respect of the
Share held upon the Trust and for the
avoidance of doubt, excluding any nil-
paid right, bonus warrant, non-cash and
non-scrip distribution or proceeds of sale
of the same or residual cash remaining in
the Trust Fund);

means such Awarded Shares and their
Related Income which are not vested
in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme, or were forfeited in accordance
with the terms of the Scheme, or such
Shares being deemed to be Returned
Shares;

means Employee(s) selected by the Board
pursuant to the terms of the Scheme for
participation in the Scheme;

means the trust constituted by the Trust
Deed;
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“Trust Deed” means he trust deed dated 30 August
2018 entered into between the
Company and the Trusted (as restated,
supplemented and amended);

“Trust Fund”  means all properties held or deemed to
be held upon the trust of the Trust Deed,

“Trustee” means the trustee appointed by the
Company for the purpose of the Trust
from time to time;

"Vesting means all transfer fees, taxes, social

Expenses” security contributions and other levies

associated with the vesting, release or
transfer of the relevant Awarded Shares
and Related Income in accordance with
the instructions set out in a Selected
Employee’s election form.

During the year 2019, the trustee of the Scheme,
pursuant to the terms of the rules and trust deed
of the Scheme, purchased on the Stock Exchange a
total of 8,218,000 Shares at a total consideration of
approximately HK$20.0 million. The Scheme expired on
31 May 2022. The Directors are considering to sell the
Shares when the market improves or roll over the Shares
to a new share award scheme. If the Shares are sold, the
proceeds of sale, after making appropriate deductions
in respect of all disposal costs, liabilities and expenses in
accordance with the trust deed shall be remitted to the
Company immediately after the sale.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS FERE

As at 31 December 2023, the following persons (other #2023 12A318 * LM FA T (EEKBIN RA
than the Directors) had interest in the Shares and the RFRIKRMDEEBEROTHBQZEREESFK
underlying shares of the Company which (a) would fall HAEKBIEXVEEFE2 K35 MM AR A KR
to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange FTiEETE 2% (b)) BRAREBEEZESFRHE
pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO; or {&BI%E336(MEFE 2 E LML

(b) were required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to

be entered in the register referred to therein:

Number of
issued ordinary/
underlying Percentage
Name of shareholders Nature of interests shares held of interest
s 81T
E&/HERG P 46 1 25
RREEHH EzmME 2B BAL
Partner Summit Beneficial owner 302,634,000 74.72%
am ExEEA
Vital Kingdom Interest held jointly with another 302,634,000 74.72%
person; interest of controlled
corporation®@
eyl BE—ATHRAFANES
REHEE R
Source Forth Interest held jointly with another 302,634,000 74.72%
person; interest of controlled
corporation®@
R BE—ATHRAFANES
REHEE R
Pine Fortune Interest held jointly with another 302,634,000 74.72%
person; interest of controlled
corporation®@
Z 1 BE-ATHRABENESR
REtEERER
Mr. Chen Interest held jointly with another 302,634,000 74.72%
person; interest of controlled
corporation®@
PRt 4 BE—ATHRAFANES
REtEERER
S.I. Infrastructure Holdings Limited Interest of controlled corporation® 30,000,000 7.50%

("SJ59)
S.I. Infrastructure Holdings Limited

([s.1.])

REHEEERO
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Number of
issued ordinary/
underlying Percentage
Name of shareholders Nature of interests shares held of interest
s ®&T
B8/ HERG it &
RREB A EaiE 2B Bak
Shanghai Industrial Holdings Limited  Interest of controlled corporation® 30,000,000 7.50%
(“Shanghai Industrial”)
FBEEERARAR XEHEEERC
((EE=ER])
Shanghai Industrial Investment Interest of controlled corporation® 30,000,000 7.50%
(Holdings) Company Limited
(“Shanghai Industrial Investment”)
tEBEXR(EBR)BRAR REHEBERS
(TEBEXE]D
Shanghai Industrial Investment Interest of controlled corporation® 30,000,000 7.50%
Treasury Company Limited
(“Shanghai Treasury”)
Shanghai Industrial Investment ZXEHEEERY
Treasury Company Limited
([Shanghai Treasury])
Shanghai Investment Holdings Limited Interest of controlled corporation® 30,000,000 7.50%
(“Shanghai Investment”)
FEREERER DA REHEB#ERS
([EEBRE]
Sure Advance Holdings Limited Beneficial owners® 30,000,000 7.50%
(“Sure Advance”)
BEERBERAA(EE]D EnEAAC
Notes:

M

)

All the interests stated below represent long positions in the
shares of the Company.

As at 31 December 2023, 302,634,000 Shares were held by
Partner Summit, which is owned as to 87% by Vital Kingdom,
10% by Source Forth and 3% by Pine Fortune. Mr. Chen owns
the entire issued share capital of Pine Fortune. Therefore, Mr.
Chen, Pine Fortune, Vital Kingdom and Source Forth were
deemed to be interested in 302,024,000 shares.
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(3) Information is extracted from the corporate substantial
shareholder notices filed by S.I., Shanghai Industrial, Shanghai
Industrial Investment, Shanghai Treasury, Shanghai Investment
and Sure Advance on 11 December 2017. Shanghai Industrial
Investment directly holds 100% of the issued share capital of
Shanghai Treasury, which in turn holds 100% of the issued
share capital of Shanghai Investment, which in turn holds
47.77% of the issued share capital of Shanghai Industrial,
which in turn holds 100% of the issued share capital of S.I.,
which in turn holds 100% of the issued share capital of Sure
Advance. Therefore, S.I., Shanghai Industrial, Shanghai Industrial
Investment, Shanghai Treasury and Shanghai Investment are
taken to be interested in the number of Shares held by Sure
Advance pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, there
was no person who (i) had an interest or short position
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
which (a) would fall to be disclosed to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO; or (b) were required, pursuant to section
336 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein; or (ii) were, directly or indirectly, interested in
5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share
capital carrying the right to vote in all circumstances
at general meetings of the Company or any options in
respect of such capital.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS AND
OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of interest-bearing bank loans and other
borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2023 are set
out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the retirement benefits scheme of the Group
are set out in note 2.4 to the consolidated financial
statements under “Employee benefits” on page 261.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Details of significant events occurring after the year
ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 45 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
percentage of the ordinary shares in public hands exceed
25% as at the date of this annual report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Set out below are the details of the connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions
of the Company as required to be reported under the
Listing Rules.

Non-exempt continuing connected
transactions

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
the connected transactions and the continuing connected
transactions and have confirmed that the connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions have
been entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of
business of the Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms;
and (iii) in accordance with the relevant agreement
governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable
and are in the interests of the shareholders of the
Company as a whole.

During the period, all of the continuing connected
transactions are fully exempted from reporting, annual
review, announcement or independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Rule 14A.76(1) of the
Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions are set out in note 41
to the consolidated financial statements. The related
party transactions as disclosed in note 41 fall under
the scope of connected transactions under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules but are fully exempted from
reporting, annual review, announcement or independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Rule
14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company
has complied with the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as stated
in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Further information on the Company’s corporate
governance practices is set out in the Corporate
Governance Report contained in this annual report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHEE

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF LISTED
COMPANIES

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own
code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
Directors. In response to specific enquiry made by the
Company, each of the Directors confirmed that he had
complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code from the Listing Date to 31 December 2023.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group is committed to supporting the environmental
sustainability. The Group is committed to maintaining
sustainable working practices and pays close attention to
ensure all resources are efficiently utilized.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the Period, as far as the Company is aware,
there was no material breach of or non-compliance with
applicable laws and regulations by our Group that has a
significant impact on the business and operations of our
Group.

MATERIAL LITIGATION AND ARBITRATION
During the Period, the Group did not have any material
litigation or arbitration.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
DURING THE PERIOD

8 May 2023, Pujiang Property, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, Shanghai Qiang
Sheng Group Company Limited* (/88 £ £ B AFR
A A]), an Independent Third Party, and Shanghai Qiang
Sheng entered into an agreement, pursuant to which
Pujiang Property transferred its 100% equity interests
in Shanghai Bund to Shanghai Qiang Sheng at the
consideration of RMB31,896,000 and in consideration
of which, Pujiang Property’s equity interests in Shanghai
Qiang Sheng was increased from 30% to 48.53%. Please
refer to the announcements of the Company dated 8
May 2023 and 22 May 2023 for details.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

SUBSEQUENT EVENT TO THE PERIOD

The Group does not have any material subsequent event
after 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this
annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
The Company has maintained a sufficient public float
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an audit committee which was
established in accordance with the requirements of the
CG Code, for the purposes of reviewing and providing
supervision over the Group’s financial reporting process
and internal controls. Currently the audit committee
comprises the 3 independent non-executive Directors,
who have reviewed the financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements have been audited
by Ernst & Young who will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at a fee to be agreed by
the Board.

On behalf of the Board

RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED
Xiao Xingtao

Chairman

Hong Kong
28 March 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B RS
s

Ernst & Young LG ETRD SR FT Tel E3%: +852 2846 9888
27/F, One Taikoo Place BB EUBR 2T Fax {§#: +852 2868 4432
979 King’s Road Koy —E27ie ey.com
§j‘ Quarry Bay, Hong Kong
Independent auditor’s report BIYREMBRE

To the shareholders of Riverine China Holdings
Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Riverine China Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 203 to 351,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit
of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of
how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that
context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report, including in
relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included
the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements. The results of our
audit procedures, including the procedures performed
to address the matters below, provide the basis for our
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.
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Key audit matter

BRENEHR

How our audit addressed
the key audit matter

HARERSEANBELA

Valuation of investment properties

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's
investment properties amounted to
RMB148,000,000, which represented
15.8% of the Group's total assets.
Investment properties were stated at
fair value. Management was required
to exercise significant judgement
in determining the fair value of
investment properties.

The Group engaged an external
valuation expert to perform the
valuation of investment properties.
The valuation methods applied
included the direct comparison
approach and income approach which
involved various assumptions, such as
estimated rental value, rent growth
per annum, discount rates and long-
term occupancy rates.

Please refer to notes 3 and 14 to the
consolidated financial statements for
related disclosures.
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Our procedures in relation to the

ey
A ST

FRRELEHEMRED

valuation of investment properties 72 &% :

included:

—  Assessing the competence,
capabilities and objectivity
of the Valuer; as well as
obtaining an understanding
of the Valuer's scope of work;

—  With the assistance of our
internal valuation specialists
to assist us in evaluating the
valuation methodology and
the significant unobservable
inputs (discount rates) and
the accuracy of the source
data (estimated rental value,
rent growth per annum and
long-term occupancy rates)
adopted by management of
the Group and the valuer by
comparing them, on a sample
basis, with existing tenancy
profiles, publicly available
information of similar
comparable properties and
our knowledge of the real
estate industry; and

—  Checking the accuracy and
relevance of the input data
used in the valuation and the
mathematical accuracy of the
valuations.

—  We also assessed the
adequacy of the disclosures
in the consolidated financial
statements.

AEEEANTE &N
REBH UARTEMEE
e TEBE:

EABEESRGHT
EEEENRE
RttEMARANGEES
ERERTABEGAHR
BEAERX)UARRBEHE
(fEetHeBEE FHS
RERRBHLER) ME
B DARWMEMEE
REHERR - BUTE
HENENRRENRE
SHEWETENTHRE
TH&: R

Bz
B =T A

REHERBEARESD
o O BB A R A5 A
HRBEEN -

EENFETHEANBE
RFREHTAYE -



Key audit matter

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BB RS

BREGEH

How our audit addressed
the key audit matter

HARERSEANBELA

Impairment assessment of other
intangible assets

As at 31 December 2023, the net
carrying of the customer relationship
was RMB5,000,000.

We focused on this area because
of the materiality of the balances
of customer relationship and the
complex and subjective management
estimation made by management on
the key assumptions.

The significant accounting estimates
and disclosures about the impairment
assessment of customer relationship
are included in notes 3 and 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Our procedures in relation to the
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assessment in the impairment of & &#E :

customer relationship included:

—  Examining the underlying —

data used, such as
management’s projection
on the future revenues
and operating results by
investigating whether the
forecasts were consistent with
the financial performance of
each cash generating unit
("CGU") during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

—  Assessing the sensitivity
analysis performed by the
Group's management on the
impact of changes in the key
assumptions; and

—  Testing the mathematical
calculation of the forecasts
and carrying values in
management's impairment
model and comparing
management’s estimate of
the recoverable amount.

—  We also assessed the
adequacy of the disclosures
in the consolidated financial
statements.
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BB RS

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises
the information other than the Environmental, Social
and Governance Report included in the Annual Report
(other than the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon), which we obtained prior to
the date of this auditor’s report, and the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report, which is expected to be
made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements
does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information which we have obtained prior to and
including the date of the auditor’s report and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

When we read the Chairman’ Environmental, Social
and Governance Report, if we conclude that there is
a material misstatement therein, we are required to
communicate the matter to the Audit Committee.

1 98 RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2023

FHRAHEMESR

ERRMEZTAWEMERNAERE - Hftt
BEHERESRARBM B S ARAESH
FHRATNERERE LERELBRFNANIND
B IMEREAMBRREZHEMRE) A
REHRZBERAESFRHENRE Hak

ERWE o

BEEUGRAVBRRFENERLREER
MER  BETHREEMENBEXRTME
AW ZBEER ©

IWEZERAMBHREAMET  EFENAETEHMH
EEFOCRERBMBEERN(BREZA)E
THEMER EMEEEMEHNEEEL
EMBREAUBTSEECBRETELSNHNEN
FEEANT  HUFFEERNERRAL -
HMERBSFLETNINH BFRA/UFH
MEMFEERERRL  EFARELSF
E-xE/E RMEEAFIAFERS -

HESHEIRZRE HEREAMmES
RABHERFEERERRL - EFARKS
HEETERZBE -



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS

FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liguidate the Group or to cease operations or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs,
we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

BB RS

FEMAEABREERE URESR
PIELE ST MERREESTSIE -

REEERANRERLERERN S
ARERE  IRECERNFZER
HRERTAYE BEEERELEN
REIBREARBNEHXBAEEKR
THEAX - WEEFTRER/EE
AT HERARE  EEFEERHAMRE
FRFEIBEAVBERRANEEER
BB XNORBEEETE  AEEX
FEREER BFNEWEERNHEE
REMBREERMESHERERE - A
- AREHLBERTREES EEE
THAEERERKENRED -

FEEEMBERR(BERE) NERT
B RBENMAT  URHEETBHRRR
BEARMKRREINBEBEIHNER °

7 EEEASERIXHBEINTB
ENEGRR BENEZERE UM
RAMBBRRERER BEEAERE
B -EBMHT EEENERIE-
EEARBENERERAE2HR

o

E o




INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BB RS

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify

during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit
Committee, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is WU Hsu Lung.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
mEEER

Year ended 31 December 2023 #,F2023%F 12 A31B It EE

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR Tt NG R
REVENUE g 5 919,684 917,570
Cost of services provided BT 42 4 AR 7% A R 6 (845,540) (787,583)
Gross profit E F 74,144 129,987
Other income and gains H A g A Rz 5 26,671 14,340
Selling and distribution expenses HERKHAX (28,106) (21,134)
Administrative expenses THAX (118,699) (80,771)
Changes in fair value of investment KEMEMER
properties NFEEE) (48,344) (5,241)
Interest expenses FEMAX 7 (14,859) (13,676)
Share of profits and losses of: FEMEATARIE % :
Joint ventures EENE (3,227) 602
Associates > 9,062 7,725
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX BR A AT (B 1R) i A 6 (103,358) 31,832
Income tax credit/(expense) FriafiEe,(Fx) 10 22,408 (7,069)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FRER),E A (80,950) 24,763
Attributable to: ATRA T FEAR:
Owners of the parent RAEA A (74,464) 12,525
Non-controlling interests FE 2 IR HE 2 (6,486) 12,238
(80,950) 24,763
(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE BRAREBRERFERA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY FER TR (E518)/
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 2 K 12
Basic and diluted (RMB) AEAR#EHE(ARE) (0.19) 0.03




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
e ZHEWER

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% Tt NS R

(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FRN(EB), &R (80,950) 24,763
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME Ete2m(EE), Ik

Other comprehensive loss that will not be BEi& BRI T g
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent EOEEEEN
periods: Eme2EES:
Equity investments designated at fair value  #§E IR A FEFH A Efth
through other comprehensive loss: THEBNRAKRE (452) (595)
Translation differences of the FRTRZNEERN
financial statements using different M mEANBREE
presentation currency # 12 1,650
Net other comprehensive (loss)/income that K& HIE ST &€ &5 9 48
will not be reclassified to profit or loss in ZEEGNHMEE
subsequent periods: (B8),/ W= 558 (440) 1,055
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME FRNHMEE(ER),
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX Y g (1R o5 38) (440) 1,055
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME FRN2E(EE),HHm
FOR THE YEAR 48 %8 (81,390) 25,818
Attributable to: ATATEAS:
Owners of the parent [SYNGIEZ PN (74,904) 13,580
Non-controlling interests SR IR HE = (6,486) 12,238

(81,390) 25,818
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e PRI R

31 December 2023 202312 H31H

2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
¥z AR% Tt NS R
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M BERZEB 13 54,215 39,931
Investment properties REMREME 14 148,000 159,900
Right-of-use assets FERESRE 15 15,520 10,355
Goodwill kS 16 25,901 25,901
Finance lease receivables el & E A 17 9,219 41,194
Other intangible assets EmEEEE 18 12,311 37,048
Investments in joint ventures RELETLERSE 19 23,438 28,865
Investments in associates REELERE 20 95,965 57,981
Equity investments designated BERAFEFAHM
at fair value through other FHKENRAEE
comprehensive income 21 1,850 2,302
Other non-current assets BEmMIERBEE 22 13,786 29,375
Deferred tax assets RIETLIEE E 31 18,864 1,550
Total non-current assets ERBEERLE 419,069 434,402
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories e 23 100 82
Trade receivables B 5 e W FIE 24 235,471 250,719
Prepayments and other receivables AN FRIE & B th fE UK
IR 25 109,367 132,054
Restricted bank balances X PR &R 17 45 5 26 27,105 22,315
Finance lease receivables el & & A 17 768 5,295
Cash and cash equivalents BE&MIReEEY 27 139,674 171,818
Total current assets B EERE 512,485 582,283
CURRENT LIABILITIES mRBAEE
Trade payables B S EMNNRIE 28 126,912 132,227
Other payables and accruals H b fE A 5RE K FE AT
gH 29 126,105 134,115
Interest-bearing bank loans and other B RITE R M E A
borrowings EEN 30 186,285 155,677
Lease liabilities HEAE 15 25,025 20,965
Tax payable J& < 15 18 17,943 16,766
Total current liabilities mBAaERE 482,270 459,750
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)
meEMBMRRER (B

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2023 2022
20235 20224
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
o3 AR Tt N R
NET CURRENT ASSETS mENE EF R 30,215 122,533
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT REERTSAEGE
LIABILITIES 449,284 556,935
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FE T B :éﬁ
Interest-bearing bank loans and other FTBRITER M EAM
borrowings RN 30 13,563 3,156
Lease liabilities HEBE 15 154,628 169,225
Deferred tax liabilities REHEEE 31 1,250 15,074
Total non-current liabilities B aEERE 169,441 187,455
Net assets BEFE 279,843 369,480
EQUITY T =
Equity attributable to owners BARBEEAELESR
of the parent
Issued capital BEEITRA 32 3,391 3,391
Reserves B 34 199,519 280,206
202,910 283,597
Non-controlling interests JEVE R HE 76,933 85,883
Total equity M= 279,843 369,480
Xiao Xing Tao Fu Qi Chang
HEE BHE
Director Director
EE EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RERERBER

Year ended 31 December 2023 2202312 318 ILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BAARAARL
Fair value
reserve of
financial
assets at
fairvalue  Shares held
Share award Exchange  through other  for the share Non-
Issued Share Capital Merger Statutory scheme  fluctuation  comprehensive award Retained controlling Total
capital premium* reserve* reserve* reserve* reserve* reserve* income* scheme profits* Total interests equity
ROFEHA
Af2ENE RR#

ROERHE  EXRE  WeRREZ  ARHY
BRfRR  ROER*  EAR GRER RRER LLE B DPEER  RERBS  REEW: 4t HERER E2 5
RMB00 RMB000 RMB000 RB000 RB000 RB000 RMB000 RB000 RMB00 RMB00 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
ABRTR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARMTR  AR®TR  ARETR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARETR ARRTR ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR

Note 32 Note 34() Note 34(i) Note 34{ii) Note 34(iv) Note 33 Note 34(v) Note 33
[E2] it 34() Fi i 34li) i 34 B 34) iR it 34) LiE%]
A1 January 2022 RONRFIRIA 3391 159,651 9,466 (3034) 35832 1558 1) (1.974) (17.916) 124,486 8375 76,135 359,860
Profit for the year ERgi - - - - - - - - - 1255 1255 1228 1763
Other comprehensiveloss for the yeer, ~ FAEHZEER:
Change in fair value of equity RATEHALL

investments at fair value through 2ERENRE

other compreensive loss, REATESED

et oftar (nBRE) - - - - - - - (595) S - (595) - (595)

Tranlaton iffrences o the LEIGE LT

fnandial statements using diferent EEE el

presentation currency EE - - - - - - 1,650 - - - 1650 - 1,650
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ §R2ERELE - - - - - - 1,650 (595) - 1255 13560 1228 5318
Dividends paid to non-controling FATEERERY

shareholders s - - - - - - - - - - - (2,490) (2,490)
Reversal of equitysetted shareaward ~~ BELEZEENRH

scheme expenses LRSS - - - - - (1.558) - - - - (1,558) - (1.5%8)
Transfer of farvalve eserve upon e~ HERATEFA

disposal of equity investments at far AfrENEL

vlue through other comprehensive REREras

income DVERR - = o o S S S 1550 S (2550) = - -
Fingl 2021 dividend WERERS S (12,150) = S S S o o S S (12,150) - (12,150)
Transfer of surpls reserve to capital BREREZRE - - S o (1.925) = = = = 1905 - - -
Transfer fom retaned profts BRARGE - - - - 1978 - - - - (1978) - - -

At 31 December 2022 JYPERIREIE 339 147,501 9486 (30342 35,885 S 123 (19 (17916) 134,408 283,597 85,883 369480




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (continued)
mERBRgER (B

Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZF2023F 12 A318 ILEE

Attributable to owners of the parent
BAARAARL

Fair value
reserve of
financial
assets at
fair value
Share award Exchange  through other  Shares held Non-
Issued Share Capital Merger Statutory scheme  fluctuation ~ comprehensive ~for the share Retained controlling Total
capital premium* reserve* reserve* reserve* reserve* reserve* income*  award scheme profits* Total interests equity
ROFEHA
RR2ENE RR#
[UEL s | EXRE MEMEEZ LR
BRTEE BEEE RRDRT RHRE HERE [ B OVEEET  BENRE RERH* B FERER Ed 51
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AREFT  ARETR ARETn ARETR  ARETR  ARETr  AREFR AR%Tn ARETr AREFR ARETn ARETR ARETR
Note 32 Note 34() Note 34(i) Note 34(ii) Note 34(iv) Note 33 Note 341y Note 33
LRz Fist3ui) Ji i 34() Tt sE3uti Hist34(u) g Fist3an) B33
At 1 January 203 ROBEIRA 339 147,501 9,466 (30342) 35,885 - 123 (19) (17.91) 134408 283,597 85,883 369,480
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - - - - - (74,464) (74,464) (6,486) (80,950)
Other comprehensive lossfor theyeer, ~ FAEHZEER
Change in fair value of equity RATEHALR

investments at fair value through LERENRE

other comprehensive loss,

et of tax ( - - - - - - - (452) - - (452) - (452)

Translation differences of the R

financial tatements using diferent HERRNEE

presentation currency 28 - - - - - - 1 - - - 1 - 1
Total comprehensive oss for the year - - - - - - 1 (452) - (74464) (74,904) (6,486) (81,390)
Acquisiton of non-controlling interests - - 1 - - - - - - - 1 (989) (982)
Disposal of a subsidiary - - - - (2,087) - - - - - (2,081) - (2,081)
Capita injection from non-controlling

shareholder of a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - - 100 100
Dividends paid to non-controling gHPEARERA

sharehalders ke - - - - - - - - - - - (1.575) (1.575)
Final 2002 dividend MERARE s (3703) - - - - - - - - (3703) - (3703
Transfer fom retaned profts EEERY ] - - - - 1,035 - - - S (1,035) = = s
At 31 December 2023 R023%51A38 339 143798 9413 (30,342) 34,833 - 1235 (an) (17,916) 58,909 200910 76,933 9,883

J These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of — * M2023F12A318 - 2S5 RHEREFELGE e M B R
RMB199,519,000 in the consolidated statement of financial MERANBEE A FEHARE199,519,0007T (20224 -
position as at 31 December 2023 (2022: RMB280,206,000). A R #280,206,0007T) ©




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

RERETRER

Year ended 31 December 2023 #,F2023%F 12 A31B It EE

2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Ht i AR% Tt NG R
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING KrEEHHEERE
ACTIVITIES
(Loss)/profit before tax BRI AT (B EB),a (103,358) 31,832
Adjustments for: AT REMIERAE:
Interest expenses AR 7 14,859 13,676
Share of profits and losses of: ERATRARIER
Joint ventures EENE 3,227 (602)
Associates o 2 (9,062) (7,725)
Interest income B U A 5 (2,400) (6,043)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE — A B AR
Wz (15,357) .
Covid-19-related rent concessions A AL T H TR
from lessors SEIEHBEHE2
) 15 — (10,005)
Covid-19-related rent concessions to A& FH A 2 89 #7172
lessees mEEBEHEERS
) 17 — 8,313
Changes in fair value of investment KEMEHER
properties NEEE 14 48,344 5,241
Depreciation of property, plant and Y
equipment ne 13 18,209 13,836
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CTRAREENE 15 8,972 3,878
Amortisation of intangible assets &I B E 18 8,483 6,890
Impairment of other intangible Hih & 72 & E R &
assets 18 25,500 —
Loss/(gain) on disposal of HE—FBELE
an associate EE (k) 6 102 (6)
Equity-settled share award expense NEREENRD
BRI 33 — (1,558)
Provision for impairment of trade B 5 W IE R HA
receivables and other receivables J& Uk 58 I8 R (B B 6 6,912 2,809
Net loss on disposal of items of HEME BEK
property, plant and equipment, HEBEEBREFE
net 6 178 74
4,609 60,610
(Increase)/decrease in restricted bank = [R &I 48 17 45 88
balances (38 )" A (4,790) 109
(Increase)/decrease in inventories e Ogm, md (18) 47
Increase in trade receivables B 5 FE Uk FX T8 18 AN (6,794) (63,015)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments and J& < 2 I8 & E b f& U
other receivables IR A (38 ) 4,922 (10,879)
Increase in trade payables Z 5 e RIRE N 946 15,454
Increase in other payables and accruals E th f& 5 3K 18 &
FE 5T & M N 4,499 12,932
Decrease in other long-term assets HEmMREEERD 6,933 3,323
Cash generated from operations KEEHFEHRS 10,307 18,581
Corporate income tax paid ENTEMEM (7,311) (15,378)
Net cash flows from operating KEEHFBEERE
activities F R 2,996 3,203
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
2'-?— Iﬁ:ﬁ/)lbi% <n>\

Year ended 31 December 2023 #{F2023F 12 A31B It EE

2023 2022
2023 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
H i# ARE Tt N iR
CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING RETHIARERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property, plant B EW%  MELRE
and equipment T8 B (31,844) (16,551)
Purchases of intangible assets BAEBREE (2,939) —
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEWE  BEMZE
property, plant and equipment IH B AT1§ IR 1,415 61
Dividends received from joint ventures WHUR B & BOER
and associates aﬁéﬁ%mﬂﬁ S\ 20,572 7,788
Investments in joint ventures and BELERBMEDLE
associates E’]&,\ (1,850) (9,280)
Disposal of an associate M — R E AN B 600 302
Purchase of equity investments BEURQ ${E A E A
at fair value through other 2HKREMNRERE
comprehensive income — (1,621)
Disposal of equity investments i ’iLAQ?TE FFAEAth
at fair value through other PHKERERE
comprehensive income — 1,629
Receipt of finance lease WHEEHRE 299 4,855
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—HIB AR 36 (23,554) =
Advances of loans to joint venture and & & 1 % & it /JE%
associates G (3,800) (12,110)
Repayment of advances to a joint BE-—HEERLERRK
venture 1,910 —
Interest received B U F B 1,511 2,052
Net cash flows used in investing KRETEMARERE
activities F B (37.680) (22,875)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
HEEERE
Year ended 31 December 2023 #,F2023%F 12 A31B It EE

x (#&)

2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000
M it AR% Tt NG R
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING REZBATHREAE
ACTIVITIES
New bank loans FRITERK 214,730 163,829
Repayment of bank loans EERITENXK (163,775) (121,807)
Capital injection from non-controlling  Fff B A &) 3F 4% A% A% 3
shareholder of a subsidiary FE 100 —
Acquisition of a non-controlling W iE — M FE R IR R
shareholder (982) —
Principal portion of lease payment HENRNEAE IS 15 (24,674) (2,231)
Dividends paid to non-controlling AT IR IR AR R &Y
shareholders @) (4,309) (1,889)
Dividends paid B A (3,703) (12,150)
Interest paid BAAF A (14,859) (13,676)
Net cash flows from financing activities Bt B EEB BN E R =
pEig-Cl 2,528 12,076
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND BekReEED
CASH EQUIVALENTS R (32,156) (7,596)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning E#IR & NI & HEY
of year 171,818 177,764
Effect of foreign exchange rate change, [E X & 8) & £ % %3
net 12 1,650
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRREMRECEEYD
AT END OF YEAR 139,674 171,818
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH RehBaFEWER
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS DT
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in IR& R EXM IR S R
the statement of cash flows BEEEY 27 139,674 171,818




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION

Riverine China Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
is an exempted company with limited liability
incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The
registered office address of the Company is Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal
place of business is located at 14th Floor, Jiushi
Tower, 28 South Zhongshan Road, Shanghai, the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged
in the business of property management services
and environmental sanitary services in the PRC.

In the opinion of the Company's directors, the
holding company of the Company is Partner Summit
Holdings Limited (the “Parent”) and the ultimate
holding company of the Company is Vital Kingdom
Investments Limited (the “Ultimate parent”),
which was established in the British Virgin Islands
("BVI"). The ultimate controlling shareholders of the
Company are Mr. Xiao Xing Tao, Mr. Fu Qi Chang
and Mr. Chen Yao (together the “Controlling
Shareholders”).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RE AR L

31 December 2023 202312 H31H

CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. REAIREEERE)
INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries EENMBARIMNER
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries ARABEEMBARIMFBET

are as follows:

Place and date Nominal value of  Percentage of equity
of incorporation/  issued ordinary/  attributable to the
registration and  registered share Company
Name place of operation capital FAAEEREFAL  Principal activities
HMARL/BRhY BROLER/ Direct  Indirect
1 REMREXEYE CHERRANEE ER& BE TEXH
Sino Ease Global Limited British Virgin Islands Us$100 100% —  Investment holding
16 June 2016
PRRRER AT RERIHE 100% 7T 100% — RE#ZK
20164565168
Leading Way Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$68,431,000 — 100%  Investment holding
20 May 2016
VREBERAR & 68,431,000% 1T - 100% HEER
2016554208
Shanghai Pujiang Property Co., Ltd. ~ PRC/Chinese Mainland, ~ RMB50,000,000 — 100%  Property management services
Shanghai
2 December 2002
LERINEERAR" hERS,/RELE - ARE50,0000007T - 100% WEEERH
2002412 A28
Shanghai Bund Property Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland, ~ RMB10,000,000 — 100%  Property management services
Shanghai
8 April 1996
LENENFRRAF hERS,/RE LE - ARKE10,000,0007 - 100% WEEERH
19964 A8H
Shanghai Jiu Yi Property Management PRC/Chinese Mainland, RMB5,000,000 — 51%  Property management services
Co., Ltd. Shanghai
1 April 1996
FEARDRERERAF ER,/HE L ARE50000007 — 51% NEEERH
19964 A1H
Shanghai Bund Green Construction ~ PRC/Chinese Mainland, RMB500,000 — 100%  Property management services
Co., Ltd. Shanghai
10 August 2004
LENERRRERDA mER,/TE LS ARK500,0007 — 100% NEEERH
2004587108




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1.
INFORMATION (continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

RAREHEER (B
FENMBARNER (&)

Place and date Nominal value of  Percentage of equity

of incorporation/  issued ordinary/  attributable to the
registration and  registered share Company
Name place of operation capital FAFELEREAL  Principal activities
HRAL/ 20nY% CRALER/ Direct  Indirect
£8 RERRESLYE CaMRANER E& B TEEH
Shanghai Hongji Property PRC/Chinese Mainland, RMB3,000,000 — 100%  Property management services
Management Co., Ltd. Shanghai
18 March 2016
PRIENEERERAF RER,/RE LG ARE3000,0007 — 100% WEEBRH
201637188
Shanghai Jiegu Technology Co., Ltd. ~ PRC/Chinese Mainland, RMBS5,000,000 — 100%  Technology research services
Shanghai
3 May 2016
EENANBARDF RER,/RE LG ARES000,0007 — 100% RAHRERS
2016%5A3H
Shanghai Pujiang Ruizheng Property  PRC/Chinese Mainland, RMBS5,000,000 — 100%  Property management services
Co., Ltd. Shanghai
8 January 2004
PEBIRENERRAT RER,/RE LG ARES000,0007 — 100% WEEBRH
2004F1A8A
Anhui Pujing Property Management ~ PRC/Chinese Mainland, RMB6,000,000 — 51%  Property management services
Co., Ltd. Hefei
10 May 2017
RUBRDERRAT rERH,/PEAR AREE000,0007 — 51% WEERRE
201745410A
Shanghai Aidepu Trading Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland, RMB200,000 — 100%  Hardware wholesale
Shanghai
23 November 2006
PENGEBEARAF AR/ RE LG ARE2000007T — 100% BB %
2006%11423H
Shanghai Bund Ke Pu Engineering PRC/Chinese Mainland, ~ RMB10,000,000 — 97%  Engineering management
Management Company Ltd. Shanghai services
30 November 2004
LEMERBIRERERAR EAM/PELE - ARE0,000,0007 — 7% IREERH
20045114308
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RE AR L

31 December 2023 202312 H31H

CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. 2AREEERE)
INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

FENBARNER (&)

Place and date

Nominal value of

Percentage of equity

of incorporation/  issued ordinary/  attributable to the
registration and  registered share Company
Name place of operation capital FAFELERFAL  Principal activities
AMAY/BEHY ERALAR/ Direct  Indirect
£8 REBREXLYE CaRRANERE E& B TEEH
Qidong Xingiao Property Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland, ~ RMB10,000,000 — 51%  Property management services
Jiangsu
15 July 2020
BRI BNEERDA REIM,/PETE - AR%10,000,0007 - 51% WEERRE
2020F7R15H
Nantong PuSheng Intelligent Property  PRC/Chinese Mainland, RMB6,000,000 — 51%  Property management services
Co., Ltd. Jiangsu
18 October 2017
BREREENEERAT hEN L,/ PETEH - AR%6,0000007 - 51% NEEERK
2017F10A18H
Hong Xin Environmental Group PRC/Chinese Mainland, ~ RMB57,240,245 — 51%  Environmental sanitary
Co., Ltd. Fujian services
05 July 2000
BREREBARDF AN/ RERER ARES240,245T — 51% BEEERE
2000F745H
Bengbu Zhi Xin Property Company ~ PRC/Chinese Mainland, RMBS5,000,000 — 58%  Property management services
Limited Anhui
13 September 2004
HETERNEARAT RERS/PEZH - ARES000,0007 — 58% WEERRE
2004597130
Hebei Puhehang Property PRC/Chinese Mainland, RMBS5,000,000 — 51%  Property management services
Management Co., Ltd. Hebei
16 March 2021
MLENTNEERERER E R,/ REAE - ARES,000,0007 — 51% WEERRE
NI 20214 3H16H




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. AEIREEER(E)
INFORMATION (continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) EEMBARMNER(B)
Place and date Nominal value of  Percentage of equity
of incorporation/  issued ordinary/  attributable to the
registration and  registered share Company
Name place of operation capital FAFELEREAL  Principal activities
HMRY/ BEnY CRALER/ Direct  Indirect
£8 RERRESLYE CaMRANER E& BE FEER
Shanghai Chenzhao Human Resources  PRC/Chinese Mainland, RMB1,000,000 — 100%  Job intermediary activity
Co., Ltd. Shanghai
29 September 2022
LBRBANERERAR REAM,/HE LS AKE000,0007T — 100% BEFNED
202294290
Shanghai Xingyunhao Catering Service PRC/Chinese Mainland, ~ RMB10,000,000 — 100%  Catering services
Co., Ltd. Shanghai
23 November 2022
LERERESREERAR E R,/ RE LG ARKE10,000,0007 — 100% EHEH
20224114238
&3 Shanghai Pujiang Property Co., Ltd. is registered as a * EEBIMEERABNRERREREZT
wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under PRC law. MARLEINEBE b2 -
K These subsidiaries are registered as limited liability * ﬁﬁﬁ}%@??ﬁﬁ}ﬁﬁtﬂl,ﬁé 55 AR 2 HY
companies under PRC law. ﬁ RELA
***  Shanghai Pujiang Property Co., Ltd. fully disposed of *xx jA2023FT7A J:}i}%)IW¥ﬁFEAﬁ
Shanghai Bund Property Co., Ltd. in exchange for 18.53% HELBINEDWERTRA LA%HXL,G
equity interest in Shanghai Qiang Sheng Property Co.Ltd. %ﬁi%%ﬁﬁﬁ@T18_53%H§$§({*|52%ZK’§ £
(accounted for as an associate of the Group) in July 2023, BMEDPEAR) £ FSHBSHNTERE
as further details in note 36 to the financial statements. b 7£36 ©
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the BERE EXRFVNOARARKERA
Company which, in the opinion of the directors, z Ty B RF F % EXBEKAEEREA
principally affected the results for the year or EFBmsIEy c BEEARAY HHM
formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the MEARZFHE ?I—; RIEBBRITE -

Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would,
in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars
of excessive length.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") (which include all Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except
for certain equity investments designed at fair
value through other comprehensive income and
investment properties which have been measured at
fair value. These financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (“RMB") and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 December 2023. A subsidiary
is an entity (including a structured entity), directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e., existing
rights that give the Group the current ability to
direct the relevant activities of the investee).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2.
2.1

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority
of voting rights results in control. When the
Company has less than a majority of the voting or
similar rights of an investee, the Group considers
all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other
vote holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

(¢) the Group's voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from
the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such
control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the
owners of the parent of the Group and to the non-
controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in
full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control described above. A change
in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without
a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.
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2.2

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises the related assets (including goodwill),
liabilities, any non-controlling interest and the
exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the fair
value of any investment retained and any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s
share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same
basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and
revised HKFRSs for the first time for the current
year's financial statements.

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Insurance Contracts
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Definition of Accounting Fstimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar Two Mode!

Rules

2.2
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. BEFBEW®

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 22 B BERRIBENEE (H)
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)
The nature and the impact of the new and revised BRARAESECHERECETEETH
HKFRSs that are applicable to the Group are WMEEMUEERZEHBLNT

described below:

(@ Amendments to HKAS 1 require entities (@) BEZFEAFIH|UBETK) Bk
to disclose their material accounting policy ERRBEHEASHBREXRERM
information rather than their significant FEHERGHHREK - MAIEGETE
accounting policies. Accounting policy HedthRENEERBERE
information is material if, when considered PEEMNHEMEN —RBEERK g
together with other information included TEGRAMBERRE-—RENNE
in an entity’s financial statements, it can EFEREERMEBEYBRRELD
reasonably be expected to influence decisions BRTE  BIZBEHAREK - WE B
that the primary users of general purpose MR ELENEBREF2RFEL
financial statements make on the basis of BAMHAHE 2 RVAEEER
those financial statements. Amendments to MEBSEARSF R REEIRMH
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality TIHRFBIMES  c REEE NI K
Judgements provide non-mandatory guidance WRME2EBEERGHBEER -
on how to apply the concept of materiality ZEBITHAEBRMBREPE
to accounting policy disclosures. The Group MIEEMNGE BRIE2INLE
has disclosed the material accounting FRZE -

policy information in note 2 to the financial
statements. The amendments did not have
any impact on the measurement, recognition
or presentation of any items in the Group's
financial statements.

(b) Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction by BB EAFESHUSEIAN)EBE
between changes in accounting estimates and BHAAEHREAREES
changes in accounting policies. Accounting FMOER - @ HetRAERTH
estimates are defined as monetary amounts BHERPXAETHEAREED
in financial statements that are subject to WEBESHE ZEBIARNEBE
measurement uncertainty. The amendments B FE AT ERMNEE A SIE
also clarify how entities use measurement HEGF M AREAEENT
techniques and inputs to develop accounting ERBREZFET B Eiﬁﬂ
estimates. Since the Group's approach and AHASENBERRIESE

policy align with the amendments, the
amendments had no impact on the Group's
financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(@

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax
related to Assets and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction narrow the scope of the
initial recognition exception in HKAS 12 so
that it no longer applies to transactions that
give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences, such as leases and
decommissioning obligations. Therefore,
entities are required to recognise a deferred
tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable
profit is available) and a deferred tax liability
for temporary differences arising from these
transactions.

Prior to the initial application of these
amendments, the Group has recognised
temporary differences relating to right-of-use
of assets and lease liabilities on a net basis.
The Group has applied the amendments on
temporary differences related to leases as at
1 January 2022. Upon initial application of
these amendments, the Group recognised (i) a
deferred tax asset for all temporary differences
associated with lease liabilities (provided
that sufficient taxable profit is available), and
(i) a deferred tax liability for all temporary
differences associated with right-of-use assets
at 1 January 2022, separately, which have been
reflected in the reconciliation disclosed in note
31 to the financial statements. However, they
did not have any impact to (a) retained profits
at 1 January 2022 as they had been presented
on a net basis prior the initial application of
these amendments and (b) overall deferred
tax balances presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position as the related
deferred tax balances qualified for offsetting
under the HKAS 12.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(d)

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax
Reform — Pillar Two Model Rules introduce
a mandatory temporary exception from the
recognition and disclosure of deferred taxes
arising from the implementation of the Pillar
Two model rules published by the Organisation
for Economic Co-operation and Development.
The amendments also introduce disclosure
requirements for the affected entities to
help users of the financial statements better
understand the entities’ exposure to Pillar
Two income taxes, including the disclosure of
current tax related to Pillar Two income taxes
separately in the periods when Pillar Two
legislation is effective and the disclosure of
known or reasonably estimable information
of their exposure to Pillar Two income taxes
in periods in which the legislation is enacted
or substantively enacted but not yet in effect.
The Group has applied the amendments
retrospectively. Since the Group did not fall
within the scope of the Pillar Two model rules,
the amendments did not have any impact to
the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet
effective, in these financial statements. The Group
intends to apply these revised HKFRSs, if applicable,
when they become effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and ~ Sale or Contribution of Assets between an lnvestor
HKAS 28 and its Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback!

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
(the 2020 Amendments”).#
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the 2022
Amendments”)-#
Amendments to HKAS 7.and  Supplier Finance Arrangements’
HKFRS 7
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability’

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025

= No mandatory effective date yet determined but available
for adoption

g As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022
Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of
Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause
was revised to align the corresponding wording with no
change in conclusion
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2.
2.3

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are
expected to be applicable to the Group is described
below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address
an inconsistency between the requirements in
HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale
or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture. The amendments
require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or
contribution of assets constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute
a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s
interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The
previous mandatory effective date of amendments
to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the
HKICPA. However, the amendments are available for
adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements
that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease
liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction
to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any
amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right
of use it retains. The amendments are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to sale and
leaseback transactions entered into after the date of
initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019).
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements
for classifying liabilities as current or non-current,
including what is meant by a right to defer
settlement and that a right to defer must exist at
the end of the reporting period. Classification of
a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the
entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can
be settled in its own equity instruments, and that
only if a conversion option in a convertible liability
is itself accounted for as an equity instrument
would the terms of a liability not impact its
classification. The 2022 Amendments further
clarify that, among covenants of a liability arising
from a loan arrangement, only those with which
an entity must comply on or before the reporting
date affect the classification of that liability as
current or non-current. Additional disclosures are
required for non-current liabilities that are subject
to the entity complying with future covenants
within 12 months after the reporting period.
The amendments shall be applied retrospectively
with early application permitted. An entity that
applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to
apply simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and
vice versa. The Group is currently assessing the
impact of the amendments and whether existing
loan agreements may require revision. Based on a
preliminary assessment, the amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the
Group's financial statements.

B RE AR L

31 December 2023 202312 H31H

gt B EE)
CEMEERERNE LM R

HER (&

2020F R AR BRBEIBEARD
SFERBONRTE BRETEEEENZ
EELNBERRBAGTHEETERN -
BEMNDPBEITXZERITEETER
BENOAIEENTE - ZFEFT AT
MAREAINEESESTARLEE R
BERABBRAGE ZARRERERNS(E

REZTAARE  ABEZBRA e
FEHEDE 202FEFINE-FERE

%ﬂ;ﬂ#?iﬁ’]%ﬁ%@ - REE
NSRBI ETREAES
f /\*E/Ej/mgbjz#muib °© fj

%i&iﬁﬁfé‘i—_ﬂﬂ W78 8T

0

X W TR FPf
2 of W X )
e
ift

g
kol

*X?@ HWMERDBE  BETHEINE
FEoREBIIERYER YA HRE

ER - IREEMA2020F I AN E A
R B JE 20225 (ERT A - RZ TR » R
SERRCEMEXFEITANZEN
FEAEENRGHERERTRER] - RED
FE REFTARATSHAEEN
MERRERTAERTZE -

SHTHREERARAR £42023225




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2.
2.3

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and
require additional disclosure of such arrangements.
The disclosure requirements in the amendments
are intended to assist users of financial statements
in understanding the effects of supplier finance
arrangements on an entity's liabilities, cash flows
and exposure to liquidity risk. Earlier application
of the amendments is permitted. The amendments
provide certain transition reliefs regarding
comparative information, quantitative information
as at the beginning of the annual reporting period
and interim disclosures. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the
Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity
shall assess whether a currency is exchangeable
into another currency and how it shall estimate
a spot exchange rate at a measurement date
when exchangeability is lacking. The amendments
require disclosures of information that enable
users of financial statements to understand the
impact of a currency not being exchangeable.
Earlier application is permitted. When applying the
amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative
information. Any cumulative effect of initially
applying the amendments shall be recognised as
an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits or to the cumulative amount of translation
differences accumulated in a separate component
of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial
application. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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2.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments in associates and joint
ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a
long term interest of generally not less than 20%
of the equity voting rights and over which it has
significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or
joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement
whereby the parties that have joint control of the
arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint venture. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which
exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require the unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint
ventures are stated in the consolidated statements
of financial position at the Group’s share of net
assets under the equity method of accounting, less
any impairment losses. The Group’s share of the
post-acquisition results and other comprehensive
income of associates and joint ventures is included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and consolidated other comprehensive income,
respectively. In addition, when there has been a
change recognised directly in the equity of the
associate or joint venture, the Group recognises
its share of any changes, when applicable, in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associates
or joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s investments in the associates or joint
ventures, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates
or joint ventures is included as part of the Group's
investments in associates or joint ventures.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H
2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. B HBE®)

(continued)

Investments in associates and joint
ventures (continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture or vice versa, the
retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, the
investment continues to be accounted for under
the equity method. In all other case, upon loss
of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures
and recognises any retained investment at its
fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss
of significant influence or joint control and the fair
value of the retained investment and proceeds from
disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint
venture is classified as held for sale, it is accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of
non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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2.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill
(continued)

The Group determines that it has acquired a
business when the acquired set of activities and
assets includes an input and a substantive process
that together significantly contribute to the ability
to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses
the financial assets and liabilities assumed for
appropriate classification and designation in
accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of
embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the previously held equity interest is remeasured at
its acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred
by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified
as an asset or liability is measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity
is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the
excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred,
controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in the
acquiree over the identifiable assets acquired and

the amount recognised for non-

liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration
and other items is lower than the fair value of
the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain
on bargain purchase.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill
(continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured
at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or
groups of cash-generating units, that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of
the Group are assigned to those units or groups of
units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) to which the
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) and part of the operation within that unit
is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying
amount of the operation when determining the
gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of
in these circumstances is measured based on the
relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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2.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and
equity investments at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer
the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence
of a principal market, in the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability. The principal or the
most advantageous market must be accessible by
the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability
is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in
its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. BEFBEW®

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EXEFHEE)
(continued)
Fair value measurement (continued) ANEEFEE)
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is ERNBAFEAEEEBEE ANKE
measured or disclosed in the financial statements ERBAERE  RUBHRERANGFTE IR
are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, BATENMEEERBEYERTXHR
described as follows, based on the lowest MR FEFRD -

level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) F—H — HERHEREEXAGHEE
in active markets for identical BTS2 mECREH
assets or liabilities )

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for F-H — HERVEEIHAEERY
which the lowest level input that NTFEFEBERD
is significant to the fair value &K R A BB
measurement is observable, either HEFE

directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for F=H — ERTAUBREQNFE
which the lowest level input that EBERANKRESE
is significant to the fair value B ABBENEES
measurement is unobservable )7

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in MEERVBRETPERNEERBE

the financial statements on a recurring basis, the ME AEEBRBREREHAREHT

Group determines whether transfers have occurred EOBR(ERERATFEAEERBEEAX

between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing NHREERGABBR)BRETERAARS

categorisation (based on the lowest level input that HEBEER -

is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each reporting period.

(‘ ; 232 RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2023
i L L




2.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories, deferred tax assets, financial
assets, investment properties and non-current
assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its
fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a
portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset
is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if
it can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-
generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is
charged to the statement of profit or loss in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. B ERE®E

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EXRGFHE®E)
(continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets FEemEERMEE)

(continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such
an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss
of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if
there has been a change in the estimates used to

REREMRHEFTHERERFEEAM
DBREARFERAOBEBEAILETE
FENXAIGEERD - MEFEELETR
BlfE AT B &% - BB - FATHE
RNEEREEBRAEERANUNETZ
BENHEBSENHEREEERFE
BE - ETESREBRAFELEMZ
EERAREEENBRATEENE

HECREERTE #HH) - REER
BOREEEAHEAABERA -

determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of
any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it arises.

Related parties B 7
A party is considered to be related to the Group if: EHRATER BRAATSHBKE /E
REEE B

(a) the party is a person or a close member of @ ZEBATREMATHERIE
that person’s family and that person ZEEKE M AT

(i) has control or joint control over the () Pk ERZERAEER:
Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; (i) AREBEEATE 5§
or

(i) is a member of the key management (i) BRAKBEBSIEHRAETEE
personnel of the Group or of a parent of BEXE:
the Group;

or 54
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Related parties (continued)
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
(continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of
the same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or of a parent,
subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the
other entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint
ventures of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related to
the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2 36 RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to
its working condition and location for its intended
use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such
as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to
the statement of profit or loss in the period in which
it is incurred. In situations where the recognition
criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of
the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to
be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such
parts as individual assets with specific useful lives
and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis
to write off the cost of each item of property,
plant and equipment to its residual value over its
estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

16.67% to 63.16%
19% to 33.33%
9.5% t0 31.67%
9.5% t0 31.67%

Leasehold improvements
Plant and machinery
Furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles

ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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2.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of
that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among
the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate,
at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment
including any significant part initially recognised
is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. It is
reclassified to the appropriate category of property,
plant and equipment when completed and ready for
use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and
buildings (including right-of-use assets) held to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation. Such
properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at fair value,
which reflects market conditions at the end of the
reporting period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investment properties (continued)

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
values of investment properties are included in the
statement of profit or loss in the year in which they
arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal
of an investment property are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss in the year of the
retirement or disposal.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured
on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible
assets acquired in a business combination is the
fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives
of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic
life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may
be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with
a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each
financial year end.

Software

Purchased software is stated at cost less any
impairment losses and is amortised on the straight-
line basis over its estimated useful life of 3 to 5
years.

Customer relationship

Client relationship has an amortisation period of
nine years based on estimated beneficial period
considering industry experience, customer retention
rate and others.

238 RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2023

e

2.4

gt EEE)
EXRSFEHEE

REMEMEE)
REUFHERFEEDMELNE
B AEEFEZERR -

BEIHEREUERHWEZENEE
EHRBEINEFEEBRORER -

BREE(BEKRM

85 Y iz B EENY L HERER
KRAFGE REFAFTRBZETLE
EZRARKBRAZATE BWEE
APRERIERAERAFY - AAR
FHzEVEEARRAEREESH
BiH - WRNZEEEDLRAERED
SEERENE - AERAERFHLZ
BRNEEZHBHEIREREBHEIEZED
EEEMBRFEAERETR

Bt

B 0B B #  1% B AR E (1R E & 1B
AR YAERERE=ZEAFNMHEE
AERFRAEE -

EFRARF

EFRARREBITERR TFPHHB
EREMBEARAGEANESHRBENEF
R B SHE o



2.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)
(continued)

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the statement of
profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new
products is capitalised and deferred only when the
Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of
completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale, its intention to complete
and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the
asset will generate future economic benefits, the
availability of resources to complete the project
and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
during the development. Product development
expenditure which does not meet these criteria is
expensed when incurred.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether
a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.
The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

2.4

B RE AR L

31 December 2023 202312 H31H
S BEE)
BEXEFHEXE)
BEREE(BERME)

BF 8% X A
PIERERNARELRFEEDZRNR -

MBMEMMNBERMEEXH  ERA
SEERTMEEFHENBRATERER
KO FE - Bt ER SE R X B B BE A

EARIEE TREEZERREMANL
HEBEZREN ZEEWMMELERRE

BN BEHERATKER Z2ERMA
ERFAEREASEAERI ZED - T
HAELiEENEMAEXHRELR
HH o

HE
AEEREGHNRERIEEORER/X
BEHE - HMANABBRKEMmME TE
—BRERANZEHEBAIEEFEROEN
AlZAaHNAXBEEHE -

FEEEREEA

AEBHMERERAE-—BANGTE
TEEEHEEREKEEEEHER
SN AEBERAEEABUELESE
NRERKREREREERNOE MR




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

2.

(a)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the
date the underlying asset is available for use).
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use
assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred,
and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of
the assets as follows:

Office premises 2 to 5 years
Plant and equipment 3 years
Stores 1.9 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RE AR L

31 December 2023 202312 H31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. I BEGE
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 EXEEERM®E)

(continued)

Leases (continued) HE (&)
Group as a lessee (continued) AEBERABEAGE)

(b) Lease liabilities b)) HEEE

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the
present value of lease payments to be made
over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease
incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual
value guarantees. The lease payments also
include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised
by the Group and payments of penalties
for termination of a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising the option
to terminate the lease. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index
or a rate are recognised as an expense in the
period in which the event or condition that
triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion
of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of
lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term,
a change in lease payments or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. I BEGE
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 EXEBERM®E)

(continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets
The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term leases
of machinery and equipment (that is those
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value
assets to leases of office equipment that are
considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification)
each of its leases as either an operating lease or a
finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an asset are classified as operating
leases. When a contract contains lease and non-
lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component
on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental
income is accounted for on a straight-line basis
over the lease terms and is included in revenue in
the statement of profit or loss due to its operating
nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised
over the lease term on the same basis as rental
income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue
in the period in which they are earned.
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2.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessor (continued)

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying
asset to the lessee are accounted for as finance
leases.

At the commencement date, the cost of the leased
asset is capitalised at the present value of the lease
payments and related payments (including the initial
direct costs), and presented as a receivable at an
amount equal to the net investment in the lease.
The finance income on the net investment in the
lease is recognised in the statement of profit or loss
so as to provide a constant periodic rate of return
over the lease terms.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, a
sublease is classified as a finance lease or operating
lease with reference to the right-of-use asset arising
from the head lease. If the head lease is a short-
term lease to which the Group applies the on-
balance sheet recognition exemption, the Group
classifies the sublease as an operating lease.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition,
as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair
value through other comprehensive income, and fair
value through profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Initial recognition and measurement
(continued)

The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the financial asset’s
contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them.
With the exception of trade receivables that do
not contain a significant financing component
or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group initially measures
a financial asset at its fair value plus in the case of
a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient
are measured at the transaction price determined
under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set
out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income, it needs to give rise
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount
outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model.
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2.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Initial recognition and measurement
(continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business
model determines whether cash flows will result
from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a
business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are
held within a business model with the objective of
both holding to collect contractual cash flows and
selling. Financial assets which are not held within
the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that
is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and
are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss when
the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

The subsequent measurement of financial
assets depends on their classification as follows:
(continued)

Financial assets designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income (equity investments)
Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to
classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity
investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income when they meet
the definition of equity under HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for
trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never
recycled to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends
are recognised as other income in the statement
of profit or loss when the right of payment has
been established, except when the Group benefits
from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the
cost of the financial asset, in which case, such
gains are recorded in other comprehensive income.
Equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income are not subject to
impairment assessment.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from
the Group's consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or
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2.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Derecognition of financial assets
(continued)

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e.,
the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when: (continued)

removed from

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to
what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control
of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group's
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on
a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that

the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred assets is measured
at the lower of the original carrying amount of the
asset and the maximum amount of consideration
that the Group could be required to repay.

2.4

B RE AR L

31 December 2023 202312 H31H

gt B EE)
EXRSFEHE®E

RIEBRIATWMEE(H)

TREEGMER —HEREEDN
—Hox—HEUEREEN — D)
TEETNIBR ISR LEEBEIER
SEZRE Eﬁ?ﬁﬂt&i‘%?ﬁﬁ‘%) (%&)

s AKBEEZRHWNMEEMBR
ERENEN - HREIAE N
THEARBBRERZENBRT

EAEHAKRDRESRESZ BN
TE=ZTHEME: &®$EIE%
BLRBEEMNBAR D BB KLEIR
Xm$%@m$%%i%%%ﬁ
BENBAMOREREDE BB
BRI AEEMNEHE -

EASBEERHENNEEMSHRE
MEMENKETEKRENZH - BIFEHG

HECREZEEMAENAR KD R
RERE FUIARERIRBEZEEN
BABoREBRLOE  TAREBEEZEER
ENENE AEEBSAREEFES
HEELAREERITEREE - &
EREAT AKEBET2ER —RMEH
BE -EHEHREERMABAEDERR
MAKEDRBENEN R B ETOEES

i °

SEPREASERCEREE(FELN
—HRE EZBREENRE@EEN
SEYABENESRENREETE -




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected
credit losses("ECLs"”) for all debt instruments not
held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are
based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or
other credit enhancements that are integral to the
contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over
the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including
historical and forward-looking information. The
Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments
are more than 60 days past due.
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2.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default
when contractual payments are 90 days past due.
However, in certain cases, the Group may also
consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that
the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the
Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is
no reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash flows.

Debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial assets at
amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except
for trade receivables which applies the simplified
approach as detailed below.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

Stage T —  Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly
since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to
12-month ECLs

Stage 2 —  Financial instruments for which credit
risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition but that
are not credit-impaired financial
assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-
impaired at the reporting date
(but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and
for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that does not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs
at each reporting date. The Group has established
a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.
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2.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial
recognition, as loans and borrowings, or payables
as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and
payables, net of directly attributable transaction
costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and
other payables, interest-bearing bank loans and
other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of loans and
borrowings is as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and
other payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables
and interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees
or costs that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in finance costs in the statement of
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H
2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. B HBE®)

(continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and the recognition of a new
liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset
and the net amount is reported in the statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable
legal right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis,
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and
held by the Group (treasury shares) are recognised
directly in equity at cost and recorded under
“Shares held for the share award scheme”. No gain
or loss is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of
the Group’s own equity instruments.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in,
first-out basis. Net realisable value is based on the
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to
be incurred to completion and disposal.
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2.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of
financial position comprise cash on hand and at
banks, and short-term highly liquid deposits with a
maturity of generally within three months that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash,
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value
and held for the purpose of meeting short-term
cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statements of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash
on hand and at banks, and short-term deposits as
defined above.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past
event and it is probable that a future outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of
the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the
amount recognised for a provision is the present
value at the end of the reporting period of the
future expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of
time is included in administrative expenses in profit
or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside
profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss,
either in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. BIBE®E)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EXEFHEE)
(continued)
Income tax (continued) Fri& B (&)

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the amount expected to be recovered from or paid
to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method,
on all temporary differences at the end of the
reporting period between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for
financial reporting purposes.

EMMEEERABBENIRENRBEHR
ERHREE LEBEMEOHE(RBOX) -
TEBAEBEREXBAEBRRNIRT
2EIRES  REHRASERBHERD
IXMTFHBEEBANSETE -

EEREDRBEHREERAED
MEREEMEREAENREE M
MATEERZMR  RABEXELRE -

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable EEMEEERMERRANERZET
temporary differences, except: IARE SR - MEATIE BRI -

e when the deferred tax liability arises from
the initial recognition of goodwill or an
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, when the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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2.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and any unused tax losses.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences,
and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

J when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises
from the initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

J in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, deferred tax

assets are only recognised to the extent that it

is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the

temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the
period when the asset is realised or the liability is
settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
are offset if and only if the Group has a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair
value where there is reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and all attaching conditions
will be complied with. When the grant relates to
an expense item, it is recognised as income on a
systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for
which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue from contracts with customers is
recognised when control of goods or services is
transferred to the customers at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services.
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2.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

When the consideration in a contract includes a
variable amount, the amount of consideration is
estimated to which the Group will be entitled in
exchange for transferring the goods or services
to the customer.
estimated at contract inception and constrained
until it is highly probable that a significant revenue
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

The variable consideration is

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant
benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer for more than one year,
revenue is measured at the present value of the
amount receivable, discounted using the discount
rate that would be reflected in a separate financing
transaction between the Group and the customer
at contract inception. When the contract contains
a financing component which provides the Group
with a significant financial benefit for more than
one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the
contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between
the payment by the customer and the transfer of
the promised goods or services is one year or less,
the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Provision of property management services
Revenue from the provision of property
management services is recognised over the
scheduled period on a straight-line basis because
the customer simultaneously receives the benefits
provided by the Group. Like the previous year,
revenue from the lump sum basis are recognised on
a gross basis, and revenue from fixed remuneration
contracts are recognised on a net basis.

Provision of urban sanitary services

Revenue from the provision of urban sanitary
services is recognised over the scheduled period
on a straight-line basis because the customer
simultaneously receives the benefits provided by the
Group.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income arising from operating leases on
investment properties is recognised on a time
proportion basis over the lease terms.

Revenue from catering is recognised when catering
services have been provided to customers.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis
using the effective interest method by applying the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate,
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the
shareholders’ right to receive payment has been
established, it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be
measured reliably.
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2.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Group transfers the
related goods or services. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the
related goods or services to the customer).

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share award scheme.
Employees (including directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based
payments, whereby employees render services in
exchange for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with
employees is measured by reference to the fair value
at the date at which they are granted. The fair value
is measured at the market value of the shares (less
subscription price, if any), adjusted for the exclusion
of expected dividends to be received in the vesting
period, further details of which are given in Note 33
to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised
in employee benefit expense, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period
in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised
for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the
extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that
period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions
are not taken into account when determining the
grant date fair value of awards, but the likelihood
of the conditions being met is assessed as part
of the Group’s best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the
grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached
to an award, but without an associated service
requirement, are considered to be non-vesting
conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in
the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate
expensing of an award unless there are also service
and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-
market performance and service conditions have
not been met, no expense is recognised. Where
awards include a market or non-vesting condition,
the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and
service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are
modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as
if the terms had not been modified, if the original
terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense
is recognised for any modification that increases the
total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured
at the date of modification.
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2.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled,
it is treated as if it had vested on the date of
cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for
the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the
control of either the Group or the employee are not
met. However, if a new award is substituted for the
cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement
award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled
and new awards are treated as if they were a
modification of the original award, as described in
the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding non-vested
ordinary shares is reflected as additional share
dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Other employee benefits

Pension scheme

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary which
operates in Chinese Mainland are required to
participate in a central pension scheme operated
by the local municipal government. This subsidiary
is required to contribute 9% of its payroll costs to
the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to the statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension scheme.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those
assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs
ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. All other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with
the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when
they are approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed in
the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum
and articles of association grant the directors
the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed
and declared.
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2.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Foreign currencies

The Company and certain subsidiaries incorporated
outside Chinese Mainland use Hong Kong dollars
("HKS$") as their functional currencies, respectively.
The functional currency of the PRC subsidiaries
is RMB. As the Group mainly operates in Chinese
Mainland, RMB is used as the presentation currency
of the Group. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising
on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is
treated in line with the recognition of the gain or
loss on change in fair value of the item.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial
recognition of the related asset, expense or income
on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is
the date on which the Group initially recognises
the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability
arising from the advance consideration. If there are
multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment
or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas
subsidiaries are currencies other than RMB. As at
the end of the reporting period, the assets and
liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or
loss are translated into RMB at the exchange rates
that approximate to those prevailing at the dates of
the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the exchange fluctuation reserve, except to
the extent that the differences are attributable to
non-controlling interests. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve
relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on
acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities,
and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about
these assumptions and estimates could result in
outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group's accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Property lease classification — Group as
lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property
leases on its investment property portfolio. The
Group has determined, based on an evaluation of
the terms and conditions of the arrangements, such
as the lease term not constituting a major part of
the economic life of the commercial property and
the present value of the minimum lease payments
not amounting to substantially all the fair value of
the commercial property, that it retains substantially
all the significant risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of these properties which are leased out
and accounts for the contracts as operating leases.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Judgements (continued)

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:
(continued)

Significant judgement in determining the
lease term of contracts with renewal options
The Group has several lease contracts that include
extension and termination options. The Group
applies judgement in evaluating whether or not to
exercise the option to renew or terminate the lease.
That is, it considers all relevant factors that create
an economic incentive for it to exercise either the
renewal or termination. After the commencement
date, the Group reassesses the lease term if there
is a significant event or change in circumstances
that is within its control and affects its ability to
exercise or not to exercise the option to renew or to
terminate the lease.

The Group includes the renewal period as part of
the lease term for leases of plant and machineries
and motor vehicles due to the significance of
these assets to its operations. These leases have
a short non-cancellable period and there will be
a significant negative effect on production if a
replacement is not readily available.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
end of the reporting period, that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year, are described below.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties were revalued based on the
appraised market value by independent professional
valuers. Such valuations were based on certain
assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty and
might materially differ from the actual results.
In making the estimate, the Group considers
information from current prices in an active market
for similar properties and uses assumptions that are
mainly based on market conditions existing at the
end of the reporting period.

In the absence of current prices in an active
market for similar properties, the Group considers
information from a variety of sources, including:

(@ current prices in an active market for
properties of a different nature, condition or
location or subject to different leases or other
contracts, adjusted to reflect those differences;

(b) recent prices of similar properties on less
active markets, with adjustments to reflect
any changes in economic conditions since
the dates of the transactions that occurred at
those prices; and

(¢) discounted cash flow projections based
on reliable estimates of future cash flows,
supported by the terms of any existing lease
and other contracts and (when possible) by
external evidence such as current market rents
for similar properties in the same location and
condition, and using discount rates that reflect
current market assessments of the uncertainty
in the amount and timing of the cash flows.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is
impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires
an estimation of the value in use of the cash-
generating units to which the goodwill is allocated.
Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows
from the cash-generating units and also to choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows. The carrying
amount of goodwill at 31 December 2023 was
RMB25,901,000 (2022: RMB25,901,000). Further
details are given in note 16.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax
losses and deductible temporary differences to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets
that can be recognised, based upon the likely
timing and level of future taxable profits together
with future tax planning strategies. The carrying
value of deferred tax assets relating to recognised
deductible temporary differences and tax losses
at 31 December 2023 was RMB18,864,000 (2022:
RMB1,550,000). The amount of unrecognised tax
losses at 31 December 2023 was RMB68,636,000
(2022: RMB66,537,000). Further details are
contained in note 31 to the financial statements.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs
for trade receivables. The provision rates are based
on invoice date for groupings of various customer
segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by
customer type and rating).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables (continued)

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's
historical observed default rates. The Group will
calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit
loss experience with forward-looking information.
For instance, if forecast economic conditions are
expected to deteriorate over the next year which
can lead to an increased number of defaults in the
property management services sector, the historical
default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are updated
and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount
of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances
and forecast economic conditions. The Group’s
historical credit loss experience and forecast of
economic conditions may also not be representative
of a customer’s actual default in the future. The
information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade
receivables is disclosed in note 24 to the financial
statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Leases — Estimating the incremental
borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest
rate implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an
incremental borrowing rate (“IBR"”) to measure
lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that
the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value
to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment. The IBR therefore reflects what
the Group "would have to pay”, which requires
estimation when no observable rates are available
(such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into
financing transactions) or when it needs to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of
the lease (for example, when leases are not in
the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group
estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as
market interest rates) when available and is required
to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as
the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

270 RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2023

E RS H 8 R E

iy 5T BY R #E E M (48)
HE — A BEARR R

AEEREZIESGETHENME SR
XA EREEZEEERMNE(EE
ERAEDAEHEERE - BERBRF
ERAEERBULHAREF/SIEG AR
ERAREEBEMBOZEE MARL
ERmEBURREARTE 2 BN
ZHRIE e Ay BEERMERRT A
SEIEXMINF X SEIBENF
ER (MR T BT IBERG KB AR
AMB)RERAENRETHEARR
& 2GR R 1 5 (40 8 8 & 30 3E A
MEAR zEE BT - BIZA(E
B EfGE - EATEIRB AR BE
AEBERABRREABE(MHEHX)
BB EERAN XY BFHETERY
ERGE (B ARMNBIERFNG) -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (other
than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any
indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets
(including the right-of-use assets) at the end of
each reporting period. Non-financial assets are
tested for impairment when there are indicators
that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
An impairment exists when the carrying value
of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair
value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The
calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal
is based on available data from binding sales
transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar
assets or observable market prices less incremental
costs for disposing of the asset. When value in use
calculations are undertaken, management must
estimate the expected future cash flows from the
asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value
of those cash flows. The impairment loss recognised
for other intangible assets during the year
amounted to RMB25,500,000. Further details are
contained in note 18 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

4.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
For management purposes, the Group is organised
into business units based on their services and has
four reportable operating segments as follows:

(@) Property management services;
(b)  Urban sanitary services;

(c)  Sublease services from investment properties;
and

(d) Catering services.

The sublease services from investment properties
segment invests in prime commercial space for its
rental income potential.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s
operating segments separately for the purpose of
making decisions about resource allocation and
performance assessment. Segment performance
is evaluated based on reportable segment profit,
which is a measure of adjusted profit before tax.
The adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured
consistently with the Group’s profit before tax
except that interest income, share of profits and
losses of joint ventures and associates, non-lease-
related finance costs, other unallocated income and
gains as well as corporate and other unallocated
expenses are excluded from such measurement.

No analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by
operating segment is disclosed as it is not regularly
provided to the chief operating decision-maker for
review.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RE AR L

31 December 2023 202312 H31H
OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.

REsHBER (@)

(continued)

Property Urban
management sanitary Catering Sublease

services services services services Total
Year ended BZ2023£12A318
31 December 2023 LEE NEEBRRE HERERH EURK LRl @t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR AR®Tn AR¥TR AR%MTr ARETx

Segment revenue (note 5) 78 b g (B &5)

Service provided to external

REEEIS 30l b

customers 686,535 226,468 6,174 507 919,684
Segment results TREE 53,467 5,081 (7,516) (13,816) 37,216
Reconciliation: Bk
Interest income MEKA 2,159
Share of profits and losses of: BHEUTRARER:

Joint ventures REt% (3,227)

Associates BESE 9,062
Other unallocated income AR A BMA R

and gains 24,512
Corporate and other unallocated ¥R EM AP EHER

expenses (166,897)
Finance costs (other than interest ~ BLE A&

on lease liabilties) (RERBHNMM) (6,183)
Loss before tax BREAEE (103,358)
Other segment information EtAHER
Impairment losses recognised in the  RBHEZEAZ

statement of profit or loss, net REERFE - 25,500 - - 25,500
Depreciation and amortisation mENEH 11,647 22,904 1,113 - 35,664

SHTHREERARAR £2£2023273




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H
4.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION reEF>HER(B)
(continued)
Property Urban
management sanitary Sublease
Services Services Services Total
Year ended HZ22F128318
31 December 2022 %353 MEERRY HERERH EHRE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTRT  ARETR ARETrR ARETR
Segment revenue (note 5) 78 W35 (R &5)
Service provided to external customers FINRR P 1R 2 B AR 75 645,988 264,437 7,145 917,570
Segment results THEE 63,666 38,686 1618 103,970
Reconciliation: k-
Interest income FlEWA 2,214
Share of profits and losses of: BIEATARIES:
Joint ventures RELE 602
Associates hah% 7,725
Other unallocated income and gains I AP ERARME 8,297
Corporate and other unallocated expenses A EREM AP EHET (86,012)
Finance costs (other than interest on lease BERA(REAEF SR
liabilities) (4,964)
Profit before tax B 1 A & 1 31,832
Other segment information EtAHER
Depreciation and amortisation TENEH 6,436 18,168 = 24,604
Geographical information wEER

Since all of the Group's revenue was generated from
providing property management services, urban

sanitary services, catering services and sublease
services from investment properties in Chinese
Mainland and all of the Group’s non-current assets
were located in Chinese Mainland, no geographical
information in accordance with HKFRS 8 Operating
Segments is presented.

Information about major customers

Since none of the Group's sales to a single customer
amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s total
revenue, no information about major customers in
accordance with HKFRS 8 Operating Segments is
presented.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RE AR L

31 December 2023 202312 H31H
REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. &z - HBRARWE

An analysis of revenue is as follows: W ormT:

2023 2022

2023 % 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% Tt NS R

Revenue from contracts with customers B8 % F & 4894 &
Property management services income B & Il % 2 & 3 R 15 Uk

on the lump sum basis A 685,049 644,227
Property management services income ‘& & &l %) ¥ & 12 R 7 I
on the fixed remuneration basis A 1,486 1,761
Catering services income ERRRB KA 6,174 .
Urban sanitary services income K $EIR BT AR TS M A 226,468 264,437
Revenue from other sources E il A7 #9  7
Gross rental income from sublease REKREMEHERNE
services from investment properties HERBEAEHAS KA
L] 507 7,145
919,684 917,570
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEAMNW =
(a) Disaggregated revenue information @) 2 EK=EER

2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®S Tt N R

Timing of revenue recognition UK i 7 32 B [

Services transferred over time BE 5 88 % IR 75
Property management services )% E IR RIS U A
income 686,535 645,988
Urban sanitary services income Ik 38 3R BT AR A5 WA 226,468 264,437
913,003 910,425
At a point in time X
Catering services income ERIRE KA 6,174 —

919,177 910,425




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. W#m - HbW A RWE(E)

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHANK R (&)

(continued)

(a) Disaggregated revenue information () PEWRZER(E)
(continued)
The following table shows the amounts of TR R AR E B EE R W R
revenue recognised in the current reporting S ZFEWREARIIERSH
period that were included in the contract T8 & & B E 4 5Tt AT HA 52 K
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting WEHNETER TAER

period and recognised from performance
obligations satisfied in previous periods:

2023 2022

2023 % 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% Tt NS R

Revenue recognised that was EEABNRBEBRVFAS
included in contract liabilities at HBEN K
the beginning of the reporting

period:
Provision of property management #24%) % & 1% R 1
services 12,987 17,059
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RE AR L

31 December 2023 202312 H31H

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. Wz HMbW A R E (8

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers REBEFEHAMK R (&)

(continued)

(b) Performance obligation (b) BREE
Information about the Group’s performance BRASENBEHNEETEBH M
obligations is summarised below: m
Property management services and urban WX B R R WA IR R
sanitary services
The performance obligation is satisfied over BRAEEERMHEREORRETK -
time as services are rendered. Management EERBEAAODE —ENENTE
service contracts are for periods of one to HART S - WiIREE R RHE TR -
eight years and are billed based on the time
incurred.
The amounts of transaction prices allocated R12A318  "EEHRTEBLOET
to the remaining performance obligations (REREIBATHINXZERER R
(unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 BT

December are as follows:

2023 2022

2023 % 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®S Tt N R

Amounts expected to be EHERARKR S :
recognised as revenue:
Within one year —FE R 692,162 566,302
After one year Bl —F 687,841 615,705

1,380,003 1,182,007




b

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5.

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)

(b) Performance obligation (Continued)

(b) BHEEGE)

Wi - HEb WA RWK & (F)

KEEFESHHWEE)

Property management services and urban
sanitary services (Continued)

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to
the remaining performance obligations which
are expected to be recognised as revenue
after one year relate to property management
services and urban sanitary services, of which
the performance obligations are to be satisfied
within eight years. All the other amounts of
transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations are expected to be
recognised as revenue within one year. The
amounts disclosed above do not include
variable consideration which is constrained.

Y EE I RIER I EREGIRE (&)

BEHMER - FREA/BEND
RERTEHNEENXRZEREHE
W R\ R A ) 3R B IR R
BRBEREGERSE SEEHRT
BROEREIHNAEEMRXZERTE
EHER - FAERA/RE - £
XHEENEHELNEREIRSG
AIEER(E -

2023 2022
2023 % 20224
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR Tt NG
Other income Hib k=
Interest income B U A 2,159 2,214
Government grants* X 8 B 4,892 6,128
Interest income from finance lease L& T & FE W 7| B U A
receivables 241 3,829
Others HAb 4,022 2,163
11,314 14,334
Gains g
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary e — R B AR K=
(note 36) (Pt 5E36) 15,357 S
Gain on disposal of an associate & — B & ¥ W R — 6
15,357 6
26,671 14,340

* Government grants include various subsidies
received by the Group from the relevant government
bodies. There are no unfulfilled conditions or
contingencies relating to these grants.

L
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RE AR L

31 December 2023 202312 H31H

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. BRBIAI(EE) HF
The Group’s (loss)/profit before tax is arrived at RNEBBRBIAT(EE), & 508 (B
after charging/(crediting): AN)NFEIERIGH -
2023 2022
2023% 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
i &t AR®B TR ARETT
Cost of services provided FT 2 2t AR 7% A AR 845,540 787,583
Depreciation of property, plantand 1% - BER REITE
equipment 13 18,209 13,836
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ {FREEENE 15 8,972 3,878
Amortisation of other intangible Hitfmp EE#E
assets* 18 8,483 6,890
Research and development costs IR DN 5,717 5,676
Employee benefit expense EERAMAX
(excluding directors’ and chief (TEIEESEREETT
executive’s remuneration (note 8)): B A BEi & (i 58)) :
Wages and salaries TENH& 287,357 246,367
Pension scheme contributions BRS AR 70,807 50,843
Equity-settled share award scheme  DATE % 4 & & i {7 52 B
expenses FHEIRX 33 — (647)
Lease payments not included inthe KA EBEFEN
measurement of lease liabilities HENR 2,696 1,249
Auditor’s remuneration % &AM B & 2,050 1,750
Impairment of trade receivables and & 5 JE 4t 7% 38 & E th &
other receivables WK IE R E 24, 25 6,912 2,809
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE — B AR 36 (15,357) o
Loss on disposal of items of items of HEWE - BEKRZE
property, plant and equipment HEER 178 74
Fair value loss on investment RE M FEHER
properties ~NTEEEBE 48,344 5,241
Loss/(gain) on disposal of an associate Hi%& — & B & b %
BB/ () 102 (6)
Interest income FMBWA 5 (2,159) (2,214)
Impairment of other intangible assets b £ 2 & & &l (& 18 25,500 —
Government grants AT B 5 (4,892) (6,128)
* The amortisation of other intangible assets for the year is L AEEEMERNEESETAGEREER
included in “administrative expenses” in the consolidated MIEBEEBA]-

statement of profit or loss.




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

7. INTEREST EXPENSES 7. FEBEX
An analysis of interest expenses is as follows: MERAZDHOT:
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T N R
Interest expenses on bank loans and RITE R R E A E KB
other borrowings = 6,183 4,964
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEMNE 8,676 8,712
14,859 13,676
8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EERTETHAEME

REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for
the year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules,
section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
directors) Regulation, is as follows:

RELHARA - FE QA MGKHF383(1)
@ b OFROERERAR(BREES
MEER)RPIF2MEATHRENFARE
ENRETETHRABOMEMT:

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARE Tt IUNGE R

Fees we 321 321

Other emoluments: H bl < -

Salaries, allowances and benefits in He  RBELEMREF

kind 2,722 2,872
Equity-settled share award scheme N EE D R E

expenses sHEIR X — (911)

Pension scheme contributions BRIKE IR 191 186

2,913 2,147

3,234 2,468
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION (continued)

During the year, the granted equity-settled share
award shares were forfeited, due to failure to
comply with the requirements under the Scheme of
the Company, further details of which are set out in
note 33 to the financial statements.

(a)

Independent non-executive directors
The fees paid to independent non-executive
directors during the year were as follows:

8.

B RE AR Y EE

31 December 2023 202312 H31H
BEERFETHAEME (B

FRA - ARTHTAARBEZRE -
ERBARGEERNDZBHD R
ERE-—FTHBHANMB RN FE
33 ¢

(@) BYHFITES
FRANENBIFNTESTNEE N
T

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB"000

ARE Tt NS R

Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence HERLAE 107 107
Mr. Cheng Dong BREE 107 107
Mr. Weng Guogiang HE R k& 107 107
321 321

There were no other emoluments payable
to the independent non-executive directors
during the year (2022: Nil).

FA - BMEBEERNTBEILFERTES
B E b B & (20225 : &) ©

SHTHREERARAR £452023 281
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

8. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EERFEMTHAEME(H)
REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Executive directors, a non-executive

director and the chief executive FETHAER

Year ended 31 December 2023

(b) BITES —BIITESER

BEWBENANALEE
Salaries, Equity-
allowances Pension  settled share
and benefits scheme award scheme Total
inkind  contributions expenses  remuneration
NERLEN
5 2ZER BikesE ROXBHEY
e ENEA # R Meds
RMB000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARBTT ARETR ARETTR
Executive directors: HTES:
Mr. Xiao Xing Tao RARLE - 929 - - 929
Mr. Fu Qi Chang BHEEEAE - 703 - - 703
Mr. Xiao Yu Qiao® RFEELED - 590 123 - m
Ms. Wang Hui 184t - 500 68 - 568
- 2,112 191 - 2913
Non-executive director: FHES:
Mr. Zhang Yong Jun REEEE _ _ _ _ _
- 2,122 191 - 2,913
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RE AR L

31 December 2023 202312 H31H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EERFEMTHAEME(H)
REMUNERATION (continued)
(b) Executive directors, a non-executive (b) B1ITEE - —BFHTEER
director and the chief executive FETHABRE)
(continued)

Year ended 31 December 2022

BRANENANALER
Salaries, Equity-settled
allowances Pension share award
and benefits scheme scheme Total
Fees inkind  contributions expenses  remuneration
W& & H
o 2ER  BAedE  ROREEHE
fe il 3 53 Mekd
RIMB'000 RMB'000 RIVB000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT  AR%Tn  ARETT  ARETR  AR%TR

Executive directors: 0z
Mr. Xiao Xing Tao HEEAE - 929 - - 929
Mr. Fu Qi Chang BHEAE - 703 - - 703
Mr. Xiao Yu Qiao® HTELE = 590 13 (503) 200
Mr. Jia Shao Jun EVERE - 150 10 (408) (248)
Ms. Wang Hui IE4T - 500 63 — 563
- 281 186 o11) 2147
Non-executive director: FHMES:
Mr. Zhang Yong Jun REELE . - - - -
- 281 186 o11) 2147
(1) Mr. Xiao Yu Qiao is also the chief executive of the (1 BTYSAENMABARRREETHASE
Company.
There was no arrangement under which a FA BECHNESHIEEZTH
director or the chief executive waived or ABREXRAERNEEMMEH
agreed to waive any remuneration during the ZHE o

year.

HITHERREREAR F4£2023283

e B




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. ZEEAHFEE
The five highest paid employees during the FRN hEmadsEBEBE=Z2FFK
year included three directors including the chief FETBRABQRONRFE - ZREE ' 81
executive (2022: three directors including the chief THEAR) BENNESFBI R EX
executive), details of whose remuneration are set MaE8 « FRABRT M (20224 - M%) 3F
out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for RAABEESIRRITBRAENESHE
the year of the remaining two (2022: two) highest BHHMAEBEROT

paid employee who is neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company are as follows:

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% Tt NS R

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 285 & EWE A 1,986 1,363
Equity-settled share award scheme NHESEENRNZE
expenses FTEIRAX — (38)
Pension scheme contributions BRIREFT B 123 113
2,109 1,438
The number of non-director and non-chief executive FHNTFUATHENEESRIERST
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell HAEERHFEEAHNOT:

within the following band is as follows:

Number of employees

EEAE
2022
20224
Nil to RMB1,000,000 T = AKR#1,000,0007T 1 2
RMB1,000,000 to RMB1,500,000 A R #1,000,0007T &
A E#1,500,0007T 1 —
2 2
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10.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAX

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity
basis on profits arising in or derived from the tax
jurisdictions in which members of the Group are
domiciled and operate. The Group and the Company
are not liable for income tax in Hong Kong as they
did not have assessable income sourced from Hong
Kong during the year.

The Company is a tax-exempted company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands.

Except for certain subsidiaries in the PRC are
qualified as Small Low-profit Enterprises and thus
are entitled to a preferential income tax rate of
2.5% and 5%, PRC income tax has been provided at
the applicable income tax rate of 25% (2022: 25%)
on the assessable profits of the PRC subsidiaries.

B RE AR L

31 December 2023 202312 H31H

10. FRE

AEBEANEBEERAKREKE QA
ﬁéﬁ?ﬂﬁ&m%ﬁﬁﬁ?%ﬁéliﬁﬁ?i%

BRENEMNIHAER - AEERAR
Tﬂéﬁ%&iﬂﬂ%ﬁéﬁﬁ 5FR RAERFA
TEEABBHEARTLA -

$A SRHASESEMR LN EHRA

o

eall

BRETHRENBARFTAERANR
MARE BUHEEZH25%K5%H)
BEFEBHEIN HPEMNE AR ER
it om A 4% E R AT 15 B E25% (20224 -
25%)ETHRREMESHEE -

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR% Tt NS R
Current — Chinese Mainland BVER — B A

Charge for the year FAXH 9,226 12,236
Over-provision in prior years BAEFEBEEE (496) (609)
Deferred tax (note 31) iR FE 7 I8 (M 7E31) (31,138) (4,558)

Total tax (credit)/charge for the year FAHBGERR),
xR (22,408) 7,069




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

10. INCOME TAX (continued) 10. FIEHBEX(E)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable BEARARRIRERHE LM B AR FMAE
to profit before tax at the statutory rate for the ADERE R A TE B X 5T H B R B AT & A P
jurisdiction in which the Company and the majority HANBERYBEZERBEEAENT
of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense BRXEHERNAT:

at the effective tax rates is as follows:

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% Tt NG R

(Loss)/Profit before tax BB (B 18), g A (103,358) 31,832
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 25% BEEME2%TER
I8 (25,840) 7,958
Lower tax rates enacted by local B PP E M B B B R
authority (2,032) (1,840)
Tax losses utilised from previous periods FfT 8 /3 i@ 7+ H 6 % 18 &5 48 (98) (414)
Profits and losses attributable to joint A& ¥ L E S EEN
ventures and associates (note (a)) A K 8 1B (M X () (1,459) (2,082)
Adjustment in respect of current tax of B & Hi il BIHA 5 1B 58 &
previous periods (496) (609)
Expenses not deductible for tax DIk A 1,939 1,720
Tax losses not recognised RERBIEEIR 5,578 2,336

Tax charge at the Group's effective rate EZAEBERF X E 2

I8 X (22,408) 7,069
Note: B 5E -
(@) The share of tax attributable to joint ventures and (@) #H E2023F12A31BILEE  HHAEE
associates amounting to RM5,056,000 for the year ended KB > ¥R A A R #5056,0005T (2022
31 December 2023 (2022: RMB3,516,000) is included & : AR¥3,516,0007T) © IEtARAER K
in “Share of profits and losses of joint ventures and [DheaErERBECEEE]-

associates” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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11.

12.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DIVIDENDS

1.

B RE AR L

31 December 2023 202312 H31H
Hﬁ 4%\

Proposed final — Nil (2022:
HK1.0 cents) per ordinary share

BEREKE —
EREREERE
(20224 - 1.0510L) —

2023 2022
20234 2022E
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE Tt NG R
3,545

Final dividend for the year 2022 was approved by
the Company’s shareholders at the annual general
meeting. At the meeting of the board of directors
held on 28 March 2024, the board of directors did
not recommend a final dividend for the year ended
31 December 2023.

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculations of the basic earnings per share
amount are based on the profit for the year
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent,
and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares of 396,782,000 (2022: 396,782,000) in issue
during the year.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary
shares in issue during the year ended 31 December
2023 (2022: Nil).

12.

02FEAREREERNBRRBAFARE
AR QA IR R H#EE o R2024F3H28H
BITHESSERL ESETERK
FHE2023FNA3MBHIEFERN KRR

B o
N

BRARERERSEAARBLGER(E
B’) B

BREARMNSE R AL BE
EREBEABRGFANRZNREFANE BT
396,782,000 % (20224F : 396,782,000/%)
TR MG E -

H E2023F1N2A31MHIEFE  AEBW
EBEHBORITLER (2022F 1 ) -




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

12. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 12. BARERRZBEEARBRLER (&
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY B)/ BRE)
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT (continued)
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per BREAREERNDIRATEIEE -

share are based on:

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% Tt NS R

(Loss)/earnings (E#8|)BR
Profit attributable to ordinary equity AR EBEEERBA
holders of the parent JE 1k & F) (74,464) 12,525
Number of shares
il - §c|
2022
20224
Shares i)
Weighted average number of ordinary AFEBEZHITLBERA
shares in issue during the year R F 15 & 396,782,000 396,782,000
(Loss)/earnings per share BR(ER) B
Basic and diluted (RMB) AEAK#EEFE(ARE) (0.19) 0.03
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RE AR L

31 December 2023 202312 H31H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. % -BERRE

Leasehold Plant and Furniture Motor  Construction
improvements  machinery  and fixtures vehicles in progress Total
AEN%%E HERER  BAR%E hE EEIR @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR  ARETn ARETr ARETn  ARETn  ARETR
31 December 2023 20235127318
At 1 January 2023: B03F 1718
Cost B 2,863 12,046 4,589 86,046 - 105,544
Accumulated depreciation 2itHE (2,283) (9,305) (2,635) (51,390) - (65,613)
Net carrying amount FHAE 580 2,741 1,954 34,656 - 39,931
At 1 January 2023, net of accumulated  #203E1A18 B
depreciation 2itME 580 2TH 1,954 34,656 - 39,931
Additions hE 6,417 3,782 746 13,128 10,120 34193
Disposals HE - (241) 0] (1383) = (1,593)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 36) HE-FKBAA
(F336) - (25) (18) (64) - (107)
Depreciation provided during the year ~ FRTE& & (2,609) (1,304) (132) (14,164) = (18,209)
At 31 December 2023, net of 20235127318 -
accumulated depreciation NR2iriE 4,388 4,953 2,54 2213 10,120 54,215
At 31 December 2023: R03ENA3NA:
Cost B 9,280 14,673 4,197 89,681 10,120 128,551
Accumulated depreciation 2ithE (4.89) (9,720) (2,256) (57,468) - (74,336)
Net carrying amount FRFE 4,388 4,953 2,541 32213 10,120 54,215
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. % - BERRE(E)

(continued)

Leasehold Plant and Furniture Motor
improvements machinery and fixtures vehicles Total
BENFEE  ERREE  AWRRE nE it
RIMB'000 RMB'000 RIB'000 RMB'000 RIB'000

AR®TT  AR%Tn  ARETT  ARMTR  ARETR

31 December 2022 2022512 8318

At 1 January 2022: R2022%1818:
Cost A 2,76 11872 3,025 72,741 90,400
Accumulated depreciation 2iHE (1,573) (8,048) (1,979) (41,449) (53,049)
Net carrying amount FRFE 1,189 3,824 1,046 31,292 37,351

At 1 January 2022, net of accumulated 20281818 - Mk

depreciation Z2ithE 1,189 3,824 1,046 31,092 37,351
Additions FE 101 583 1,566 14,301 16,551
Disposals HE - (82) - (53) (135)
Depreciation provided during the year ~ R EEE (710) (1,584) (658) (10,884) (13,836)
At 31 December 2022, net of R02ENANE - 1k

accumulated depreciation 2HHME 580 2,741 1,954 34,65 39,931
At 31 December 2022; R0 8318

Cost A 2,863 12,046 4,589 86,046 105,544

Accumulated depreciation 2ithE (2,283) (9,305) (2,635) (51,390) (65,613)

Net carrying amount BAFE 580 2741 1,954 34,65 39,931
At 31 December 2023, certain of the Group's PR2023F12A31H XS EERAEFELD
motor vehicles with a net carrying amount B A R #16,222,0007T (2022F - A R
of approximately RMB16,222,000 (2022: 12,586,0007T) H )3 B E | 1E & H
RMB12,586,000) were pledged to secure certain of Bk 2 R (M FE30) ©

the other borrowings (note 30).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

B RE AR L

31 December 2023 202312 H31H

14. REMREHE

2023 2022

2023 % 20224

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥ Tt NG S

Carrying amount at 1 January MATEREREE 159,900 121,900

Transfer from finance lease receivables  J& Ug &t & & 7X 78 &2 36,444 43,241
Net loss from a fair value adjustment AT EREEENER

-] (48,344) (5,241)

Carrying amount at 31 December R1I2A3ME/EREE 148,000 159,900

The Group’s investment properties consist of
certain commercial properties in Shanghai. The
directors of the Company have determined that
the investment properties consist of one class
of asset, i.e., commercial, based on the nature,
characteristic and risk of the property. The Group's
investment properties were revalued on 31
December 2023 based on valuations performed
by independent professionally qualified valuers,
at RMB148,000,000. Each year, the Group’'s
property manager and the chief financial officer
decide to appoint which external valuer to be
responsible for the external valuation of the
Group’s properties. Selection criteria include market
knowledge, reputation, independence and whether
professional standards are maintained. The Group's
property manager and the chief financial officer
have discussions with the valuer on the valuation
assumptions and valuation results once a year when
the valuation is performed for annual financial
reporting.

The investment properties are leased to third parties
under operating leases, further summary details
of which are included in note 15 to the financial
statements.

AEENREEEHERE LENET
BAME ARAREZSCENZYWENR
ME FHEEEARBET ZREEEH
ER—REEAR ABEEE - -4A&%
B # 1% & B E R2023F12A31H &
NEE BRBEUEESERMAEME
THEE - B AKR¥148,000,0007T °
FOAEEYEER ABMEBRERT
ZAX—IINEEHEM  BEASEEME
WINEB (L E - B EREBETIHAH
BE BUMAREEHIGTBEEZTE -
AEBNMEEBE ALY BREGF
EAFEMBREETHEREMGER
Awm A EEBRREGEEER -

REUEHERBECLHAERHETE=
HoBERE—SPHNEBRESENUBR
RBTEE15 -




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14. REMEME (5)

The recurring fair value measurement hierarchy
of the Group’s investment properties as at 31
December 2023 is Level 3 which required significant
unobservable inputs used in the fair value
measurement.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair
value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2
and no transfers into or out of Level 3.

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques
used and the key inputs to the valuation of
investment properties:

KEBE®E M FEHER2023F12H31H
MEEMRAFEFESEABE=H H
ARTEFEFTEFERERTTEEH A
I -

RER F-—RRE_HZELEQF
B EEE  TEAFEFEEAESE
HE=H -

ATARRENFEHEGMEMAMGBET X
LEARBABIENHRE:

Range or Range or
weighted weighted
Valuation techniques Significant unobservable inputs average average
1 Bl BANAHREAYE EERMETY EIEERIE RS
2023 2022
20234 20224
Commercial Discounted cash flow Estimated rental value 0.17-1.03 0.16-0.86
properties method (per sq.m. and per month)
GliEk/ES BRBEREZE Rt HEBEE AKX
Lk&A)
Rent growth (p.a.) 3.35% 3.00%
HeRRE(F%)
Long term vacancy rate 6.69% 8.33%
RETEX
Discount rate 7.00% 7.00%

B .

Under the discounted cash flow method, fair value
is estimated using assumptions regarding the
benefits and liabilities of ownership over the asset’s
life including an exit or terminal value. This method
involves the projection of a series of cash flows on
a property interest. A market-derived discount rate
is applied to the projected cash flow in order to
establish the present value of the income stream
associated with the asset. The exit yield is normally
separately determined and differs from the discount
rate.
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RERBAREGREE RAFEDLNRA
EFHEESTAMARKENABNHR
FETH(BERERLEEEIRKER) -
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14.

15.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The duration of the cash flows and the specific
timing of inflows and outflows are determined
by events such as rent reviews, lease renewal and
related reletting, redevelopment or refurbishment.
The appropriate duration is driven by market
behaviour that is a characteristic of the class of
property. The periodic cash flow is estimated
as gross income less vacancy, non-recoverable
expenses, collection losses, lease incentives,
maintenance costs, agent and commission costs and
other operating and management expenses. The
series of periodic net operating income, along with
an estimate of the terminal value anticipated at the
end of the projection period, is then discounted.

A significant increase (decrease) in the estimated
rental value and the market rent growth rate per
annum in isolation would result in a significant
increase (decrease) in the fair value of the
investment properties. A significant increase
(decrease) in the long term vacancy rate and
the discount rate in isolation would result in a
significant decrease (increase) in the fair value of
the investment properties. Generally, a change in
the assumption made for the estimated rental value
is accompanied by a directionally similar change in
the rent growth per annum and the discount rate
and an opposite change in the long term vacancy
rate.

LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for store, office
premises and plant and equipment. Leases of
store and office premises generally have lease
terms between 2 and 5 years, while plant and
equipment have lease terms of 3 years. Other rental
agreements generally have lease terms of 12 months
or less and are individually of low value.

14.

15.

B RE AR L

31 December 2023 202312 H31H

REMEHE@E
BeREMFHERMBIRAMBLNEA
BEEIOHFONESKRS  HOBEK
MHEEE EEXBHEEMRE - E
ENRERBAIMSETA(DYERR
M—EREREE THHEHESRER
MW EHNBREE FAEKER Wi
BX HERB #E2EH REMNE
TERAMHEMKEMNERERMGE - &
—EREHRLLEWAFE - EREAR
BAMKRERNRKEERTSHE B
HERE -

B HEEEREBFNTHEHEHSRBRRE
ERBEEREMORD) B EBREN
B EXFENEXREMORD) - KH
ZEXRRBRREFHRLEEAREMORD)
HEBRREEBHMERFENE XD
(g —RME - HRHFAHEEEERE
HOBREHSEFTTFNESERE
ARBBEXLRBUTRAES Bl
HEHZEXTHARTAOES -

HE

AEBEREEA

AEERESH  BRGH BEERE
AVEEAK - EEARAGHAEEN
HEBEENT2ESF  MBEERED
HER3F - AMEEHZNEHBE
AREA%ERABENAEEREEE -




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

15. LEASES (continued) 15. HE%H)
The Group as a lessee (continued) rEBEFERABEAGE)
(a) Right-of-use assets () ERAEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of- AEEFAEEENREAERR
use assets and the movements during the year ERFENEHBERET:

are as follows:

Office Plant and
Store premises  equipment Total
J& % WRGHR BERRE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBETT ARBTT ARBTRT ARETR

As at 1 January 2022 ®20225£1818 — 6,532 54 6,586
Additions NE — 7,647 — 7,647
Depreciation charge (note 6) wEX & (K iEe) — (3,824) (54) (3,878)

As at 31 December 2022 and #2022%12A31AH

1 January 2023 &2023%1A18 — 10,355 — 10,355
Additions NE 10,241 3,896 — 14,137
Depreciation charge (note 6) mEX & (K Ee6) (4,898) (4,074) = (8,972)
As at 31 December 2023 #K2023F12A31H 5,343 10,177 — 15,520
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RE AR L

31 December 2023 202312 H31H

15. LEASES (continued) 15. HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) AEBEERABEAE)
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEAE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the FRNHEEAENEEELREYIS
movements during the year are as follows: SLERR

2023 2022

2023 % 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% Tt NS R

Carrying amount at 1 January RTATBREREE 190,190 194,779
New leases Mg 14,137 7,647
Accretion of interest recognised FAEBERA S G M

during the year 8,676 8,712
Covid-19-related rent concessions A% FTHH TR S

from lessors HEMHERSR® — (10,005)
Payments E:S (33,350) (10,943)
Carrying amount at 31 December #12A31H MM A 179,653 190,190
Analysed into: pal il

Current B HA 25,025 20,965

Non-current JE B B

— in the second year —FF 17,957 19,172

— in the third to fifth years, —F=FETE

inclusive (BiEEEEMF) 54,014 60,912

— beyond five years —RFEMNE 82,657 89,141

Sub-total for non-current JEBNER /N BT 154,628 169,225
Total lease liabilities HEaERRSE 179,653 190,190
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities HEABMNIH DTN B R KN T
is disclosed in note 44 to the financial 44HE FE

statements.




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

15. LEASES (continued) 15. HE%H)
The Group as a lessee (continued) rEBEFERABEAGE)
() The amounts recognised in profit or loss in () RExBEREHEFEN BN
relation to leases are as follows: ™

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% Tt N R

Interest on lease liabilities HMEAEFE 8,676 8,712
Depreciation charge of right-of-use ff & ETE X H

assets 8,972 3,878
Expense relating to short-term HEHHERKEEEE

leases and leases of low-value HEMBARX

assets 2,696 1,249
Covid-19-related rent concessions HBE AL FHOHERSE

from lessors BHBAHESEE — (1,692)

Total amount recognised in profit RIBF R A A

or loss 20,344 12,147

(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in d HENRERERERZERITHK

note 37(c) to the financial statements. WERMFE37(Q) °
The Group as a lessor rEBEEREEA
The Group leases its investment properties (note AEBRBELKEHELHTEHEERE
14) consisting of commercial properties in Shanghai MEMEMTI4  BRELEENERY
under operating lease arrangements. The terms X -ZEHENGRR—REKBAPLXMN
of the leases generally require the tenants to pay REZ VYANUNTHERBRERLTERFE
security deposits and provide for periodic rent WMBEAAERE AEERFARE
adjustments according to the then prevailing REME 2 WA B ARK507,00075T (2022
market conditions. Rental income recognised by F: ANR¥7,145,000)  BEEFBHR
the Group during the year was RMB507,000 (2022: B is &R M 5Es o

RMB7,145,000), details of which are included in
note 5 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. LEASES (continued)
The Group as a lessor (continued)
At 31 December 2023, the undiscounted lease
payments receivable by the Group in future periods
under non-cancellable operating leases with its
tenants are as follows:

B RE AR L

31 December 2023 202312 H31H

15. HE(#H)
AEBEEREAEAGE)
R2023F12H31H  AEE R KRR HME
BREEEAFPHTIRELEHEMmK
BRI EKBEENRET

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® Tt NG R

Within one year —F R 12,217 11,209
After one year but within two years —FRERMFEA 13,917 7,540
After two years but within three years MERER=ZF R 14,467 5,977
After three years but within four years Z=F % B RUF R 14,403 5,126
After four years but within five years NFEZEERAEFR 12,433 1,675
After five years hF1& 62,624 6,895

130,061 38,422




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

16. GOODWILL 16. BHE

2023 2022

2023 20224

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR® T NS

Cost and net carrying amount B R & BRTEDF A 25,901 25,901
Impairment testing of goodwill GRS RERE

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is
allocated to the Hong Xin Environment Group Co.,
Ltd. cash generating unit (“Hong Xin CGU").

The recoverable amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit has been determined based on a
value in use calculation using cash flow projections
based on financial budgets covering a five-year
period approved by senior management. The pre-tax
discount rate applied to the cash flow projections
is 17.7% (2022: 19.1%). The growth rate used to
extrapolate the cash flows beyond the five-year
period is 2.0% (2022: 2.3%).

Assumptions were used in the value in use
calculation of the relevant cash-generating units
for 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022. The
following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to
undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to the budgeted gross margins
is the average gross margins achieved in the year
immediately before the budget year, increased for
expected efficiency improvements, and expected
market development.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)
Annual revenue growth rate for the 5-year period
— The basis used to determine the value assigned
to the annual revenue growth rate is the average
annual revenue growth rate achieved in the year
immediately before the budget year, increased for
expected market development.

Discount rate — The discount rate used is before
tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant
units.

Terminal growth rate — The forecasted terminal
growth rate is based on senior management’s
expectations and does not exceed the long-term
average growth rate for the industry relevant to the
cash-generating unit.

Sensitivity analysis and changes in headroom:

B RE AR L

31 December 2023 202312 H31H

16. & & (&)

B ORE R A ()
AFRHRFUABTRE — BREESF
WARERXRBENERSERRESFE
A—FERNTPHFRALERE IR
RS R MG N -

MEE — ERANRRARSH AL KRR
THBEETHNRERR -

REHRE — BHBLEREDER
BRERENES LTEBRALE
s EMEMTRNRBTYERE -

HEEIMEHER T

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2023 2022
2023F 20224
RMB’000 RMB"000
ARE Tt NS R
Base case: EXER:
Recoverable amount A E £ 122,396 139,534
Headroom e 7,728 24,514
Sensitivity test — decrease in BRENR —8#HE
headroom o2
Annual growth rate for 5-year period 54 Hf F 38 &= 2R
decreased by 0.5 percentage point 0.518 & 7 2 3,342 20,331
Pre-tax discount rate increased by 0.5 75 A1 G 3R Z 8 HN0. 51
percentage point Ao 2,628 19,556
Terminal growth rate decreased by 0.5 B #3% & R 40,51
percentage point Elak 3,138 20,937




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

16. GOODWILL (continued)
Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)
The values assigned to the key assumptions on
market development of urban sanitary service
income and the discount rate are consistent with
external information sources.

17. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES
The carrying amount of the Group’s finance lease
receivables and the movements during the year are

16.

17.

g ()

7 2 E R & ()

2R IRE IR WA 5 R KA LI
ERRBRROEE  EIFEELR
_ﬁo

FE W B & HE A
74 55 I8 L KO 0 R ML T
EREENRBFERMT

as follows:
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31MALEE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR% Tt NS R
Carrying amount at 1 January RTATE®EREE 46,489 99,069
Accretion of interest recognised FRE®ERTNEIEM
during the year 241 3,829
Receipts &= (299) (4,855)
Covid-19-related rent concessions to  [A1 &l A 12 {89 %71 72 %
lessees SR BFHEBEAS R — (8,313)
Transfer to investment properties* EREREEFME (36,444) (43,241)
9,987 46,489
Analysed into: DR
Current portion B ER =R 5> 768 5,295
Non-current portion JEBNHAEL & 9,219 41,194

As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022,
the loss allowance was assessed to be minimal.

d Due to early termination of tenant of finance lease
receivables, the related finance lease receivables were
transferred to investment properties.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RE AR L

31 December 2023 202312 H31H

18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

18. Hitt B EE

Customer
relationship Software Total
EEBE B4 #5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T ARE T ARE T
31 December 2023 202312 H31H
Cost at 1 January 2023, net of 72023F1818H
accumulated amortisation A Mk RE
] 36,500 548 37,048
Additions NE — 9,246 9,246
Impairment BB (25,500) = (25,500)
Amortisation provided during the 4 X # 4 B &
year (note 6) (KfzE6) (6,000) (2,483) (8,483)
At 31 December 2023 72023412 A318 5,000 7,311 12,311
At 31 December 2023: 720234128318 :
Cost BN 54,000 14,211 68,211
Accumulated amortisation - (23,500) (6,900) (30,400)
Impairment BE (25,500) — (25,500)
Net carrying amount RESE 5,000 7,311 12,311
Customer
relationship Software Total
HKFBER B BT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBF T ARBF T
31 December 2022 2022412 H31H
Cost at 1 January 2022, net of R2022F1 18 K
accumulated amortisation BOA - B RE
B 42,500 1,438 43,938
Amortisation provided during the  4F /A # 5 B &
year (note 6) (M 7%6) (6,000) (890) (6,890)
At 31 December 2022 7202212 A318 36,500 548 37,048
At 31 December 2022: 72022512 A318 ¢
Cost (DN 54,000 4,966 58,966
Accumulated amortisation REtEH (17,500) (4,418) (21,918)
Net carrying amount BREHE 36,500 548 37,048
EThRERAERAR 452023 301




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ISR AR Y RE

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 18. Hth B\ EE (&)

In accordance with the Group’s accounting policies,
each asset or CGU is evaluated annually at the
end of the reporting period to determine whether
there are any indicators of impairment. The Group
concluded that impairment indicators existed
due to the poor post-pandemic macroeconomic
environment and the reduction of government
expenditure, resulting in the substantial decrease
in revenue and gross profit of the urban sanitary
service segment of the Group in 2023.

In assessing whether there is an impairment, the
carrying value of the CGU is compared with its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of the CGU's fair value less costs of disposal
and value-in-use (“VIU"). For the purpose of the
impairment assessment, the customer relationship
of the Group is treated as a separate CGU. The
Group performed impairment assessments on such
asset by determining the VIU of the CGU based on
the discounted cash flow model. The VIU of the
asset is determined based on the calculation using
cash flow projections with post-tax discount rates
of 15.5% for the CGU.

Based on the above-mentioned impairment
assessment, the recoverable amounts and carrying
amounts as at 31 December 2023 were separately
RMB5,000,000 and RMB30,500,000. The
management made the impairment provisions of
RMB25,500,000 accordingly.
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19.

20.

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 19. REELERE
2023 2022
2023 % 20224
RMB’000 RMB"000
ARE T N R
Share of net assets B EE T8 23,438 28,865
The Group has no material joint venture. The AEBYEEREEDLE - GEDLEN
investments in joint ventures are indirectly held by KEBHARAREERSE -
the Company.
The following table illustrates the aggregate TRIINTAEERBAEERGEDREN
financial information of the Group’s joint ventures SO E R
that are not individually material:
2023 2022
2023F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR T T N

Share of the joint ventures’ profit for the FA D (h& & A& 7

year and total comprehensive income Famk s 8 (3.,227) 602
Aggregate carrying amount of the AEBEREELERED
Group's investment in the joint ventures  BREI B 4258 23,438 28,865
INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 20. ABEERE
2023 2022
2023F 20224
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR% Tt NS R
Share of net assets JEhE E TR 76,435 49,019
Goodwill on acquisition WEEL 2HE 19,530 8,962
95,965 57,981
The Group has no material associate. The AEBEWESERNBE QR - BE QAW
investments in associates are indirectly held by the ERARREERSE -
Company.




20. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 20. RE(&E X R &E (%)
The following table illustrates the aggregate TRINTANEEE R 3EE KB E bR
financial information of the Group’s associates that e St IEE R :
are not individually material:

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% Tt N R

Share of the associates’ profit for the DIRFAREE PEREN R

year and total comprehensive income 2HEKEERE 9,062 7,725
Aggregate carrying amount of the AEBRBEREREN
Group's investments in the associates RmMEAE 95,965 57,981
21. EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED 21. EERAFEFAHMEZE K =S
AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER NRAERE

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2023 2022

2023 % 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% Tt NG R

Equity investments designated EERAFEFAHM
at fair value through other ZHBENREARE
comprehensive income
Unlisted equity investments, FELETRAKRE BAF
at fair value &5t
Jiangcheng Hujiang Lianfeng I ETHE R ERE
Agriculture Technology Co., Ltd. BRRAA 700 700
Shanghai Guotao Real Estate LTEBREEHERAR
Co., Ltd.* NS 1,500 1,500
Impairment B (1,500) (1,500)

700 700

Listed equity investments, at fair value ~ FHRAKRE » B A FE
&t

Roiserv Lifestyle Services Co., Ltd. Roiserv Lifestyle Services

| Co., Ltd. 1,150 1,602
1,850 2,302
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21. EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED 2. EEELQAFEFARMCEZE RS

AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER WRARE (&)
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued)

The above equity investments were irrevocably PR BRAKEETTHEMIEERAF
designated at fair value through other Bt AEM2EKZ  RARAEER
comprehensive income as the Group considers these REZEREBRERBME -

investments to be strategic in nature.

J Shanghai Guotao Real Estate Co., Ltd. did not generate g GBI i EE A BR A R E AR AR A
any revenue and it had ceased to operate any business EE200FRIEEETMNER (REDEE
including property management services since 2010. As BRA) - At - EEE 2 EURE ©

such, full impairment had been made.

22. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 22. HtkERBEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR% Tt NS R

Deposits & 13,786 18,256
Long term prepayments REATE R K1 — 11,119
13,786 29,375

23. INVENTORIES 23. 78

2023 2022
2023% 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR% Tt NS R

Consumables H R S 100 82

ETRRERARAR 452023 305




24. TRADE RECEIVABLES

24. E 5BV FHEA

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR Tt NG S

Trade receivables 2 5 e W I8 249,727 259,315
Impairment B (14,256) (8,596)
235,471 250,719

The Group's credit terms with its customers are
mainly on credit. The credit period is generally 10
to 60 days, extending up to three months for major
customers. The Group seeks to maintain strict
control over its outstanding receivables and has a
credit control department to minimise credit risk.
Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. In view of the aforementioned and
the fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate
to a large number of diversified customers, there
is no significant concentration of credit risk. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances.
Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables are
amounts due from the Group’s joint ventures and
associates of RMB23,000 (2022: RMB2,121,000) and
RMB5,864,000 (2022: RMB76,000), respectively,
which are repayable on credit terms similar to those
offered to the major customers of the Group.
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24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 24. EZ R WKIE(H)

At 31 December 2023, the Group has pledged MR2023F12H31H - A& B2 EHESH
trade receivables of approximately RMB37,445,000 FE W 38 18 49 A R %37,445,0007T (2022
(2022: Nil) to secure certain of the bank and other FE) UERETETREMERS
borrowings (note 30). F£30) °

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the REBEMR BHRKFEBEZREZAE
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice WHIREBEREBENRE>TOT

date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® Tt NG R

Within 1 year 1A 216,374 243,322
1 to 2 years 1224 17,993 6,752
2 to 3 years 2E3F 1,104 645

235,471 250,719
The movements in the loss allowance for ESREWREREGEEREEEDH N T

impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% Tt NG R

At beginning of year R E 9] 8,596 6,145
Amounts written off as uncollectible T 88 A3 S AT Y [ B FRIE — (110)
Impairment of trade receivables B 5 RWHIERE

(note 6) (Kt 5£6) 5,660 2,561

At end of year R ER 14,256 8,596




24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 24. B 5 EWRKIE(E)

An impairment analysis is performed at each RERESAMKABREERETRES
reporting date using a provision matrix to measure *ﬁ Nt ERHEEEE -BEXDE
expected credit losses. The provision rates are based REERUEBEBERAXN(AIREFPER K
on days past due for groupings of various customer ARE )N EER P o & AR e E
segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by HEET - ZetERMEATMNELS
customer type and rating). The calculation reflects R ERHAISHNERBEEIE - B8
the probability-weighted outcome, the reasonable ﬁkﬁ&ﬁi?}(,ﬁ%/@ﬂﬂ%‘ﬁ Bl H) & 32 KAl 5
and supportable information that is available at the BR e —Mims - BSEKFIAR S H
reporting date about past events, current conditions 8 38 — 4 A %M?ﬂﬂfﬁ BHBAXRRN®R
and forecasts of future economic conditions. HBITIEE ©

Generally, trade receivables are written off if past
due for more than one year and are not subject to
enforcement activity.

Set out below is the information about the credit TXHIWEZBREAHEBRASEF AR
risk exposure on the Group's trade receivables using HEEENEIRERKAKRBEMAZNEE
a provision matrix based on the invoice date: [2 Bz & %} -

As at 31 December 2023 M2023F12A31H

2023
2023
Expected Gross
credit carrying Expected

loss rate amount credit losses
HHEER EHEER
RMB 000 RMB’'000

AR® T AR T

Within 1 year 19 1A 0.50% 217,466 1,092
1 to 2 years 1824 31.00% 26,076 8,083
2 to 3 years 2E3F 71.33% 3,851 2,747
Over 3 years 8 B3F 100.00% 2,334 2,334

249,727 14,256
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24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 24. EZ R WKIE(H)

Set out below is the information about the credit TXEHINREEZBHMERAEEEAE
risk exposure on the Group’s trade receivables HEBRNEZIERAREBEMAZNEER
using a provision matrix based on the invoice date: [2 bz & #} - (&)

(continued)

As at 31 December 2022 12022512 A31H
2022
20224
Expected Gross Expected
credit carrying credit
loss rate amount losses
BHEE HHEE
BRX FRE 18 B8
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARBTT

Within 1 year 1A 0.49% 244,532 1,210
1 to 2 years 1E24F 21.34% 8,584 1,832
2 to 3 years 2E3F 55.88% 1,462 817
Over 3 years tBiA3F 100.00% 4,737 4,737

259,315 8,596




25. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 25. A RIE R H B R IE

RECEIVABLES
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR Tt NG R
Prepayments to suppliers TN T R IR 16,557 14,845
Payments on behalf of residents (note (@) & &R X5 HE
(Bt 3% (a)) 42,917 58,930
Due from a non-controlling shareholder & 4 — iz I % % A% 38 3B
(note (b)) (Ff 7 (b)) 3,565 1,850
Cash in advance BXRE 3,613 2,963
Deposits B 10,597 11,932
Prepaid expenses iGN 904 2,627
Amount due from related parties JE W5 8 B 5 3R 1B
(note 41(c)) (M 5E41(c) 17,250 15,124
Loan provided to a third party (note (c)) REFE=HHEK
(Bt 5% () 6,525 6,893
Dividends receivables (note (d)) JE U B% 8. (BT 5 (d)) 2,970 14,250
VAT recoverable AJ Y [o] 181 3,244 —
Others H 2,725 2,888
110,867 132,302
Impairment allowance A B (1,500) (248)
109,367 132,054
Notes: B 5
(@ The balance represents payments for property () ZEBRERXRERERYEERRYE LW E
management services and urban sanitary services on REREZFHIRIE -
behalf of residents.
(b)  The balance mainly represents the advance to the non- by HEHETBEBNTAMEREEEFRADA
controlling shareholder of Hong Xin Environmental Group FEFERRE 2 KIE -
Company Limited.
() The balance represents the loans to a third party URF () & ##%¥4% T 5 = 7 URF Holding Group
Holding Group Limited. Limited 2 E 3K °
(d The balance represents the dividends receivable (d) ZEHIEERAESEAMMNBERR LEGINE
RMB2,970,000 from Shanghai Bund Property Co., Ltd, a MEER QBN E ARM2,970,0007T °
former subsidiary of the Group..
The financial assets included in the above balances FFALMESRNEREE SRR
relate to receivables for which there was no recent 7 45 ) % 38 HA R B /9 B W FRIA -

history of default and past due amounts.
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26. RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES

27.

26. X PR HI R 17 4 &R

Restricted bank balances received from
residents for property management
services and urban sanitary services

BEERKDARYRER
RIS R BRERBE D
PR Y8R 17 45 8R

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREF T
27,105 22,315

Restricted bank balances earn interest at interest
rates stipulated by the respective financial
institutions.

The restricted bank balances are deposited with

creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

ERERITERE S REBEBITTHF
Z_'E_(E\% HX %IJ /%\ ©

XRHBITERDFRECERTFLE
T HR R RE BRHY IR AT o

27. RERBEEEY

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB"000
AR% Tt NS R
Cash and bank balance Re RRITEH
Cash and cash equivalents BehBeEEBY 139,674 171,818

At the end of the reporting period, the cash
and bank balances of the Group denominated
in RMB amounted to RMB137,842,000 (2022:
RMB168,869,000). The RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies, however, under Mainland
China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment
of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies
through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based
on daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent
history of default.

RBEBR AEBUARBITED
Re RiR1THE#H B ARY137,842,0007T
(20224 : A R ¥168,869,0007T) ° A R
A ERERAHEMER - A - R
BRREAMMINEE RGN RERE &
ERNEEERTE AEEAEAER
BEENINEXEBNRITHEARKLBRA
H g -

FHRRITHRSREBRITERH =X
HF B R RBRERA B - RITERTDER
EEERFNEOMABRCHENERT o %

SEITHREERARAR £2023311




28. TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the
end of the reporting periods, based on the invoice

date, is as follows:

28. EZENRME

RBEHR BHENRBREZBH

B RRER AT T

2023 2022

20234 2022E

Notes RMB’'000 RMB’'000

k=3 AR Tt NG S

Within 3 months 3@ AR (a) 121,143 124,501
3 to 12 months 3ZE121@ A 2,882 4,902
Over 1 year BiBE1F 2,887 2,824
126,912 132,227

BZRNREARE B —MISEICK
;agggﬁg °

=

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are
normally settled on terms of 5 to 90 days.

Note: B 3 -
AEEESENFET REENRNEE B

& (b3 5RIE A R#0950,000T - ARRERK
FTAEETIEHERZBELUEEGERRERE -

(a) Included in the Group's trade payables are amounts due to (@)
Group's associates of RMB950,000, which are repayable
on credit terms similar to those granted by the major
vendors of the Group.

29. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 29. HhERREREFTEH

2023 2022

2023F 20224

Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

i AR% Tt NS R

Contract liabilities B EaE (a) 12,200 12,987

Advances received from sublease ¢ & 8 IR 75 Y& 2| &9

service B35 — 1,327
Staff payroll and welfare payables 8 T T & K & F) & {+f

IR 32,131 28,646

Deposits received BiE e 23,469 26,128

Receipts on behalf of residents RERERKH (b) 36,653 43,949

Other tax payables H At & 5 B 18 18,027 14,940

Dividend payables JE - B% B — 2,734

Other payables H fth & A R IB 3,625 3,404

As at 31 December 2023 M20234F12A318 126,105 134,115

312 RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2023



29. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 29. Hitb BN RIBER B E B (&)

(continued)
Notes: B 3

(@)  Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (@) EHBEEFBELOT:

31 December 31 December 1 January
2023 2022 2022

20234 20224 20224
12A31H 12A31H 1H1H
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBT T AREF T

Short-term advances received from & £ & F Y B £ 42 2

customers B

Property management services MEEER® 12,200 12,987 17,059
Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to AEHNBEBEERIERY X T ERBE KR
deliver property management services. B ER B AR o

(b)  The balance represents receipts from building residents to (b) HBRERAEBFERKDROREUIRRES
settle utilities, bills, and maintenance and repair fees on HEELNRAZKE: - RE - REREBEER -
behalf of them. Included in the Group’s other payables and AEENEMENREREFERABER
accruals are amounts due to the Group's joint ventures NEAEEEECERBE QRN RESD 5
and associates of RMB211,000 and RMB2,601,000, RAR®211,0007T & AR #2,601,0007T °

respectively.

Other payables and accruals are non-interest- HUMENREBEREFERAEZERA
bearing and repayable on demand. REREEES -




30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS AND 30. IEMITERR HME
OTHER BORROWINGS

2

20234
Effective
interest
rate (%) Maturity RMB’000
BB A 2 (%) FHA AR¥ TR
Current B 5
Bank loans — unsecured and RITER — BHA
unguaranteed & EER 3.65-4.14 2024 37,043
Bank loans — guaranteed (note a) RTE R — BER
LED) 3.50-4.10 2024 133,608
Current portion of long term H h & HA & 56 BN A
other borrowings — secured Hnr — BERK
and guaranteed (note b) BERMFED) 0-5.30 2024 15,634
186,285
Non-current FEENHA
Other borrowings — secured Hn R — FEHA
and guaranteed (note b) RAERMEED) 0-4.20 2026 13,563
199,848
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS AND
OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

30. IEMITERKRHMMERE)

2022
20226
Effective
interest
rate (%) Maturity RMB’000
BB A E (%) Epg= ARBFT
Current B 5
Bank loans — unsecured and RITER — BHA
unguaranteed K ER 3.40-4.15 2023 124,348
Bank loans — guaranteed (note a) RTE K — BER
GET) 3.90-4.35 2023 21,000
Current portion of long term H & HA {6 5K 6 BN AR
other borrowings — secured By —BERAR
and guaranteed (note b) BHER D) 3.30-11.44 2023 10,329
155,677
Non-current 3k B 5
Other borrowings — secured Hn g — FEA
and guaranteed (note b) KB ERM D) 3.30-8.73 2024 3,156
158,833

EITHEERAEBRAR F4£2023315

e B




30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS AND 30. i E R
OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

2022
20224
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARE Tt N B
Analysed into: PWH:
Bank loans repayable: EEERITEN:
Within one year or on demand R —FARAxZENR 170,651 145,348
Other borrowings repayable: EEEHMER:
Within one year or on demand R —FARIZEX 15,634 10,329
In the second year F 4 13,563 3,156
29,197 13,485
199,848 158,833
Notes: B 5E -
Except for unsecured and unguaranteed bank loans, all bank BRARERRRER ZIBITERUIN FTBERITE

REEMEFOLSETHRAKREZFZ2EMNBA
A1Bh AR 3 E AR HE R S HE AR

loans and other borrowings are granted to Hong Xin, a non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Group, and guaranteed or
secured by:

S 3B ARM26,153,750 T E T2 F R 1T
EXBTELT BRRAEERLEEHID
XERATRHEER -

(a) Certain of these bank loans amounting to RMB26,153,750 (a)
are guaranteed by Ms. Wang Hui, Mr. Kou Liang and
Shanghai Pujiang Property Co., Ltd..

(b)  Details of long term other borrowings are as below: (by EHtRIMEROHFBEOT:

(i) Certain of these other borrowings amounting to (i) % %A AR #270,5005T (20224 : A

(i)

(iii)

RMB270,500 are guaranteed by Ms. Wang Hui
(2022: RMB2,230,000).

Certain of the Group's other borrowings amounting
to nil (2022: RMB333,000) are guaranteed by Ms.
Wang Hui and Mr. Kou Liang.

Certain of these other borrowings amounting
to RMB24,957,392 (2022: RMB10,922,000) are
secured by the pledge of certain of the Group's
motor vehicles with a net carrying amount of
RMB16,222,000 (2022: RMB12,586,000).
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(if)

(iii)

R ¥2,230,000m) WA TZEEBR A
TELTRBER-

£ 8 AT (20224 : AR¥333,0007T)
WMALEEE THMERATIELZETR
B ERMBER -

& B A A R ¥24,957,39270 (2022
£ A R #10,922,00070) B & F %
SHMERBAEBEBFEAA
R %16,222,00070 (2022« A R ¥
12,586,0007T) K & F /% B K # {E #&
R o



31. DEFERRED TAX 31. EEEBE
The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets FRNEEHERBEREEZDHBERET
during the year are as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities EEREBEEE

2023
plipki:d
Investment Custom Right-of-use

property relationship assets Total
REMEHE RFER% HREEE ot
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTR ARBTR AR®T:

At 31 December 2022 ©2022%12A318 5,949 9,125 - 15,074
Effect of adoption of amendments to & 75 & 5+ £ 8|
HKAS 12 F12HR(BTXR) 2
2 45,648 — 1,827 47,475
At 1 January 2023 (restated) R2023F1A18
(&) 51,597 9,125 1,827 62,549

Deferred tax credited/(charged) to the FR A /(1K H)
statement of profit or loss during BRxZELHE

the year (restated) (note 10) (L E5))(KF10) (12,100) (7,875) 717 (19,258)
Gross deferred tax liabilities at 20231283188
31 December 2023 (restated) EEREEERS

(&=E50) 39,497 1,250 2,544 43,291




31. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 31. IEEFE (&)
Deferred tax assets EEREEE

2023
2023 %
Lease Unutilized
liabilities Impairment  tax losses Total

AEA
HEAE {8 REBE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB‘000
ARBTR ARBTR AR%®TR AR%TR

At 31 December 2022 ©2022%12A31H 73 1,477 — 1,550
Effect of adoption of amendments to & 75 & 5+ £ 8|
HKAS 12 F125% (B3 A)
LRE 47,475 — — 47,475
At 1 January 2023 (restated) R2023F1718
(B E35) 47,548 1,477 — 49,025

Deferred tax credited/(charged) to the E XA /(3% A)
statement of profit or loss during BRxZEEHE

the year (restated) (note 10) (18 E5)(H310) (4,007) 2,462 13,425 11,880
Gross deferred tax assets M2023F12A31HE
at 31 December 2023 (restated) EXHEEERE
(L E5) 43,541 3,939 13,425 60,905
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31. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 31. IEEF B (&)

Deferred tax liabilities EEHREAE
2022
20224
Investment Custom  Right-of-use
property  relationship assets Total
REMEHE XPHGE CRREAE Bmat
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBETT ARETE AR®TT ARETR
At 31 December 2021 2021912 A31H 8,316 10,625 — 18,941
Effect of adoption of amendments to 4 & & & 5+ E 8|
HKAS 12 F12HREBITXR)Z
2 46,926 — 1,669 48,595
At 1 January 2022 (restated) 7202241718
(i E35)) 55,242 10,625 1,669 67,536
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to the FRFTA /(1K H)
statement of profit or loss during BRaxZETHE
the year (restated) (note 10) (B E5))(K10) (3,645) (1,500) 158 (4,987)
Gross deferred tax liabilities R2022F12 8318 1)
at 31 December 2022 (restated) ERVBEEES
(& &35) 51,597 9,125 1,827 62,549
Deferred tax assets EEBEBEEE
2022
20224
Lease Unutilized
liabilities  Impairment tax losses Total
AEA
HEBE wE REEBR Bar
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETE AR®TT ARETR
At 31 December 2021 #2021%12 A31H 100 759 — 859
Effect of adoption of amendments to  HR4 & 5 €zt &R
HKAS 12 F12R(BEITK) 2
e 48,595 — — 48,595
At 1 January 2022 (restated) 72022461718
(EE=5) 48,695 759 — 49,454
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to the ERFA /(1K &)
statement of profit or loss during BaikzBELEHE
the year (restated) (note 10) (BE))(KF10) (1,147) 718 — (429)
Gross deferred tax assets R2022F12 831818
at 31 December 2022 (restated) EERERERE ?{
(& E35) 47,548 1,477 — 49,025




31. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax
assets and liabilities have been offset in the
statement of financial position. The following is an
analysis of the deferred tax balances of the Group
for financial reporting purposes:

31.

iIE FIE B TH (48)
REFME ETELERBEERARE
ERBMHRAREE - M BHREME

AEBETCHBALHRINWT

2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR% Tt NS R
Net deferred tax assets recognised RiEEHBRARERZ
in the consolidated statement of EXERIEE EFE
financial position 18,864 1,550
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised RiEEHBRARERZ
in the consolidated statement of EXEMRIBEEETRE
financial position 1,250 15,074
The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of M2023F12A31H - AEBREBESE

RMB26,876,000 as at 31 December 2023 (2022:
RMB23,690,000) that are available indefinitely
for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose.

The Group also has tax losses arising in Chinese
Mainland of RMB95,460,000 as at 31 December
2023 (2022: RMB42,847,000), that will expire
in one to five years for offsetting against future
taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect
of these losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries
that have been loss-making but it is considered
probable that taxable profits will be available
against which the tax losses can be utilised.
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M IEEE A A R#26,876,0007T (2022
o AR #23,690,0007T) ¢ A] £ [R B A
EERBEEEEBAAMERKRERY G
A oo

R2023F12A31MH  AEB R EFEA
Hb EE A R TH S 18 A R %95,460,0007T
(20224 : A R #42,847,0007T) * #H —
ERFARE - AJAREHERRERT
i Fl) o

HRZEERKREEEENNE AR
BB RRAERRBRT G B EH
MEEE BRI ZEERERRE
ERBEE °



31.

32.

DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared
to foreign investors from the foreign investment
enterprises established in Chinese Mainland. The
requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and
applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A
lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there
is a tax treaty between Chinese Mainland and the
jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 10% (2022:10%). The Group is
therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in
Chinese Mainland in respect of earnings generated
from 1 January 2008.

At 31 December 2023, no deferred tax has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be
payable on the unremitted earnings that are subject
to withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries
established in Chinese Mainland (2022: Nil). In the
opinion of the directors, it is not probable that
these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in
the foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland for which
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised was
approximately RMB112,535,000 at 31 December
2023 (2022: RMB200,945,000).

SHARE CAPITAL

31.

iIE 7E B 1E (&)
BEPBEDSEMERE  RPE A K
YR ELEERRAINEREES IR
HRR B B10%TEHI M o % K H2008
F1RATE & % - I @ A 1K2007F12 A
BHBRELENRF - BINEIEEEB
AEAEREPEAERBHBE  INE
REEZNERAREBIMRE - A&EHE
MmE @AKRREAE10% (20229 : 10%) °
it ARPEAKIOZSHER
AR B2008F1A1HEERELENEF TS
MR E - NEBABMBNE -

R2023F12A31H Y ERARNEE R
FEAMK OB RARMNRE LA
FI (RS MTEN B E) i ME A T8 0 71
RIELERE(Q022F  E) - EER A -
ZEMB AR T AN NAITER KK
DIRAEBAEF - BR2023F12A8318 © &
AERELEHR B AR NP E R H K
BRAAKENMHEBAERERAHENA
A E #112,535,0007C (2022F : A R #&
200,945,0007T) °

32. B&

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ Tt NG S
Authorised: VETE
8,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 8,000,000,000 % & i% [ &
each (2022: 8,000,000,000 shares of 0.0178 T 9 i% 17 (2022
HK$0.01 each) £ : 8,000,000,000 1% &
AR E{E0.018 LW AR 172) 70,096 70,096
Issued and fully paid: EETREBTE:
405,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 405,000,000 0% & f% E &
each (2022: 405,000,000 shares of 0.01/8 LB & 15 (2022
HK$0.01 each) T 405,000,000 % & i%
EEO0.01 T/ IR 17) 3,391 3,391

SEITHREERAERAR £42023 321




33. RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 30 August 2018, the Company announced to
adopt the share award scheme (the “Scheme”)
with objectives to recognise the contribution by
certain employees and give incentives thereto in
order to motivate them for the continual operation
and development of the Group and to attract
suitable personnel for further development of the
Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2019,
8,218,000 shares were purchased by the
trustee from the market at an average price of
approximately HK$2.43 (equivalent to RMB2.18) per
share, with an aggregate amount of HK$20,000,000
(equivalent to RMB17,916,000), which was recorded
in reserve of “Shares held for the Scheme”.

Pursuant to the Scheme, the board of directors may,
from time to time, at its absolute discretion, cause
to be paid to the trustee sums of money from the
Company’s resources for the purchase of shares to
be held on trust in accordance with the Scheme and
the trust deed. Such sums of money shall be applied
towards the purchase of the specific number of
shares from the open market according to the
written instructions of the board of directors.

On 12 April 2021, the award shares of the Company
representing 6,574,000 ordinary shares with
par value of HK$0.01 each of the Company (the
“Shares”) were approved to be granted to 17
selected persons under the Scheme. The awarded
shares to be granted to the awardees represented
approximately 1.62% of the Company’s issued
shares. No consideration is required to be paid by
the grantees of the award shares. Subject to the
satisfactory of performance condition as determined
by the directors, the awarded shares maybe vested
in the grantee after performance period.

The actual number of shares awarded becoming
vested and ultimately granted is however conditional
upon the fulfilment of certain performance targets
and is linked to the performance evaluation results
of the grantees.
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33. REIMERDERB TS

MR2018F8H30H A RAIEM KM —I8
iRt E([5HE8)) ZEtEMWE®
RETEE TEEMEEHNER LG T
ZEHE NEEFRSEHBESCERERAN
S8 KRS EEABNE-—FERAK
eI

HE2019F12A3MBLEFE R AR
FHERERA243BTHERAR
¥2.1870) FATH 35 B8 A 8,218,000% f& 15 -
48 4 %8 /520,000,000 T(HEE R AR
#17,916,0007T) * sTATRZTEIFEN
RGmIFEE -

RIEZFE EFEUTREZEEBYR
BRARRBERMAZTE A RIEIAR
ARBARD - BASNBD K RIEZET
ELERZONERETLATE - ZFXK
ARREBEEEFSGEHRRTEARKELH
mIZBEREHBENRD -

MR2021F4 7128 - KRR BRE KR GH -
Bl A5 2 8]6,574,000 % & A% T {E0.018 7T
mE@R(RE]) BHER THEIE
TI7REEEOAL - BRTFELERHA
THRBBROEERRATDEHTRML
1.62% ° HENIR D VAR ABL B A
FRRE - RIBEESSETHEEKRGY
REROANEERERTIEA

Al ERRBY XK RONREED
BERFERETHNEEBEME A
HARANEEFEERBH -



33.

34.

RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME

(continued)

The following table summarizes the Company'’s
restricted share unit activities under the Scheme
during the year:

33.

BRR I £ B 42 52 B &t & (40)

TERBARRRRAFRERFEIETH
XD ELIES

Weighted Weighted
average 2023 average 2022
grant date Number of grant date  Number of
fair value shares fair value shares
o #E ¥39 I F 19
B¥H 20235 ®TH 2022F &
DNFEHE 14 & B NS R 8B
RMB RMB
per share ‘000 per share ‘000
BRARY TR BN T
At 1 January M1A1H — — 1.48 2,734
Granted during the year FAEKRH — — — —
Forfeited during the year FRERK — = 1.48 (2,734)
At 31 December M12A31R — — —
No shares were vested in 2023. B D R2023F KRB -
The fair value of share award as at the date of grant BROZBARBFEHARNRAFE K& )
was determined based on the closing price of the RELHBHROKTESE

Company’s share as at the date of grant.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, as the
performance condition were not satisfied, the
Group forfeited an equity-settled share award
scheme, share award expense of RMB1,558,000 was
reversed accordingly.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years
are presented in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity of the financial statements.

34.

BZE2022F12A3MBEFE - AREE

RFRBEEZER  AEBRBNEREE
R BN EHE - RO RBRAX AR

1,558,000 0 & #8 fE B4 [O] -

R
$E.$$r&iﬁﬁ¢rmﬁﬁ$%@&

HEHRUBHRENGEEER
£§|J




34. RESERVES (continued)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Share premium

The application of the share premium account
is governed by the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands. Under the constitutional
documents and the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands, the share premium is
distributable as dividend on the condition that
the Company is able to pay its debts when
they fall due in the ordinary course of business
at the time the proposed dividend is to be
paid.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve of the Group represents (1)
the difference between the consideration and
net assets acquired paid by the Controlling
Shareholders for the further acquisition of
non-controlling interests in subsidiaries; (2)
the difference between the consideration
received by the Controlling Shareholders and
the net assets disposed of for the partial
disposal of certain subsidiaries; and (3) the
difference between the consideration received
by the Controlling Shareholders and net
assets acquired under common control for the
acquisition of equity interests in subsidiaries.

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current year and
prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity of the financial
statements.

Merger reserve

The merger reserve of the Group represents
the capital contributions from the equity
holders of the subsidiaries. The addition
during the year represents (1) the injections
of additional paid-in capital by the equity
holders of the subsidiaries to the respective
companies; (2) the consideration paid by
the Controlling Shareholders for the further
acquisition of non-controlling interests in
subsidiaries; and (3) the consideration paid by
the Controlling Shareholders for repayment of
the consideration received in the progress of
the corporate reorganisation of the Group in
preparation for the listing.
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34. f# (&)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

iR 1 5 B

B aERcERAIXRASBEER
AERE REEEXMHEFESE
SREDE RO EEAESKRET
Ak - &M —RARRE IR 2 ZE
BEERBRENEEEREELS
RPN ZER -

BEXRTE
AEENEAREBEENZERBKRR
RE—FRBWE QR IFEER
FE R Sz N EY (B B AT IR B0 O
BECHEMNER QEBRBRBE
DHEETHEARKRIHKER
HENFEEZHNEZR: ROE
BB R B E AR A S
Y B B (B B R E I PT UWEE
MFEECHENEZRE -

AEBEAXREERBEFENHRESR
BREZPRVHEBRRNERERE
HEPHRPED -

SO RE
AEENAHFRHEEERENB AR
REFAANLE - FREMEQ)
MEBARWEDZFAEARERRT
BAMVEIABHEA: QEERR
S — FUEE KB QR A IEE R
RO E: RQEBRBR R
BEEARREHE LT METHNRA
EABREPRBNKEM TR
= o



34. RESERVES (continued)
(iv) Statutory reserve

(v)

In accordance with the PRC regulations and
the articles of association of the companies of
the Group, before distributing the net profit of
each year, companies of the Group registered
in the PRC are required to set aside 10% of
their statutory reserve net for the year after
offsetting any prior year's losses as determined
under relevant PRC accounting standards
to the statutory surplus reserve fund. When
the balance of this reserve reaches 50% of
each company’s issued capital, any further
appropriation is optional. The statutory surplus
reserve fund is non-distributable except in the
event of liquidation.

Subject to certain restrictions set out in the
relevant PRC regulations, part of the statutory
surplus reserve may be converted to increase
issued capital, provided that the remaining
balance after the capitalisation is not less than
25% of the registered capital.

Exchange fluctuation reserve

The exchange fluctuation reserve is used to
record exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of the
subsidiaries with functional currencies other
than the RMB.

34. &HE(E)
(iv) ZERE

(v)

RBEHBEER RAEEE T REH
MEERAR - SF2IOFNEA -
AEBEFBEEMNRBRIEER
TEEFERMRERABEEFNE
BR RAEBAFEEITFRH®B
MI0%EEZERBAEE  HEX
EEEESEARDHITRANS0%
BlE ATEBEEIEELZTRE
B ATERBRARETADIK R
FFEAEFR -

AR BLE AR E TRHERBET
REERbEBENEHRTOREIME
KH25% B EERBHEEITH
BUAENEBITRA -

B =K B i 18
ERRHHEEARCHBEEI R
EERARBUIINEENHE QR
MM BHRRMEENELEZR -




35. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH 35. BREERFEREZNIZEMR

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING B AR
INTERESTS
Details of the Group's subsidiaries that have material AEEHBEERNFIEREEZNHE QA
non-controlling interests are set out below: BN
2022
20224
Percentage of equity interest held IF 12 IR =5 P RE AR 42
by non-controlling interests: Bkt
Hong Xin Environmental Group Co., Ltd. BAfRIRIBEBE B R A A 49% 49%

2023 2022

2023 % 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® Tt AREFTT

(Loss)/profit for the year allocated to DEEEFERERD

non-controlling interests Fr(E18E), &5
Hong Xin Environmental Group Co., Ltd. BAfRIRIBEBEHR A A (7,051) 1,625
Dividends paid to non-controlling XN FAMEBEREERR

interests of Hong Xin Environmental NAEERER 2 KRB

Group Co., Ltd. — _

Accumulated balances of non- RmEBHEZERER Z
controlling interests at the reporting REt R
date:
Hong Xin Environmental Group Co., Ltd. BAfRIRIBEBE G R A A 28,488 35,539
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35. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH 35. BEEERFEREZNHZER

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING B AR (E)
INTERESTS (continued)
The following tables illustrate the summarised TREY| LAMBARNMBERBE -
financial information of the above subsidiaries. The FIEBReRAsNBRERNARBEERZ
amounts disclosed are before any inter-company ok C i
eliminations:
Hong Xin
Environmental
Group Co., Ltd.
ARBREEE
BRAF
RMB’000
AR Tt
2023 20234
Revenue I &= 164,633
Total expenses Fl > #2% (179,022)
Loss for the year FANEE (14,389)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRNE2EEBEEESR (14,389)
Current assets mENE E 121,050
Non-current assets EREBEE 10,402
Current liabilities mEBE (44,116)
Non-current liabilities EmEBE (29,198)
Net cash flows from operating activities KRETFHAEHREREFHE 9,921
Net cash flows used in investing activities REGZHMABRSREFHE (27,056)
Net cash flows used in financing activities BMEGHMARENEFHE 18,471
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents Re kR EEWEINFE 1,336

SETHREERARAR 22023327




36. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 36. HE — R E A

2023
20234
RMB’000
AR® TR
Net assets disposed of: HEEEFME:
Property, plant and equipment WME - BERFE 107
Cash and bank balances ReRRITEH 23,554
Trade receivables 2 5 Wk IE 16,382
Prepayments and other receivables A RRIE K B A e W K1 2,714
Trade payables B 5 EMN A (6,261)
Interest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings &+ 8 38 17 & 3 K& H b & 3% (9,940)
Accruals and other payables JEET B A Kk HAbFE FRIE (9,775)
Tax payable FE < 7 1B (242)
Subtotal INEF 16,539
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE — M B AR W= 15,357
Total consideration BRE 31,896
Satisfied by: AR
Investment in an associate REEPERE 31,896
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash EREE—HNBARNREREGE
equivalents in respect of the disposal of a subsidiary BYRAFEINAOT
is as follows:
20234
RMB’000
AR® TR
Cash consideration ReERE —
Cash and bank balances disposed of BEHERE RIRITEH (23,554)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in ERHE—HWBATMNER S
respect of the disposal of a subsidiary RBE2EEBYREFEAE (23,554)
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(b)

37. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 37. KEEERERMT
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Major non-cash transactions () FEFREXRS
During the year, the Group had non- FA MM ENHEHETYM
cash additions to right-of-use assets TASENGERAREEREE
and lease liabilities of RMB14,137,000 BEMEREMNINAEAR
(2022:RMB7,647,000) and RMB14,137,000(20 #14,137,00070 (2022F : A R ¥
22:RMB7,647,000), respectively, in respect of 7,647,0007T) & A R #14,137,0007T
lease arrangements for office premises. (20224 : AR #7,647,0007T) °
Changes in liabilities arising from (b) RETHELENEEES
financing activities
2023 20234
Interest-
bearing
bank loans
and other
borrowings Lease
and interest liabilities
FEBRITER
REMERR
B HEESE
RMB'000 RMB’'000
AR¥ TR AR® TR
At 1 January 2023 2023 1A1H 158,833 190,190
Changes from financing cash flows F&ER & RE & 50,955 (33,350)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE— B AT (9,940) —
New leases TEE — 14,137
Interest expense B X — 8,676
At 31 December 2023 M2023F12 H31H 199,848 179,653




37. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

37. ZMERERERMT(H)

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from (b) METBHELENEEEE (B
financing activities (continued)
2022 20224
Interest-
bearing
bank loans
and other
borrowings Lease
and interest liabilities
FTERITER
R E AR K&
B HEERE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T T AR T T
At 1 January 2022 R202241 818 116,811 194,779
Changes from financing cash flows &R REEH) 42,022 (10,943)
New leases wHE - 7,647
Interest expense B — 8,712
Covid-19-related rent concessions HHEAGLTHFT
from lessors mEZI5HE
&% — (10,005)
At 31 December 2022 #2022%12 A31H 158,833 190,190
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37.

38.

39.

40.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(c) Total cash outflow for leases
The total cash outflow for leases included in
the statement of cash flows is as follows:

37. ZERERBRWE(E)

(c) HERE RHARH
HenEREENEHERESRE
BT

2023 2022
2023 % 20224
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR Tt NG R
Within operating activities KEEHN 2,696 1,249
Within financing activities mMEEZHRN 33,350 10,943
36,046 12,192
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 38. B EE

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group
had no significant contingent liabilities.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of the Group’s assets pledged for the
Group’s other borrowings are included in notes 13,
24 and 30 to the financial statements.

R|ERKR  AEEALEBANAREAE -

39. EEEH
RAEBEMEREERNAEEEE
ABEER M RAMEI3 - 24530 °

COMMITMENTS 40. &iE
The Group had the following capital commitments RBERR REEBATERALE:
at the end of the reporting period:
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB"000
ARE Tt NS R
Contracted, but not provided for: ERT4 18 R
Capital injection for an associate m—EBERETE — 2,170

Property, plant and equipment

14,591 —
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

Particulars of the related parties which entered

M. BABLTRS
@) BEAKEFTLERNXZNEET

into material transactions with the Group are HEAT:
as follows:
Name Relationship Referred to as
&8 B # L]
Shanghai Boying Parking Management Service Co., Ltd. (formerly Controlled by the Shanghai Boying
named Shanghai Gaoze Information Technology Co., Ltd.)* Controlling Shareholders
TERRREERREARAR(RLERECENKERRDA) * AERERET LERR
Nanjing Songzhu Property Management Company Limited. Associate Nanjing Songzhu
HRRTHREEERAR BEdZE R
Hunan Pujiang Property Management Co., Ltd. Joint venture Hunan PulJiang
HERINEERERAT BERE WL
Shanghai Dongfang Xindi Business Service Co., Ltd. Associate Dongfang Xindi
TRRAMERBREFRAT BEdZE RAME
Shanghai Qiang Sheng Property Co., Ltd. Associate Shanghai Qiang Sheng
TRBENRAERDT BEdE LERE
Nantong Pumin Property Management Co., Ltd.** Associate Nantong Pumin
HERRMEERERDA BERR HBRER

Anhui Jinshanjingmei Property Management Co., Ltd.
RAREFENERERERAA

Anhui Xingpu Property Management Co., Ltd.
RBERNEERARAA

Zhongmin Zhida (Shanghai) Information Technology Co., Ltd.
PREE(LB)EEMRERRA

Shanghai Bund Property Co., Ltd.

LBIENERRAA
Anhui Yujiang Property Co., Ltd.
RBBINEERRAA
Anhui Yupu Property Co., Ltd.
RHBBNEERAT

Hefei Zhengwen Waitan Property Management Co.,Ltd
AETENENRERER LA
Guzhen Guxin service Co., Ltd

EEEEEREAERAA

* Shanghai Gaoze Information Technology Co., Ltd.
has changed its name to Shanghai Boying Parking
Management Service Co., Ltd. on 21 June 2022.

e Nantong Pumin Property Management Co., Ltd. was
disposed on 30 May 2023.
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Joint venture
RERE
Associate
BEbE
Joint venture
aEhE
Associate
BeEdX
Associate
BEdE
Joint venture
aELE
Joint venture
AEbE
Associate
BEdZE

* %

Anhui Jinshanjingmei
ZHRERE
Anhui Xingpu
ZHER
Zhongmin Zhida
TREE
Shanghai Bund
LN
Anhui Yujiang
ZHAIL
Anhui Yupu
ZHER
Hefei Zhengwen
BEEX
Guzhen Guxin
EEER

LBHEEERMAERRRN2022F
6A2IAEZ A LBAREEEER
HBERAA

HEARYMEETEARAFCE RK2023
F5H30BHE -



41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(b) Transactions with related parties, other than (b)
those already disclosed elsewhere in the
financial statements, are as follows:

41. BB ERZ (&)

EEBRINXSERMBHRRE
A EEERINGT :

2023 2022
20234 20224
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
¥z AR%E Tt NG R
Property management ¥ EXEBERBEKA
service income
Shanghai Bund g N (i) 19,113 -
Shanghai Qiang Sheng b=k g (i) 2,022 165
Nantong Pumin [EIRGERENES ) — 307
Nanjing Songzhu R (i) 1,204 1,028
Hunan Puliang ikEaR: DAl (i) — 916
Guzhen Guxin EFSEES (i) 6 —
Dongfang Xindi RARE (i) 282 240
Anhui Jinshanjingmei THEZSFE (i) 24 1,049
Interest income: FEKA:
Zhongmin Zhida PR E (ii) 539 38
Shanghai Boying EBRA (ii) 109 115
Anhui Yu jiang ZEHIT (i) — 9
Cost of property MEEERBERA:
management services:
Nanjing Songzhu R (iii) 7,063 4,120
Dongfang Xindi Wiyl (iii) 1,190 1,458
Hefei Zhengwen AKX (iii) 1,150 S
Zhongmin Zhida FREE (iii) 300 =
Anhui Yupu = (iii) 187 —
Shanghai Bund g N E (iii) 120 -
Anhui Xingpu THE®S (iii) — 1,238
Cost of software service ¥4 B & &<
Zhongmin Zhida PFREE (iv) 2,020 —

() AEESRERENEDDEER
HEARBTERFHOABERR
BB -

(i) The fees of services provided to related parties
were changed according to the published prices and
conditions offered to the major customers of the
Group.
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)
(b) (continued)

M. BBERS(E)

() (&)

(@

(if)

(iii)

The amount due from Shanghai Boying, Zhongmin
Zhida and Auhui Yujiang are unsecured and with
an interest rate of 4.78%, 4.15% and 4.15%,
respectively and have no fixed payment terms.

The income from services provided by related
parties was made according to the published prices
and conditions offered to the major suppliers of the
Group.

The amount represents the amount of software
service provided by Zhongmin Zhida in 2023 of
RMB2,020,000.

Due from related parties:

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

B EERR TREERTERII
RIBETEER - FEH R R478% -
4.15% Rk415% @ FEEFEERE -

AEABITIRMRBEAERATIRE
REGAKEIEZTFNCAMER
KA -

ZEREERREE2023FREHMGR
R A ARY2020,0007T °

(0 FEU B R TT FRIR

Zhongmin Zhida hREE
Shanghai Bund LB NE
Shanghai Boying FBRA
Anhui Xingpu ZHER
Nanjing Songzhu MR

Anhui Jinshanjingmei
Anhui Yujiang
Hunan Puliang

ZRBRT
R IT

TREEFEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% Tt NG R
13,586 11,148
5,357 —
3,082 2,967
580 .

509 76

23 1,112

— 1,009

— 933

W EBMNE ZRRER mMR
MTERBBEFERENE
m{E A R #5,357,00070 * A R #&
580,0007T * A K #¥509,0007T & A
R#¥23,000 AEER 2 ERE
EEEHE o

The carrying amounts of RMB5,357,000
RMB580,000 RMB509,000 and RMB23,000
due from Shanghai Bund, Anhui Xingpu,
Nanjing Songzhu and Anhui Jinshanjingmei
are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed
payment terms.

R ESRABERPFREEREN
BREE A A R #3,082,0000T & A
R #13,586,000T ' ZE RN EAE
B BEMNEE478%K415%
mETERDY -

The carrying amounts of RMB3,082,000 and
RMB13,586,000 due from Shanghai Boying
and Zhongmin Zhida are unsecured, with a
fixed interest rate of 4.78% and 4.15% and
have no fixed payment terms.
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(d)

(e)

Due to related parties:

41. BB ERZ (&)

(d)

& {<F B Bk 07 BROR

Anhui Xingpu ZHEH
Nanjing Songzhu R
Dongfang Xindi KR
Shanghai Bund EENE
Hefei Zhengwen AREEX
Anhui Yupu ZREH

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR% Tt NS R
1,934 1,238
1,245 977

188 2,277

182 .

131 .

124 107

The carrying amounts of RMB1,934,000,
RMB1,245,000, RMB188,000, RMB124,000,
RMB131,000 and RMB182,000 due to Anhui
Xingpu, Nanjing Songzhu,Dongfang Xindi,
Anhui Yupu, Hefei Zhengwen and Shanghai
Bund are unsecured, interest-free and have no
fixed payment terms.

At 31 December 2023, Shanghai Pujiang
Property Co., Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the company, provided guarantees
in respect of bank and other borrowing
facilities to its joint venture Zhong Min
Zhi Da (Shanghai) Information Technology
Company Limited of RMB15,000,000 and
RMB10,600,000 in force (2022: Nil).

ERNLZBER BRRMT RH
fRE ZBHA BB XRkE
g HNEE R BR T E A R #1,934,000
JC - A R #1,245,00000 + A R ¥
188,000 + A R #124,0007T + A
K #131,0007T & A K #182,0007T
AEER 2EREETENS -

72023F 128318 AR A2 B K
BRABLERIMEARAAM®
He2bERREELEBER
BEABRARARITREAME R
& A R ¥15,000,0007T K A R
10,600,000 (20224F : #) 18 £ &£
WA ER -




41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS M. BEBAERS(E)
(continued)
(f) Compensation of key management personnel ) AXEEXTZEBEABHM:
of the Group:

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% Tt NS R

Short term employee benefits EEE BRI 3,474 2,906
Equity-settled share award scheme IA#E = 45 & 89 % 10 22 B)

expenses Bkl — (368)
Post-employment benefits RIK1E1E 473 339

=

Total compensation paid to key ENEEEEABH

management personnel 48 FE 3,947 2,877
Further details of directors’ and the chief EENERMITHRAENHSHNE— T
executive’s emoluments are included in note 8 BERIIERERMES ©

to the financial statements.

336 RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2023




42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 42. ZERE s EM I A
CATEGORY
i

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of RNEBHR SENERIANKERE
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting LU

period are as follows:

2023 2023

Financial assets CREE

Financial assets
at fair value
through other
comprehensive
income
BATLERTA
Hit2HE M &
NEMEE
Financial assets
Equity at amortised
investments cost Total
REBHEBER
RERE FENSREE Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARE TR ARE TR

Equity investments at fair value BRATEFAEMEE

through other comprehensive &Ll e 38

income 1,850 — 1,850
Trade receivables EC) ¢ e — 235,471 235,471
Financial assets included in AABRNREBEREME

prepayments and other receivables RHENEREE — 88,662 88,662
Financial assets included in SAEMIERDEEN

other non-current assets PREE - 13,786 13,786
Finance lease receivables EhEEEENE — 9,987 9,987
Restricted bank balances IR HI4R 17 4 % — 27,105 27,105
Cash and cash equivalents BeRkHAEZEY — 139,674 139,674

1,850 514,685 516,535
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 42. ZEEE s EMITA(E)
CATEGORY (continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of RBERAR SENeRITANEKAEB
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting WmT (&

period are as follows: (continued)

2023 2023%F
Financial liabilities cRAE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
REBEREGTE
WEemaesE
RMB’000
AR%T T
Trade payables B 5 RN NIEA 126,912
Financial liabilities included in other payables and &+ A E b & 1< 7% 18 K fE 5t
accruals ERMTRAE 63,747
Interest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings &8 R 1T E Z Kk H A &% 199,848

390,507
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 42. REEE €M IAE)
CATEGORY (continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of REBEHR SENeRITANKEE
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting mr (&)
period are as follows: (continued)

2022 20224
Financial assets EtREE

Financial assets

at fair value
through other
comprehensive

income
BROTEEA
Htt2E MR
MemEE
Financial assets
Equity at amortised
investments cost Total
RBEKATE
BRERE MemEE B
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETR ARETT ARET

Equity investments at fair value BRATEFAEMEE

through other comprehensive g ) R AR &

income 2,302 — 2,302
Trade receivables EC e e - 250,719 250,719
Financial assets included in AABNREREME

prepayments and other receivables BHENEREE — 114,582 114,582
Financial assets included in other SAARMIERBEEN

non-current assets TREE = 18,256 18,256
Finance lease receivables FEURERENRE = 46,489 46,489
Restricted bank balances ZREIFITER = 22,315 22,315
Cash and cash equivalents BeLBRELEEY = 171,818 171,818

2,302 624,179 626,481

EITHEERAEBRAR F4§2023 339
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting
period are as follows: (continued)

42.

REFIASERMIAE

RBEHER SRR ITANERE
R (8)

2022 (continued) 2022%F (&)
Financial liabilities cRAE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
REHK ARG E
memasE
RMB'000
ARETFT
Trade payables B 5 e KA 132,227
Financial liabilities included in other payables and &t A E th f& (< 3038 & fE 5+ &
accruals MeasE 76,215
Interest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings &t /2 98 17 & 3 K& H b & & 158,833
367,275

43. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of
cash and cash equivalents, restricted bank balances,
trade receivables, trade payables, financial assets
included in prepayments and other receivables,
financial liabilities included in other payables and
accruals, lease liabilities, interest-bearing bank loans
and other borrowings approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of
these instruments.

The Group’s finance department headed by the
finance manager is responsible for determining
the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. The finance
manager reports directly to the chief financial
officer and the audit committee. At each reporting
date, the finance department analyses the
movements in the values of financial instruments
and determines the major inputs applied in the
valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved
by the chief financial officer. The valuation process
and results are discussed with the audit committee.
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THITEAENAFERAFEER

EEEDHEREMREFEY IR
BERTTHEE  BEHRWIA  BHEN
FRIE -~ A TR A K& A A W R IREY
TREE FAHMBEMNRENEFE
Ae@eaE HEAE FERTE
AEEMERNAFEERLRAERS
TEHRNZREFIAREHARY -

AEEMBKAOEMBAERE ARE
TERMTAAFEFENBRRER
MR EERNNBRENEZZES
Esh-NEREEH  MBIAEOM
TENEBEEIMNEERARMGED
TEBARE - FEXBMBAESR
TRHE - BERZEERBERF MG
RETTE W ©



43. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities
are included at the amount at which the instrument
could be exchanged in a current transaction
between willing parties, other than in a forced
or liquidation sale. The following methods and
assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

For the fair value of the unlisted equity investments
at fair value through other comprehensive income,
management has estimated the potential effect of
using reasonably possible alternatives as inputs to
the valuation model.

Fair value hierarchy

Below is a summary of significant unobservable
inputs to the valuation of financial instruments
together with a quantitative sensitivity analysis as at
31 December 2023 and 2022:

Valuation technique

CREE 30

43.

TERMITENAFERAFEER

(&)

TREEMBENAFESABRET
ARERNRS(BEKBRIEERI) S
RMZITAMBZEE - st 2 FERE
AT ERRR:

BREQAFEFAECEERSENIEL
TRAKRE  EEECEHEMEELHD
CEERAENERBAREZE
FEELME -

AEBEER

T R & F2023F K2022F12A31H £ @
TEFBECERTABERG ASIKRER
ELHEREINOHE:

Significant

unobservable
input (level 3)

Sensitivity of fair
value to the input

EXFTABEHA 2L2FEHGARE
BE(E=H) ZHRBE

Equity investments at fair Valuation multiples
value through other

comprehensive income

BAFEFAEMEZE RS HEBH

o IR A

Average EV/EBITDA

RIXARFHEE

5% (2022: 5%)
increase/decrease
in multiple
would result in

multiple of peers

increase/decrease
in fair value by
RMB35,000 (2022:
RMB35,000)
EHEH T HS%
(20224 : 5%) 1%
BYAFEEM
A R #35,000
TL(2022F : AR
#35,0007T)

E1E EBITDA{S &1
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43. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 43. TR TEANRAFERAFEER

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL (&)

INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued) AREFEERE)

The following tables illustrate the fair value TRINMAEE M T AN A FEGNE
measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial EF A

instruments:

Assets measured at fair value: EAVFEFENEE:

As at 31 December 2023 "2023%12A31H

Fair value measurement using
ERTIEHEETAFETE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (W) (Level 3)

RERT S EXTE EART

NEE FRARE BEAALE
(F-%) (F=R) (F=R) At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TR TERT TR

Equity investments designated 1§ E R A FEFTA

at fair value through other Htt2EHEm
comprehensive income RERE 1,150 — 700 1,850
As at 31 December 2022 "20225%12A31H

Fair value measurement using
ERTIEEETATETE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

WERMS  EATBE EANTEER
H) 5 B BABE WARE

(E—8) (&) (B=4) B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TAT FAT FET
Equity investments designated 18 E R A FEFTA
at fair value through other Htt2EHEm
comprehensive income RERE 1,602 — 700 2,302
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43.

44,

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The movements in fair value measurements within
Level 3 during the year are as follows:

43. TMITANLAFERLAFESER

(&)

RFESEK(E)
FA - BZLAANRFEFEZSUOT:

2023 2022
2023 % 20224
RMB’000 RMB"000
ARE T N R
Equity investments at fair value through 2 RAFEFAEME2E
other comprehensive income W aRERE
At 1 January R1A18 700 6,657
Total gains recognised in other B E A 2 T N 2 T AR A
comprehensive income W 2% 48 58 — 67
Disposals HE — (6,024)
At 31 December M12A318 700 700

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
cash and bank balances, finance lease receivables,
bank loans and other borrowings. The main purpose
of these financial instruments is to raise finance
for the Group’s operations. The Group has various
other financial assets and liabilities such as trade
receivables and trade payables, which arise directly
from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and
agrees policies for managing each of these risks and
they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk
As the Group has no bank loans with floating
interest rate, there is no interest risk.

4. X EBEEEEREE

AEENFESRIARER @ RIRTT
e BMEMERKNE  RITERK
HtfEX - BEZFERMITANTIRA
MR ASEREZEERNE - AKBH
BEEZRUFERESENRIES it
ZRESREERAG HAEKEER
EAE -

AEBSRITAEELANTIEARAINE
R EERREIBECRR EF
ERFNIHBEEESLFRAROEE -
BT o

I = B B
07 S B3 40T B R AT AR - A A
KB -




44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk

The Group’s businesses are located in Chinese
Mainland and nearly all transactions are conducted
in RMB. As nearly all of the Group’s assets and
liabilities were denominated in RMB, the subsidiaries
of the Company in Chinese Mainland were not
subject to significant foreign currency risk. As at 31
December 2023, the Group's assets and liabilities
denominated in HKD were mainly held by the
Company and certain subsidiaries incorporated
outside Chinese Mainland which had HKD as their
functional currency, and the Group did not have
material foreign currency transactions in Chinese
Mainland during the year.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy
that all customers who wish to trade on credit
terms are subject to credit verification procedures.
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on
an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad
debts is not significant. For transactions that are
not denominated in the functional currency of the
relevant operating unit, the Group does not offer
credit terms without the specific approval of the
Head of Credit Control.

Maximum exposure and year-end
staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the
Group'’s credit policy, which is mainly based on past
due information unless other information is available
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 December.

The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts
for financial assets and the exposure to credit risk
for the financial guarantee contracts.
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44, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 44, I RBEEBEERBEKX(8)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end 2 B b PR &% R P& B (/)
staging (continued)
As at 31 December 2023 R2023%12A31H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8 A7
REER 2HEBEEER

Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F1RR F2R R EE]2 e 7 & At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR AR®TR ARETR

Trade receivables* EPLLE SN — — = 249,727 249,727
Finance lease receivables el E &M E 8
— Normal** — 1Bk 9,987 - - — 9,987

Financial assets included in ~ sTABN B R EAM

prepayments and other FEW BN & R

receivables BE
—Normal** — EE* 88,662 — — — 88,662
Financial assets included in 5T AEMERBHEE

other non-current assets MeREE

—Normal** — IEF* 13,786 — — — 13,786

Restricted bank balances XBHRITELR

— Not yet past due — WA B 27,105 - — - 27,105

Cash and cash equivalents  BE&RREEED

— Not yet past due — HREH 139,674 — — — 139,674
279,214 — — 249,727 528,941




44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end
staging (continued)

44, BBEREERERRBEE)

2 B £ PR R K B BR (48)

As at 31 December 2022 "20225F12A31H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
REAEH
EEER PHRHBEERR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
FIRR F2R B F3M}E B ORI @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETR AR®Tn AR%T:R
Trade receivables* EHERRIE — — — 250,719 250,719
Finance lease receivables EYREMERE
— Normal** —IEE** 46,489 = = — 46,489
Financial assets included in ~ STATBNZHBREM
prepayments and other ERFEN SR
receivables BE
— Normal** —IEE* 114,582 — — — 114,582
Financial assets included in -~ sTAHMIETRHEE
other non-current assets MERMEE
— Normal** —IEE* 18,256 — — — 18,256
Restricted bank balances XBEIRTE
— Not yet past due — MR8 H 22,315 — — — 22,315
Cash and cash equivalents  BE&REELZEY
— Not yet past due — A8 171,818 - - - 171,818
373,460 - 50719 624179
* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the g RAEBEBREXRAGLENE S E KK

* %

simplified approach for impairment, information based on
the provision matrix is disclosed in note 24 to the financial
statements.

The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments and other receivables, finance lease
receivables and other non-current assets are considered
to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is
no information indicating that the financial assets had a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is
considered to be “doubtful”.
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 4. HEERRBREEEERBR(®)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end 2 B b PR &% R P& B (/)

staging (continued)

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s ERASEESRKRAREBEFRELENEE
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables [B e 8 — LR - BB REM
are disclosed in note 24 to the financial statements. T24% FE o

Since the Group trades only with recognised and HRAEBEHERAERE Eﬂ-ﬁ’]%
creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement =R MUBMBLHERER- 8
for collateral. Concentrations of credit risk are REEFEER/ HFFRRLERIE
managed by customer/counterparty, by geographical TENIHERE - ARAEEEFERK
region and by industry sector. There are no HONEPHEZOMRIRESMBRITE
significant concentrations of credit risk within the rEBEERBRONEPEELTEE -

Group as the customer bases of the Group's trade
receivables are widely dispersed in different sectors
and industries.

Liquidity risk RBESRAR

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds AEEFAKEE RS ESFE A
using a recurring liquidity planning tool. This ERHESEBRNER HTAGER
tool considers the maturity of both its financial HemITARESREENIBHER U
instruments and financial assets and projected cash NREHKREREEBNHREERE -

flows from operations.

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance KEIETTTJﬁﬂ@ﬁHfE TEX HE
between continuity of funding and flexibility BEREMAEENR U#KESFE
through the use of bank loans, lease liabilities and NREBEEEZHETE -

other interest-bearing loans.
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial
liabilities as at the end of each reporting period,
based on the contractual undiscounted payments, is
as follows:

44, BBEREERERRBEE)

REBEEERE(E)
AEBENSRABRNSHREMRERA
MARBRNRAENBHBFROT

As at 31 December 2023

R2023%12A31H
On Less than 31012 Over

demand 3 months months 1 year Total

REX AR 3Z1218A HBB1F ot

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR AR¥TR AR¥TR AR¥TR AR%Txn

Lease liabilities HEER — 8,328 24,634 200,803 233,765
Interest-bearing bank loans FTEHRTEFR R Et 5

and other borrowings o — 18,247 170,855 14,341 203,443

Trade payables BORMNRE 108,463 12,680 2,882 2,887 126,912
Financial liabilities included 5T At FE 5 51 78 & &

in other payables and TERNERER
accruals 63,747 — — — 63,747
172,210 39,255 198,371 218,031 627,867
As at 31 December 2022
©2022F12 A31H
On Less than 3t0 12 Over

demand 3 months months 1 year Total

BEX AR 3ZE12{EA BiB1E @it

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARBTT AR®TR ARBTRT ARETR

Lease liabilities HERE 3,647 6,390 18,668 206,261 234,966
Interest-bearing bank loans FTEHRTER R E G

and other borrowings = = 47,303 111,357 3,215 161,875

Trade payables BHEMNFKE 115,181 9,320 4,902 2,824 132,227
Financial liabilities included T A E ft F& ¥ 5078 |2 J&

in other payables and FERANERAR
accruals 76,215 — — — 76,215
195,043 63,013 134,927 212,300 605,283
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 44,

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital
management are to safeguard the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern and to maintain
healthy capital ratios in order to support its business
and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and
makes adjustments to it in light of changes in
economic conditions and the risk characteristics
of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the
dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes
were made in the objectives, policies or processes
for managing capital during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 31 December 2022.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio,
which is total debt divided by total equity. Total
debt includes interest-bearing bank loans and other
borrowings. Capital represents total equity.

MBEAREEEERBE®)

EXERE
AEBEREENTIZANRRELRE
ERFBELENRN  THFBROER
R BUAXBEXRBERBERSRR
BE -

AEEEKLERANEERBBEEE
WERBREFHREEEEAERBERIELSA
BB ABRERNERE  ~AEEA]
ABREKNTRENRE MBRREEER
R FEITHRG - Bt E22023F12 4318
N2022F12A3BIEEE  EBEAW
B BRIABBIELRETMNEE -

AEBEREAAG L X (BIREHK
NagEm) S RER - BEBRENER
RITERREMER - BEARERES -

45,

2023 2022
2023F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR% Tt NS R

Interest-bearing bank loans and other  FFBRITER R EMER
borrowings 199,848 158,833
Total debt BIETS 199,848 158,833
Total equity BE S 279,843 369,480
Gearing ratio BEAGLX 71.40% 43.0%

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 45. R EH &S H#

Subsequent to 31 December 2023 and up to
the date of this report, there was no material
subsequent event undertaken by the Group.

202352 ANAZERBERAREAS -
AREHEEAHRER -
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OF THE COMPANY

46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 46. AR F BB AR R R
ZN

Information about the statement of financial

position of the Company at the end of the reporting N

period is as follows:

RAEIRWEM RO BN K E B

2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARE Tt NG B
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBDEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—ERERRINKE 59,535 59,535
Equity investment designated at fair BERAFETAEM
value through other comprehensive 2EKENRERE
income 1,630 1,602
Total non-current assets FERBEELE 61,165 61,137
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Amount due from a subsidiary NG E @] 48,726 59,150
Prepayments and other receivables TE S FTE K E Ath fE U R TE 18,459 18,438
Cash and cash equivalents RekBReFEEYD 1,010 2,156
Total current assets RBEERLE 68,195 79,744
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBERE
Amount due to a subsidiary JE 15t BT /B R R 3R IE 1,275 1,275
Interest-bearing bank loans and other B HRITER R HMER
borrowings 3,647 8,933
Total current liabilities mEBERRE 4,922 10,208
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFME 63,273 69,536
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERARBAER
LIABILITIES 124,438 130,673
Net assets BEFE 124,438 130,673
EQUITY &=
Share capital LN 3,391 3,391
Reserves (note) i 18 (BfF 3T) 121,047 127,282
Total equity B 124,438 130,673
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46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 46. XRATF M BEMRR K (E)
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Note: B 5 -
A summary of the Company'’s reserves is as follows: AD R R Z AT
Fair value
reserve of
financial
assets at
fair value
Share through
award Exchange other
Share scheme  fluctuation Accumulated comprehensive
premium reserve reserve income income Total
BROFEFA
Hp2EKE
LR | EXRE HemEE
RBEE SERE 1 ZithkE ZATERE iy
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AREBTR  AREBTT ARETRT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETx

Balance at 1 January 2022 R2022F1 1B R & & 163,229 1,558 (722) (20,624) (2,342) 141,099
Final 2021 dividend declared BER2021E K B 8 (12,150) = = = = (12,150)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRNEABELE = = = (2,226) (661) (2,887)

Transfer of fair value reserve upon the  HERATEFAE
disposal of equity investments at fair 2 E M H 2 KEREE
value through other comprehensive & A T ER

income - - — 2,984 2,984 5,968
Reversal of equity-settled share award B EI L& & ERRH

scheme expenses LR — (1,558) = = = (1,558)
Exchange difference on translation of  BEHBREXHELZHE

financial statement — — (3,190) — — (3,190)
At 31 December 2022 and R202F12A318 &

1 January 2023 2023%1R18 151,079 - (3,912) (19,866) (19 127,282
Final 2022 dividend declared BERWDFRERS (3,703) - - - - (3,703)
Total comprehensive income EN2ENRLE

for the year — — — 3,088 (452) 2,636
Exchange difference on translation of R EHEHRENEL 8

financial statement — - (5,168) — — (5,168)
At 31 December 2023 20235124318 147,376 - (9,080) (16,778) (471) 121,047

47. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 47. #EMBHRRE
STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and BF 75 3R R M2024F3A28H EEE g #t
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 HEREERNE -

March 2024.




FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

AFMBERE

OPERATING RESULTS

EEXE

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
20234 20224 20214 20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
INGL-ES AR Tr AREFTT AREFR AR®Tx
Revenue U 5 919,684 917,570 885,539 763,808 481,530
Gross Profit EF 74,144 129,987 126,587 117,247 74,171
(Loss)/Profit for the year R (& 1),/
s (80,950) 24,763 52,987 36,968 20,481
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY EE BERER
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
pliyk}:3 202245 20214F 20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
INGLES AR FTr ARETT ARETFR ARETx
Non-current assets ERBEE 419,069 434,402 457,904 277,844 147,232
Current assets TEEE 512,485 582,283 492,769 378,385 311,375
Total assets EERE 931,554 1,016,685 950,673 656,229 458,607
Non-current liabilities JEREEE 169,441 187,455 202,130 19,356 =
Current liabilities mEaE 482,270 459,750 388,683 303,192 219,041
Total liabilities BEAE 651,711 647,205 590,813 322,548 219,041
Net current assets FREBEEFE 30,215 122,533 104,086 75,193 92,334
Total assets less EEHAER
current liabilities RBEE 449,284 556,935 561,990 353,037 239,566
Net assets BERE 279,843 369,480 359,860 333,681 239,566
Capital and reserves BEAR &
Share capital Mg A< 3,391 3,391 3,391 3,391 3,391
Reserves @1 199,519 280,206 280,334 245,061 224,842
202,910 283,597 283,725 248,452 228,233
Non-controlling FrERER
interests 76,933 85,883 76,135 85,229 11,333
Total equity R 279,843 369,480 359,860 333,681 239,566
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